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Appendix to the Report of the 
Special Litigation Committee of 
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Appendix to the Report of the 
Special Litigation Committee of 
DISH Network Corporation (No 
exhibits attached) 

Vol. 20 JA004963 – JA004971 



4 

Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2014-10-27 Appendix, Volume 3 of the 

Appendix to the Report of the 
Special Litigation Committee of 
DISH Network Corporation and 
Selected Exhibits to Special 
Litigation Committee’s Report: 
Exhibit 162 (Omnibus Objection 
of the United States Trustee to 
Confirmation dated Nov. 22, 
2013); Exhibit 172 (Hearing 
Transcript dated December 10, 
2013); and Exhibit 194 
(Transcript, Hearing: Bench 
Decision in Adv. Proc. 13-
01390-scc., Hearing: Bench 
Decision on Confirmation of 
Plan of Debtors (12-12080-scc), 
In re LightSquared Inc., No. 12-
120808-scc, Adv. Proc. No. 13-
01390-scc (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 
May 8, 2014)); Exhibit 195 
(Post-Trial Findings of Fact and 
Conclusion of Law dated June 
10, 2014 (In re LightSquared, 
No. 12-120808 (Bankr. 
S.D.N.Y.)); Exhibit 203 
(Decision Denying Confirmation 
of Debtors’ Third Amended 
Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 
11 of Bankruptcy Code (In re 
LightSquared, No. 12-120808 
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y.)) 

Vol. 20 
Vol. 21 
Vol. 22 
Vol. 23 

JA004972 – JA005001 
JA005002 – JA005251 
JA005252 – JA005501 
JA005502 – JA005633 

2014-10-27 Appendix, Volume 4 of the 
Appendix to the Report of the 
Special Litigation Committee of 
DISH Network Corporation (No 
exhibits attached) 

Vol. 23 JA005634 – JA005642 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2014-10-27 Appendix, Volume 5 of the 

Appendix to the Report of the 
Special Litigation Committee of 
DISH Network Corporation and 
Selected Exhibits to Special 
Litigation Committee’s Report: 
Exhibit 395 (Perella Fairness 
Opinion dated July 21, 2013); 
Exhibit 439 (Minutes of the 
Special Meeting of the Board of 
Directors of DISH Network 
Corporation (December 9, 2013). 
(In re LightSquared, No. 12-
120808 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.)) 
(Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 23 JA005643 – JA005674 

2014-10-27 Appendix, Volume 6 of the 
Appendix to the Report of the 
Special Litigation Committee of 
DISH Network Corporation (No 
exhibits attached) 

Vol. 23 JA005675 – JA005679 

2014-06-18 Defendant Charles W. Ergen’s 
Response to Plaintiff’s Status 
Report 

Vol. 17 JA004130 – JA004139 

2014-08-29 Director Defendants Motion to 
Dismiss the Second Amended 
Complaint 

Vol. 18 JA004276 – JA004350 

2014-10-02 Director Defendants Reply in 
Further Support of Their Motion 
to Dismiss the Second Amended 
Complaint 

Vol. 19 JA004540 – JA004554 
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2013-11-21 Errata to Report to the Special 

Litigation Committee of Dish 
Network Corporation Regarding 
Plaintiff's Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction 

Vol. 13 JA003144 – JA003146 

2013-08-12 Errata to Verified Shareholder 
Complaint 

Vol. 1 JA000038 – JA000039 

2013-11-27 Findings of Fact and Conclusion 
of Law 

Vol. 14 JA003316 – JA003331 

2015-09-18 Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law Regarding 
The Motion to Defer to the 
SLC’s Determination That The 
Claims Should Be Dismissed 

Vol. 41 JA010074 – JA010105 

2013-09-19 Hearing Transcript re Motion for 
Expedited Discovery 

Vol. 5 JA001029 – JA001097 

2013-11-25 Hearing Transcript re Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction 

Vol. 13 
Vol. 14 

JA003147 – JA003251 
JA003252 - JA003315 

2013-12-19 Hearing Transcript re Motion for 
Reconsideration  

Vol. 14 JA003332 – JA003367 

2015-07-16 Hearing Transcript re Motion to 
Defer 

Vol. 41 JA010049 – JA010071 

2015-01-12 Hearing Transcript re Motions 
including Motion to Defer to the 
Special Litigation Committee’s 
Determination that the Claims 
Should be Dismissed and Motion 
to Dismiss (Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 25 
Vol. 26 

JA006228 – JA006251 
JA006252 – JA006311 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2015-11-24 Hearing Transcript re Plaintiff’s 

Motion to Retax 
Vol. 43 JA010659 – JA010689 

2013-10-04 Minute Order Vol. 7 JA001555 – JA001556 

2015-08-07 Minute Order Vol. 41 JA010072 – JA010073 

2015-10-12 Notice of Appeal Vol. 41 JA010143 – JA010184 

2016-02-02 Notice of Appeal Vol. 43 JA010734 – JA010746 

2016-02-09 Notice of Appeal Vol. 43 
Vol. 44 

JA010747 – JA010751 
JA010752 – JA010918 

2016-01-28 Notice of Entry of Amended 
Judgment 

Vol. 43 JA010727 – JA010733 

2015-10-02 Notice of Entry of Findings of 
Fact and Conclusions of Law re 
the SLC’s Motion to Defer 

Vol. 41 JA010106 – JA010142 

2016-01-12 Notice of Entry of Order 
Granting in Part and Denying in 
Part Plaintiff's Motion to Retax 

Vol. 43 JA010716 – JA010724 

2013-10-16 Notice of Entry of Order 
Granting, in Part, Plaintiffs Ex 
Parte Motion for Order to Show 
Cause and Motion to (1) 
Expedite Discovery and (2) Set a 
Hearing on Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction on Order 
Shortening Time and Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Preliminary 
Injunction and for Discovery on 
an Order Shortening Time 

Vol. 7 JA001562 – JA001570 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2015-02-20 Notice of Entry of Order 

Regarding Motion to Defer to 
The SLC’s Determination that 
the Claims Should Be Dismissed 

Vol. 26 JA006315 – JA006322 

2016-01-08 Order Granting in Part and 
Denying in Part Plaintiff’s 
Motion to Retax 

Vol. 43 JA010712 – JA010715 

2013-10-15 Order Granting, in Part, 
Plaintiffs Ex Parte Motion for 
Order to Show Cause and 
Motion to (1) Expedite 
Discovery and (2) Set a Hearing 
on Motion for Preliminary 
Injunction on Order Shortening 
Time and Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction and for 
Discovery on an Order 
Shortening Time 

Vol. 7 JA001557 – JA001561 

2015-02-19 Order Regarding Motion to 
Defer to the SLC’s 
Determination that the Claims 
Should Be Dismissed 

Vol. 26 JA006312 – JA006314 

2013-09-13 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 
to Motion for Preliminary 
Injunction and For Discovery on 
an Order Shortening Time  

Vol. 1 
Vol. 2 
Vol. 3 
Vol. 4 
Vol. 5 

JA00132 – JA00250 
JA00251 – JA00501 
JA00502 – JA00751 
JA00752 – JA001001 
JA001002 – JA001028 

2013-10-03 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 
to Status Report 

Vol. 5 
Vol. 6 

JA001115 – JA001251 
JA001252 – JA001335 

2014-06-06 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 
to Status Report 

Vol. 14 
Vol. 15 
Vol. 16 

JA03385 – JA003501 
JA003502 – JA003751 
JA003752 – JA003950  
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2013-11-13 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 

to Supplement to Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction Vol. 1 
Part 1 (Filed Under Seal) 

Vol. 7 
Vol. 8 

JA001607 – JA001751 
JA001752 – JA001955 

2013-11-13 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 
to Supplement to Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction Vol. 1 
Part 2 (Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 8 
Vol. 9 
Vol. 10 

JA001956 – JA002001 
JA002002 – JA002251 
JA002252 – JA002403 

2013-11-13 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 
to Supplement to Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction Vol. 1 
Part 3 (Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 10 
Vol. 11 
Vol. 12 
Vol. 13 

JA002404 – JA002501 
JA002502 – JA002751 
JA002752 – JA003001 
JA003002 – JA003065 

2015-06-18 Plaintiff’s Appendix of Exhibits 
to their Supplemental Opposition 
to the SLC’s Motion to Defer to 
its Determination that the Claims 
Should be Dismissed  
(Filed  Under  Seal)

Vol. 27 
Vol. 28 
Vol. 29 
Vol. 30 
Vol. 31 
Vol. 32 
Vol. 33 
Vol. 34 
Vol. 35 
Vol. 36 
Vol. 37 

JA006512 – JA006751 
JA006752 – JA007001 
JA007002 – JA007251 
JA007252 – JA007501 
JA007502 – JA007751 
JA007752 – JA008251 
JA008002 – JA008251 
JA008252 – JA008501 
JA008502 – JA008751 
JA008752 – JA009001 
JA009002 – JA009220   

2013-09-13 Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction and for 
Discovery on an Order 
Shortening Time 

Vol. 1 JA000095 – JA000131 

2015-11-03 Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax Vol. 43 JA010589 – JA010601 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2014-09-19 Plaintiff’s Opposition to the 

Director Defendants’ Motion to 
Dismiss the Second Amended 
Complaint and Director 
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss 
the Second Amended Complaint 
(Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 18 
Vol. 19 

JA004453 – JA004501 
JA004502 – JA004508 

2014-12-10 Plaintiff’s Opposition to the 
SLC’s Motion to Defer to its 
Determination that the Claims 
Should be Dismissed  
(Filed Under Seal) 

Vol. 24 JA005868 – JA005993 

2014-09-19 Plaintiff’s Opposition to the 
Special Litigation Committee’s 
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 
Plead Demand Futility 

Vol. 19 JA004509 – JA004539 

2015-11-20 Plaintiff’s Reply in Further 
Support of its Motion to Retax 

Vol. 43 JA010644 – JA010658 

2015-12-10 Plaintiff’s Response to SLC’s 
Supplement to Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax 

Vol. 43 JA010700 – JA010711 

2013-10-03 Plaintiff’s Status Report Vol. 5 JA001098 – JA001114 

2014-06-06 Plaintiff’s Status Report  Vol. 14 JA003368 – JA003384 

2014-10-30 Plaintiff’s Status Report Vol. 23 JA005680 - JA005749 

2015-04-03 Plaintiff’s Status Report Vol. 26 JA006323 – JA006451 

2013-11-18 Plaintiff’s Supplement to its 
Supplement to its Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction  

Vol. 13 JA003066 – JA003097 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2013-11-08 Plaintiff’s Supplement to Motion 

for Preliminary Injunction  
(Filed Under Seal) 

Vol. 7 JA001571 – JA001606 

2014-06-16 Plaintiff’s Supplement to the 
Status Report 

Vol. 16 
Vol. 17 

JA003951 – JA004001 
JA004002 – JA004129 

2014-12-15 Plaintiff’s Supplemental 
Authority to its Opposition to the 
SLC’s Motion to Defer to its 
Determination that the Claims 
Should be Dismissed  

Vol. 24 
Vol. 25 

JA005994 – JA006001 
JA006002 – JA006010 

2015-06-18 Plaintiff’s Supplemental 
Opposition to the SLC’s Motion 
to Defer to its Determination that 
the Claims Should be Dismissed 
(Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 26 
Vol. 27 

JA006460 – JA006501 
JA006502 – JA006511 

2014-10-24 Report of the Special Litigation 
Committee  
(Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 19 
Vol. 20 

JA004613 – JA004751 
JA004752 – JA004957 

2014-07-25 Second Amended Complaint 
(Filed Under Seal) 

Vol. 17 
Vol. 18 

JA004140 – JA004251 
JA004252 – JA004267 

2013-11-20 Special Litigation Committee 
Report Regarding Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Preliminary 
Injunction  
(Filed Under Seal)

Vol. 13 JA003098 – JA003143 

2015-01-06 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Appendix of Exhibits 
Referenced in their Reply In 
Support of their Motion to Defer 
to its Determination that the 
Claims Should Be Dismissed 

Vol. 25 JA006046 – JA006227 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2015-07-02 Special Litigation Committee’s 

Appendix of Exhibits to 
Supplemental Reply in Support 
of their Motion to Defer  
(Filed Under Seal) (Includes 
Exhibits: C, D, E, J and K) 

Vol. 39 JA009553 – JA009632 

2015-07-02 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Appendix of Exhibits to their 
Supplemental Reply in Support 
of their Motion to Defer 
(Exhibits Filed Publicly) 
(Includes Exhibits: A, B, F, G, 
H, I, L and M) 

Vol. 37 
Vol. 38 

JA009921 – JA009251 
JA009252 – JA009498 

2015-07-02 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Appendix of SLC Report 
Exhibits Referenced in 
Supplemental Reply in Support 
of the Motion to Defer (Exhibits 
Filed Under Seal) (Includes 
SLC Report Exhibits 298, 394, 
443, 444, 446, 447 and 454) 

Vol. 41 JA0010002 – JA010048

2015-07-02 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Appendix of SLC Report 
Exhibits Referenced in 
Supplemental Reply in Support 
of the Motion to Defer (Exhibits 
Filed Publicly) (Includes SLC 
Report Exhibits 5, 172, and 195) 

Vol. 39 
Vol. 40 

JA009633 – JA009751 
JA009752 – JA010001  

2015-10-19 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Memorandum of Costs 

Vol. 41 
Vol. 42 
Vol. 43 

JA010185 – JA010251 
JA010252 – JA010501 
JA010502 – JA010588 

2014-11-18 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Motion to Defer to its 
Determination that the Claims 
Should Be Dismissed 

Vol. 23 
Vol. 24 

JA005750 – JA005751 
JA005751 – JA005867 
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Date Document Description Volume Bates No. 
2014-08-29 Special Litigation Committee’s 

Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 
Plead Demand Futility 
 

Vol. 18 JA004351 – JA004452 

2015-11-16 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion 
to Retax 
 

Vol. 43 JA010602 – JA010643 

2014-10-02 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Reply in Support of Their 
Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 
Plead Demand Futility 
 

Vol. 19 JA004555 – JA004612 

2015-01-05 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Reply in Support of their Motion 
to Defer to its Determination that 
the Claims Should Be Dismissed 
 

Vol. 25 JA006011 – JA006045 

2013-10-03 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Status Report 
 

Vol. 6 
Vol. 7 

JA001336 – JA001501 
JA001502 – JA001554 

2015-04-06 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Status Report 
 

Vol. 26 JA006452 – JA006459 

2015-12-08 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Supplement to Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Motion to Retax 
 

Vol. 43 JA010690 – JA010699 

2015-07-02 Special Litigation Committee’s 
Supplemental Reply in Support 
of the Motion to Defer to the 
SLC’s Determination that the 
Claims Should Be Dismissed 
(Filed Under Seal) 
 

Vol. 38 
Vol. 39 

JA009499 – JA009501 
JA009502 – JA009552 

2013-09-12 Verified Amended Derivative 
Complaint 

Vol. 1 JA000049 – JA000094 
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2013-08-09 Verified Shareholder Derivative 

Complaint  
Vol. 1 JA000001 – JA000034 
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company interest” to acquire LightSquared’s assets for $2 to $2.1 billion.73  Specifically, the 

Ergen Presentation informed each board that Mr. Ergen’s blocking position in the LP Debt could 

help facilitate any bid for LightSquared’s assets: 

Mr. Ergen’s substantial interests in L2 debt and preferred stock 
compliment [sic] any acquisition strategy and could have 
significant influence in L2’s chapter 11 cases.74

Mr. Ergen understood the critical nature of the timing of any bid, and he testified at Trial 

that, given the July 15 termination of the Debtors’ exclusive periods, it was likely that 

LightSquared would “begin exploring strategic alternatives in early June if no restructuring or 

sale strategy emerges.”75  His understanding was that “anyone could come to the Court to make 

an offer for LightSquared, that that might be a corporate opportunity for DISH and for 

EchoStar.”76  Because Mr. Ergen recognized, however, that the DISH Board was at the time 

focusing on the potential Sprint and Clearwire transactions, had performed no analysis of 

LightSquared, and did not authorize a bid for LightSquared at that time, Mr. Ergen planned to 

make a bid “personally” to preserve “optionality” for DISH and/or EchoStar to bid on 

LightSquared assets.77  He did not, however, seek approval from either board to make a bid 

personally.

73  The Ergen Presentation states that the proposed acquisition vehicle would be “NewCo,” which would be 
“formed by any combination of Mr. Ergen, EchoStar, and/or DISH based on company interest.”  (PX0867 at SPSO-
00011825). 
74  Ergen Presentation, PX0867 at SPSO-00011824. 
75  Ergen Presentation, PX0867 at SPSO-00011828. 
76  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 77:10-17. 
77  Mr. Ergen’s testimony that he pursued LightSquared as an alternative for DISH if the Sprint and Clearwire 
acquisitions fell through – as they ultimately did – is clear on this point.  (See PX0832 (Ergen Nevada Dep.) at 
135:23-136:3 (a DISH bid for LightSquared could be a “Plan B” if potential deal with Sprint did not work out), 
140:22-141:23 (Mr. Ergen made the bid for LightSquared’s spectrum to preserve DISH and EchoStar’s “optionality” 
to participate); Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 186:25-187:20 (the bid “opened up the optionality for DISH to the extent they 
lost Sprint”).) 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 117 of 175

011747
JA005502
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3. Mr. Ergen Makes a Bid Himself, Keeping Options Open for DISH 

Two weeks later, on May 15, 2013, Mr. Ergen, by his counsel, submitted an unsolicited 

cash bid for LightSquared’s spectrum for $2 billion78 on behalf of LBAC, which had not yet 

been formed.79  The wording of the LBAC Bid provided optionality for DISH to be the ultimate 

purchaser, stating that the newly-formed buyer would be “owned by one or more of Charles 

Ergen, affiliated companies and/or other third parties.”80  Non-binding and expiring on May 31, 

2013, the bid emphasized LBAC’s “willingness to fund the Purchase Prices, on a non-refundable 

basis, prior to receipt of FCC and Industry Canada approvals and authorizations . . .”,81 and it 

explicitly stated that the cash purchase price of $2 billion could be used to pay off the LP Debt.

With its lack of conditionality and offer of cash consideration sufficient to pay off the LP Debt in 

full, the LBAC Bid accomplished the objective, set forth in the Ergen Presentation given to the 

DISH Board less than two weeks earlier, of proposing a bid that would “be highly attractive to 

stakeholders and put pressure on L2 fiduciaries to consider [the] proposal.”82

The existence of the LBAC Bid quickly hit the press.  Upon learning of the bid, no 

member of the Boards of Directors or management of DISH or EchoStar formally objected to 

Mr. Ergen having made a personal bid for LightSquared’s assets.  Mr. Cullen, a top DISH 

executive, stated that he learned of the LBAC Bid through news reports but did not ask Mr. 

Ergen if he was usurping a corporate opportunity, despite not being aware at that time that Mr. 

78  PX0504. 
79  LBAC was formed approximately two weeks later, on May 28, 2013. 
80  PX0504 at GH_L2_00450. 
81  PX504 (emphasis in original). 
82  PX0867 at SPSO-00011826. 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 118 of 175
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Ergen had presented the DISH Board with the option to make a bid.83  The Court can infer from 

the inaction of DISH’s Board and management upon learning of Mr. Ergen’s personal bid that 

they either (i) understood that the LBAC Bid and the strategy behind it were ultimately for the 

benefit of DISH, even if the bid was made by Mr. Ergen personally at that time or (ii) did not 

wish to impede Mr. Ergen’s forward movement on his own bid, notwithstanding their fiduciary 

obligations.

4. “You are way ahead of your skis here” 

On May 8, 2013 (one week prior to the LBAC Bid), the DISH Board had formed a 

special committee consisting of two directors independent of Mr. Ergen – Mr. Goodbarn and Mr. 

Howard.  Pursuant to board resolutions, the Special Committee was vested with the power and 

authority to:  (i) review and evaluate (including any potential conflicts of interest arising out of 

Mr. Ergen’s proposal to the DISH board regarding LightSquared and his personal interest in 

LightSquared) a potential bid for LightSquared and whether such a bid was in the best interests 

of DISH and its shareholders, and to discuss and/or negotiate such a transaction; (ii) negotiate 

definitive agreements with the parties concerning the terms and conditions of the potential 

transaction; and (iii) determine whether such terms and conditions were fair to DISH.84  The 

board formally resolved that the Special Committee’s authority would expire only upon the 

Special Committee’s “determination, in its sole and absolute discretion, as set forth in its written 

notice to the Chairman of the Board of Directors” as long as a bid for LightSquared remains 

viable.85  As it turned out, such resolutions were not worth the paper they were written on. 

83  Jan. 17 Tr. (Cullen) 143:25-145:19.   
84  PX0768 (Howard Nevada Affidavit) ¶ 9; PX0491 at DISH_NY000000002-4. 
85  PX0491 at DISH_NY0000000005. 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 119 of 175

011749
JA005504
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The evidence reveals that these board resolutions were quickly and flagrantly 

disregarded.  Despite being in existence for three months, the Special Committee was forced to 

work under a compressed timetable because of Mr. Ergen’s interference with its ability to begin 

its task.  Upon learning on May 22, 2013 of the Special Committee’s recent engagement of 

independent counsel, Mr. Ergen pushed its members to hold off, asking why Special Committee 

counsel was needed and cautioning that “[y]ou are way ahead of your skis here.”86  Similarly, at 

a May 31, 2013 meeting, Mr. Ergen suggested that the Special Committee should delay engaging 

its financial advisor, as, in Mr. Ergen’s view, there would “be little activity, if any, in the coming 

weeks” regarding a LightSquared transaction.87  After delaying the retention of its professionals 

and keeping the committee in what Mr. Howard later described as a “holding pattern,” Mr. Ergen 

suddenly reversed course in early July, urging the Special Committee to complete its evaluation 

quickly and make a recommendation to the DISH Board.88

The existence and amount of the LBAC Bid created a significant challenge to the Special 

Committee’s task of evaluating a potential DISH bid and determining what terms and conditions 

were fair to DISH.  Upon learning of the LBAC Bid from news alerts on May 20 and 21, 2013,89

Mr. Howard stated that he was surprised, as it “was [his] expectation that Mr. Ergen would not 

86  DX0188, see also PX0767 (Goodbarn Nevada Dep.) at 102:2-103:15 (“[Ergen] felt we were moving too 
fast as a committee” given that the Special Committee was trying to seek trading information from him, he had 
unsettled trades, and he was tied up with Sprint and Clearwire at the time).   
87  PX0768 at ¶ 25.  PWP, the financial advisor to the Special Committee, was ultimately retained on June 28, 
2013, after the Sprint and Clearwire deals had failed to proceed.  See DX0224 (email from Gary Howard to DISH 
Board); PX0768 at ¶ 33. 
88  PX0768 at ¶ 34. 
89  Mr. Howard stated that he was not aware that Mr. Ergen had made a personal bid to purchase 
LightSquared’s assets until Mr. Goodbarn forwarded to him the updated Charles Schwab news alert on May 21, 
2013.  See PX0768 at ¶ 15.  He confirmed that the Special Committee had not been advised of and had not approved 
of the LBAC Bid.  Id. at ¶ 20.  He also articulated his concern that, by making the bid, “Mr. Ergen was narrowing 
the scope and ability of the Special Committee to fully explore alternative strategies for DISH to pursue with respect 
to LightSquared, as well as to define and/or negotiate Mr. Ergen’s role with respect to DISH’s strategy.  Id. at  ¶ 21. 
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make any LightSquared bid without first discussing it with the DISH Board and the Special 

Committee in order to get their approval, since any such bid could impact DISH’s own strategy 

vis-à-vis LightSquared.”90

When asked whether the Special Committee considered proposing that DISH make a bid 

for LightSquared’s spectrum below the amount of the LBAC Bid, Mr. Goodbarn stated that the 

LBAC Bid “made it difficult socially to do that . . . [b]ecause [Ergen’s] put a line in the sand on a 

bid and we’re part of a, you know, a DISH board and he owns a majority of the company.”91

Pressed further on why it would be difficult for DISH to make a bid lower than Mr. Ergen’s bid, 

Mr. Goodbarn explained that, if Mr. Ergen had committed to a $2 billion bid with no other 

bidder present, and the Special Committee then bid $1.5 billion, Mr. Ergen may take “a big loss” 

on his debt investment and “that does not make a very happy chairman.”92  These statements by 

an independent board member demonstrate that Mr. Ergen, as chairman of the Board and 

majority owner of DISH, exercised significant control.  The Special Committee did not 

determine to bid at a lower price, as Mr. Ergen had already staked out the territory with a bid that 

would ensure that he, as a substantial holder of LP Debt, would be paid in full, and no one was 

interested in making him unhappy by altering that. 

Furthermore, although the role of the Special Committee included evaluating any 

potential conflicts of interest, the repeated requests of the Special Committee to Mr. Ergen for 

information regarding his LP Debt trades were ignored, and Mr. Ergen never provided the 

Special Committee with the requested schedule of his trades.  The Special Committee’s stated 

reasons for seeking such information were significant – “to assess Mr. Ergen’s conflict, to 

90 Id.
91 PX0767 (Goodbarn Nevada Dep.) at 100:7-21.
92  PX0767 (Goodbarn Nevada Dep.) at 100:22-101:5. 
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determine the potential profit that Mr. Ergen would make if DISH made a successful bid . . . , 

and to assess whether DISH should have been entitled to pursue the corporate opportunity of 

buying LightSquared debt before permitting Mr. Ergen to do so for his personal account.”93  Mr. 

Howard stated that he did not recall ever hearing from Mr. Ergen or his counsel that the 

Committee’s requests for information were improper or that Mr. Ergen had no obligation under 

DISH’s charter to bring potential corporate opportunities to the attention of the DISH Board,94

yet, Mr. Ergen provided no reason for leaving the Special Committee in the dark on this key 

inquiry.95

On July 3, 2013, Mr. Ergen sent to the Special Committee and David Moskowitz, an in-

house attorney and a Senior Vice President for DISH and EchoStar, via email, a presentation for 

the Special Committee and the DISH Board.96  In the email, Mr. Ergen stated, “This is just a high 

level view of lightsquared and its potential relation to dish.  Please feel free to share with the 

board or advisors.  Also, not on here would be the possibility of freeing up at least two of the 

existing dbsd/terrestar satellites that could possibly be monetized.”97  The presentation, dated 

July 8, 2013, was entitled “Strategic Investment Opportunity – L-Band Acquisition, LLC.98  It 

was delivered to the DISH Board of Directors by Mr. Ergen at a special meeting on July 8, 2013.  

The Ergen July 8 Presentation provided, for discussion purposes in the context of considering 

93  PX0768 (Howard Nevada Affidavit) at ¶ 16. 
94  PX0768 (Howard Nevada Affidavit) at ¶ 18. 
95  PX0767 (Goodbarn Nevada Dep.) 92:10-93:15; 128:35-130:5); see also DX0224 (July 6, 2013 email from 
Howard to DISH board in which Mr. Howard writes “[f]or reasons better articulated by Charlie, the special 
committee has no further insight into the bond purchases made by Charlie’s entity.”), PX0768 (Howard Nevada 
Affidavit) at ¶ 17 (“Despite repeated requests and discussions, Mr. Ergen never provided the Special Committee 
with the requested documentation regarding his investment in and ownership of LightSquared debt or preferred 
stock.”)
96  PX0927. 
97 Id. at DISH_PLAN000003150. 
98  PX0928. 
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whether DISH would participate in the LBAC Bid, certain valuation information relating to 

LightSquared’s spectrum as of that date.

Under a line item entitled “Implied Net Primary Asset Value,” the Ergen July 8 

Presentation lists a range of values of between $3.341 billion and $5.213 billion, with a mid-

point of $4.277 billion, referring to Mr. Ergen’s estimate of the value of 20 MHz of 

LightSquared’s spectrum assets and its satellites, excluding its 10MHz of lower downlink 

spectrum.  Under the heading “Implied Supplemental Asset Value,” the Ergen July 8 

Presentation lists a range of values of between $1.833 billion and $3.783 billion, with a mid-

point of $2.308 billion, for what it identifies as the total of (i) 5.0 MHz of “Reclaimed Unuseable 

[sic] AWS-4,” (ii) 5.0 MHz of “Reclaimed Impaired AWS-4,” and (iii) “L-Band Downlink 

Spectrum.”99  The Implied Supplemental Asset Value was Mr. Ergen’s estimate of (a) the 

increase in value of DISH’s existing spectrum that would flow from DISH’s acquisition of 

LightSquared’s spectrum, which would permit unusable and impaired uplink AWS-4 spectrum to 

be converted to downlink and (b) his range of values for 20 MHz of LightSquared’s downlink 

spectrum.  In other words, the supplemental value of LightSquared’s assets to DISH was 

estimated by Mr. Ergen to be between $1.833 billion and $3.783 billion.  Combined with the 

Implied Net Primary Asset Value of $3.341 billion to $5.213 billion, the total value of 

LightSquared’s assets in DISH’s hands was estimated by Mr. Ergen to be between $5.174 billion 

and $8.996 billion, with a midpoint of $7.085 billion. 

On July 21, 2013, the Special Committee presented its conclusions to the DISH Board,100

recommending that DISH pursue the LBAC Bid for $2.2 billion, subject to five express 

99 Id. at 5. 
100  At this meeting, PWP provided a nine-page presentation entitled “Project Discus Summary Conclusions” to 
the DISH Board.  (PX0929 at 2.)  In a section captioned “Illustrative Value of DISH’s Use Cases Related to 

(continued...)
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conditions, four of which implicated further review and decision making by the Special 

Committee: 

(vi) that any material changes to the terms of the bid and/or APA would be subject to 
the review and approval of the Committee; 

(vii) that DISH would acquire one hundred percent of LBAC, to the exclusion of 
EchoStar;

(viii) that the Committee and its legal and financial advisors would remain involved in 
all negotiations regarding the proposed transaction going forward; 

(ix) that the Committee would review and approve the terms of the acquisition by 
DISH of Mr. Ergen’s interest in LBAC; and 

(x) that the Committee expressly reserved the right to obtain all of the requested 
information regarding Mr. Ergen’s acquisition of debt and/or other securities 
issued by LightSquared as well as the right to evaluate potential corporate 
opportunity issues.101

Even though the DISH board resolutions permitted disbandment of the Special 

Committee only upon the Committee’s own decision so long as a bid for LightSquared remained 

viable, the DISH Board abruptly disbanded the Special Committee without advance notice 

immediately after the Special Committee delivered its conditional approval of the LBAC Bid.  

Other than Messrs. Howard and Goodbarn, who abstained, the DISH Board’s vote was 

unanimous.102  On July 22, 2013, DISH agreed to buy LBAC from Mr. Ergen for one dollar 

LightSquared,” the PWP Report concludes, “The cumulative value of the illustrative use cases that leverage the 
LightSquared LP acquisition is estimated to be $4.4-$13.3bn.”  (Id. at 39 (DISH_PLAN135).) 
101  (PX0716 at GH_L2_000973-74.); PX0768 at ¶ 47.  According to Mr. Howard, because the Special 
Committee had not yet received the requested information on Mr. Ergen’s purchases of LP Debt, the Special 
Committee “informed the Board that it had been unable to completed its evaluation of potential conflicts of interest 
associated with the LightSquared acquisition, but made clear that it would continue to evaluate those potential 
conflicts and take appropriate action once its evaluation was completed.”  Id. at ¶ 49.
102  PX0768 (Howard Nevada Affidavit) ¶¶ 49-50; DX400.  Mr. Howard testified that, at the time the vote was 
taken, he “did not believe that the Special Committee had completed all of its work and therefore did not believe that 
it should be disbanded at that time.”  PX0768 at ¶ 50.  On July 24, 2013, Mr. Goodbarn and Mr. Howard sent a letter 
to the DISH Board in which they reiterated their conditional recommendation in favor of a potential LightSquared 
acquisition and stated that they did not recommend or endorse the disbandment of the Special Committee.  Id. at ¶ 
52.  No response to that letter was introduced into evidence. 
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without the Special Committee ever reviewing the terms of the acquisition agreement.103  On 

July 23, 2013, DISH announced its intention to bid through LBAC for LightSquared’s 

spectrum.104

The Special Committee had been disbanded despite the fact that its conditions remained 

unsatisfied; in particular, the Committee had neither negotiated nor approved the draft plan 

support agreement or the draft asset purchase agreement, which were filed with the Court 

together with the Ad Hoc Secured Group Plan on July 23, 2013105 and which explicitly stated 

that they were subject to further negotiations and approval by DISH.106  One notable feature of 

the APA, incorporated by reference into the PSA, was its broad release of all claims against Mr. 

Ergen, DISH, EchoStar, and SPSO and contemplation of the full allowance of the SPSO 

Claim.107  The proposal of such a release belies the assertions made by SPSO and DISH that they 

have no ties to one another and supports the inference that Mr. Ergen and SPSO were acting for 

DISH in creating a path for DISH, through LBAC, to take over as purchaser, while still 

103  Howard Dep. 315:10-316:3; Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 195:6-8.   
104  On July 24, 2013, the Special Committee wrote a letter to the DISH Board expressing its surprise at its 
disbandment and noting that the five conditions remained unsatisfied.  (PX0736.)  On July 25, 2013, Mr. Howard 
resigned from the board, an action taken so suddenly that DISH risked delisting from the NASDAQ.  PX0746; see 
also PX0741; DX313. 
105  The joint chapter 11 plan of reorganization filed on July 23, 2013 was proposed by the Ad Hoc Group of 
Secured Lenders, of which SPSO was a member at that time. See First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan for 
LightSquared LP, et al., Proposed by the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders [Bankr. Docket No. 
970]. 
106  Mr. Howard testified that the first time he heard that Mr. Ergen was negotiating a proposed joint chapter 11 
plan with the Ad Hoc Secured Group was during a July 18, 2013 board meeting.  The Special Committee and its 
advisors were not invited to participate in these negotiations with the Ad Hoc Secured Group.  See PX0768 at ¶ 42.  
At a meeting of the Special Committee on July 21, 2013, counsel for the committee discussed a draft asset purchase 
agreement with the committee that had been provided to counsel by Mr. Ergen’s counsel.  Mr. Howard stated that 
neither the committee nor its counsel had been involved in negotiating this agreement.  Id. at ¶ 46.  Mr. Howard 
further testified that he learned of the existence of the PSA after a draft of it was annexed to a Form 8-K filed by 
DISH, and the Special Committee was neither involved in negotiating this agreement nor had they recommended 
that DISH enter into it.  Id. at ¶ 51.   
107 See First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan for LightSquared LP, et al., Proposed by the Ad Hoc Secured 
Group of LightSquared LP Lenders [Bankr. Docket No. 970, Ex. A] § 13.1; Stalking Horse Agreement, filed 
October 28, 2013, [Bankr. Docket No. 970, Ex. F] § 3.2(a)(ii) & n.9.   
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protecting Mr. Ergen from any downside on his substantial investment.  Despite many attempts 

to characterize it otherwise, the proposal of such a release reveals the strong linkage between 

SPSO’s debt and DISH’s bid and the inability to disguise such linkage with so-called “separate 

hats.”

While it is not the Court’s role to pass judgment on the corporate governance practices of 

DISH, the Court nonetheless concludes that the facts surrounding the Special Committee process 

show that, notwithstanding the existence of the Special Committee, Mr. Ergen himself was the 

driving force behind each step DISH took on the path toward the DISH/LBAC Bid, including the 

actions taken in connection with Mr. Ergen’s evolving acquisition strategy in the spring and 

summer of 2013.  Although the Special Committee was created to be independent, the blatant 

disregard of the conditions set forth in its recommendation for DISH’s participation in a 

LightSquared acquisition, its abrupt dissolution by the DISH Board, and its lack of involvement 

in the negotiations of the LBAC transactional documents as they evolved in the late summer and 

into the fall of 2013, despite the explicit board resolutions to the contrary, indicate that the 

Special Committee was little more than window dressing.108

5. Mr. Ergen was Not Acting Solely on His Own Behalf in Making a 
“Personal” Bid or in Purchasing LP Debt 

Even after acknowledging his change of strategy in April 2013 and his interest in making 

a bid for LightSquared,109 and faced with allegations that his debt purchases and the LBAC Bid 

were made in contemplation of a potential DISH acquisition of LightSquared spectrum, Mr. 

108  While not part of the record of the Adversary Proceeding, the Court notes that, on the evening of January 7, 
2014, DISH, by counsel, terminated the DISH/LBAC Bid.  Additional grounds for equitable subordination in 
connection with the termination have been alleged by the Debtors and the Ad Hoc Secured Group, and such matters 
are part of the record on confirmation of the Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to 
Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code. 
109  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 65:4-66:15. 
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Ergen has continued to deny that he acted other than for his own personal benefit.  Specifically, 

Mr. Ergen steadfastly maintains that he had an interest in purchasing and owning LightSquared’s 

spectrum assets personally and was prepared to own and operate a spectrum business himself.  In 

response to the Court’s questioning, Mr. Ergen testified that he believes he could operate a 

spectrum business without creating a conflict with DISH.110 At the time of the May 15 LBAC 

Bid, however, Mr. Ergen did not have any financing agreements lined up with investors and had 

not even received a term sheet related to a possible financing; a draft term sheet was only 

received by Mr. Ergen on July 18, 2013,111 and its draft form indicated that no deal had been 

reached.  Mr. Ergen also stated that, at the time of the LBAC Bid, he had made no decisions 

about headquarters, employees, or management of his personal spectrum company.112  Taken as 

a whole, Mr. Ergen’s statements that he was prepared to run a spectrum business personally (and 

in competition with DISH) are farfetched, to say the least.  Rather, they cause the Court to 

conclude that, at the time of the April 2013 LP Debt purchases and the LBAC Bid, the intended 

strategic investor was not Mr. Ergen, but rather, DISH.113

The evidence demonstrates that Mr. Ergen’s substantial investment in LightSquared debt 

in April 2013 was made in full contemplation and in furtherance of DISH’s potential acquisition 

110  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 245:17-247:20 (suggesting possible uses for spectrum that did not conflict with DISH, 
such as “ground-to-air communications” and “machine-to-machine”). 
111  The LBAC Bid stated that its proposal expired on May 31, 2013 if not accepted by LightSquared prior to 
that time.  See PX0504.  It was subsequently extended beyond that date. 
112  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 244:16-245:12 (“I had seen where LightSquared headquarters were; I know something 
about LightSquared and their business.  And I would have plenty of time to – I wouldn’t be able to manage the 
company until the FCC approved it.  So I would have plenty of time to make all those decisions.”) 
113 Notably, Mr. Ergen confirmed at Trial that, had DISH won its bid for Sprint, he would have withdrawn his 
personal bid for LightSquared.  (Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 188:11-190:15.)  While his stated reason for such action was 
that, under those circumstances, he would not have had the personal time to go through the two or three-year process 
with the FCC to “clean up” LightSquared, an inference can be drawn that the true reason for withdrawal of the 
LBAC Bid would be that DISH, Mr. Ergen’s intended buyer for LightSquared’s assets, would not have the capital 
necessary to complete both transactions.  
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of LightSquared spectrum.  The Ergen July 8 Presentation and the valuation contained therein 

demonstrate the significant benefit to DISH from acquiring LightSquared’s spectrum, with the 

“Implied Net Supplemental Asset Value” to DISH (which had a midpoint of $2.308 billion) 

alone coming in above the LBAC Bid amount of $2.2 billion, without even looking at the total 

aggregate value of the spectrum to DISH, which Mr. Ergen estimated at a value of between 

$5.174 billion and $8.996 billion.  Such an enormous value could not have simply occurred to 

Mr. Ergen in an epiphany in the days or weeks before making such a detailed presentation to the 

DISH Board; rather, Mr. Ergen must have perceived the synergistic value reflected in this 

presentation much earlier, as he monitored the actions of the FCC and the movement of the 

pieces on the wireless spectrum chessboard, some of which he himself was moving. 

In their post-trial brief, SPSO and Mr. Ergen also argue that the evidence does not 

establish that SPSO’s LP Debt purchases were for the benefit of DISH because, as an initial 

matter, purchasing even one-third of the outstanding debt of the company did not confer on 

SPSO any rights to acquire the company.114  As Mr. Ergen himself stated in the Ergen 

Presentation, however, his “substantial interests in L2 debt and preferred stock compliment [sic]

any acquisition strategy and could have significant influence in L2’s chapter 11 cases.”115  A 

competitor who obtains a substantial position in the debt of a distressed company and then bids 

for the assets often has a significant advantage, which dissuades other bidders from participating 

in any sale process.  While Mr. Ergen’s substantial near-par purchases of LP Debt in April 2013 

are consistent with a plan to obtain a blocking position in order to acquire the underlying 

company, they are somewhat inconsistent with a personal investment by a typical creditor 

114 See Post-Trial Brief of Defendants SP Special Opportunities, LLC and Charles W. Ergen [Adv. Docket No. 
142], p. 34. 
115  PX0867. 
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seeking to make a profit on distressed debt by buying low and selling high.  Indeed, Mr. Ergen’s 

final purchase of LP Debt on April 26, 2013 was made just one week prior to his presentation to 

the DISH Board on May 2, 2013,116 and less than three weeks before he made the LBAC Bid.

While Mr. Ergen’s substantial investment in LP Debt reflects (he says) his confidence in the 

intrinsic value of LightSquared’s spectrum assets, it also reflects his certainty, that, in his 

capacity as DISH’s controlling shareholder and chairman of its board of directors, he could cause 

DISH to do what he wanted to effect the acquisition of the assets at a price that would return his 

investment, and possibly make a profit, while also benefiting DISH with valuable spectrum.  

And the Ergen July 8 Presentation makes clear just how valuable LightSquared spectrum could 

be for DISH, permitting unusable and impaired uplink AWS-4 spectrum owned by DISH to be 

converted to downlink and yielding a supplemental value to DISH of $1.833 billion to $3.783 

billion.  Given the control Mr. Ergen exercised over the DISH Board (as evidenced in particular 

by his bullying of the Special Committee), it is clear that Mr. Ergen believed that, after making 

the LBAC Bid, he could and would get DISH to step in as purchaser.117

Finally, Mr. Ergen’s substantial LP Debt purchases are wholly inconsistent with his 

investing history.  The evidence demonstrates that, before his investment in LightSquared, Mr. 

Ergen had a history of diversified investing in conservative, low-risk, liquid assets, rather than 

investing a substantial sum in the distressed debt of a single company. In fact, the evidence 

reveals that Mr. Ergen had never made a personal investment in distressed debt of anything close 

116  The Court notes the importance of the specific dates on which events occurred in this matter. In his 
pleadings and at oral argument, Mr. Ergen’s broad-brush approach to dates (for example, stating “Spring 2013” 
instead of “April 26, 2013”) clearly is a device to deflect focus on the specific timeline of Mr. Ergen’s conduct. 
117  As discussed supra, the stated unwillingness of the Special Committee to propose a DISH bid for 
LightSquared’s assets in an amount lower than the LBAC Bid (which bid provided Mr. Ergen with payment in full 
on his LP Debt) confirms that even the independent members of the DISH Board believed they could not propose a 
bid lower than Mr. Ergen’s. 
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to the magnitude of his eventual $844 million investment in LightSquared, nor had he ever made 

a significant personal investment (i) in a competitor of DISH or EchoStar, (ii) in a company 

considered a strategic investment for either one, or (iii) in any company owning spectrum assets.  

According to Mr. Ergen, he did not even discuss the almost $1 billion investment with his wife, 

who was also the co-trustee of the trust that funded the purchases.  Mr. Ergen, who testified that, 

as the chairman of DISH, he focuses “on strategic direction of the company,”118 was clearly 

planning for DISH, and the inconsistency of his LightSquared investment with his prior investing 

history only lends further support to the inference that SPSO’s debt purchases were made to pave 

the way for DISH to acquire control of LightSquared’s assets. 

C. Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

Based on the foregoing, the Court concludes that the conduct of Mr. Ergen and SPSO, 

undertaken on behalf of or for the benefit of DISH, was an end-run around the Eligible Assignee 

provisions of the Credit Agreement that breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing arising under the Credit Agreement.119 See Standard Chartered Bank v. AWB (USA) 

Ltd., No. 05 Civ. 2013 (AKH), 2010 WL 532515, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 16, 2010).  Simply put, 

that which a corporation is contractually unable to accomplish itself in its own name cannot be 

accomplished by interposing a shell company.  As the court stated in Standard Chartered, “[i]t is 

not a matter of piercing corporate veils. . . . It is a matter of requiring a party to . . . honor the 

118  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 95:6-9. 
119  While a party is precluded from recovering on both a claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith 
and fair dealing and a claim for breach of contract at the same time (see, e.g., Hard Rock Cafe Int'l, (USA), Inc. v. 
Hard Rock Hotel Holdings, LLC, 808 F. Supp. 2d 552, 567 (S.D.N.Y. 2007)), where the meaning of a contact is in 
doubt, a party may plead breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing as an alternative theory to its 
breach of contract claim.  Id.; see also Fantozzi v. Axsys Techs., Inc., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94040 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 
6, 2008) at *21-22.  Here, LightSquared has asserted a single claim for recovery in the form of a breach of contract 
claim, presenting its equitable theory of breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the 
alternative, which the Court finds permissible. 
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contract and its covenants and not attempt to defeat assigned rights by interjecting an affiliated 

company.”  Id.

Under New York law, every contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing in the course of performance.  See Empresas Cablevision, S.A.B. de C.V. v. JPMorgan 

Chase Bank, N.A., 680 F. Supp. 2d 625, 631 (S.D.N.Y. 2010), aff’d in relevant part, 381 F. 

App’x 117 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Empresas”).  That implied covenant is, in spirit “a pledge that 

‘neither party shall do anything which will have the effect of destroying or injuring the right of 

the other party to receive the fruits of the contract.’”  Id. (citing Dalton v. Educational Testing 

Serv., 87 N.Y.2d 384, 389 (1995) (citation omitted)).120  In Empresas, a case in this District, 

District Judge Rakoff found that conduct technically permissible under a credit agreement may 

nevertheless give rise to a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing if it is 

intended to achieve a result that is prohibited by the agreement and which would do away with 

the “fruits” of the contract.  Id. at 632. 

The facts of Empresas are straightforward.  Empresas Cablevisión (“Cablevisión”) 

borrowed $225 million from JPMorgan Chase (“JPMorgan”).  The governing credit agreement 

restricted JPMorgan’s ability to assign the loan to another party without Cablevisión’s prior 

written consent. Id. at 627.  The credit agreement did allow JPMorgan to sell “participations” in 

the loan (which it could do without Cablevisión’s consent), but only if the relationship between 

JPMorgan and Cablevisión, as well as JPMorgan’s rights and obligations under the credit 

agreement, remained unchanged.  Id.  In his decision, Judge Rakoff noted that Cablevisión 

negotiated for and obtained a veto right over assignments in order to protect against the 

120 See also RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 205 cmt. d (1981) (“Subterfuges and evasions violate 
the obligation of good faith in performance even though the actor believes his conduct to be justified . . . [where the 
actor evades] the spirit of the bargain . . . .”); InterDigital Commc’ns Corp. v. Nokia Corp., 407 F. Supp. 2d 522, 536 
(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (quoting Restatement).   
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possibility of an “unsuitable party” being given the rights to enforce restrictive covenants or to 

receive information under the loan.  Id. at 631. 

Subsequently, JPMorgan agreed to assign 90 percent of the loan to Banco Inbursa, S.A. 

(“Inbursa”), a bank under common ownership with a competitor of Cablevisión.121 Id. at 629.

After JPMorgan sought Cablevisión’s consent, Cablevisión’s counsel replied by letter stating that 

it would not consent to the proposed assignment because  

. . . it would be inappropriate, and could cause serious harm to our business and 
our competitive position if one of our major competitors is allowed to gain access 
to confidential and competitively sensitive information about us, or to exert any 
control over our business affairs and hinder the development of our business. 

The letter also stated that JPMorgan’s sale of a participation of 90 percent of the loan to Inbursa 

(instead of an assignment) would similarly be unacceptable and would violate the “duty of good 

faith” owed by JPMorgan under the credit agreement.  Notwithstanding, JPMorgan proceeded 

ahead with negotiating a sale of a 90 percent participation in the loan to Inbursa and did not 

disclose the participation to Cablevisión even after the participation agreement was signed.122

By selling a participation rather than assigning the loan, JPMorgan avoided the transfer 

restrictions in the credit agreement that necessitated borrower consent.

When Cablevisión learned of the agreement between JPMorgan and Inbursa, it promptly 

sought a preliminary injunction preventing JPMorgan from effectuating the transfer.  It argued 

121  Inbursa is a Mexican bank controlled by Carlos Slim Helú and his family, who also held a controlling 
interest in Telmex, a Mexican communications conglomerate that owned over 80 percent of telephone land lines in 
Mexico and was seeking to expand into other telecommunications markets at the time of the Empresas decision. Id.
at 627. 
122  The participation agreement also contained numerous non-standard terms, including permitting Inbursa to 
request and receive nearly unlimited information from Cablevisión and providing that in the event of default by 
Cablevisión, “the Participation Agreement ‘shall be terminated and replaced by an assignment agreement . . . 
whereupon the Participant shall become a Lender.’”  Id. at 630.  Inbursa also obtained a provision that would have 
allowed it to declare an event of default and trigger the outright assignment in the event that Cablevisión refused to 
provide the confidential information requested.  Id. at 632.   

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 132 of 175

011762
JA005517



126

that the participation agreement was, for all relevant purposes, “a disguised but unconsented-to 

assignment” that breached the credit agreement or that “so subverts the purposes underlying 

Cablevisión’s right to veto assignments of the loan as to breach the covenant of good faith and 

fair dealing implied by law in the Credit Agreement.”  Id. at 631. 

Judge Rakoff enjoined the transfer, finding that JPMorgan violated the implied covenant 

of good faith and fair dealing by attempting, through the “guise” of a purported participation, to 

effectuate a prohibited assignment that it could not have implemented directly.  Id. at 631. While 

the court observed that JPMorgan’s argument that the participation agreement was “technically 

consistent” with the credit agreement “[s]uperficially . . . may be correct,” its actions were 

nevertheless impermissible because they “effectuated what is in substance a forbidden 

assignment” that the transfer restrictions were designed to prevent, thus undermining 

Cablevisión’s veto rights under the credit agreement.  Id. at 631, 633.  Had the transfer been 

allowed, the participation agreement would have given Inbursa the potential to access extensive 

confidential information about the business, affairs, and financial condition of Cablevisión, all of 

which Cablevisión desired to keep its competitors from obtaining.  Id. at 630-631.  Thus, the 

Court granted Cablevisión’s request for a preliminary injunction, concluding that “JPMorgan 

violated, at a minimum, the covenant of good faith and fair dealing automatically implied by law 

in the credit agreement” and that “[s]uch an end-run, if not a downright sham” was not 

permissible as it did away with the “fruits” of the contract.123 Id. at 632.

123  At closing argument in the Adversary Proceeding, counsel for DISH informed the Court that, on appeal, the 
Second Circuit subsequently reversed Judge Rakoff’s Empresas order.  (Mar. 17 Tr. (Giuffra) 300:23-303:3 (“The 
Second Circuit, in a summary order, reversed the injunction, insofar as the participation was not allowed. . .”).)  This 
interpretation of the Second Circuit’s order is incorrect.  As counsel for the Debtors correctly pointed out, the 
Second Circuit affirmed Judge Rakoff’s Empresas decision.  Because Inbursa and JPMorgan had already completed 
the transfer of a 90 percent participation interest in the loan, however, the Second Circuit, after affirming Judge 
Rakoff’s order, simply ordered the District Court to review and modify the injunction to require JPMorgan to 
comply with the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by prohibiting, pending a trial to determine whether 

(continued...)
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Here, as in Empresas, in which consent to sell a participation was technically not required 

by the credit agreement, the Court’s finding that SPSO is technically an Eligible Assignee under 

the Credit Agreement might end the analysis.  But, as in Empresas, contractual language must be 

read in context.124  The context here requires reading the Eligible Assignee provision and the rest 

of the Credit Agreement in the context of the intent, on the part of LightSquared, to prevent 

competitors from gaining access to its capital structure.  This intent was readily apparent from 

the face of the Credit Agreement and is overtly evidenced by (i) the language utilized in the 

definitions of Eligible Assignee and of “Disqualified Company” (which refers to direct 

competitors of LightSquared) designed to limit ownership of the LP Debt125 and

or not damages were owed, the exercise of any right under the participation agreement that might give Inbursa or its 
affiliates a competitive advantage over Cablevisión.  See 381 Fed. Appx. 117 (2d Cir. 2010); Mar. 17 Tr. (Leblanc) 
350:25-351:20. 
124  In this Adversary Proceeding, DISH, LBAC, and SPSO have argued that the Court should look only to the 
literal terms of the document, without regard to context, when adjudicating the asserted claim for breach of the 
Credit Agreement.  Notably, however, these parties have made the contrary argument in the Debtors’ main cases 
when seeking a declaration that both the PSA and the DISH/LBAC Bid were terminated in their entirety.  In arguing 
that the DISH/LBAC Bid did not remain irrevocable until the earlier of sixty days after entry of the Confirmation 
Order and February 15, 2014, DISH and LBAC sought to avoid the application of the literal terms of the bid 
procedures order entered in the Debtors’ cases [Bankr. Docket No. 892], which so stated, by relying on context and 
the parties’ intent.  See Objection of LBAC to the January 13, 2014 Statement of the Ad Hoc Secured Group and 
Notice of Intent to Proceed with Confirmation of the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan and Motion for 
Declaratory Relief [Bankr. Docket No. 1232] at 14 (“Examined in its full context . . . , the plain language of the 
pertinent provision which was added at the Court’s request, paragraph (j) of the Bid Procedures [Order], makes clear 
that this was the extent of LBAC’s commitment”), 14-17 (citing to numerous hearing transcripts to demonstrate that 
“the statements of . . . parties . . . subsequent to the September 30 hearing further clarify all parties’ understanding 
that LBAC’s commitment to move forward with the LBAC Bid was governed by the PSA, not the Bid Procedures 
Order”). 
125 See, e.g., Meridian Sunrise Village, LLC v. NB Distressed Debt Investment Fund Limited (In re Meridian 
Sunrise Village LLC), 2014 WL 909219 (holding that, while courts will first look to the face of the document and 
the plain language of the agreement to determine its meaning, a court may rely on extrinsic evidence even in the 
absence of ambiguity, and finding that the parties had intentionally limited the term “Eligible Assignees” in the loan 
agreement at issue in order to exclude assignment to “distressed asset hedge funds who candidly admit they seek to 
‘obtain outright control’ of assets”). 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 134 of 175

011764
JA005519



128

(ii) LightSquared’s May 9 and May 12, 2012 amendments to the Credit Agreement to add 

additional LightSquared competitors, including DISH, to the list of Disqualified Companies.126

As set forth in detail in paragraphs 32-34, supra, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, 

Eligible Assignees are entitled to receive substantial non-public information about LightSquared 

and are granted access to LightSquared’s officers and employees for information regarding 

LightSquared’s ongoing business and operations127 and also receive a right to vote on certain 

material matters, including waivers, exercises of remedies, and other similar matters.  The 

Debtors have appropriately pointed out that one could reasonably expect a competitor to vote 

differently than a non-competitor lender on material matters concerning LightSquared, and, more 

significantly, a competitor given access to material non-public information about LightSquared 

may use it to LightSquared’s detriment, given that a competitor may possess a desire to see 

LightSquared fail.  As a result, LightSquared has a legitimate basis for its desire to prohibit 

competitors from becoming holders of its LP Debt. 

The problem is that the Credit Agreement was not crafted sharply enough to achieve that 

intent.  Moreover, the problem was exacerbated by the lack of action by LightSquared in the face 

126  As Mr. Smith testified at Trial, LightSquared amended the Disqualified Company (pre-bankruptcy) list “to 
make sure that the list of disqualified companies included all of [LightSquared’s] competitors, because we didn’t 
want competitors involved in the capital structure.  We thought it was important as we were entering bankruptcy to 
make these updates.”  Jan. 9 Tr. (Smith) 126:22-127:24; PX0161. 
127 See, e.g., Credit Agreement § 3.04 (requiring LightSquared to provide several years of financial statements 
and projections), § 3.05 (listing all real property owned or leased), § 3.06 (listing all intellectual property owned or 
licensed), § 3.09 (all material agreements relating to LightSquared’s business), § 5.01(a) and § 5.01(b) (requiring 
annual and quarterly updates containing information that would be included on SEC Forms 10-K and 10-Q), § 
5.01(h) (annual and quarterly budgets), and § 5.01(j) (a general catchall for information reasonably requested by a 
Lender).  In addition, under Section 5.07 (a), each Lender also has the right to inspect LightSquared’s properties and 
“discuss the affairs, finances accounts and condition” of LightSquared with its officers, employees, accountants and 
advisors. 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 135 of 175

011765
JA005520



129

of rampant public speculation about the debt purchases.128  Mr. Ergen found a loophole in the 

express terms of the Credit Agreement and exploited it.  That is not wrong in and of itself.  The 

wrong arises from Mr. Ergen’s purchases of the LP Debt, beginning in the spring of 2013, when 

he intended his “substantial interests” in the debt to complement any acquisition strategy and 

have “significant influence” in the bankruptcy cases;129 he intended and preferred that it be DISH 

that acquired LightSquared debt (and ultimately its spectrum), and he pursued such purchases to 

preserve valuable options for the benefit of DISH.  These purchases violate the spirit of the 

Credit Agreement, as the harm that LightSquared sought to avoid – a competitor entering its 

capital structure and acting against its interests – has now come to pass.  Mr. Ergen’s use of 

SPSO to evade the terms of the Credit Agreement that prevented him and DISH from buying the 

LP Debt thus deprived LightSquared of the fruits of the Credit Agreement’s restrictions.  

While technically permitted to buy LP Debt, SPSO was essentially a front used by Mr. 

Ergen to implement his strategy for the benefit of DISH, a forbidden Lender under the Credit 

Agreement.  That SPSO’s acquisition strategy was formulated specifically to achieve an end-run 

around the restrictions in the Credit Agreement is amply supported by the record.  The Court 

thus concludes that, at least as of mid-April 2013, during the period in which SPSO acquired an 

additional $320 million of LP Debt, Mr. Ergen, through SPSO, was not acting on his own behalf 

to acquire LP Debt as a personal investment; rather, he was acting to acquire a strategic 

advantage which he knew he would have to tender to the DISH Board to give DISH the option of 

128  SPSO focuses on the notable distinction between the facts of Empresas and the Adversary Proceeding on 
this point.  In Empresas, Cablevisión actively opposed Inbursa’s use of a participation structure to circumvent the 
assignment restrictions.  See Empresas, 680 F. Supp. 2d at 628.  Here, the evidence demonstrates that Plaintiffs were 
aware as early as May 2012 that there was at least some possibility that Mr. Ergen was behind SPSO’s debt 
purchases.  Yet, as SPSO continued to acquire additional LP Debt, Plaintiffs did not act in any way to seek to 
prohibit SPSO from making such purchases.  As will be discussed more fully infra, for this reason, the Court 
declines to award damages to Plaintiffs.
129 See PX0867 (Ergen Presentation). 
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making a bid LightSquared’s spectrum assets, assets which were clearly attractive to DISH, 

whether or not DISH consummated a transaction with Sprint.130

 The record also supports the conclusion that Mr. Ergen’s strategy was deployed on behalf 

of DISH as early as October 2012, when he told Mr. Kiser, “[i]f we can’t be sure the company 

can buy them, then I am interested to increase my position at the 75 level at least up to a 33% 

ownership level of the class.”  Simply put, had he then been advised that DISH was permitted to 

buy the LP Debt, Mr. Ergen’s words reflect his preference that DISH (not SPSO) buy the debt.

But having identified a roadblock in the Credit Agreement, Mr. Ergen simply created a special 

purpose vehicle, drove around the roadblock, and took an alternate route to his destination.

Nor can it be seriously maintained that Mr. Ergen did not personally direct and indeed 

control virtually every aspect of the process leading to the formulation of the LBAC Bid and its 

ultimate pursuit by DISH.  From his stunning lack of candor with the DISH Board and 

management to the stonewalling and disbanding of the Special Committee, the message is loud 

and clear: no one crosses or even questions the actions of the Chairman.  Charles Ergen is, in 

every sense, the controlling shareholder of DISH and wields that control as he sees fit.  His 

acquisition through SPSO of the LP Debt violated the covenant of good faith and fair dealing 

automatically implied by law in the Credit Agreement.131

Indeed, the extent to which DISH itself believed an end-run around the terms of the 

Credit Agreement was perfectly acceptable was made crystal clear during closing arguments.  

130 See Ergen Presentation (stating that Mr. Ergen’s “substantial interests in L2 debt and preferred stock 
compliment [sic] any acquisition strategy and could have significant influence in L2’s chapter 11 cases.”); see also 
Ergen July 8 Presentation. 

131  Because the Court has declined to hold any of the Defendants liable for breach of the express terms of the 
Credit Agreement, it is not necessary to address the parties’ myriad arguments regarding the applicability of the 
doctrines of agency, imputation, ratification, and alter ego.  
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When asked by the Court if an affiliate of DISH could have purchased LP Debt without running 

afoul of the Credit Agreement, counsel for DISH agreed, “based on the words of the contract.”132

After a further hypothetical situation was posed to counsel – if SPSO hypothetically had a side 

agreement with DISH that DISH would guarantee the return of Mr. Ergen’s capital on his 

investment of LP Debt – counsel responded that he still believed that SPSO would not have 

breached the Credit Agreement under such a scenario, even if SPSO was hedged with a 

Disqualified Company such as DISH.133  DISH’s view, in other words, is that if the Credit 

Agreement does not explicitly prohibit a particular transfer by its express terms, any contrivance 

or subterfuge to avoid running afoul of those express terms is a-ok.  This cannot be correct. 

Finally, Defendants’ attempts to distinguish Empresas are unavailing.  They argue that 

Empresas is entirely different from this case because, in Empresas, JPMorgan colluded with 

Inbursa to alter fundamentally the agreement between Cablevisión and JPMorgan, and Inbursa 

actively bargained for non-standard provisions in the participation agreement with JPMorgan, 

both facts which are not present here.134  Regardless of whether collusion occurred here or not 

(and there have been no allegations that Mr. Ergen in fact colluded with any Lenders from whom 

he purchased LP Debt), and notwithstanding the fact that SPSO’s LP Debt purchases were made 

under standard terms, the violation of the spirit of the Credit Agreement in each case remains the 

same.  Having been informed more than once that DISH and EchoStar could not purchase the LP 

132  Mar. 17 Tr. (Giuffra) 293:14-21.  Counsel further added that “there is a definition of affiliate in this 
contract, which does what they want it to do, which would have picked up SPSO, which would have picked up Mr. 
Ergen.  And that’s not what it says in the transfer provision.”  Id. at 300:8-11. 
133 See Mar. 17 Tr. (Giuffra) 313:17-315:1 (“Your Honor, it’s because the contract wasn’t drafted with a broad 
transfer restriction. . . .  I think we still win.”). 
134  Defendants also argue that the legal analysis in Empresas is distinguishable based on the procedural posture 
of the case.  This argument lacks merit because the legal analysis concerning the parties’ good faith and fair dealing 
or lack thereof remains unchanged, whether evaluated in the context of a preliminary injunction or, as here, in the 
liability phase.  
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Debt under the express terms of the Credit Agreement, Mr. Ergen sought to do indirectly what he 

knew was not permitted directly.  As in Empresas, although the LP Debt purchases by SPSO 

may have appeared “superficially” permissible, those purchases (which, by April 2013, were 

made essentially for DISH in contemplation of a potential DISH acquisition) were intended to 

circumvent the Credit Agreement’s restrictions on transfers to DISH.  Contrary to Defendants’ 

assertions, the restrictions on competitors becoming Lenders were bargained for by LightSquared 

in the same way that Cablevisión bargained for the right to veto assignees but neglected to 

include in such provision the right to veto parties purchasing participations. 

SPSO must be held accountable for its conduct, in context.  Mr. Ergen’s multiple hats – 

personal, SPSO, LBAC, DISH – cannot be selectively deployed to disguise SPSO or insulate 

SPSO from responsibility for its actions in using a “guise” to achieve an “end run” around the 

substance of the Eligible Assignee restrictions in the Credit Agreement and undercut what Mr. 

Ergen certainly knew the restrictions were designed to prevent.  See Empresas, 680 F. Supp. 2d 

625.

IV. The SPSO Claim Shall Not Be Disallowed 

A. The SPSO Claim is Not Void or Voidable Even Though the Court  
Finds an Implied Breach and Even if the Court Were to Have Found an 
Express Breach 

Section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a properly filed proof of claim is 

deemed allowed unless a party in interest objects.  11 U.S.C. § 502(a).  Various other subsections 

of section 502 set forth the grounds for disallowing a claim, including section 502(b)(1), which 

authorizes disallowance because the claim is unenforceable under any agreement or applicable 

law.  Section 502(b) provides: “[T]he court . . . shall allow such claim in such amount, except to 

the extent that (1) such claim is unenforceable against the debtor and property of the debtor, 

under any agreement or applicable law . . . .”  11 U.S.C. § 502(b).
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SPSO maintains that, even if it was not an Eligible Assignee, the SPSO Claim would still

be enforceable against the LightSquared LP estate, as nothing in the Credit Agreement treats 

transfers as void or voidable even if they are made in violation of the transfer restrictions.  The 

Court concludes that SPSO is correct on this point.  Even if the Court had found that SPSO 

breached the express terms of the Credit Agreement and was not an Eligible Assignee, the plain 

language of the Credit Agreement does not support disallowance of the SPSO Claim. 

Plaintiffs argue that the Credit Agreement provides that a transferee who is not an 

Eligible Assignee acquires no rights under the Credit Agreement, and, therefore, such transferee 

cannot assert a claim against the company with respect to any purchase of LP Debt.

Accordingly, they argue, any claim of SPSO based on the Credit Agreement must be disallowed.  

In support of this argument, Plaintiffs rely on Section 10.04(a) of the Credit Agreement, which 

provides that

Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, shall be construed to confer upon 
any person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns 
permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in paragraph (d) of this 
Section and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the other Indemnities) 
any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this 
Agreement. 

Credit Agreement § 10.04(a). 

As Mr. Ergen and SPSO point out, however, Plaintiffs fail to mention other relevant 

provisions of the Credit Agreement which provide that any breach by any Lender or 

participant135 of the transfer restrictions under the Credit Agreement does not excuse 

135  Section 10.04(b) of the Credit Agreement provides that “[a]ny assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights 
or obligations under [the Credit] Agreement that does not comply with this paragraph shall be treated for purposes 
of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with 
Section 10.04(d).”  Credit Agreement § 10.04(b).  Thus, even if an assignment by a Lender is invalid, it would be 
treated as a sale of a participation, and, pursuant to Section 10.04(d), a breach by a participant still does not excuse 
performance by LightSquared. 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 140 of 175

011770
JA005525



134

performance by LightSquared.  Specifically, Section 10.04(d) of the Credit Agreement provides, 

in pertinent part, that LightSquared

agrees that any breach by any Lender or participant or sub-participant of the 
restrictions on assignment hereunder (including, without limitation, to 
Disqualified Companies) shall not excuse, in any respect, performance by the 
Borrower under the Loan Documents.  

Credit Agreement § 10.04(d).  Contrary to Plaintiffs’ argument, Section 10.04(d) of the 

Agreement makes clear that neither a breach of the express terms of the Credit Agreement nor a 

breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing renders wrongfully transferred debt 

claims unenforceable against LightSquared and therefore disallowable.  SPSO also points out 

that similar language has been found insufficient to invalidate transfers. See LCE Lux HoldCo 

S.a.r.l. v. Entretenimiento GM de Mexico S.A. de C.V., 287 F.R.D. 230, 235 (S.D.N.Y. 2012).136

 Under any circumstances, even in the case of an express breach, in order for a claim to be 

disallowable, the contract must expressly provide that any breach of the contract, such as an 

assignment in violation of the agreement, shall render the assignment wholly void or invalid.  

See In re 785 Partners LLC, 2012 WL 401497 at *3 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Feb. 7, 2012) (citing 

Pravin Banker Assocs., Ltd. V. Banco Popular Del Peru, 109 F.3d 850, 856 (2d Cir. 1997)) 

(assignment of a loan is valid, rendering the assignee “a secured creditor and party in interest” in 

136  In LCE Lux HoldCo S.a.r.l. v. Entretenimiento GM de Mexico S.A. de C.V., the agreement at issue 
contained a provision prohibiting assignment without consent, specifically stating that “[n]either party may assign 
any of its right under the Agreement without the prior written consent of the other parties, which will not be 
unreasonably withheld.”  The agreement went on to provide that “[s]ubject to the preceding sentence, this 
Agreement will apply . . . to give any Person other than the parties to this Agreement any legal or equitable right, 
remedy, or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement.”  287 F.R.D. at 235.  
The defendant argued that the only way to give meaning to the phrase “subject to the preceding sentence” was to 
read the second sentence to mean that the benefits of the agreement inured only to permitted assigns, thus rendering 
an assignment in violation of the agreement void.  The court found that the agreement did “not contain the typical 
‘talismanic’ language that renders an assignment void,” and that, given the ambiguities in the phrasing of the 
agreement on this point, was unwilling to void the assignment at issue.  Id. at 235-36 (stating that “assignments 
made in contravention of a prohibition clause in a contract are void if the contract contains clear, definite, and 
appropriate language declaring the invalidity of such assignments”) (citation omitted). 
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the bankruptcy, even if the assignee did not meet the definition of an Eligible Lender, where the 

contract lacked language invalidating an improper assignment)); see also See Purchase Partners, 

LLC v. Carver Fed. Sav. Bank, 914 F. Supp. 2d 480, 505 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (contractual 

provisions prohibiting assignments are not enforceable except where “the relevant provision of 

the contract contains ‘clear, definite, and appropriate’ language declaring an assignment 

invalid”) (quoting Sullivan v. Int’l Fid. Ins. Co., 96 A.D.2d 555, 556 (2d Dep’t 1983)); In re 

Britton, 288 B.R. 170, 173 (Bankr. N.D.N.Y. 2002) (quoting Pravin Banker Assocs. Ltd. v. 

Banco Popular Del Peru, 109 F.3d at 856) (finding that under New York law, “to preclude the 

power to assign, or cause an assignment violative of contractual provisions to be wholly void, [a 

contractual] clause must contain express provisions that any assignment shall be void or invalid 

if not made in a certain specified way”).   

Here, the Credit Agreement does not contain clear language voiding an assignment to a 

party that is not an Eligible Assignee or invalidating a claim by such party relating to the Credit 

Agreement; thus, even if the Court had found that SPSO is not an Eligible Assignee under the 

express terms of the Credit Agreement, the SPSO Claim would not be void or voidable. 

B. The Inaction and Delay of LightSquared and Harbinger Preclude the Award 
of Affirmative Damages

Beginning in May 2012, LightSquared and Harbinger knew or had strong reason to 

believe that Mr. Ergen was purchasing LP Debt.  Substantial documentary evidence in the record 

reflects that, at a minimum, beginning with the sale of Carl Icahn’s $247 million LP Debt 

position to a Sound Point client on May 4, 2012, which was reported in the press,137 the Debtors 

and Mr. Falcone harbored serious suspicions that Mr. Ergen had entered LightSquared’s capital 

137 See, e.g., DX396 (May 10, 2012, Wall Street Journal blog, “Deal Journal,” entry titled “Ergen Builds Cash 
Pile Amid LightSquared Restructuring Talks”). 
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structure.  For example, on May 5, 2012, Mr. Falcone responded to an email from a 

LightSquared creditor, writing “[m]aybe we shouldn’t file if [Ergen] is circling the wagons.

Though I think [it] is a positive.  May bring in another strategic.”  (DX035 (Falcone to Ara 

Cohen of Knighthead); see also DX040 (May 7, 2012, Marc Montagner of LightSquared to Stan 

Holtz of Moelis:  “Ketchum, with his 175MM fund, bought 350 of the debt on Friday.  He is 

probably a front for Charlie Ergen.”); DX382 (May 8, 2012, Falcone to Ara Cohen:  “I can 

understand why u guys balked; Charlie will definitely give u guys 25% and an independent 

board and your full claim.”).)  Sarcasm aside, Mr. Falcone’s surmise that the buyer of LP Debt 

was Mr. Ergen was also set forth in a number of emails he sent to members of the press.  See

DX037 (May 6, 2012, Falcone to Matthew Goldstein of Reuters:  “Ergen.  Will prompt more 

strategics to step in.”); DX386 (May 16, 2012, Falcone to Greg Bensinger of The Wall Street 

Journal:  “Carlos Slim apparently [is] involved with Ergen” as purchasers of LP Debt, and, after 

questions from Mr. Bensinger, adding that “He clearly wants the spectrum and the satellites.  Let 

me know before I tell someone else if u are going to write anything.”).)  After sending these 

emails, Mr. Falcone testified, he understood that The Wall Street Journal may write an article 

based on the information provided.138

LightSquared and Harbinger attempt to explain such email correspondence as either idle 

banter, or, with respect to the media, as a “fishing expedition” to prod for information on the 

identity of the buyer.  When asked at Trial about his emails to Mr. Bensinger of The Wall Street 

Journal about Mr. Ergen and Carlos Slim, Mr. Falcone explained that he was “trying to get 

[Bensinger] to get information for me to confirm, because, before he does anything, he’s got to 

138 See Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 54:15-22, 108:25-109:4. 
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go out and corroborate.”139  Other emails touting Mr. Ergen as a purchaser were, according to 

Mr. Falcone, sent either (i) to fish for information or (ii) in the hope that Mr. Ergen’s presence 

would get other competitors interested in LightSquared as strategic investors.  For example, on 

October 4, 2012, Mr. Falcone emailed Omar Jaffrey, a banker,140 telling him “[y]ou may want to 

circle up w[ith] your contact at AT&T and let him know Ergen continues to buy bonds.” 

(DX0388.)  At Trial, Mr. Falcone explained that, in sending this email, he was fishing for 

information to “corroborate what [he] believed,” and he was also hoping Mr. Jaffrey could “get 

AT&T involved” because LightSquared was looking for strategic investors at the time.141  As 

Mr. Falcone testified, to “have a strategic kind of kicking the tires on your company . . . 

validate[s] the asset and it may bring in—it may prompt other strategics to get involved.”142

None of these emails reflects alarm on the part of Mr. Falcone or LightSquared that a 

competitor who might act against LightSquared’s interests had likely entered its capital structure 

or that the uncertain identity of such party was troubling to them.  Quite the contrary, the 

correspondence in evidence reveals that Mr. Falcone conveniently used his suspicions of Mr. 

Ergen’s trading in LP Debt as an item to publicize in order to drum up possible interest in 

139  Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 109:6-8.  When asked at Trial about why he exchanged emails with reporters, Mr. 
Falcone testified that “[s]ometimes they have good information,” as he was trying to find out who was buying 
LightSquared debt.  Id. at 36:9-16. 
140  Mr. Jaffrey is now a principal of Melody Capital Partners, one of the sponsors of the Debtors’ Third 
Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization. 
141  Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 56:17-57:5.  On May 8, 2012, Mr. Falcone had sent a similar email to Gil Ha, a 
banker at Greenhill & Co., who had a relationship with AT&T, stating “Ergen now involved in LS.”  DX043.  Mr. 
Falcone testified that he sent this email to both (i) fish for intelligence as to who had purchased Mr. Icahn’s position 
and (ii) see if AT&T, after viewing Mr. Ergen’s investment as validation, would possibly be interested in investing 
in LightSquared.  Id. at 41:17-42:9; 118:21-119:14. 
142  Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 35:3-10.  Other emails admitted into evidence show that Mr. Falcone had also 
contacted DISH directly in what appears to have been an attempt to goad them into corroborating that Mr. Ergen 
was purchasing LP Debt.  See DX0378 (May 7, 2012, Falcone to Thomas Cullen of DISH, “Good purchase.”); 
DX097 (December 18, 2012, Falcone to Thomas Cullen of DISH:  “Tom, we should talk. I know you guys are 
buying the bonds through Sound Point.  One of his guys has been talking.”). 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 144 of 175

011774
JA005529



138

LightSquared from strategic investors, some of whom were themselves LightSquared 

competitors.  And, as the trading price of LP Debt increased from 48 cents on the dollar in April 

2012 to 96 cents on the dollar in April 2013, Mr. Falcone seemed even less inclined to complain 

about the allegedly harmful presence of a competitor in the capital structure.  Even as late as 

March 28, 2013, Mr. Falcone and Drew McKnight of Fortress both expressed in an email 

exchange their views that it was beneficial that a potential strategic investor, Mr. Ergen, was also 

buying LP Preferred Interests in addition to LP Debt.143  Mr. Falcone explained at Trial that he 

considered this a validation of spectrum value, and, in addition, as stated in the email exchange, 

he felt that Mr. Ergen’s LP Debt acquisition could help to “blow up” the Ad Hoc Secured Group 

unless Mr. Ergen joined them.144  While, at Trial, he denied that he knew the details of the 

Exclusivity Stipulation (which required the Debtors to start preparatory work on a sale process 

on June 3, 2013 and to commence a formal sale process on July 15, 2013 upon the termination of 

exclusivity, if the Ad Hoc Secured Group still remained the largest group of holders of LP Debt 

and no consensual deal between the parties had been achieved), Mr. Falcone admitted that he 

understood that such requirement would fall away if Mr. Ergen became the largest holder of LP 

Debt.

At Trial, Mr. Falcone maintained that, depending on the day and the information he 

received, his belief changed as to who was behind Sound Point’s purchases.  For example, when 

asked if, on May 9, 2012, he still believed that it was Mr. Ergen buying the LP Debt, he 

answered that “I don’t know if it was the Carlos Slim and Charlie Ergen day, but it could have 

143  DX0395 (McKnight to Falcone: “. . . at end of day really need a strategic involved here to maximize value 
and I think you’re getting it.  Pretty huge for them to pay up on preferred.  Think it’s a positive all around.”  Falcone 
reply:  “I do too.”) 
144  Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 141:11-143:17. 
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been one or the other.”  (Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 115:4-5; see also id. at 58:4-11 (“I just didn’t 

know.  You know, depending on – at this point in time what minute of the day it was, I had 

believed, on one hand, it could be AT&T, and then six minutes later I changed my mind, I think 

it’s Ergen.”).)  The contention that Mr. Falcone and LightSquared were unsure whether the 

purchaser of the LP Debt was related to DISH, rather than Carlos Slim (the owner of one of the 

largest telecommunications empires in the world) or Cablevision (one of the largest cable 

providers in the United States and a Disqualified Company) – all competitors of LightSquared – 

suggests that LightSquared was not overly concerned about the presence of any these parties in 

its capital structure.  In fact, the addition of DISH to the Credit Agreement’s list of Disqualified 

Companies on May 9, 2012, appears to have been pursued by Mr. Falcone at least partially in 

spite in order to trap Mr. Ergen in a minority position in the LP Debt after he had acquired Mr. 

Icahn’s position.  On May 6, 2012, after learning of the purchase of Mr. Icahn’s $247 million 

position in the LP Debt, Mr. Falcone wrote to Ara Cohen of Knighthead, “Well I’m working on 

giving [Ergen] a nice surprise” by adding DISH to the list of Disqualified Companies.  (DX038). 

Despite the significant amount of documentary evidence indicating that they knew or 

should have known, LightSquared and Harbinger maintain that it was not until May 21, 2013 

that they first received confirmation that Mr. Ergen was the party behind SPSO’s purchases of 

LP Debt.145  They argue that, prior to being informed by SPSO’s counsel on May 21, 2013, 

public information provided them with no certainty as to who was behind SPSO’s purchases.

They emphasize the widespread speculation in the media and that news reports, blogs, and 

145  As support for this assertion, LightSquared and Harbinger point to emails exchanged between Mr. Falcone 
and representatives and advisors for Harbinger and LightSquared on May 21, 2013, when they purportedly did not 
yet know the identity of Sound Point’s client.  In those emails, Falcone stated that “[i]f I were a betting man I would 
say that Sound Point is Slim.”  (Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 72:25-73:18; PX0540.)  Upon receipt of the email from 
counsel confirming Ergen was in fact the ultimate buyer of Sound Point’s LP Debt purchases, Falcone responded 
“[f]ortunately, I’m not a betting man.”  (Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 73:19-74:9; PX0537.) 
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rumors at various times pointed to Carlos Slim, the Dolan Family, or Mr. Ergen as the 

purchaser.146  Moreover, LightSquared and Harbinger maintain that they made diligent efforts to 

determine who was behind Sound Point’s purchases of LP Debt, pointing to, among other things, 

voicemails left by Mr. Montagner for Mr. Ketchum; efforts by Moelis to obtain information from 

Mr. Ketchum and from Willkie Farr;147 their attempts through UBS; and Mr. Falcone’s efforts to 

reach out to “people on the street” such as reporters, Mr. Cullen, and representatives of AT&T 

and Sprint.148

Notwithstanding the fact that, beginning in May 2012, there was a long history of 

speculation in the press but no definitive confirmation that Mr. Ergen was the purchaser,149 it is 

clear from the totality of the evidence that, for nearly a year, LightSquared knew or had reason to 

believe that Mr. Ergen was behind SPSO.  Despite LightSquared’s protestations that it attempted 

to ascertain the identity of the purchaser (and the efforts to which it points), the fact remains that 

146 See, e.g., PX0095 (May 4, 2012, trader at Harbinger to Falcone: “[Ketchum] is the guy running South 
Point.  An old article, but looks like the guy has close ties with the Dolan family.”); PX149 (May 10, 2012, email 
from Harbinger employee to Falcone that he had “heard from a couple of people that [E]rgen may not be the guy 
behind [K]etchum.  Some rumors are that it might be the [D]olans, who like [E]rgen are close to [K]etchum.”); 
PX0304 (July 9, 2012, Forbes article noting that “holes have appeared in the thesis that Ergen is backing Sound 
Point” and “people involved have begun to speculate it might be Carlos Slim or others behind the purchase.  Sources 
have speculated that Cablevision, owned by the Dolan family and one of the country’s largest telecom and media 
company [sic], could be a potential suitor as well.”); DX045 (May 9, 2012, LCD News story headlined 
“LightSquared [Term Loan] trades north of 70 as Ergen enters the picture.”). 
147  Mr. Hootnick testified at Trial that Moelis called “Mr. Ketchum regularly and [met] with him regularly, and 
. . . continu[ed] during that period [i.e., spring 2013] to try and find out who Sound Point—if they were representing 
somebody and what their intention was.”  Mr. Ketchum continued to refuse to identify its investors or intentions.  
(Jan. 17 Tr. (Hootnick) 23:13-24; Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 88:22-89:22; PX0443.)  Mr. Hootnick directly “ask[ed] Mr. 
Ketchum if he was working with Mr. Ergen . . . but [Ketchum] refused to answer any of those questions.”  (Jan. 17. 
Tr. (Hootnick) 19:8-20.  Mr. Hootnick also reached out to Rachel Strickland of Willkie Farr, who had represented 
Ergen in the TerreStar bankruptcy, to see whether she would shed light on whether Mr. Ergen was involved in 
SPSO’s LP Debt purchases.  (Jan. 17 Tr. (Hootnick) 19:21-21:3, 64:3-9.)  Despite more than six phone calls and “a 
couple” of lunch meetings, Mr. Ergen’s counsel would not confirm whether he was involved.  (Jan. 17 Tr. 
(Hootnick) 20:22-21:3.) 
148  Jan. 16 Tr. (Falcone) 22:1-11. 
149  Indeed, an April 4, 2013 Wall Street Journal article noted, “[i]t is unclear whether Mr. Ergen or his 
company, satellite-television operator Dish Network Corp. . . . has played a role in Sound Point’s trading.  Mr. 
Ergen hasn’t addressed the trades, and the company declined to comment.”  (DX144.) 
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LightSquared, a chapter 11 debtor, did nothing to seek to obtain that information through the 

many tools available to it, including Bankruptcy Rule 2004, or to seek any relief from this Court 

with respect to the debt purchases by SPSO, which relief may have included a motion to enforce 

the restrictions in the Credit Agreement or an injunction similar to that obtained in Empresas.  In 

fact, there appears to have been a certain degree of ambivalence as to whether the presence of 

Mr. Ergen was a positive or a negative for LightSquared (i) in its search for strategic investors 

and (ii) in terms of the implication of Mr. Ergen’s holdings on the requirements set forth in the 

Exclusivity Stipulation.  Regardless of LightSquared’s ultimate view, what is clear that is that no 

action was ever taken.

LightSquared’s breach of contract allegations have been asserted too late in the game to 

be actionable.  The equitable doctrine of laches requires that the following elements be shown: 

(i) conduct giving rise to the situation complained of, (ii) delay by the plaintiff in asserting a 

claim despite the opportunity to do so, (iii) lack of knowledge on the defendant’s part that a 

claim would be asserted, and (iv) injury or prejudice to the defendant if relief is granted to the 

plaintiff. Caldor Corp. v. S Plaza Assocs. (In re Caldor Inc.), 217 B.R. 121, 134 (Bankr. 

S.D.N.Y. 1998) (citations omitted).  To equitably estop a plaintiff from asserting its claims, a 

defendant must demonstrate that the plaintiff (i) made a false representation or concealed 

material facts, (ii) intended that such conduct would be acted upon by the defendant, and (iii) had 

knowledge of the true facts.  Id. (citations omitted).  In their answer to the LightSquared 

Complaint,150 SPSO and Mr. Ergen raise each of these equitable doctrines (and others) as 

defenses barring any recovery against them.   

150  Adv. Docket No. 102. 
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The Court finds that, while all of the elements of the doctrines of laches or equitable 

estoppel may not have been met, sufficient elements of each doctrine have been satisfied to 

preclude the pursuit or award of affirmative damages to LightSquared and Harbinger with 

respect to SPSO’s conduct in acquiring LP Debt.  The Court has concluded that LightSquared 

and Harbinger knew or had strong suspicions that Mr. Ergen was behind SPSO’s purchases 

through Sound Point.  Yet, even assuming any uncertainty on the part of LightSquared and 

Harbinger, they failed to act to confirm the identity of the purchaser of LP Debt and, once 

confirmed, they failed to take any action to prevent Mr. Ergen from closing trade after trade, 

instead delaying in filing suit until after Mr. Ergen had acquired $844 million in LP Debt and had 

made a bid for LightSquared’s assets.  Meanwhile, for over one year, SPSO had purchased its LP 

Debt and, other than in connection with the bundled March 28, 2013 trade, never heard a peep of 

protest from LightSquared.  As far as SPSO could reasonably conclude, the Debtors appeared to 

have no concern about SPSO’s status as a purchaser.  Such inaction and delay now preclude the 

Court from making an affirmative award of damages to LightSquared on account of Mr. Ergen’s 

conduct.151

151  The conduct of LightSquared and Harbinger upon learning of SPSO’s LP Debt purchases, however, has no 
effect on whether or not the conduct of Mr. Ergen and SPSO in acquiring the LP Debt satisfies the first and seond 
prongs of the Mobile Steel test for equitable subordination of SPSO’s claim – whether SPSO and Mr. Ergen engaged 
in “inequitable conduct” and whether such conduct harmed innocent creditors.  Subject to limited exceptions, 
“[c]ourts generally have not applied common law equitable defenses to causes of action created under Chapter 5 of 
the Bankruptcy Code.”  In re Auto. Professionals, Inc., 398 B.R. 256, 262 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2008).  With respect to 
“equitable subordination, [the test] focuses only on the actions of guilty creditors and the resulting impact on 
innocent creditors.”  Id. at 260.  “Inequitable conduct by the debtor is noticeably absent from the list of relevant 
considerations.”  Id.  Thus, consideration of the debtor’s conduct, as opposed to the guilty creditor, and allowing the 
unclean hands defense “would be inconsistent with the traditional test for equitable subordination, the substantial 
case law allowing subordination despite debtors' participation in wrongdoing, and the purpose of equitable 
subordination. Id.; accord In re Applied Theory Corp., 345 B.R. 56, 59 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (“The purpose of equitable 
subordination is to undo wrongdoing by an individual creditor in the interest of the other creditors.”), aff'd, 493 F.3d 
82 (2d Cir. 2007). 
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V. SPSO’s Claim Shall Be Equitably Subordinated to the Extent of Injury Caused to 
Innocent Creditors 

Although SPSO cannot be found to have breached the technical requirements of the 

Credit Agreement, its conduct and that of its principal are nonetheless far from blameless.  Mr. 

Ergen’s carefully crafted and strategically deployed decision to acquire the LP Debt despite the 

restrictions in the Credit Agreement and in furtherance, at least as of April 2013, of his strategic 

objective to acquire LightSquared’s assets for DISH supports equitable subordination of SPSO’s 

claim to the extent creditors have been injured by such conduct.  Moreover, as discussed in detail 

below, SPSO’s additional misconduct in connection with the delayed closing of hundreds of 

millions of dollars of LP Debt trades – and its stunning lack of candor on this issue – provides an 

additional basis for equitable subordination of the SPSO Claim.  Taken as a whole, SPSO’s 

conduct not only violates the covenant of good faith and fair dealing implied in all contracts but 

also constitutes an affront to the duty of good faith imposed on those who participate in chapter 

11 proceedings. 

A. Applicable Law 

Bankruptcy courts have broad equitable powers and have the ability to invoke equitable 

principles to achieve fairness and justice in the reorganization process. See Momentum Mfg. 

Corp. v. Employee Creditors Comm. (In re Momentum Mfg. Corp.), 25 F.3d 1132, 1136 (2d Cir. 

1994); 11 U.S.C. § 105(a) (“The court may issue any order, process, or judgment that is 

necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of this title”); see also Law v. Siegel, 134 

S. Ct. 1188, 1195 (2014) (a bankruptcy court has statutory authority to “issue any order, process, 

or judgment that is necessary or appropriate to carry out the provisions of” the Bankruptcy Code 

(quoting 11 U.S.C. § 105(a)), but the bankruptcy court’s equitable powers, including the power 

to impose sanctions, must be “exercised within the confines of the Bankruptcy Code” (internal 
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quotations and citations omitted)).  The doctrine of equitable subordination, codified in section 

510(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, is one such equitable power that a bankruptcy court may employ 

to rearrange the priorities of creditors’ interests and to place all or part of a wrongdoer’s claim in 

an inferior status, in order to achieve a just result in the reorganization of a debtor.

The equitable subordination doctrine empowers a bankruptcy court to consider whether, 

“notwithstanding the apparent legal validity of a particular claim, the conduct of the claimant in 

relation to other creditors is or was such that it would be unjust or unfair to permit the claimant 

to share pro rata with the other claimants of equal status.” In re Adler, Coleman Clearing Corp.,

277 B.R. 520, 563 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) (Gerber, J.) (“Adler”) (citing 80 Nassau Assocs. v. Crossland 

Fed. Sav. Bank (In re 80 Nassau Assocs.), 169 B.R. 837 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1994) (Bernstein, 

C.J.) (“80 Nassau Assocs.”)); In re Enron Corp., 333 B.R. 205, 221 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2005) 

(Gonzalez, J.) (“In re Enron”) (“a bankruptcy court can subordinate any claim held by a creditor 

found to have engaged in inequitable conduct to achieve a ‘just’ result for the debtor’s estate”).

First articulated in the seminal case of Pepper v. Litton, 308 U.S. 295 (1939), the doctrine itself 

empowers the court to look beyond the apparent facial validity of a claim and evaluate the 

conduct giving rise to the claim.  

The test for equitable subordination was originally articulated in Benjamin v. Diamond 

(In re Mobile Steel Corp.), 563 F. 2d 692 (5th Cir. 1977) (“Mobile Steel”), and has since been 

adopted by Courts in the Southern District of New York. See 80 Nassau Assocs., 277 B.R. at 

563; Adler, 277 B.R. at 564; In re Enron, 333 B.R. at 217; ABF Capital Mgmt. v. Kidder, 

Peabody & Co. (In re Granite Partners), 210 B.R. 508, 514 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1997) (Bernstein, 

C.J.) (“Granite Partners”).  As such, in order for this Court to exercise its power of equitable 

subordination, three conditions must be satisfied: (i) “[t]he claimant must have engaged in some 
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type of inequitable conduct;” (ii) “[t]he misconduct must have resulted in injury to the creditors 

of the bankrupt or conferred an unfair advantage on the claimant;” and (iii) “[e]quitable 

subordination of the claim must not be inconsistent with the provisions of the Bankruptcy Act.” 

Mobile Steel, 563 F.2d at 700; 80 Nassau Assocs., 277 B.R. at 563; Granite Partners, 210 B.R. at 

514.152

In determining whether these three conditions are satisfied, Mobile Steel instructs the 

Court to be mindful of three principles.  First, inequitable conduct directed against the debtor or 

its creditors may be sufficient to warrant subordination of a claim irrespective of whether it was 

related to the acquisition or assertion of that claim.153 Mobile Steel, 563 B.R. at 700-01; see also 

Citicorp Venture Capital Ltd. v. Comm. of Creditors Holding Unsecured Claims, 323 F.3d 228, 

234 (3d Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 825 (2003). (“Papercraft”)154 (“The inequitable 

conduct may arise out of any unfair act by the creditor as long as the conduct affects the 

bankruptcy results of other creditors”).  Second, a claim or claims should be subordinated to the 

extent (and only to the extent) necessary to offset the harm which the debtor and its creditors 

suffered on account of the inequitable conduct. Id.  And third, an objection resting on equitable 

grounds must contain some substantial factual basis to support its allegation of impropriety.  Id.

152  Although the second prong of the Mobile Steel test is stated in the disjunctive, the better view (and the one 
followed by courts in this District) is that injury must be shown; and “unfair” advantage to the claimant, in the 
absence of injury to creditors, is not sufficient.  See Nisselson v. Softbank AM Corp. (In re MarketXT Holdings 
Corp.), 361 B.R. 369, 388 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2007) (Gropper, J.); see also In re Mr. R’s Prepared Foods, Inc. 251
B.R. 24, 29 (Bankr. D. Ct. 2000) (“In the [Second Circuit], the second requirement for equitable subordination 
involves a conjunctive test, requiring a showing of both unfair advantage to one creditor and harm to the debtor or 
its other creditors.” (citing Cosoff v. Rodman (In re W.T. Grant Co.), 699 F.2d 599, 611 (2d Cir. 1983) (grammatical 
changes in original)); In re Vermont Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperative, Inc. v. Rural Utility Serv., 
U.S. Dep’t of Agric., 240 B.R. 476, 485 (Bankr. D. Vt. 1999). 
153  This Decision reflects a disposition of the Complaints asserted by the Debtors and Harbinger in the 
Adversary Proceeding; SPSO’s conduct in these cases which is unrelated to claim acquisition is the subject of 
objections asserted in connection with the Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization.  
154  For ease of comprehension and unless otherwise noted, all references to Papercraft are to the Third 
Circuit’s opinion, 323 F.3d 228 (3d Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 825 (2003). 
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1. Mobile Steel Prong I: Inequitable Conduct 

Prong I of the Mobile Steel tests requires a showing that the claimant engaged in some 

type of inequitable conduct.  Inequitable conduct is not limited to fraud or breach of contract, 

rather, it includes even lawful conduct that shocks one’s good conscience.  As Judge Bernstein 

noted in 80 Nassau Assocs., inequitable conduct means, among other things,  

a secret or open fraud, lack of faith or guardianship by a fiduciary; 
an unjust enrichment, not enrichment by bon chance, astuteness or 
business acumen, but enrichment through another’s loss brought 
about by one’s own unconscionable, unjust, unfair, close or double 
dealing or foul conduct.”

169 B.R. at 837 (quoting In re Tampa Chain Co., 53 B.R. 772, 779 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1985)) 

(other citations omitted); In re Lois/USA, Inc., 264 B.R. 69, 134 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2001) 

(Gerber, J.) (“Lois/USA”); Adler, 277 B.R. at 663-564.  Traditionally, equitable subordination 

was inapplicable to ordinary creditors (as opposed to insiders), but it is now well-settled that the 

doctrine applies to general creditors or “non-insiders,” though the circumstances warranting 

equitable subordination of a non-insider’s claim arise less frequently because the opportunities 

for abuses triggering equitable subordination tend to be more readily available to insiders.  See

Lois/USA, 264 B.R. at 134 (citing 80 Nassau Assocs., 169 B.R. at 838) (other citations omitted).  

In order to identify the precise type of conduct supporting equitable subordination of a 

non-insider’s claim, some courts have applied a heightened standard of wrongdoing, the majority 

requiring conduct that is “gross and egregious.” 80 Nassau Assocs., 169 B.R. at 838 (citing 

Waslow v. MNC Commercial Corp. (In re M. Paolella & Sons, Inc.), 161 B.R. 107, 119 (E.D. 

Pa. 1993)); Bank of New Richmond v. Production Credit Ass’n (In re Osborne), 42 B.R. 988, 997 

(W.D. Wisc. 1984).  However, courts in this District have held that there is no different or 

heightened standard by which to judge a non-insider’s conduct, though there may be fewer 

traditional grounds available because neither undercapitalization nor breach of fiduciary duty 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 153 of 175

011783
JA005538



147

applies to the conduct of a non-insider.  See 80 Nassau Assocs., 169 B.R. at 839.  Unless the non-

insider has dominated or controlled the debtor to gain an unfair advantage, the type of 

inequitable conduct that justifies subordination of a non-insider’s claim is “breach of an existing, 

legally recognized duty arising under contract, tort or other area of the law.” Id. at 838; accord

Lois/USA, 264 B.R. at 136; In re Monahan Ford Corp. of Flushing, 340 B.R. 1, 44 (Bankr. 

E.D.N.Y. 2006).

In commercial cases, the proponent of equitable subordination must demonstrate, for 

example, “a substantial breach of contract and advantage-taking by the creditor.” 80 Nassau 

Assocs., 169 B.R. at 838 (citations omitted); accord Lois/USA, 264 B.R. at 136.  Where a 

proponent is able to establish inequitable conduct in connection with contractual obligations, 

courts have granted equitable subordination. See Developmental Specialists, Inc. v. Hamilton 

Bank, N.A. (In re Model Imperial, Inc.), 250 B.R. 776, 804-05 (Bankr. S.D. Fl. 2000) (holding 

that creditor’s creation of a scheme to circumvent contractual obligations, including negative 

covenants in the loan documents, which provided it with an unfair advantage warranted equitable 

subordination of its allowed claim).  

In the absence of a contractual breach, the proponent must demonstrate “fraud, 

misrepresentation, estoppel or similar conduct that justifies the intervention of equity.” 80

Nassau Assocs., 169 B.R. at 838 (citations omitted); accord Lois/USA, 264 B.R. at 136.  A 

violation of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing may provide grounds for 

equitable subordination. See Lois/USA, 264 B.R. at 136 & n.167 (declining to make a 

substantive determination with respect to the extent to which a claim for violation of the implied 

covenant of good faith and fair dealing would support equitable subordination pending further 

development of the facts, but noting that, if proven, such conduct may justify equitable 
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subordination); see also In re Enron, 333 B.R. at 220 (holding that section 510(c) of the 

Bankruptcy Code affords the court discretion when considering subordination of claims based on 

common law concepts of the equitable doctrine, and stating that “the bankruptcy court has the 

[equitable] power to sift the circumstances surrounding any claim to see that injustice or 

unfairness is not done in administration of the bankrupt estate”) (quoting Pepper v. Litton, 308 

U.S. at 305) (grammatical changes in original)).  Accordingly, creditor misconduct in connection 

with the chapter 11 process itself – irrespective of applicable non-bankruptcy law – provides an 

appropriate predicate for equitable subordination of such creditor’s claim.  

2. Mobile Steel Prong II: Injury 

Once inequitable conduct has been found, the Court must next determine whether the 

claimant’s conduct caused injury to the debtor or its creditors, or resulted in an unfair advantage 

to the claimant.  Mobile Steel, 563 F.2d at 700-01; In re Vargas Enterprises, Inc. 440 B.R. 224, 

240 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (Sullivan, J.).  For a creditor to have achieved an unfair advantage as 

required under the Mobile Steel test, there must have been a benefit to the creditor.  In turn, for 

equitable subordination to be warranted, such a benefit, or unfair advantage, must have resulted 

in an injury to the debtor or its creditors.  Without injury, there would be no reason to equitably 

subordinate the claim.  See 9281 Shore Road Owners Corp. v. Seminole Realty Co., 187 B.R. 

837, 853-854 (E.D.N.Y. 1995); see also Nisselson v. Softbank AM Corp. (In re MarketXT 

Holdings Corp.), 361 B.R. 369, 388 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2007) (Gropper, J.) (denying non-insider 

creditor’s motion to dismiss, finding that the complaint raised core equitable subordination issues 

that were sufficient to state a claim under the Mobile Steel test that the creditor “engaged in (x) 

some type of inequitable conduct that (y) resulted in injury to other creditors and an unfair 

advantage to itself” (emphasis added)).  
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Equitable subordination requires that a party prove unfair advantage and injury to 

creditors because subordination is a remedial measure designed to offset the harm resulting from 

the inequitable conduct; it is not penal in nature. See Mobile Steel, 563 F.2d at 700 (“a claim or 

claims should be subordinated only to the extent necessary to offset the harm which the bankrupt 

and its creditors suffered on account of the inequitable conduct”).  In calculating the extent to 

which a claim should be subordinated, the bankruptcy court should “attempt to identify the 

nature and extent of the harm it intends to compensate in a manner that will permit a judgment to 

be made regarding the proportionality of the remedy to the injury that has been suffered by those 

who will benefit from the subordination.”  In re Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp Venture Capital, 

Ltd., Civil Action No. 00-2180, 2002 WL 34702177 at *3 (W.D. Pa. Feb. 20, 2002). While the 

harm and amount of injury should be based upon the supportive evidence of the record, id., the 

remedy of equitable subordination should remain flexible to deal with the inequitable conduct at 

issue.  As the court noted in In re Teltronics Servs., Inc.:

The remedy of equitable subordination must remain sufficiently 
flexible to deal with manifest injustice resulting from the violation 
of the rules of fair play . . . where ingenuity spawns unprecedented 
vagaries of unfairness, bankruptcy courts should not decline to 
recognize their marks, nor hesitate to turn the twilight for 
offending claimants into a new dawn for other creditors. 

29 B.R. 139, 172 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 1983).

Because equitable subordination is remedial rather than punitive in nature, the extent of 

equitable subordination of a claim is not related to the amount paid for the claim by the 

offending claimant.  The purpose of equitable subordination is to protect creditors against 

unfairness and to restore creditors to the position that they would have been in if the misconduct 
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did not occur. 155  As such, there is no justification for linking equitable subordination of a claim 

to the amount the creditor paid for the claim or the profit the creditor received or may receive 

from such purchase; if the injury sustained by the estate and other creditors is greater, the 

equitable subordination should be greater.  Conversely, if the injury to creditors is less than the 

profit realized by the offending creditor, the extent of equitable subordination should be less.

Simply put, and contrary to Papercraft, there is no nexus between the amount a creditor pays for 

its claim and the amount of injury sustained by other creditors of the estate as a result of the 

creditor’s misconduct.  Indeed, capping the recovery on a creditor’s claim at the amount it paid 

for the claim is inconsistent with the notion that equitable subordination is remedial in nature.156

Rather, a court should engage in an evaluation of the harm that the estate’s other creditors 

suffered as a result of the creditor’s misconduct based upon the supportive evidence of the 

record.

To that end, Papercraft identifies three categories of economic harm that provide a useful 

template for determining the extent of equitable subordination: (1) quantifiable monetary harm 

that results from delay; (2) harm that results from uncertainty; and (3) harm that results from 

155  As this Court made clear in its Decision on the Motions to Dismiss, section 510(c) of the Bankruptcy Code 
does not provide for the subordination of a claim to an equity interest.  See, e.g., Shearer v. Tepsic (In re Emergency 
Monitoring Techs., Inc.), 366 B.R. 476, 504 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 2007) (Section 510(c) only “authorizes the 
subordination of claims to other claims or interests to other interests but its language does not extend to treatment of 
interests vis-à-vis claims”) (citations omitted) (emphasis in original); Town & Country Corp. v. Hare & Co. (In re 
Town & Country Corp.), 2000 Bankr. LEXIS 1755 at *16-17 (1st Cir. B.A.P. 2000) (Section 510(c) is designed to 
“deal with equitable subordination of claims to other claims or interest to other interests . . . . The Panel will not 
import some other interpretation to § 510(c) when its language is clear and unambiguous on its face.”); 80 Nassau 
Assocs. v. Crossland Fed. Sav. Bank (In re 80 Nassau Assocs.), 169 B.R. 832, 836-837 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1994) 
(Section 510(c) “empowers the Bankruptcy Court, under ‘principles of equitable subordination,’ to subordinate, for 
purposes of distribution, claims to other claims, and interests to other interests....”); 4 COLLIER ON BANKRUPTCY ¶
510.05 at 510-17 (16th ed. 2013) (“Under subsection (c)(1), claims may be subordinated to claims, and interests may 
be subordinated to interests, but claims may not be subordinated to interests.”).  This is so because equitable 
subordination of debt to equity would constitute a penalty, not a remedy, as there is nothing equitable about allowing 
a debtor to evade a valid obligation enforceable under applicable law.   
156  Linking equitable subordination (or other bankruptcy rights and remedies) to the amount paid for a claim in 
the secondary market opens a Pandora’s Box of sizable proportions.  
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delay that can be measured by professional fees and administrative expenses incurred by the 

estate as a result of the litigation. Papercraft, 323 F.3d at 232.

The facts of Papercraft (a ten-year litigation saga that resulted in a suite of eight 

decisions) are instructive.  Citicorp Venture Capital (“CVC”), an insider and fiduciary of the 

debtor, Papercraft, attempted to take control of Papercraft’s assets and obtain a significant profit 

at the expense of other creditors by secretly purchasing claims against Papercraft for a deeply 

discounted amount and then objecting to the confirmation of a plan of reorganization proposed 

by the debtor, in favor of a competing plan favoring CVC.  Id. at 231-232 (citing In re 

Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp Venture Capital, Ltd., 165 B.R. 980 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 1994)).

Papercraft’s unsecured creditors’ committee filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to 

limit the allowance of claims held by CVC.  Id.  The bankruptcy court issued a Memorandum 

Opinion and Order, finding that the purchases at issue were all found to have occurred during the 

seven month period between the time that debtor filed its plan of reorganization and the time it 

filed its disclosure statement, and therefore, CVC’s purchases at a discount, without disclosure, 

while an insider, constituted breaches of CVC’s fiduciary duty to Papercraft. Id. at 231 (citing In

re Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp Venture Capital, Ltd., 187 B.R. 486, at 498-99 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 

1995)). Accordingly, the bankruptcy court limited CVC’s allowed claim and distribution in the 

plan of reorganization to the purchase price of the claim.  Id.

After a subsequent trial on the issue of equitable subordination of CVC’s claim, the court 

withdrew and vacated its prior decision, finding that CVC breached its fiduciary duty to debtor 

as an insider for failing to disclose its identity in purchasing the claims and, as an equitable 

subordination remedy, limiting CVC’s claim to the purchase price of the claim.  Id. at 231; In re 

Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp Venture Capital, Ltd., 187 B.R. 486.  But the bankruptcy court 
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declined to equitably subordinate CVC’s claim, holding that further subordination of CVC’s 

thus-limited claim pursuant to the principles of equitable subordination was not appropriate 

because the bankruptcy court was already limiting CVC’s allowed claim to the amount it paid for 

such claim.  Papercraft, 323 F.3d at 231 (citing In re Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp Venture 

Capital, Ltd., 187 B.R. at 501-502).

The parties then cross-appealed, and, on appeal, the district court affirmed the bankruptcy 

court’s factual findings that CVC acted inequitably and caused injury to Papercraft and its 

creditors and agreed with the bankruptcy court’s finding that CVC’s claim should be limited to 

the amount it paid for such claim so as to eliminate any potential profit. Papercraft, 323 F.3d at 

232 (citing In re Papercraft Corp. v. Comm. of Creditors Holding Unsecured Claims, 211 B.R. 

813, 827 (W.D. Pa. 1997)).  The district court reversed the bankruptcy court on the issue of 

further subordination and held that any subordination beyond the limitation of CVC’s recovery 

to the amount paid for such claims should be supported by factual findings and reconciled with 

principles of equity.  Accordingly, the district court remanded the case to the bankruptcy court 

for a further finding on the extent to which CVC’s limited allowed claim should be equitably 

subordinated. Papercraft, 323 F.3d at 232 (citing In re Papercraft Corp. v. Comm. of Creditors 

Holding Unsecured Claims, 211 B.R. at 827).    

On remand, the bankruptcy court found that CVC’s recovery would be further 

subordinated for (i) additional administrative expenses incurred during the delay caused by CVC, 

(ii) interest and dividends lost by creditors during the delay, and (iii) professional fees and 

expenses incurred and/or paid by the estate. Papercraft, 323 F.3d at 232 (citing In re Papercraft 

Corp. v. Citicorp Venture Capital, Ltd., 247 B.R. 625, 628 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 2002)).  
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Additional appeals ensued, and the district court affirmed the bankruptcy court’s 

decision, but the court reduced the lost interest component of the subordinated claim.  In re 

Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp Venture Capital, Ltd., Civil Action No. 00-2180, 2002 WL 

34702177 (W.D. Pa. Feb. 20, 2002). Ultimately, the Third Circuit upheld the additional 

subordination of CVC’s claim for attorneys’ fees, reasoning that the bankruptcy court did not 

award a monetary judgment for attorneys’ fees to penalize CVC, but rather, to return other 

creditors to the position they would have been in had CVC not acted inequitably, and affirmed 

the district court’s reduction of the lost interest component of CVC’s subordinated claim.

Papercraft, 323 F.3d at 234. 

In determining the amount of harm, the bankruptcy court in Papercraft explained that it 

need not arrive at a figure with “precise accuracy” and that any difficulty in precisely quantifying 

the harm should not redound to the benefit of the wrongdoer. In re Papercraft Corp. v. Citicorp 

Venture Capital, Ltd., Civil Action No. 00-2180, 2002 WL 34702177 at *9-10 (citing In re 

Papercraft Corp., 247 B.R. at 630).

3. Mobile Steel Prong III: Consistency with the Bankruptcy Code 

The third prong of the Mobile Steel test acknowledges that equitable subordination cannot 

be used to alter the statutory scheme imposed by bankruptcy law.  Accordingly, while a 

bankruptcy court can apply the equitable doctrine at its discretion, its power to subordinate an 

allowed claim is not boundless and courts cannot use equitable principles to disregard 

unambiguous statutory language of the Bankruptcy Code. In re Enron, 333 B.R. at 218-19 

(citing United States v. Noland, 517 U.S. 535, 543 (1996) (citations omitted)); Law v. Siegel, 134 

S. Ct. 1188, 1195 (2014).

The application of the third prong of the Mobile Steel test ensures that the “full breadth of 

the remedy of equitable subordination is available while ensuring that its reach does not violate 
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any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or become punitive as opposed to remedial.”  In re Enron,

333 B.R. at 219.  The requirement that subordination be consistent with bankruptcy law comes 

into play only after the Court has concluded that the first two prongs have been satisfied. 80

Nassau Assocs., 169 B.R. at 841.  By virtue of the codification of the doctrine in section 510(c) 

of the Code, the third prong of the Mobile Steel doctrine warrants little attention. 

B. Mobile Steel Prong I: SPSO’s Inequitable Conduct 

1. Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

As the Court has found, Mr. Ergen’s acquisition of LP Debt through SPSO violated the 

spirit and purpose of the Credit Agreement restrictions designed to prevent competitors from 

purchasing LP Debt and breached the Credit Agreement’s implied covenant of good faith and 

fair dealing.  This Court has held that a violation of the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing may provide grounds for equitable subordination.  See Lois/USA, 264 B.R. at 136, n.167 

(declining to make a substantive determination with respect to the extent to which a claim for 

violation of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing would support equitable 

subordination pending further development of the facts, but noting that if proven, such conduct 

may justify equitable subordination).  Although many aspects of SPSO’s conduct are, as has 

been suggested, “perfectly lawful”157 – including making purchases anonymously, acquiring a 

blocking position, and making an unsolicited cash bid for distressed assets – its purchase of LP 

Debt in order to preserve a strategic option for the benefit of DISH, a Disqualified Company, 

violated the spirit of the Credit Agreement’s restrictions on competitors owning LP Debt.  Such 

conduct, as described more fully above, constitutes inequitable conduct sufficient to warrant 

equitable subordination of the SPSO Claim. 

157 See Post-Trial Brief of Defendants SP Special Opportunities, LLC and Charles W. Ergen [Adv. Docket No. 
142], pp. 7-8. 
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2. SPSO, Through the Conduct of Messrs. Kiser and Ketchum, 
Purposefully Delayed the Closing of LP Debt Trades 

 In addition to SPSO’s inequitable conduct in acquiring the LP Debt, SPSO also engaged 

in inequitable conduct by effectively sidelining hundreds of millions of dollars of LP Debt during 

the weeks and months leading to the Court-sanctioned termination of exclusivity on July 15, 

2013, all while SPSO, Mr. Ergen, and, eventually LBAC/DISH, fine-tuned their bid strategy.  

SPSO, through Mr. Ergen, did so by purposefully delaying the closing of LP Debt trades in the 

face of repeated demands to close and despite the ready availability of the funds necessary to 

close.  Even if SPSO’s acquisition of LP Debt was faultless, its intentional delay in closing its 

trades of LP Debt alone is sufficient to constitute the type of inequitable conduct necessary for 

the imposition of equitable subordination by the Court.  The evidence of purposeful delay could 

not be more clear. 

SPSO was formed by Mr. Ergen with an initial capital contribution of only ten dollars, 

and its operating agreement did not require additional capital contributions from Mr. Ergen as 

Managing Member.158  Even though Sound Point knew that SPSO was funded with an 

insufficient amount of initial capital to buy a significant amount of LP Debt, Sound Point 

nevertheless traded for SPSO because Mr. Ketchum understood that SPSO was backstopped by 

Mr. Ergen.159  The evidence establishes that, after Sound Point executed a trade for SPSO, the 

trade would be funded only very shortly before or on the closing date.  At that time, Mr. Kiser 

would contact Mr. Ergen’s asset manager, Bear Creek, and tell Bear Creek how much money 

was needed to close the trade, after which Mr. Ergen would then authorize the wire transfer and 

158  PX0221 at LSQ-SPCD-000005553, 5561 (“[t]he Managing Member is entitled, but not required, to make 
additional contributions to the capital of the Company”).   
159  Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 18:8-21, 20:4-13; PX0023; PX0024; PX0046; PX0048; PX0052; PX0056; PX0058; 
PX0059; PX0074. 
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Bear Creek would liquidate investments to fund the transfer.160  Liquidity was not created by Mr. 

Kiser immediately upon placing a trade; rather, as admitted by Mr. Kiser at Trial, only after 

delaying for as long as possible on closing a trade were the funds for the purchase wired for 

closing.161

Of the 25 trades entered into by SPSO for purchases of LP Debt, eighteen of them took 

over two months to settle, and, of those eighteen trades, six took over four months to settle.162

By May 20, 2013, SPSO had contracted for, but had failed to settle, approximately $593,757,000 

in face amount of LP Debt trades (and approximately $610,000,000 counting trades held by 

brokers on that date) — more than 33 percent of the total outstanding LP Debt obligations—and 

had kept open a number of trades that it had entered into as far back as December 12, 2012.163

Mr. Kiser explained the delays as stemming from the fact that he and Mr. Ergen were not 

in any rush to close the trades of LP Debt; in their view, the trades “didn’t need to be closed until 

you absolutely had to,” as “there wasn’t an economic benefit to doing it.”164  As Mr. Kiser 

testified, Mr. Ergen “was getting a return on his capital and his investments.  So if he didn’t have 

to pay for it and he can make money on another end where his money was invested, that seemed 

like a smart move.”165  The documentary evidence on this point is to the contrary, as account 

statements produced by Bear Creek indicate that Mr. Ergen earned a relatively low rate of 

160  Mr. Ergen was the only person who could authorize the transfer of funds from his account at Bear Creek to 
Bal Harbour or SPSO for settlement of the LightSquared trades.  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 21:23-22:13, 58:7-12.  
161  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) (Q: Well, in fact, you didn’t want to pay unless—you didn’t want to pay until you 
absolutely had to, right?  A: That’s right.  We were in no rush to close.  Q: You wanted to wait until the last possible 
minute?  A: Well, as I said before, there was no economic benefit.) 
162  PX0859. 
163  PX0859. 
164  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 64:17-25 (stating that Mr. Ergen had his capital invested elsewhere and was making a 
return on money that would have been liquidated). 
165  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 98:3-6. 

13-01390-scc    Doc 165    Filed 06/10/14    Entered 06/10/14 15:04:54    Main Document  
    Pg 163 of 175

011793
JA005548



157

interest on the funds in his trust accounts.166  In addition, there were economic penalties imposed 

on SPSO for leaving LP Debt trades open for an extended period of time, including having to 

forgo adequate protection payments;167 this fact further undermines the “economic” explanation 

advanced by Mr. Kiser to explain the delay. Moreover, no evidence was introduced that either 

Mr. Ergen or Mr. Kiser took the possibility of a penalty to SPSO into account in determining  

(i) when to close unsettled trades or (ii) which of Mr. Ergen’s assets to liquidate to pay for 

SPSO’s LP Debt trades, despite the fact that Messrs. Ergen and Kiser had been made aware of 

how the adequate protection payments worked.168  Bear Creek, which independently selected 

which of Mr. Ergen’s assets would be liquidated to fund the trades, was not even made aware 

that SPSO possibly would have to pay cost of carry fees and forego adequate protection 

payments if the LP Debt trades were not closed by a certain date.169  In fact, there is no evidence 

that any analysis at all was done by Mr. Ergen, Mr. Kiser, or Bear Creek to determine the return 

on any of the assets in Mr. Ergen’s personal trust to determine which assets to liquidate for 

closing.  The “economic benefit” justification for delaying the closing of trades simply does not 

pass muster. 

166  PX0796-818.   
167  If SPSO failed to close certain LP Debt trades within the closing date specified in the purchase agreement, 
it was charged a penalty “cost of carry fee” and in some instances had to forgo receiving a share of Adequate 
Protection Payments for the unsettled trade.  (See Agreed Final Order (A) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash 
Collateral, (B) Granting Adequate Protection to Prepetition Secured Parties, and (C) Modifying Automatic Stay
[Bankr. Docket No. 136] at 18 (granting adequate protection for Lenders); Jan. 15, 2014 (Ketchum) 81:1-82:3; 
PX0493; DX104 at LSQ-SPCD-000000176 (imposing “AP Payment” and “cost of carry” fees from T+20 to 
settlement date); DX109 at LSQ-SPCD-000000285; PX0851 at SPSO-00000072; PX0650 at LSQ-SPCD-
000000073.) 
168  PX0258; PX0256; PX0259 (emails discussing adequate protection payments).  
169  Roddy Dep. 86:5-87:3. Bear Creek selected assets for liquidation based on “which ones are the easiest to 
liquidate closest to the market value,” and generally selected assets with low interest rates, consistent with the 
overall conservative nature of the Trust.  (Roddy Dep. 57:9-58:3, 58:20-22, 59:6-12, 69:7-11; Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 
168:4-14.) 
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Liquidity concerns were another purported reason for the delayed closing of the LP Debt 

trades, according to Mr. Kiser.170  At Trial, Mr. Kiser initially denied that liquidity reasons 

caused any delays, until he was reminded that he had testified otherwise at his deposition and 

then recalled giving that as an explanation.171  Asked if there was ever a time when Mr. Ergen 

lacked the liquidity to promptly close a trade, Mr. Kiser testified at Trial that, where Mr. Ergen 

may not have had “immediate funds available, [yes], that occurred.”172  Mr. Kiser equivocated, 

however, when pressed as to whether he could identify any investments that Mr. Ergen would 

have needed to exit which would take longer than three days, saying that “it depended. . . . [Mr. 

Ergen] had things that were all over the gamut of types of investments. . . . [some] were a lot less 

liquid.”173  Mr. Kiser’s testimony on the liquidity issue lacks credibility; and even Mr. Ergen 

admitted that, as far as he knew, there was not a delay in closing because of any liquidity issues, 

stating that “I don’t believe, other than several days, or perhaps a Friday where it didn’t make 

economic sense to wire money, that there was [sic] any delays because of that reason.”174  Bear 

Creek also confirmed that, after Mr. Ergen authorized a wire transfer from his personal trust, 

Bear Creek could make it available for transfer within several days.175  Mr. Ergen’s account 

statements reflect that funds were liquidated on a rolling basis from the investments held by his 

personal trust, with hundreds of millions of dollars in cash sometimes sitting in Mr. Ergen’s trust 

170  Mr. Ketchum testified that it was his “understanding from [Mr]. Kiser that things had to be sold, cash had 
to be raised to settle those trades.”  Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 84:13-14.  When asked about the lengthy delays between 
the trade and settlement dates and whether all of these delays were because the money was not coming from the 
Ergen family office, Mr. Ketchum responded, “Correct.”  Id. 86:1-3. 
171  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 128:24-129:13; 129:23-130:1. 
172  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 129:23-130:6. 
173 Id. 130:7-131:23. 
174  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 159:13-19. 
175  Roddy Dep. 66:12-67:14.  Around that time, Bear Creek managed between $626 million and likely $750 
million dollars for Mr. Ergen.  (Roddy Dep. 71:11-18.)   
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account for several weeks before it was used to fund a trade.176  The evidence further shows that, 

in at least one case, liquid funds were readily available, but Mr. Kiser instructed Bear Creek to 

hold off on wiring funds.177  The alleged liquidity issue was clearly manufactured by Mr. Kiser; 

and the lies to counterparties regarding liquidity were passed along by Mr. Ketchum, who was 

often informed by Mr. Kiser that funds were “not available” to close a trade178 and asked no 

further questions.

Mr. Kiser and Mr. Ergen also blamed the delays in closing the SPSO LP Debt trades on 

the need to complete “upstream” paperwork and on “false starts” from both the seller and the 

SPSO sides of the trades.  Neither of these was a credible explanation for what the documentary 

evidence clearly reveals was a concerted effort to delay on the part of Messrs. Kiser and Ergen.

Mr. Ergen testified that the variation in the dates between trading and closing an LP Debt trade 

had to do with the upstream paperwork that had to be done to verify who the actual owners were, 

which “was not that easy” and “could take anywhere from weeks to months.”179  Because of this 

time to “verify” and the need to have both documents and funding ready to close a trade, Mr. 

Kiser testified that there were a lot of “false starts” that “went both ways.”180  None of this 

testimony was credible. 

176  The account statements produced by Bear Creek reflect that, as of April 30, 2013, some $461 million held 
in the Trust account had been liquidated, and, as of May 31, 2013, approximately $207 million in liquid funds still 
remained in the Trust account.  (PX0810; PX0812.) 
177 See PX0530 (Mr. Kiser instructing Bear Creek on May 20, 2013 to “[w]ait for the green light from me prior 
[to] sending. Obviously it’s not going today so just check with me each morning.”).  By that time, at least $207 
million in assets which had been liquidated by Bear Creek in order to fund trades remained in the Trust account.  
(PX0812.) 
178  Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 74:12-20 (testifying as to his understanding that trades that had been delayed for 
over a month or more could not be closed by Sound Point because the funds had not been sent by Mr. Ergen’s 
family office, and Mr. Ketchum had been told that such trades could not close because the funds were “not 
available.”).   
179  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 62:17-63:6. 
180  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 63:13-25. 
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The volume of emails admitted into evidence reveals that counterparties to the trades that 

had been held open for months were, in fact, ready and eager to close, and they became more 

frustrated as time went on.  Parties repeatedly reached out to Sound Point to settle trades, but 

often they could get little traction.  (See, e.g., PX0319 (Sound Point e-mail on January 14, 2013, 

replying “[s]orry but we are not able to settle that one right now” in response to weekly inquiries 

from UBS seeking to close a trade); PX0364 (March 7, 2013 Sound Point email stating it would 

be able to settle “next week” in response to repeated inquiries since February 2013 regarding a 

December 2012 trade).)  In particular, Jefferies, the executing broker for the majority of the LP 

Debt trades, was pushed aside for months by Sound Point, which provided excuse after excuse 

for the failure to close numerous open trades.  In February 2013, Jefferies sent ongoing email and 

telephone requests to Sound Point to close multiple trades, with trade dates dating back as early 

as October 23, 2012.181  At that time, an employee of Mr. Ketchum’s reminded him that “[w]e 

have been pushing Jefferies off for nearly 3 weeks.”182  On April 23, 2013, Mr. Ketchum wrote 

to Mr. Kiser that “Kevin [of Sound Point] thinks we can hold [Jefferies] off on any payments 

until at least May 15” in connection with over $289 million in LP Debt trades that had not 

settled.183  After Jefferies followed up with Sound Point on April 25, 2013, seeking to close $88 

million of open trades,184 Mr. Ketchum inquired internally whether he could plausibly blame 

SPSO’s delay on the “upstreams,” but he was told by Sound Point personnel that the work had 

already been completed.185  Mr. Ketchum then emailed back and forth with a colleague about 

181  PX0347; PX0859. 
182  PX0347. 
183  PX0458; PX0441; PX0859. 
184  PX0466. 
185  PX0466; Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 76:9-77:8. 
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which lie to use – whether he should tell the counterparty “that we are still doing legal work on 

the upstreams,” that “we are waiting for funding from our investor,” or that “we are in the 

process of exiting some other large positions we have to pay for this.”  It was ultimately 

determined that the colleague should use the latter excuse, together with the statement that Mr. 

Ketchum “[has] spoken with Steve Sander (head of sales) [at Jefferies] about this.”186  The need 

to delay Jefferies was based on Mr. Ketchum’s understanding from Mr. Kiser that SPSO did not 

have capital available to fund the trade and, thus, Jefferies needed to be “put off” for a period of 

time.187

As of May 9, 2013, SPSO had seven open trades with Jefferies, totaling approximately 

$588 million in LP Debt trades dating back as far as January 2013.  Jefferies was imploring 

Sound Point to close the trades.188  Mr. Sander of Jefferies appealed to Mr. Ketchum:  “this is a 

big problem for me. I would like to come down and talk to you this afternoon around 4 or 5pm 

mano a mano[.]  Is this possible?”  Mr. Ketchum replied that he was waiting for other “trades to 

settle” (a lie) and that he had “already pushed extremely hard to get to where we are now in 

terms of closing.”189  None of the open trades closed for another several weeks.190

As he knew Mr. Ergen did not like to hold up funds which could be invested 

elsewhere,191 Mr. Kiser testified that he instructed Mr. Ketchum to prepare a schedule for him 

186 PX0466; see also Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 76:20-78:7; PX0308 (Jefferies repeatedly inquiring whether funds 
are available); PX0341 (Sound Point writing to Jefferies that they are “still waiting on the funds”); Jan. 10 Tr. 
(Kiser) 63:15-20.
187 Id. 78:18-79:15. 
188  PX0498. 
189  PX0498. 
190  PX0859. 
191 See, e.g., PX041 (March 26, 2012 email from Ketchum to Kiser in which Ketchum suggests setting up a 
prime brokerage account at BNP to fund the trades and wiring $500,000 to open the account, to which Kiser replies 

(continued...)
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showing unsettled trades and expected settlement dates so that he could have the money 

available on those dates, in order to avoid the “back-and-forth” with counterparties who may not 

have been ready to close when the funds were made available.192  This testimony was not 

credible.  Mr. Ketchum also testified that proposed settlement dates for the unsettled trades were 

requested by Jefferies, and he tried to act as an intermediary between SPSO and Jeffries “an 

anxious counterparty who was trying to get trades settled.”193   Mr. Ketchum stated that the 

“proposed settlement dates” in the schedule he emailed to Mr. Kiser on May 8, 2013, which were 

up to four months or more after the trade date, were suggested by Mr. Ketchum as a 

“compromise solution” in order to get the open Jefferies trades settled, and he proposed the 

schedule to Mr. Kiser before conveying such dates to Jefferies in order to see if a schedule of this 

kind was capable of execution by SPSO.194  While it is not clear whether such proposed dates 

were actually sent to Jefferies, Mr. Ketchum’s testimony on this point was not credible.  The 

proposed settlement dates contained in the schedule emailed from Mr. Ketchum to Mr. Kiser on 

May 8, 2013 reflect not a prediction for liquidity planning purposes of when trades would be 

ready to close, but rather a gameplan for delaying the closing of the open trades for as long as 

possible.  In fact, in addition to this schedule, Sound Point had also prepared an analysis of the 

average days it took to settle an LP Debt trade with Jefferies after the trade date (69 days) and 

“[i]t’ll be a lot easier if we don’t have to fund $$ until we have a trade to settle. . . [Ergen] won’t be a big fan of just 
putting $$ out for opening an account.”) 
192  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 63:25-64:14 (“And it got to a point where I told Steve, hey, look, get me a list and tell 
me when these things will trade so that we can have the money available for them rather than doing this back-and-
forth type of thing”); PX0495. 
193  Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 123:14-124:17. 
194 Id., see also id. 132:8-15 (“my job was to find a date, propose a date to SPSO that I thought was reasonable 
in the context of closing distressed trades, obtain permission from SPSO, and in particular, Jason, to go back and 
offer those dates to Jefferies so that they could be mollified and feel that there was some sort of definition around 
when the trades would be closed.”) 
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the average days after the industry-norm “contractual settlement date” of “T+20,” or twenty days 

after the trade date (38 days).195  There is no reason for Sound Point to have performed such an 

analysis other than to provide support for its proposed further delays.  In fact, with the exception 

of the Icahn trade, all of SPSO’s trades failed to close before a T+20 contractual settlement 

date.196

Astonishingly, Mr. Ketchum testified on direct examination that, even when the 

counterparty to a trade was ready and eager to settle a trade, Mr. Kiser had instructed him to 

delay the closing. See Jan. 15 Tr. (Ketchum) 69:3-6 (Q: “Did you ever have a discussion with 

Mr. Kiser in which you and Mr. Kiser agreed that you should delay the closing of the trade?”  A: 

“Yes.”); see also PX0204 (Sound Point employee emailing Mr. Ketchum on June 4, 2012 

regarding a LightSquared trade entered into on May 3, 2012 and stating, “Jefferies is looking to 

settle the other two trades.  Do you want to?  Or delay?”).  Mr. Kiser admitted that even when 

directly informed that counterparties were ready to close, he sought to defer settlement as long as 

possible.197  This goal was evident in much of the documentary evidence submitted.  (See, e.g.,

PX0495 (Mr. Ketchum to Mr. Kiser “We need to close our March 25 trade before month end, for 

example May 25 or so, to stave off Jefferies”); PX0466).   

195  PX0493. 
196  On March 17, 2014, during closing arguments in the Adversary Proceeding, counsel for SPSO and Mr. 
Ergen argued, for the first time, that the delay in closing SPSO’s LP Debt trades during the period between March 
and June 2013 was caused by a “moratorium” imposed by Jefferies as the trade intermediary.  Counsel represented 
that this “moratorium” was reflected in a document in the existing record.  After the hearing, counsel filed a letter to 
the Court which attached emails reflecting the purported “moratorium,” none of which had been previously 
produced or were otherwise in the record.  On March 21, 2014, counsel for the Plaintiffs filed a supplement to their 
previously-filed motion for sanctions, seeking additional sanctions in connection with, among other “discovery 
misconduct,” SPSO’s failure to have produced the “moratorium” document.  [Adv. Docket No. 148].  The sanctions 
motions remain sub judice.
197  Jan. 10 Tr. (Kiser) 64:5-25, 97:23-98:6. 
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The time period in which the foregoing delays occurred was a crucial time in the 

Debtors’ chapter 11 cases.  The Exclusivity Stipulation, approved by this Court in February 

2013, extended the Debtors’ exclusive periods to file a plan of reorganization to July 15, 2013.

If the parties did not reach a deal for a consensual plan by June 3, 2013, preparatory work for a 

sale process for all or substantially all of the Debtors’ assets was required to begin, with the 

formal sale process commencing on July 15, 2013.198  In the spring of 2013, LightSquared and 

its stakeholders – in particular, significant holders of LP Debt – were involved in negotiations 

with respect to terms for a consensual plan of reorganization.199  Beginning in late May 2013 and 

continuing thereafter, Moelis also contacted over 90 parties to discuss a joint venture or strategic 

partnership.200  On June 7, 2013, the Debtors received Court approval to enter into and perform 

under an engagement letter with Jefferies in connection with securing potential exit financing for 

the Debtors,201 after which a “road show” kicked off to seek to raise capital.  During this period, 

SPSO continued to amass large quantities of LP Debt and intentionally delayed the closing of 

large blocks of trades, all without formally revealing its identity.  As a result, all of these parallel 

movements forward by the parties were stymied.  LightSquared has alleged that it was not sure 

which lenders to negotiate with and whether the Ad Hoc Secured Group would be able to carry a 

198   PX0852 at Ex. A.   
199  On April 4, 2013, the Ad Hoc Secured Group submitted a proposed plan term sheet to LightSquared and 
indicated their willingness to commence discussions with respect thereto.  (PX0410.)  The term sheet contemplated 
a plan in which all creditor and preferred equity classes would receive a full recovery and LightSquared would 
emerge from bankruptcy with its spectrum assets intact.  (Id. at HARBAP00015399-400; see also Jan. 17 Tr. 
(Hootnick) 21:24-22:24.)  Also, on May 15, 2013—the same day that LBAC submitted its bid for LightSquared’s 
assets—the parties exchanged a revised term sheet for a consensual plan of negotiation.  (PX0505; DX335; DX174.)  
The revised term sheet provided for an infusion of new capital to be obtained by Harbinger and/or LightSquared, 
and reorganization, such that a sale of LightSquared’s assets would be avoided.  (PX0505 at HARBAP00005107-
13.)  A term sheet exchanged with the Ad Hoc Secured Group on May 24, 2013 envisioned that SPSO would 
receive full cash recovery while non-SPSO lenders would receive cash recovery and warrants.  (PX0561.)
200  Jan. 17 Tr. (Hootnick) 28:6-16.   
201  Bankr. Docket No. 667.   
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class such that it could enter into a binding commitment with respect to a plan, such that any 

hope of achieving a consensual plan during this period was derailed.  Without spending the cash 

necessary to close hundreds of millions of dollars of open trades and by intentionally leaving 

them in limbo for three to four months or longer, Mr. Ergen arrogated to himself the power to 

control the forward motion or lack thereof of the bankruptcy cases beginning in April 2013.

Indeed, the Exclusivity Stipulation provided that it could be terminated if the Ad Hoc 

Secured Group, collectively, ceased to be the largest holder of LP Debt.  On June 13, 2013, 

SPSO “joined” the Ad Hoc Secured Group, specifically to ensure that the termination conditions 

contained in Paragraph 15 of the stipulation would not be triggered.202  Within days of nominally 

joining the Ad Hoc Secured Group, several hundreds of millions of dollars in “hung” trades just 

happened to close, making SPSO the controlling member of the group by virtue of the size of its 

holdings.203  SPSO’s decision to join the Ad Hoc Secured Group was undoubtedly made for the 

strategic purpose of controlling the sale process for the Debtors’ assets, with DISH as the buyer, 

and the fact that it rendered the negotiated and Court-ordered exclusive period meaningless was 

ignored.  Mr. Ergen understood that the Exclusivity Stipulation would terminate in July,204 and 

enabling the stipulation to remain in place until then furthered his interest of keeping the status 

202  PX0858 (Stipulation by SP Special Opportunities, LLC in Aid of Discovery in Connection with Emergency 
Motion of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders to Enforce This Court’s Order Pursuant to 11 
U.S.C. § 1121(d) Further Extending LightSquared’s Exclusive Periods to File a Plan of Reorganization and to 
Solicit Acceptances Thereof, dated July 3, 2013) at ¶ 13.  SPSO’s counsel also stated in closing arguments of the 
Trial that SPSO joined the Ad Hoc Secured Group solely for the purpose of maintaining the “lender protections” of 
the Exclusivity Stipulation.  (Mar. 17 Tr. (Strickland) 189:12-191:4 (“[SPSO] was very much focused on those 
lender protections, and that’s why it joined the group.”)) 
203  PX0649 at L2AP0008732; PX0625; PX0859. 
204  Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 66:9-15 (“. . . and then there also was the fact that the bankruptcy was coming up in 
July.  And if I was interested, I would have to . . . – either you’re going to make a bid there or somebody else was 
going to.  And while I didn’t know in that time frame that I would make a bid, I knew that it would take time to 
prepare.”).  The Court understands Mr. Ergen’s mention of the “bankruptcy coming up in July” to refer to the 
stipulated date for termination of the Debtors’ exclusive periods to file a plan, which was approaching on July 15, 
2013. 
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quo until the DISH Board had authorized DISH to step into the shoes of LBAC and pursue the 

LBAC Bid.  While a creditor who is not an insider is not a fiduciary, a creditor nevertheless does 

not have the unfettered right to engage in such purposeful obstruction of the process.  SPSO 

failed to act in a way that is consistent with the most basic concepts of good faith that are fairly 

to be expected of chapter 11 creditors, especially those who voluntarily join the capital structure 

of a debtor well after distress has set in. 

As SPSO vehemently maintains, many aspects of SPSO’s conduct are entirely acceptable 

(albeit aggressive) and do not provide grounds for equitable subordination.  Such lawful and 

acceptable conduct includes: buying distressed debt; buying distressed debt anonymously; 

buying distressed debt anonymously at prices close to par; acquiring a blocking position in a 

class of debt; and making an unsolicited bid for assets of a debtor. Nothing in the Court’s 

decision should in any way alter such conduct in the distressed debt marketplace.  The 

Bankruptcy Code and the chapter 11 process tolerate and even contemplate self-interested and 

aggressive creditor behavior.  Nevertheless, SPSO’s conduct in acquiring the LP Debt and in 

controlling the conduct of the chapter 11 case through purposeful delays in closing hundreds of 

millions of dollars of LP Debt trades during a critical timeframe in these cases breaches the outer 

limits of what can be tolerated. 

While it is generally acceptable to obtain and deploy a blocking position to control the 

vote of a class with respect to a proposed plan of reorganization, it is not acceptable to deploy a 

blocking position to control the conduct of the case itself, to subvert the intended operation of a 

court-approved exclusivity termination arrangement, and to prevent the Court from directing and 

having visibility into events unfolding in the case.  In response to the allegations that they 

purposefully sidelined hundreds of millions of dollars in debt and prevented the chapter 11 cases 
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from moving forward, SPSO and Mr. Ergen say “no harm, no foul,” citing to the fact that there is 

no evidence that SPSO’s conduct had any impact on plan negotiations in the spring and summer 

of 2013.  But that is not true.  Had there been clarity with respect to the ownership of LP Debt 

during that time period, the parties may have made substantial progress on a plan, and it is 

possible that the Debtors’ exclusive periods could have been extended, which would have been a 

“game changer” in the course of the Debtors’ cases.

C. Mobile Steel Prong II: SPSO’s Conduct Harmed LightSquared’s Creditors 

Having acquired a controlling position in the LP Debt by the use of a special purpose 

vehicle whose special purpose was to achieve an end-run around the Credit Agreement, and then 

purposefully sidelining hundreds of millions of dollars of LP Debt while fine-tuning its 

acquisition strategy, SPSO has harmed the creditors of LightSquared.  Having seized control of 

the class of LP Debt, SPSO then seized control of the case itself, rendering meaningless the 

heavily negotiated and Court-ordered process leading to the termination of exclusivity on July 

15, 2013.  SPSO’s inequitable conduct has inflicted as yet unquantified harm on LightSquared’s 

creditors as a result of the delay, uncertainty, and increased administrative costs suffered by these 

estates.  While various numbers and calculations of harm have been suggested by Plaintiffs and 

by the Ad Hoc Secured Group, quantification of the amount of harm is beyond the agreed-upon 

scope of this first phase of the Adversary Proceeding and will be determined after further 

proceedings before this Court.205

205  The third prong of the test for equitable subordination set forth in Mobile Steel test states that equitable 
subordination cannot be used to alter the statutory scheme imposed by bankruptcy law.  As equitable subordination 
has since been codified in section 510(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Court need not address the third prong of the 
Mobile Steel separately in this Decision. 
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CONCLUSION 

SPSO has gone to great lengths to identify the many things it did that are “perfectly 

lawful” and just plain “smart” and warns, ominously, that any finding of liability would roil the 

debt markets.  But its otherwise lawful pursuit of aggressive and profitable distressed debt 

transactions does not entitle it to do what it did to the LightSquared estates and cases.  As Mr. 

Ergen so colorfully explained during Trial, “[y]ou can live in a bubble if you want to . . . and 

probably never get any disease. But you go play in the mud and the dirt and you probably aren't 

going to get disease either because you get immune to it.  So you pick your poison and I think we 

choose to go play in the mud.”206  Here, playing in the mud involved end-running the 

LightSquared Credit Agreement and then purposefully holding in limbo hundreds of millions of 

dollars of debt trades and undermining the ability of the Debtors, the constituents, and even the 

Court to conduct the case.  Determining the amount of harm that has occurred to these estates as 

a result of SPSO's conduct, while difficult, will not be impossible and the SPSO Claim will be 

subordinated accordingly.  

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Court finds that the SPSO Claim shall be equitably 

subordinated in an amount to be determined after further proceedings before this Court. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: June 10, 2014    
New York, New York   

/s/ Shelley C. Chapman    
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE

206 Jan. 13 Tr. (Ergen) 199:23-200:4 (video played at Trial).
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SHELLEY C. CHAPMAN 
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE 
 

Before the Court is the Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of 

Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1308] (as amended, supplemented, or modified in accordance 

with the terms thereof, the “Third Amended Plan” or the “Plan”).  The Plan enjoys the support of 

every significant party in interest in these cases, save one: SPSO, a special purpose entity owned 

and controlled by Mr. Charles Ergen.  SPSO opposes confirmation of the Plan.  SPSO holds 

approximately $844 million face amount of the outstanding LightSquared LP prepetition secured 

debt.  The facts and circumstances surrounding SPSO’s acquisition of its claim (the “SPSO 

Claim”), and the conduct of Mr. Ergen and certain of his affiliated entities in these cases, are the 

subject of a separate adversary proceeding pending in this Court and are also at issue in 

connection with consideration of confirmation of the Plan.  Among other things, the Debtors 

seek to disallow or subordinate the SPSO Claim in its entirety, and have also moved, pursuant to 

section 1126(e) of the Bankruptcy Code, to designate SPSO’s vote.  Pointing to SPSO’s 

connection to Mr. Ergen and DISH, the Debtors, Harbinger, and the Ad Hoc Group of 

LightSquared LP Lenders have constructed a Plan that purports to follow the blueprint laid out 

by the decisions in DBSD,1 to address conduct by Mr. Ergen that they maintain is even more 

egregious than the conduct at issue in DBSD.  The Plan Proponents separately classify the SPSO 

Claim; seek to designate SPSO’s vote and disregard the class (7B) in which the SPSO Claim is 

the sole classified claim; and seek to confirm the Plan without satisfying the requirements of 

section 1129(b) of the Code, among others.  In the alternative, the Plan Proponents assert that the 

treatment of the SPSO Claim, which is markedly different from the treatment the Plan affords to 

                                                            
1  In re DBSD North America, Inc., 421 B.R. 133 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2009); In re DBSD North America, Inc., 
634 F.3d 79 (2d Cir. 2011) (together, “DBSD”). 
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the other holders of LightSquared LP prepetition secured debt, provides SPSO with the 

indubitable equivalent of its claim and satisfies all requirements for confirmation, including 

those embodied in section 1129(b).  It is no understatement to say that the parties have waged a 

lengthy and increasingly nasty litigation war against each other over the past year and the 

confirmation hearing was a particularly vivid display of the parties’ animosity towards each 

other.  The parties continued to file motions and cross-motions for weeks after the evidentiary 

record on confirmation was to be closed and for weeks after the evidentiary record in the 

Adversary Proceeding2 was to be closed.  This Decision3 will address confirmation of the Plan 

and all pending motions related to the confirmation hearing. 

I. BACKGROUND4 

LightSquared LP, LightSquared Inc., LightSquared Investors Holdings Inc., TMI 

Communications Delaware Limited Partnership, LightSquared GP Inc., ATC Technologies, 

LLC, LightSquared Corp., LightSquared Inc. of Virginia, LightSquared Subsidiary LLC, 

SkyTerra Holdings (Canada) Inc., and SkyTerra (Canada) Inc., as debtors and debtors in 

possession (collectively, with certain of their affiliated debtors and debtors in possession, 

“LightSquared” or the “Debtors”) provide wholesale mobile satellite communications and 

broadband services throughout North America.  Through its ownership of several satellites and 

licenses to use mobile satellite service spectrum issued by the Federal Communications 

Commission (the “FCC”), LightSquared delivers voice and data services to mobile devices used 

                                                            
2  Harbinger Capital Partners LLC v. Ergen (In re LightSquared Inc.), Adv. Pro. 13-1390-scc (Bankr. 
S.D.N.Y.) (the “Adversary Proceeding”). 
3  This Decision supersedes this Court’s Bench Decision read into the record on May 8, 2014. 
4  The findings of fact and conclusions of law herein shall constitute the Court’s findings of fact and 
conclusions of law pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 7052, made applicable to this proceeding pursuant to Bankruptcy 
Rule 9014.  To the extent any finding of fact later shall be determined to be a conclusion of law, it shall be so 
deemed, and to the extent any conclusion of law later shall be determined to be a finding of fact, it shall be so 
deemed. 
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by the military, first responders and other safety professionals, and individuals throughout North 

America.  (See Declaration of Marc R. Montagner [Docket No. 3] ¶¶ 18-31.)  

On May 14, 2012 (the “Petition Date”), LightSquared filed voluntary petitions for relief 

under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).  Pursuant to Bankruptcy 

Rule 1015 and the Order Directing Joint Administration of Related Chapter 11 Cases [Docket 

No. 33], the Court directed the joint administration of the Chapter 11 Cases for procedural 

purposes only.  LightSquared continues to operate its businesses and manage its properties as 

debtor in possession pursuant to sections 1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code.  No official 

committee has been appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases.  No trustee or examiner has been 

appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases.   

On August 6, 2013, Harbinger Capital Partners LLC, HGW US Holding Company LP, 

Blue Line DZM Corp., and Harbinger Capital Partners SP, Inc. (collectively, “Harbinger”) 

commenced the Adversary Proceeding against Charles Ergen, DISH Network Corporation 

(“DISH”), EchoStar Corporation (“EchoStar”), L-Band Acquisition, LLC (“LBAC”), SP Special 

Opportunities LLC (“SPSO”), Special Opportunities Holdings LLC, Sound Point Capital 

Management LP, and Stephen Ketchum, alleging inequitable conduct, fraud, aiding and abetting 

fraud, tortious interference with prospective economic advantage, tortious interference with 

contractual relationship, unfair competition, and civil conspiracy; and seeking equitable 

disallowance of claims, compensatory and punitive damages, costs and fees, interest, and other 

appropriate relief.  After the Court granted motions to dismiss Harbinger’s complaint,5 

LightSquared filed a Complaint-in-Intervention against SPSO, DISH, EchoStar, and Mr. Ergen,6 

                                                            
5  See Memorandum Decision Granting Motions to Dismiss Complaint [Adv. Docket No. 68], 504 B.R. 321 
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2013). 
6  SPSO, DISH, EchoStar, Mr. Ergen, and LBAC will be referred to collectively herein as the “Ergen 
Parties.” 
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and Harbinger filed a second amended complaint.  A trial in the Adversary Proceeding was held 

between January 9 and 17, 2014, with closing arguments held on March 17, 2014.  This Court 

issued a bench decision on May 8, 2014, which was superseded by its Post-Trial Findings of Fact 

and Conclusions of Law, dated June 10, 2014 (the “Adversary Proceeding Decision”).7   

On August 29, 2013, LightSquared filed the General Disclosure Statement [Docket No. 

815] and, on October 7, 2013, filed the First Amended General Disclosure Statement [Docket 

No. 918] (the “General Disclosure Statement”).  On October 10, 2013, the Court entered an order 

approving, among other things, the General Disclosure Statement and certain solicitation, notice, 

balloting, and confirmation procedures in the Chapter 11 Cases.8  On December 31, 2013, 

LightSquared filed the Debtors’ Revised Second Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of 

Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1166] (the “Second Amended Plan”).   

On February 14, 2014, LightSquared filed the Plan9 and the corresponding Specific 

Disclosure Statement for Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of 

Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1308] (as amended, supplemented, or modified, the “Specific 

Disclosure Statement”).  On February 24, 2014, the Court entered the Order Approving 

(A) LightSquared’s Third Amended Specific Disclosure Statement and (B) Shortened Time To 

Object to Confirmation of LightSquared’s Third Amended Plan and Streamlined Resolicitation 

Thereof [Docket No. 1343] (the “Revised Disclosure Statement Order”), approving, among other 

things, (a) the Specific Disclosure Statement, (b) the streamlined solicitation of votes on the 

Plan, and (c) certain amended dates and deadlines with respect thereto.  The Revised Disclosure 

Statement Order established, among other things, (i) March 3, 2014 at 4:00 p.m. (prevailing 

                                                            
7  Post-Trial Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, [Adv. Docket No. 165], 2014 Bankr. LEXIS 2528 
(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. June 10, 2014).  Additional background on the Chapter 11 Cases and Adversary Proceeding can 
be found in the Adversary Proceeding Decision. 
8  Docket No. 936. 
9  The Plan was subsequently modified several times.  See Docket Nos. 1336, 1422, and 1482. 
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Pacific time) as the Plan voting deadline and (ii) March 11, 2014 at 12:00 p.m. (prevailing 

Eastern time) as the Plan objection deadline, which was subsequently extended for SPSO until 

March 15, 2014 at 12:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time).   SPSO’s Objection to Approval of the 

Specific Disclosure Statement [Docket No. 1325] was overruled. 

A. The Third Amended Plan 

Article III of the Third Amended Plan provides for separate classification of claims and 

equity interests into the following sixteen distinct classes:10
   

Class 1: Inc. Other Priority Claims 
Class 2: LP Other Priority Claims 
Class 3: Inc. Other Secured Claims 
Class 4: LP Other Secured Claims 
Class 5: Prepetition Inc. Facility Non-Subordinated Claims 
Class 6: Prepetition Inc. Facility Subordinated Claims 
Class 7A: Prepetition LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims 
Class 7B: Prepetition LP Facility SPSO Claims 
Class 8: Inc. General Unsecured Claims 
Class 9:  LP General Unsecured Claims 
Class 10: Existing LP Preferred Units Equity Interests 
Class 11A: Existing Inc. Series A Preferred Stock Equity Interests 
Class 11B: Existing Inc. Series B Preferred Stock Equity Interests 
Class 12: Existing Inc. Common Stock Equity Interests 
Class 13: Intercompany Claims 

  Class 14: Intercompany Interests 

(See Plan, Art. III.) 

Each class of Claims and Equity Interests under the Plan contains only Claims or Equity 

Interests that are substantially similar to the other Claims or Equity Interests within that class.  

Pursuant to the Plan, holders of Prepetition LP Facility Claims11 are divided into two classes, 

Class 7A and Class 7B.  While holders of Prepetition LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims in Class 7A 

                                                            
10 In accordance with section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Claims, DIP Inc. Facility 
Claims, DIP LP Claims, New DIP Claims, U.S. Trustee Fees, and Priority Tax Claims are not classified in the Plan. 
11  “Prepetition LP Facility Claims” refers to claims held by the Prepetition LP Agent or the Prepetition LP 
Lenders arising under, or related to, the $1,500,000,000 term loan credit facility provided in connection with the 
Prepetition LP Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2010, by and among LightSquared LP and certain of its 
affiliates and the Prepetition LP Lenders thereunder.  “LP Debt” refers to the secured debt of LightSquared LP 
issued pursuant to the Prepetition LP Credit Agreement. 

12-12080-scc    Doc 1631-1    Filed 07/11/14    Entered 07/11/14 15:10:57     Main
 Document    Pg 10 of 73

011922
JA005570



6 

will receive Plan consideration in the form of cash payment equal to the amount of their allowed 

claims,12 SPSO, the sole claimant in Class 7B (Prepetition LP Facility SPSO Claims) will receive 

Plan consideration in the form of the SPSO Note.13  Pursuant to the Plan, the SPSO Note, which 

shall have a seven-year maturity and bear interest at LIBOR plus twelve percent, payable in kind, 

will be secured or unsecured as determined by this Court, provided, however, that if this Court 

determines that the SPSO Note shall be secured, the liens securing such note will be silent, third 

priority liens junior to the liens securing the two exit facilities created in connection with the 

Plan.  Because SPSO is not being paid in cash, the Plan requires almost $1 billion less in 

financing than the Second Amended Plan.  (Plan § IV.A.; Mar. 6, 2014 Dep. Tr. (Montagner) 

197:9-21.) 

The Plan contemplates, among other things:  (a) first lien exit financing, including a 

facility of not less than $1.0 billion; (b) the issuance of new debt and equity instruments; (c) the 

payment of all allowed claims and equity interests with cash and other consideration, as 

applicable; (d) the assumption of certain liabilities; (e) the provision of a $1.65 billion new 

debtor in possession facility by the Plan Support Parties (as defined below) shortly following 

confirmation of the Plan but prior to the Effective Date (the “New DIP Facility”) (approximately 

(i) $930 million of which will be converted into second lien exit financing, (ii) $300 million of 

which will be converted into the Reorganized LightSquared Inc. Loan, and (iii) approximately 

$115 million of which will be converted into new equity,14 in each case, subject to adjustments 

as set forth in the Plan), which New DIP Facility will be used to fund operations pending 

                                                            
12  Pursuant to the Plan, such claimants may also elect to receive Plan consideration in the form of New DIP 
Tranche B Claims (for Converted Prepetition LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims). 
13  The Plan provides that Class 7B will receive the “SPSO Option A Treatment” or the “SPSO Option B 
Treatment,” depending on whether SPSO votes to accept the Plan.  Given that SPSO has voted to reject the Plan, it 
would receive the SPSO Option B Treatment, discussed herein. 
14  Pursuant to the Plan, this $115 million will be converted into equity junior to the proposed SPSO Note.  
(See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 55:1-12.) 
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consummation of the Plan and to make distributions to certain creditors; and (f) the preservation 

of LightSquared’s litigation claims.15   

The Plan has the affirmative support of (a) Fortress Investment Group, on behalf of its 

affiliates’ funds and/or managed accounts (“Fortress”), (b) Melody Capital Advisors, LLC and/or 

Melody NewCo, LLC, each of behalf of itself and its funds (“Melody”), (c) Harbinger, (d) JP 

Morgan Chase & Co. or its designated affiliates (“JPMorgan,” and, collectively with Fortress, 

Melody, and Harbinger, the “Plan Support Parties”), (e) U.S. Bank National Association (“U.S. 

Bank”) and MAST Capital Management, LLC (“MAST”), and (f) the Ad Hoc Secured Group of 

Prepetition LightSquared LP Lenders (the “Ad Hoc Secured Group”). 

The tabulation reports filed in connection with the Plan reflect the following voting 

results: 

Class Amount 
Accepted 

Number 
Accepted  

6 (Prepetition Inc. Facility Subordinated Claims) 100% 100% 
7A (Prepetition LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims) 100% 100% 
7B (Prepetition LP Facility SPSO Claims) 0% 0% 
8 (Inc. General Unsecured Claims)  100% 100% 
9 (LP General Unsecured Claims) 100% 100% 
10 (Existing LP Preferred Units Equity Interests) 100% 100% 

                                                            
15  The Specific Disclosure Statement contained form agreements and/or related documents with respect to 
various Plan Supplement documents, including the First Lien Exit Credit Agreement, Reorganized LightSquared 
Inc. Loan, and New LightSquared Entities Corporate Governance Documents [Docket No. 1308].  This filing also 
contained copies of the SPSO Note Documents, the Schedule of Assumed Agreements, and the Schedule of 
Retained Causes of Action.  On February 17, 2014, LightSquared filed a Notice of Filing of Plan Supplement 
Documents for Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1312], 
attaching copies of the Second Lien Exit Credit Agreement and NewCo Interest Holders Agreement.   

On March 18, 2014, LightSquared filed a Notice of Filing of (A) Modified Debtors’ Third Amended Joint 
Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code and (B) Accompanying Confirmation Order [Docket No. 1422].  
On March 21, 2014, LightSquared filed a Notice of Filing Relating to Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant 
to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1433], attaching (a) Highly Confident Letters from J.P. Morgan 
Securities LLC and Credit Suisse Securities (USA), LLC Relating to First Lien Exit Credit Agreement, (b) the Pro 
Forma Ownership Summary for NewCo, and (c) a list of officers for the New LightSquared Entities (indicating that 
the identities of the directors of the New LightSquared Entities would be disclosed in a further supplement to the 
Plan).  On March 31, 2014, LightSquared filed a Notice of Filing Relating to Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan 
Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1456], attaching the Initial List of Directors for the New 
LightSquared Entities, subject to further supplement prior to the close of the Confirmation Hearing. 
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11A (Existing Inc. Series A Preferred Stock Equity Interests) 100% 100% 
11B (Existing Inc. Series B Preferred Stock Equity Interests) 100% 100% 
12 (Existing Inc. Common Stock Equity Interests) 100% 100% 

(See Certification of Gil Hopenstand with Respect to Tabulation of Votes on Debtors’ Third 

Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code, sworn to March 7, 2014 

[Docket No. 1380], Exs. A-B.)  SPSO, the sole member of Class 7B (Prepetition LP Facility 

SPSO Claims), voted to reject the Plan.  (See id.)  

Under the Plan, Holders of Claims or Equity Interests in Classes 1 (Inc. Other Priority 

Claims), 2 (LP Other Priority Claims), 3 (Inc. Other Secured Claims), 4 (LP Other Secured 

Claims), 5 (Prepetition Inc. Non-Subordinated Facility Claims), 13 (Intercompany Claims), and 

14 (Intercompany Interests) are Unimpaired and, pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy 

Code, are deemed to have voted to accept the Plan.  (See Plan, Art. III.) 

B. Motions Filed in Connection with Confirmation 

In addition to confirmation of the Plan, there are numerous confirmation-related motions 

pending before the Court, and the various objections and responses thereto.  They are: 

 LightSquared’s Motion for Entry of Order Designating Vote of SP Special 
Opportunities, LLC [Docket No. 1371] (the “Vote Designation Motion”).  The 
Vote Designation Motion seeks to designate the vote of SPSO pursuant to section 
1126(e) of the Bankruptcy Code.   
 

 LightSquared’s Confirmation-Related Motion for Order (A) Approving 
Postpetition Financing, (B) Authorizing Use of Cash Collateral, If Any, 
(C) Granting Liens and Providing Superpriority Administrative Expense Status, 
(D) Granting Adequate Protection, and (E) Modifying Automatic Stay 
[Docket No. 1311] (the “New DIP Motion”), seeking an order (a) approving 
postpetition financing for the period between post-confirmation and the Effective 
Date, (b) authorizing the use of cash collateral, if any, (c) granting liens and 
providing superpriority administrative expense status, (d) granting adequate 
protection, and (e) modifying the automatic stay.   
 

 LightSquared’s Supplement to Motion for Entry of Order Authorizing 
LightSquared To Modify and Extend Existing Key Employee Incentive Plan 
[Docket No. 1390] (“the KEIP Supplement”).  The KEIP Supplement seeks an 
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order authorizing LightSquared to modify its existing Key Employee Incentive 
Plan.16 
 

 LightSquared’s Motion to Strike Certain Portions of Expert Testimony of Douglas 
Hyslop and J. Soren Reynerston [Docket No. 1458] (the “Motion to Strike Hyslop 
and Reynertson”) 

 SPSO’s Motion to Strike Certain of the Testimony of Robert McDowell and Mark 
Hootnick [Docket No. 1460] (the “Motion to Strike McDowell and Hootnick”) 
 

 SPSO’s Motion to Admit SPSO Confirmation Exhibit 2 [Docket No. 1505] (the 
“Exhibit 2 Motion”)17 

C. Pleadings Filed in Connection with the Plan and  
Confirmation-Related Motions 

SPSO filed objections to the Plan, the Vote Designation Motion, the New DIP Motion, 

the KEIP Supplement, and the Motion to Strike Hyslop and Reynertson. 

On March 18, 2014, LightSquared filed its (A) Memorandum of Law in Support of 

Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy 

Code and (B) Omnibus Response to Objections to (i) Confirmation of Plan, (ii) Motion to 

Designate Vote of SP Special Opportunities, LLC, and (iii) Motion Seeking Approval of New DIP 

Facility [Docket No. 1413], accompanied by the Declaration of Matthew S. Barr and the 

Declaration of Douglas Smith.  Statements and/or pleadings in support of the Plan were filed by 

(a) Fortress, (b) Melody, (c)  Harbinger, (d) JPMorgan, (e) U.S. Bank and MAST, (f) the Ad Hoc 

Secured Group, and (g) the Special Committee.18   

D. The Confirmation Hearing  

                                                            
16  This Decision does not address the KEIP Supplement, which remains sub judice. 
17  Exhibit 2 (SPX002), produced by a non-party, has not been properly authenticated, contains multiple layers 
of hearsay, and does not fall under any exception to the prohibition on hearsay.  Morever, the Exhibit 2 Motion, 
dated April 30, 2014, was filed well after the close of the evidentiary record on confirmation, rendering it 
procedurally improper.  For these reasons, the Exhibit 2 Motion is denied and Exhibit 2 is excluded from the record. 
18  In September 2013, the Court ordered the appointment of the Special Committee of the Boards of Directors 
of LightSquared Inc. and LightSquared GP Inc. (the “Special Committee”) to direct many of LightSquared’s 
significant actions with respect to these Chapter 11 Cases.  (See Docket No. 866; PX0755; PX0789.)   
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On March 19, 2014, the Court commenced a hearing on the Plan, the Vote Designation 

Motion, and the New DIP Motion; the evidentiary hearing was conducted over the course of 

eight days (the “Confirmation Hearing”).  The Court heard live testimony from the following 

witnesses and rebuttal witnesses called by the Debtors, the Ad Hoc Secured Group, and SPSO: 

(i) Mr. Christopher  Rogers, a member of the Special Committee; (ii) Mr. Robert McDowell, 

offered by the Debtors as an expert on FCC-related matters; (iii) Mr. Douglas Smith, the 

Debtors’ Chief Executive Officer; (iv) Mr. Mark Hootnick, a Managing Director of Moelis & 

Company (“Moelis”), the Debtors’ financial advisor; (v) Mr. John Jacob Rasweiler V, a principal 

of Sublime Wireless, offered by the Debtors as an expert with respect to the “technical issue;”19 

(vi) Mr. Charles Ergen, who is, among other things, the ultimate owner of SPSO, the controlling 

shareholder of DISH, and the Chairman of DISH’s Board of Directors; (vii) Mr. Philip Falcone, 

the controlling member of Harbinger Capital Partners, one of the Plan Support Parties and the 

principal shareholder of LightSquared; (viii) Mr. Douglas Hyslop of Wireless Strategy LLC and 

SmartSky Networks LLC, offered by SPSO as an expert with respect to the “technical issue;” 

(ix) Mr. Omar Jaffrey, a principal of Melody, a private investment firm which is one of the Plan 

Support Parties; (x) Mr. J. Soren Reynertson, a Managing Director of GLC Advisors & Co. 

(“GLC”), offered by SPSO as an expert on valuation issues; and (xi) Mr. Steven Zelin, a 

Managing Director of The Blackstone Group (“Blackstone”), the financial advisor to the Ad Hoc 

Secured Group.  The testimony of Mr. Marc Montagner, the Debtors’ Chief Financial Officer, 

                                                            
19  In late 2013, SPSO, DISH, and LBAC raised what has been referred to as a “technical issue” with 
LightSquared’s spectrum which would allegedly be an impediment to the use of certain LightSquared uplink 
spectrum.  The Debtors submitted both documentary evidence and the live testimony of Mr. Rasweiler at trial in 
support of their position that that the “technical issue” poses no impediment to the use of LightSquared’s spectrum 
and does not impact the value of LightSquared’s assets.  All pleadings and proceedings relating to the “technical 
issue” are confidential and have been filed under seal.  Accordingly, the Court’s findings with respect to the 
“technical issue” are reflected in Appendix A, which has been separately filed under seal and which is attached 
hereto in redacted form. 
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was presented via videotape and deposition transcript designations.  Several volumes of 

documentary exhibits have also been admitted into evidence.   

Detailed proposed findings of fact and lengthy post-trial memoranda were also submitted 

by the parties, which submissions were in addition to the pre-trial memoranda filed by the parties 

prior to the commencement of the Confirmation Hearing.  The Court heard closing arguments 

concerning the Plan, the Vote Designation Motion, and the New DIP Motion on May 5 and 6, 

2014.                  

E. LightSquared’s Pending License Modification Application 

The Plan valuation is premised on LightSquared’s ownership and/or use of four spectrum 

blocks within the L-Band:  (a) a 10 MHz downlink at 1526 to 1536 MHz (“Lower Downlink”); 

(b) a 10 MHz uplink at 1627.5 to 1637.5 MHz (“Uplink 1” or “Lower Uplink”); (c) a 10 MHz 

uplink at 1646.7 to 1656.7 MHz (“Uplink 2” or “Upper Uplink”); and (d) a spectrum block 

located at 1670 to 1680 MHz (the “New Downlink”), which is comprised of 5 MHz currently 

used by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (“NOAA”) and 5 MHz currently 

leased by LightSquared. 

On September 28, 2012, LightSquared filed with the FCC a series of applications seeking 

to modify various of its licenses (collectively, the “License Modification Application”) to, 

among other things: 

  authorize LightSquared to use the 1675-1680 MHz spectrum band (the “NOAA 
Spectrum”) on a shared basis with certain government users, including NOAA; 

 
  permit LightSquared to conduct terrestrial operations “pairing” the 1670-1680 MHz New 

Downlink with two 10 MHz L-Band uplink channels in which LightSquared currently is 
authorized to operate (Uplink 1 and Uplink 2); and  

 
  permanently relinquish LightSquared’s right to use its upper 10 MHz of L-Band 

downlink spectrum (a 10 MHz band at 1545.2 to 1555.2 MHz) for terrestrial purposes 
(that portion of the spectrum closest to the band designated for GPS devices).  
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In conjunction with submitting the License Modification Application, LightSquared also 

asked that the FCC open a proceeding via a petition for rulemaking, filed on November 2, 2012, 

to make an administrative change amending the U.S. Table of Frequency Allocations to add a 

primary allocation permitting non-federal terrestrial mobile use of the NOAA Spectrum.  Thus, 

LightSquared has been pursuing a solution through the License Modification Application that 

would provide it with 30 MHz of spectrum – an amount, LightSquared states, that is sufficient to 

implement its business plan.20  SPSO argues that one of the many reasons that the Plan is not 

feasible is that the NOAA Spectrum, which is needed for LightSquared to have a full 10 MHz of 

New Downlink, may be auctioned off by the FCC rather than assigned to LightSquared.  

LightSquared has conceded that it cannot predict with certainty whether the NOAA Spectrum 

will be assigned to LightSquared or put up for auction but maintains that this uncertainty does 

not preclude a finding of feasibility.  

LightSquared has also requested that the FCC open an additional proceeding via a 

petition for rulemaking to examine the conditions and operational parameters under which its 

Lower Downlink could be used sometime in the future for terrestrial service.  LightSquared 

asserts that it will have authorization to use the Lower Downlink within the next three to seven 

years.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 (Smith) 131:22-25 (three to five years); Mr. McDowell 

testified that “the lower 10 will be granted within approximately seven years.”  (See Conf. Hr’g 

Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 (McDowell) 73:17-19.)  None of SPSO’s witnesses testified regarding the 

timing or likelihood of FCC approval for the Lower Downlink.21 

                                                            
20  See General Disclosure Statement [Docket No. 918] at 39-40. 
21  SPSO’s valuation expert, Mr. Reynertson, testified that “[t]he lower downlink block is still subject to 
controversy, and as highlighted by Mr. Smith’s presentation, and so ultimately, we felt that there was a range of 
outcomes here.”  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 158:1-3.) 
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While effectiveness of the Plan is not conditioned on FCC approval of LightSquared’s 

pending License Modification Application, LightSquared’s Plan valuation relies on opinions 

offered at the Confirmation Hearing that the FCC will approve the pending License Modification 

Application and the later use of its Lower Downlink within the timeframes upon which the 

valuation is based. 

II. CONFIRMATION TESTIMONY 

A. Mr. Robert McDowell  

Mr. Robert McDowell, a former FCC Commissioner, was retained by the Special 

Committee in November 2013 to advise it with respect to FCC issues and was presented as an 

expert witness at the Confirmation Hearing.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 (McDowell) at 

73:22-24.)  Mr. McDowell left the FCC in May 2013, having served as one of five FCC 

Commissioners for a period of almost seven years.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 

(McDowell) at 70:22-25; PX1078.)22 

During the Confirmation Hearing, Mr. McDowell offered his opinion that he agreed with 

LightSquared’s forecast that it would receive FCC approval of the License Modification 

Application by December 31, 2015, including the premise that a portion of the New Downlink 

spectrum would be made available from the NOAA Spectrum.   (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 

2014 (McDowell) at Tr.75:1-7, 15-25.)  In addition, Mr. McDowell testified that he believed it 

was very likely that the FCC would approve LightSquared’s use of its 10 MHz of Lower 

Downlink (1526MHz to 1536MHz) for terrestrial use within the seven years contemplated by the 

Plan.  (Id. at 75:8-9.)   

                                                            
22  As an FCC Commissioner, Mr. McDowell’s duties included consideration of, and decisions regarding, 
spectrum issues involving satellite, media, and wireless companies.  (See PX1078 at 2.) 
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Mr. McDowell did not pick these dates; rather, he was simply given the dates reflected in 

the Plan.  Although he testified that he had participated in and had knowledge of matters relating 

to LightSquared during his tenure at the FCC, he acknowledged that he is precluded by 

government rules and regulations from having any contact with the FCC during the two years 

subsequent to his departure from the agency.  Accordingly, since that two year period has yet to 

expire, Mr. McDowell has had no contact whatsoever with FCC personnel regarding matters 

pending before it relating to LightSquared.  (Id. at 87:1-2.)  Nonetheless, he offered his opinions 

“based on his thirty years of experience” that the FCC will grant the License Modification 

Application before the end of 2015; will not require an auction of the NOAA Spectrum; and will 

approve use of the Lower Downlink spectrum by the end of seven years.   

Although Mr. McDowell admitted that the FCC could commence a rule-making 

proceeding with respect to the NOAA Spectrum which could take years and acknowledged that 

the FCC had filed a statement in these cases indicating that it could give no “assurances about 

what its decision would be or the timing of the decision,”23 he nonetheless offered his opinions 

on the critical timing issues on which the Plan is premised.  He testified that he examined, and 

ultimately discounted, a number of factors that could theoretically present issues for 

LightSquared’s regulatory approval process, including (i) potential GPS interference issues 

raised by members of the GPS community during a meeting with the FCC in December 2013 

(see id. at 80:10-81:2); (ii) potential handset interference issues raised by SPSO with respect to 

the use of LightSquared’s uplink spectrum, which have not been raised by any party in a formal 

                                                            
23  See Statement Regarding the FCC Exit Condition in Debtors’ Revised Second Amended Joint Plan 
Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, dated January 17, 2014 [Docket No. 1235] (the “FCC Statement”).  
Mr. McDowell concluded that the FCC Statement did not change his opinion for two key reasons.  First, he opined 
that the FCC Statement in this case is a “fairly routine filing for the Commission to preserve all of its legal options 
and [the statement] doesn’t reach any conclusions.”  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 (McDowell) at 81:22-82:4.)  
Second, Mr. McDowell noted that the FCC Statement “speaks to the second amended plan . . . which had a 
contingency of resolution at the FCC or grants by the end of this calendar year, 2014.  And the third amended plan 
does not have such a contingency.”  (Id. at 82:5-10.) 
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objection (see id. at 82:11-83:4); and (iii) the possibility that the FCC could auction the NOAA 

Spectrum instead of agreeing to swap it for LightSquared’s 10 MHz of downlink spectrum 

closest to the GPS band.  With respect to NOAA, he pointed out that the FCC has granted license 

modification applications in the past that involved spectrum swaps without holding an auction.  

(See id. at 83:5-84:7.)   

Mr. McDowell concluded that, whether or not the FCC decides to hold an auction for the 

NOAA Spectrum, LightSquared’s “license modification will be granted by the end of calendar 

year 2015.”  (Id. at 84:8-14.)  Important to his conclusion in this regard were the following facts:  

(a) there is “more than ample time to resolve these issues” given that LightSquared’s License 

Modification Application has already been pending for a year and a half and there are almost two 

years until the end of 2015; (b) precedent transactions, including the Sprint 800 MHz rebanding 

and the H-block auction that resulted in DISH as the winning bidder, illustrate that the FCC can 

issue orders resolving very complex issues within a relatively short timeframe; and (c) resolution 

of the bankruptcy is imminent, which will cause the FCC to “act with alacrity.”  (Id. at 84:15-

85:25.)  The only other support that Mr. McDowell offered for his opinions was the fact that no 

so-called “petitions to deny” or formal objections had been filed with respect to the License 

Modification Application.24  Mr. McDowell pointed to no evidence indicating that the FCC will 

proceed along the timeline suggested, offered no evidence that he had any knowledge of how or 

when the National Telecommunications and Information Administration or any coordinate 

agency intends to act with respect to LightSquared’s application, and could not credibly estimate 

                                                            
24  At the Confirmation Hearing, Mr. McDowell noted that the window for lodging such formal objections to 
the License Modification Application had closed over a year ago.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 (McDowell) at 
78:1-11; 78:25-80:9.)  
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or state when any required rulemaking proceeding may be commenced or how long it would 

take.  His opinion is simply an educated guess and cannot be afforded significant weight.  

B. Mr. Christopher Rogers 

 Mr. Christopher Rogers serves as a member of the three-member Special Committee of 

the boards of directors of LightSquared Inc. and LightSquared GP Inc., which was constituted in 

the fall of 2013.  Against the backdrop of allegations by SPSO that the plan process was driven 

not by the Special Committee but by Harbinger and those parties that Mr. Falcone wished to 

“protect,” including Harbinger, Fortress, and JPMorgan (see SPX78), Mr. Rogers testified to his 

personal involvement in the plan formulation and negotiation process and that of the Special 

Committee.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 (Rogers) 12:10-67:2.)  He estimated that he had spent 

around 500 hours working on the Plan and related issues,25 although he did not provide much, if 

any, detail into how he or other members of the Special Committee had been involved in 

negotiating the economics of the Plan.  For the most part, his testimony was credible but 

superficial, and consistent with the proposition that he and the other members of the Special 

Committee were involved in some discussions regarding the plan process from the time of their 

appointment through the present.  However, in the face of a great deal of evidence that the 

economic terms of the Plan have been largely dictated by Harbinger, and in particular by Mr. 

Falcone, Mr. Rogers shed little light on how the economic terms of the Plan emerged and 

evolved, or on the involvement of the Special Committee in those negotiations.  Because the 

Special Committee has asserted a broad common interest privilege with respect to 

communications among it, the Plan Support Parties, and the Ad Hoc Secured Group, there are no 

documents that were produced in discovery or are in evidence that reflect any communications 

                                                            
25  Mr. Rogers testified that he personally spent more than five hundred hours on the work of the Special 
Committee, including meetings with stakeholders, regulators, and prospective purchasers.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 
19, 2014 (Rogers) at 19:18-20:20.)   
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on this point during the relevant timeframe.  

C. Mr. Douglas Smith 

 Mr. Douglas Smith, the Debtors’ Chief Executive Officer, testified at length about a 

variety of topics relating to the conduct of these cases, including the plan process and the 

involvement of LightSquared’s management in plan negotiations.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 

(Smith).)  He also testified about a host of issues relating to the FCC process and certain 

technical issues relating to LightSquared’s spectrum assets.  Mr. Smith has been involved in the 

implementation of LightSquared’s strategy for the long-term deployment of its spectrum assets 

since LightSquared filed such a plan with the FCC in September 2012.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 

20, 2014 (Smith) at 32:19-35:7.)   

 During his testimony, Mr. Smith explained the basis of his belief that approval of the 

License Modification Application by December 31, 2015 and the seven-year Lower Downlink 

approval process timeline were achievable.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 (Smith) at 32:15-18; 

131:22-25.)  In support of his opinion, Mr. Smith highlighted four specific points:  (i) the 

completion of two comment cycles with respect to use of the two upper 10MHz of uplink 

spectrum (id. at 33:10-12); (ii) the fact that “great progress” has been made with NOAA (id. at 

40:5-7); (iii) the observation that the latest U.S. budget reflects NOAA-related costs that are not 

inconsistent with LightSquared’s projections and objectives (id. at 46:6-25); and (iv) the fact that 

a petition for rulemaking with respect to the lower 10MHz of downlink has already been filed 

with the FCC and could be complete in three to five years (id. at 129:13-18; 131:22-25).  In 

addition to testifying about the FCC approval process, Mr. Smith gave substantial testimony 

regarding the “technical issue” raised by LBAC with respect to LightSquared’s spectrum and the 

basis of LightSquared’s belief that the issue does not exist or can easily be managed at minimal 

cost.  Mr. Smith, though soft-spoken, is powerfully earnest and credible as a witness, and it is 
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clear that he has been working tirelessly in pursuit of LightSquared’s business and strategic 

goals. 

D. Mr. Marc Montagner 

 Mr. Marc Montagner, the Debtors’ Chief Financial Officer, gave deposition testimony 

regarding numerous issues, and certain portions of his videotaped deposition were designated by 

the parties, placed into the record, and viewed by the Court on videotape.  (Mar. 6, 2014 Dep Tr. 

(Montagner).)  Mr. Montagner testified, among other things, about (i) his participation in the 

plan process – which he described as “mostly being on the receiving end” (id. at 8:16-18); (ii) his 

preparation of financial forecasts for use in connection with the Plan (id. at 9:5-10:2); (iii) his 

views with respect to FCC matters; and (iv) his knowledge of the “technical issue.”  Mr. 

Montagner was forthright in his testimony, as he has been in the past in connection with other 

contested hearings in these cases. 

E. Mr. Steven Zelin 

 The Ad Hoc Secured Group called its financial advisor, Mr. Steven Zelin, of Blackstone, 

to testify.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) 6:13-118:13.)  Mr. Zelin detailed the various 

plan alternatives he had explored with the Ad Hoc Secured Group in 2013 and earlier, and he 

described his participation in the negotiations leading to the execution of the Plan Support 

Agreement in connection with the DISH/LBAC Bid.26  He described in some detail his reaction 

to what he viewed as “strange” conduct and comments by DISH, SPSO, and their counsel in 

                                                            
26  As described more fully in the Adversary Proceeding Decision, on May 15, 2013, Mr. Ergen, through his 
wholly-owned entity LBAC, submitted an unsolicited bid for LightSquared LP’s spectrum assets for $2 billion.  On 
July 22, 2013, DISH purchased LBAC for a dollar, and, the next day, DISH announced its intention to bid through 
LBAC for LightSquared LP’s spectrum assets for $2.22 billion (the “DISH/LBAC Bid”).  On that date, DISH also 
executed a Plan Support Agreement with the Ad Hoc Secured Group, pursuant to which LBAC would act as the 
stalking horse bidder for the Ad Hoc Secured Group’s plan.  A joint chapter 11 plan of reorganization proposed by 
the Ad Hoc Secured Group (of which SPSO was a member at that time) was filed on July 23, 2013.  See First 
Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan for LightSquared LP, et al., Proposed by the Ad Hoc Secured Group of 
LightSquared LP Lenders [Docket No. 970]. 
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connection with the “technical issue” and in connection with the pursuit of the DISH/LBAC Bid 

in the time period leading up to and subsequent to the scheduled December 11, 2013 

LightSquared auction.27  He also shared his theories about why LBAC terminated its bid.  Mr. 

Zelin’s testimony was credible, but it added little of substance to the issues at the heart of this 

proceeding. 

F. Mr. Charles Ergen   

 Mr. Charles Ergen was called as a witness by the Ad Hoc Secured Group and testified for 

a full day, taking the witness stand at ten in the morning, and stepping down at approximately 

7:45 in the evening.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen).)  He was questioned extensively on 

a number of topics, having already given substantial testimony during the trial in the Adversary 

Proceeding relating to SPSO’s acquisition of its holdings in the LP Debt.28  His testimony 

focused on, among other things: (i) the valuation analysis he prepared and presented to the DISH 

                                                            
27  Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) at 21:13-23:1 (“My reaction was that a bidder in a process demanding 
that information that they uncover that they think are issues that other bidders should know is quite strange.  I’ve 
never experienced that before.”)  The Debtors and the Special Committee canceled the December 11, 2013 Court-
scheduled auction for LightSquared’s assets (or any grouping or subset thereof), and they did not deem any bid the 
“Successful Bid.”  See Specific Disclosure Statement at 3.  On January 7, 2014, LBAC, through its counsel, sent the 
Ad Hoc Secured Group written notice of LBAC’s termination of the Plan Support Agreement and subsequently 
informed the Ad Hoc Secured Group of the termination of the DISH/LBAC Bid.  See id. at 4.  On January 13, 2014, 
the Ad Hoc Secured Group filed the Statement of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders and 
Notice of Intent To Proceed with Confirmation of the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan for LightSquared LP, 
ATC Technologies, LLC, LightSquared Corp., LightSquared Inc. of Virginia, LightSquared Subsidiary LLC, 
LightSquared Finance Co., LightSquared Network LLC, LightSquared Bermuda Ltd., SkyTerra Holdings (Canada) 
Inc., and SkyTerra (Canada) Inc., Proposed by the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders [Docket No. 
1220], in which the Ad Hoc Secured Group challenged LBAC’s termination of the DISH/LBAC Bid (the “Ad Hoc 
Secured Group Motion to Enforce”).  LBAC then sought a declaratory judgment “declaring that both the PSA and 
LBAC Bid were terminated in their entirety on or before January 10, 2014.”  See Objection of L-Band Acquisition, 
LLC to the January 13, 2014 Statement of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders and Notice of 
Intent To Proceed with Confirmation of the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan and Motion for Declaratory 
Relief, dated January 16, 2014 [Docket No. 1232] at 18; Reply in Further Support of Objection of L-Band 
Acquisition, LLC to the January 13, 2014 Statement of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders and 
Notice of Intent To Proceed with Confirmation of the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan and Motion for 
Declaratory Relief, dated January 21, 2014 [Docket No. 1246].  On January 22, 2014, this Court issued a ruling that 
the Plan Support Agreement and the DISH/LBAC Bid were lawfully terminated by LBAC.  See Jan. 22, 2014 Hr’g 
Tr. [Docket No. 1278]. 
28  See fn 11, supra.  Between April 13, 2012 and April 26, 2013, SPSO contracted to purchase over $1 billion 
in face amount of LP Debt, of which it actually closed trades for $844,323,097.83, which is the current face amount 
of the SPSO Claim, excluding interest. 
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Board in July 2013 with respect to the LightSquared spectrum assets, which estimated that, in 

DISH’s hands, the total value of LightSquared’s assets would be between $5.17 billion and $8.99 

billion (including value that would be realized by DISH based on enhanced ability to utilize its 

existing spectrum);29 (ii) his knowledge of the fairness opinion and valuation of LightSquared 

prepared by Perella Weinberg Partners (“PWP”)30 for the DISH Board (the “PWP Valuation”); 

(iii) his knowledge of the so-called “technical issue” and how he believes it affects the value of 

the LightSquared spectrum; (iv) his participation, on behalf of DISH, in the LightSquared 

auction process in December 2013, including the readiness of DISH to increase its bid and 

DISH’s ultimate decision to terminate the DISH/LBAC Bid; and (v) whether or not he views 

SPSO and/or DISH as competitors of LightSquared.  Mr. Ergen’s testimony leaves little doubt 

that he has a tremendous amount of knowledge and expertise with respect to the wireless 

telecommunications industry, displaying great command of detail with respect to spectrum issues 

and spectrum deployment strategy.  And yet his testimony became remarkably less precise and 

straightforward when queried about his involvement in the events leading to the termination of 

the DISH/LBAC Bid, and his answers with respect to potential competition between DISH and 

                                                            
29  Mr. Ergen’s presentation (the “Ergen Valuation”), was entitled “Strategic Investment Opportunity – L-
Band Acquisition, LLC.”  (PX1047.)  It was delivered to the DISH Board of Directors by Mr. Ergen at a special 
meeting on July 8, 2013.  Under a line item entitled “Implied Net Primary Asset Value,” the Ergen Valuation listed a 
range of values of between $3.341 billion and $5.213 billion, with a mid-point of $4.277 billion, referring to Mr. 
Ergen’s estimate of the value of 20 MHz of LightSquared’s spectrum assets and its satellites, excluding its 10MHz 
of Lower Downlink.  Under the heading “Implied Supplemental Asset Value,” the Ergen Valuation listed a range of 
values of between $1.833 billion and $3.783 billion, with a mid-point of $2.308 billion, for what it identifies as the 
total of (i) 5.0 MHz of “Reclaimed Unuseable [sic] AWS-4,” (ii) 5.0 MHz of “Reclaimed Impaired AWS-4,” and 
(iii) “L-Band Downlink Spectrum.”  The Implied Supplemental Asset Value was Mr. Ergen’s estimate of (a) the 
increase in value of DISH’s existing spectrum that would flow from DISH’s acquisition of LightSquared’s 
spectrum, which would permit unusable and impaired uplink AWS-4 spectrum owned by DISH to be converted to 
downlink and (b) his range of values for 20 MHz of LightSquared’s downlink spectrum.  In other words, the 
supplemental value of LightSquared’s assets to DISH was estimated by Mr. Ergen to be between $1.833 billion and 
$3.783 billion.  Combined with the Implied Net Primary Asset Value of $3.341 billion to $5.213 billion, the total 
value of LightSquared’s assets in DISH’s hands was estimated by Mr. Ergen to be between $5.174 billion and 
$8.996 billion, with a midpoint of $7.085 billion. 
30  PWP served as financial advisor to the Special Committee of the DISH Board of Directors that was created 
on May 8, 2013 to evaluate and make recommendations to the DISH Board regarding a possible bid by DISH for 
LightSquared’s assets and to review any potential conflicts of interest arising from Mr. Ergen’s purchases of 
LightSquared debt.  
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LightSquared were facile and disingenuous.  Moreover, his testimony with respect to actions 

taken by DISH with respect to the “technical issue” supports the conclusion that once it was 

allegedly “identified” by DISH, there was no meaningful effort made to identify a solution that 

would preserve the billions of dollars in value that DISH would realize via consummation of the 

DISH/LBAC Bid.  This defies common sense.  Mr. Ergen’s testimony on this point was not 

credible.  His testimony with respect to his dealings with Inmarsat was also not credible.    

G. Mr. Omar Jaffrey 

 SPSO next called Mr. Omar Jaffrey, a principal of Melody, to testify.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. 

Mar. 28, 2014 (Jaffrey) 27:8-99:25.)  Mr. Jaffrey testified that he contacted Mr. Falcone in the 

summer of 2013 to find a way for his firm to invest in LightSquared.  (Id. at 28:20-25.)  Melody 

was first retained by Harbinger to provide a $550 million commitment for a debtor-in-possession 

financing for a plan of reorganization proposed by Harbinger.  (Id. at 29:4-15.)  Pursuant to that 

commitment, Melody was entitled to the payment of an eight percent per annum commitment fee 

for as long as the commitment remained outstanding, as well as a $4 million upfront fee and a 

double-digit break-up fee in the event that LightSquared was sold – all payable by Harbinger.  

(Id. at 52:18-25; 55:17-56:24.)  It was Mr. Jaffrey’s belief that Melody’s commitment to 

Harbinger was still outstanding as of the date of his testimony on March 28, 2014.  (Id. at 91:25-

92:6.)   

 In December 2013, Melody took on a second commitment – a $550 million commitment 

to the Debtors’ Second Amended Plan that included debtor-in-possession financing of $285 

million.  (Id. at 30:21-31:4.)  Correspondence between Mr. Jaffrey and others was introduced 

into evidence reflecting Melody’s view that, as of the time Melody entered into this commitment, 

“there was a ninety percent chance” that Mr. Ergen would purchase LightSquared out of the 
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bankruptcy such that the Melody financing would never be needed.  (Id. at 40:10-41:16; SPX365 

(December 22, 2013 Melody investment memo).)   

 In January 2014, the Second Amended Plan was abandoned31 and discussions began 

surrounding what would become the Third Amended Plan which would, in Mr. Jaffrey’s words, 

“allow the company to exit quicker from bankruptcy and drop an FCC conditionality.”  (Conf. 

Hr’g Tr. Mar. 28, 2014 (Jaffrey) at 49:8-11.)  Extensive testimony was elicited from Mr. Jaffrey 

regarding the evolution of the economic terms of what eventually became the Plan; email 

correspondence from the January 2014 timeframe indicates that, even as the trial in the 

Adversary Proceeding was unfolding, there was close coordination among Mr. Jaffrey, Mr. 

Falcone, and Drew McKnight of Fortress regarding the economics of the Plan, how to structure it 

to satisfy the concerns of Fortress, how to include JPMorgan, and how to deal with the SPSO 

Claim.  (Id. at 48:12-52:6: 57:6-69:13.)  The entire premise of the Melody proposal was the 

subordination of the SPSO Claim, a notion that was obviously consistent with Mr. Falcone’s 

mindset.  (Id. at 49:22-50:18; SPX072; SPX337.)  As Mr. Jaffrey put it in an email, the goal was 

a “win-win” – for everyone but SPSO.  (SPX341; Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 28, 2014 (Jaffrey) at 

65:21-69:22; 71:4-72:4.)  While Mr. Jaffrey, not surprisingly, declined to share the details of his 

so-called LightSquared investment thesis, it is clear that he and Melody have opportunistically 

entered the picture not to “help” but to earn a sizable return through fees, interest on Melody’s 

highly secure proposed second lien exit investment, and equity upside tied to LightSquared’s 

success. 

 

                                                            
31  Because the Second Amended Plan was conditioned on FCC approval of the License Modification 
Application, and there was uncertainty about the timing of such approval, the parties determined to develop a 
different plan that was not conditioned on FCC approval.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 (Smith) at 17:16-
18:15; Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 28, 2014 (Jaffrey) at 41:17-42:7.)     
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H. Mr. Philip Falcone 

 Mr. Philip Falcone was the final witness called to testify at the Confirmation Hearing.  

(Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 31, 2014 (Falcone).)  The scope of Mr. Falcone’s testimony did not include 

matters as to which he had previously testified during the Adversary Proceeding.   Called by 

SPSO, Mr. Falcone testified about his intimate involvement in the formulation of the Plan, 

detailing his discussions with Mr. Jaffrey of Melody, Mr. McKnight of Fortress, and others.  

Email correspondence was introduced reflecting Mr. Falcone’s desire to subordinate Mr. Ergen’s 

claim and to protect the interests of Harbinger, Fortress, and JPMorgan.  He detailed his views 

about the FCC approval process and his continuing belief that approval is forthcoming.  He 

indicated his view that the “technical issue” was fabricated by DISH and is merely “fluff” that 

the FCC will see “for what it is and will ultimately grant LightSquared the license.”  (Id. at 

130:18; 143:19; 127:21-23.)  Mr. Falcone also answered a number of questions about what 

consideration Harbinger would receive under the Plan and what Harbinger’s options were to 

increase its proposed stake in the reorganized company.  Mr. Falcone confirmed that Harbinger 

could put in an additional $150 million dollars to increase its post-confirmation stake in the 

reorganized company to thirty-six percent, and that at least part of that sum would be “part of the 

second lien” and therefore would be ahead of the SPSO Note.  (Id. at 102:18-103:25.)32  Mr. 

Falcone stated that he believed he did not get everything he had asked for and that Harbinger is 

entitled to in connection with the Plan, citing the fact that neither he nor anyone from Harbinger 

has a seat on the board of directors of the reorganized company and that he is giving up his 

                                                            
32  Mr. Falcone also added that, under the Plan, Harbinger could pay “a couple of hundred” million for a call 
option which would enable Harbinger to increase its stake in the reorganized company from thirty-six percent to 
forty-five percent.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 31, 2014 (Falcone) 103:4-13.)  He testified that the preferred and common 
stock that Harbinger would receive under the Plan would rank junior to the SPSO Note.  (Id. at 102:8-12.) 
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causes of action against the GPS industry.  (Id. at 105:13-107:5.)33  It is fair to say that there was 

much correspondence introduced into evidence that, at best, reflects mean-spirited banter by Mr. 

Falcone about various aspects of these cases and, at worst, reflects genuinely malevolent views 

towards various individuals.  His many attempts to spin his words otherwise were unconvincing.  

It is clear that Mr. Falcone more or less dictated the principal economic terms and structure of 

the Plan.   

III. THE MOELIS VALUATION ANALYSIS 

The Debtors called Mr. Mark Hootnick of Moelis to testify in support of the valuation 

that undergirds the Plan and that provides the basis and support for SPSO’s treatment under the 

Plan.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick).) 

In preparing Moelis’ valuation, Mr. Hootnick conducted extensive research and analysis 

over the almost two years in which he has been involved as LightSquared’s financial advisor and 

also relied on his experience with other valuation exercises of similar assets.  (Id. at 129:13-18 

(attesting that Moelis has “experience valuing spectrum other than in the LightSquared matter. . . 

We have a telecom practice that is run by my partner Stan Holtz who’s been very involved in the 

entire LightSquared engagement.  I’ve worked on a number of spectrum deals myself”).)  He 

also had “[e]xtensive discussions” with management on a “wide variety of topics,” throughout 

these Chapter 11 Cases, including “regulatory issues” and LightSquared’s “business plan” and 

“liquidity forecast.”  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 7:7-14.)  Moelis’ research, 

discussions with management, and discussions with Mr. McDowell concerning various 

assumptions on the likelihood of approval and timing of such approval of LightSquared’s FCC 
                                                            
33  The Special Committee asserts that it adopted terms that were not beneficial to the Plan Support Parties, 
and actually contrary to “conditions precedent” initially proposed by the Plan Support Parties.  For instance, the 
Special Committee rejected Harbinger’s request for board representation in the New LightSquared Entities (see 
Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 19, 2014 (Rogers) at 107:1-5), and Harbinger contributed to the estate its litigation claims 
against Mr. Ergen, the GPS industry, and the FCC. (Id. at 105:2-106:7.) 
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regulatory applications culminated with Moelis’ valuation report submitted to the Court 

(PX1001) (the “Moelis Valuation Report”), which report contains a thorough analysis of the 

value of LightSquared’s assets.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 10:4-11.)  

Mr. Hootnick relied on Mr. McDowell’s opinions regarding the timing and outcome of 

the license modification process; he also relied on the opinions of Mr. Smith with respect to 

certain regulatory matters.  For the purposes of preparing the Moelis Valuation Report, Mr. 

Hootnick assumed that the FCC would grant LightSquared a license for 30MHz of spectrum, 

including the 5 MHz of NOAA Spectrum, for terrestrial use, on or before the end of 2015; he 

further assumed that the Lower Downlink would be approved for terrestrial use within seven 

years.34  He did not take into account the alleged “technical issue” that has been raised by SPSO.   

He acknowledged that the FCC Statement means that the FCC is “making no promises” on 

timing, and he has had no personal contact with any FCC personnel on any issues related to 

LightSquared.35  Mr. Hootnick’s valuation rises or falls with Mr. McDowell’s opinions on the 

timing of FCC approvals.    

In preparing the Moelis Valuation Report, Moelis adopted an industry-accepted valuation 

method in its valuation of LightSquared, specifically the use of a market multiple comparable 

based on the price per MHz/POP, which reflects the market price as a function of the size of the 

spectrum and the number of people it covers.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 

                                                            
34  Mr. Hootnick testified that both assumptions as to FCC approval are “outside dates,” explaining that 
LightSquared, Mr. McDowell, and Moelis have utilized the “conservative view,” while some expect the License 
Modification Application to be granted sooner.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 12:14-22; 22:14-
23:13.) 
35  To perform its valuation of LightSquared’s Lower Uplink and Upper Uplink (together, the “Uplinks”) and 
the New Downlink, Moelis relied on discussions with Mr. Smith and Jeffrey Carlisle, LightSquared’s Executive 
Vice President for Regulatory Affairs and Public Policy, and the opinion of Mr. McDowell, that, by the end of 2015, 
the FCC would have granted the License Modification Application, which includes the use of the Uplinks and the 
swap with the NOAA Spectrum to make a ten-by-twenty block of spectrum.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 
(Hootnick) at 10:15-13:6, 24:21-25:3.)  Messrs. Smith and Carlisle were the “two main parties interacting with the 
FCC.”  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 11:23-12:7.)  
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16:13-17:6 (describing the MHz/POP terminology and usage); Moelis Valuation Report at 10 

(detailing, based on spectrum characteristics, LightSquared’s attractive, low-frequency spectrum 

with strong propagation and in-building penetration).)  Moelis reviewed “comparable spectrum” 

transactions and, by taking into account the unique considerations relevant to each spectrum 

block, derived the appropriate $/MHz/POP range multiples to apply to LightSquared’s spectrum 

assets.36  The processes, conclusions, and comparables reflected in the Moelis Valuation Report 

are similar to those reflected in the Ergen Valuation and PWP Valuation, each described herein.37 

Based on the assumption that the License Modification Application would be granted by 

the forecasted dates, Moelis derived a “market comp range of sixty to ninety cents” per 

MHz/POP.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 22:14-24:3.)  Using that determined 

range, Moelis derived a value for LightSquared’s spectrum assets.  To account for the fact that 

the License Modification Application may not be achieved until the end of 2015, Moelis 

discounted the derived value back to October of 2014 (the estimated date of LightSquared’s 

emergence from chapter 11) to determine its present value.  (See id. at 22:14-24:3.)  Using this 

generally accepted method, Moelis concluded a value of LightSquared’s Uplinks, together with 

the New Downlink, of approximately $4.8 billion to $7.2 billion, with a midpoint of $6 billion.  

(See id. at 22:14-23:13; Moelis Valuation Report at 11.) 

With respect to the Lower Downlink spectrum, Moelis adopted a similar approach using 

the information from Mr. Smith and the expert opinion of Mr. McDowell that the Lower 

Downlink (located at 1526 to 1536 MHz) would be available within seven years of 

LightSquared’s emergence from bankruptcy.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 

                                                            
36  Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 22:19-22 (“We came up with a market comp range of sixty 
cents to ninety cents a megahertz POP for use in our valuation.  We then made some additional -- or adjustments 
based on the assumptions we talked about earlier.”); see also id. at 29:2-14; Moelis Valuation Report at 12 (setting 
forth selected broadband wireless spectrum precedents). 
37  See PX1047, PX1048; Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 32:5-37:16. 
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10:15-13:6.)   Mr. Hootnick discounted that value back to present value from the outside date of 

October 2021, resulting in a multiple of $.26-$.39/MHz/POP, or a value of $811 million to 

approximately $1.22 billion, with a midpoint of $1.03 billion.  (See id. at 24:4-12; Moelis 

Valuation Report at 11.) 

Upon measuring the value of each component of LightSquared’s spectrum and satellite 

portfolio, Moelis provided a conclusion regarding the total enterprise value of such assets.  (See 

Moelis Valuation Report at 11.)  Mr. Hootnick opined that LightSquared’s total enterprise value 

is approximately $6.2 billion to $9.1 billion, with a midpoint of $7.7 billion.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. 

Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 25:4-27:7 (explaining sum of valuations of LightSquared’s “U.S. 

spectrum value, the Canadian L-band spectrum, and the value of the satellite system”); Moelis 

Valuation Report at 11 (same).)  After netting out certain payment obligations, LightSquared’s 

total value approximated $4.47 billion to $7.4 billion, with a midpoint of $5.96 billion.  (See 

Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 27:8-29:1.) 

The Moelis Valuation Report is consistent with aspects of the valuations performed by 

the Ergen Parties.  In July 2013, both Mr. Ergen and PWP performed valuations of 

LightSquared’s spectrum to aid the DISH Board in its consideration of whether to pursue an 

acquisition of LightSquared’s spectrum.  (PX1047; PX1048.)  Both Mr. Ergen and PWP valued 

LightSquared spectrum on an “as is” basis, without assuming favorable FCC modifications.  (See 

id.) 

Moelis, Mr. Ergen, and PWP incorporated the same basic spectrum valuation 

methodologies, assumptions, and views in their respective valuations of LightSquared.  (See 

Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 32:13-34:1 (agreeing with Mr. Ergen’s observations 

in the Ergen Valuation that L-Band is low band spectrum and is uniquely positioned due to its 
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excellent propagation characteristics); 34:2-16 (noting that Ergen Valuation contains “a similar 

valuation exercise to what we’ve just walked through that Moelis did.  . . .  [They are] . . . very 

consistent as far as the market valuation of the L-band spectrum”); 36:22-37:4 (noting that PWP 

Valuation is “very similar”).)  Mr. Ergen’s valuation applies a higher range of $/MHz/POP than 

that used by Moelis in its valuation (see id. at 34:2-16 (“[T]heir valuation range is actually a little 

bit higher than the Moelis range.  We were sixty to ninety cents a megahertz POP.  They’re 

sixty-five to ninety-five cents[.]”)), and includes only a portion of LightSquared’s assets (see id. 

at 34:2-16 (“The other big differential, they only include 20 megahertz of our spectrum in their 

primary asset value.”), 34:21-24.)  As for the PWP Valuation, the $/MHz/POP range applied to 

LightSquared’s Uplinks – “fifty to nine[t]y cents” –  is similar to Moelis’s $.60-$.90 range.  (See 

id. at 36:22-37:4.)  The Ergen Valuation and the PWP Valuation reflect a similar, but ultimately 

higher, value of LightSquared’s satellite system.  (See id. at 35:19-36:2 (as to Ergen Valuation:  

“They did a similar valuation and exercise but notably came up with a higher estimate of the 

satellite system than the Moelis valuation”); 37:5-16 (as to PWP Valuation:  “they conclude to a 

range that’s almost identical to the Moelis valuation or the higher end of their range of the 

satellites and the satellite spectrum”).)  

The Ergen Valuation reflects that LightSquared LP’s spectrum assets carried an implied 

net primary value of up to $5.213 billion, with a midpoint of $4.277 billion.  (See Ergen 

Valuation at 5.)  The PWP Valuation reflects a $2.3 to $5.4 billion standalone valuation of 

LightSquared LP.  (See PWP Valuation at 6.)   

LightSquared, its FCC expert, and Moelis all assume that LightSquared’s Upper 

Downlink will be relinquished in a future spectrum swap arrangement and, accordingly, the 

Moelis Valuation Report does not attribute any value to the Upper Downlink.  (See Conf. Hr’g 
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Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 16:2-6; 35:12-18.)  Mr. Ergen valued the Upper and Lower 

Downlinks together, at between $312 million to $1.56 billion, with a midpoint of $936 million.  

(See Ergen Valuation at 5.)  

IV. THE GLC VALUATION ANALYSIS 

 SPSO offered the expert valuation testimony of Mr. J. Soren Reynertson of GLC.  (Conf. 

Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) 121:4-250:11.)  Mr. Reynertson was paid $1.25 million 

dollars by SPSO for his work38 and was given three weeks to form his opinions.39  The Debtors 

raised a Daubert challenge to Mr. Reynertson’s qualifications under Federal Rule of Evidence 

702,40 which was overruled by the Court, in part because there had been no notice of such 

challenge prior to the witness taking the stand, and in part based on the Court’s conclusion that a 

Daubert exclusion was inappropriate on the merits.  (Id. at 140:11-143:13.)  The Debtors have 

renewed their objection to a portion of Mr. Reynertson’s testimony in their Motion to Strike 

Hyslop and Reynertson.   

 Mr. Reynertson testified that he relied “100 percent” on the opinions of Mr. Hyslop with 

respect to the amount of spectrum that will be available to and usable by LightSquared, including 

with respect to Uplink 1 and Uplink 2.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 208:8-

11; 246:15-247:7.)  Despite this admission, Mr. Reynertson purported to value LightSquared’s 

assets based on GLC’s assessment of the risk associated with obtaining FCC approval for use of 

the spectrum, notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Reynertson was not offered as an FCC expert. 

                                                            
38  See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) 73:3-15. 
39  On March 4, 2014, when Mr. Reynertson submitted GLC’s valuation report (PX1002 and SPX158, the 
“GLC Valuation Report”), he had had only three weeks of experience with spectrum and satellite valuation 
generally – those being the three weeks beginning with his retention by SPSO and concluding with delivery of the 
GLC Valuation Report.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 199:20-200:6.)   
40  Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 at 135:10-15 (Mr. Cohen: “They would like this witness to offer valuation 
testimony when he just told you he didn’t do a valuation on the assets of the company, which are the spectrum and 
the satellites.  We don’t think . . . it meets the standards under [Federal Rule of Evidence] 702.”); 137:1-140:21 (Mr. 
Cohen: “And with respect to those issues, I think he . . . acquired them for purposes of this case in the last five 
weeks.  I don’t think that makes him an expert.”).   
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(See id. at 152:9-19 (explaining, for GLC Valuation Report, “[w]hat we did was evaluate each of 

the individual blocks of spectrum that LightSquared either owns, leases or has an option to 

auction on, and evaluated the risk associated with the interference issues, which are widely 

known, and determined with conversations with Hyslop and the research what the ultimate 

available footprint might look like”); 164:19-24 (purporting to identify range of risks in spectrum 

blocks); 235:2-10.)41  

 Mr. Reynertson’s analysis utilized Mr. Hootnick’s valuation methodology but changed 

many of the inputs, including (a) reducing the amount of available spectrum by 10 MHz by 

applying two 5 MHz guard bands as a result of purported interference concerns and 

(b) discounting the price per MHz/POP from the price used by Mr. Hootnick by assuming that 

LightSquared’s License Modification Application would not be approved.  (GLC Valuation 

Report at 12.)   

 With respect to the reduction by 10 MHz of LightSquared’s spectrum for a guard band, 

the GLC Valuation Report concludes that “[a]fter resolution of the technical issues facing 

LightSquared spectrum, the Company will have 15-30 MHz of useable spectrum.”  (GLC 

Valuation Report at 12; Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 159:21-160:6.)  This 

reduction of LightSquared’s spectrum footprint was based, in part, on the alleged need to 

designate 50 percent of LightSquared’s Uplinks as unusable guard bands due to certain alleged 

                                                            
41  Mr. Reynertson, using his own judgment, made reductions to the value of LightSquared’s spectrum based 
on the “risk” associated with achieving regulatory approval.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 
164:19-24 (noting that page 12 of GLC Valuation Report reflects “the sum of the proposed 2021 numbers the 
debtors hope to achieve, and then a reduction for the risks that we saw, the range of risks that we saw in each of the 
blocks”).)  Mr. Reynertson, however, could not assess those risks himself and did not have anyone upon whom he 
could rely to do so.  He also drew his own conclusions as to which interference issues are insurmountable or, 
alternatively, would cause reductions in the value of the spectrum.  (See id. at 164:19-24.)  For example, he 
deducted from the value of LightSquared’s spectrum the costs of relocating NOAA from its current spectrum block 
as a result of the granting of the License Modification Application.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) 
38:2-42:14 (discussing inaccuracies in the GLC Valuation Report).)  In addition, Mr. Reynertson improperly 
discounted twice for the same purported “defect” in the uplink spectrum:  the “guard bands” he created in the 
Uplinks are intended to “cure” the purported interference issues, yet he valued the remaining 5 MHz of spectrum in 
each uplink band as if the interference “problem” had not been resolved, and FCC approval had not been obtained.   
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interference issues.   

 Mr. Reynertson testified that he based his conclusions on the opinions of Mr. Hyslop.  

(See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 246:15-247:7.)  However, with respect to the 

use of guard bands, Mr. Reynertson could not have relied on Mr. Hyslop’s opinion when he 

wrote the GLC Valuation Report (which was completed on March 4, 2014) or when he testified 

at his deposition (on March 5, 2014) because Mr. Hyslop did not think about a guard band as a 

potential solution until some days or weeks after his own deposition on March 8, 2014.  (See 

Motion to Strike Hyslop and Reynerston ¶¶ 14-19, 32-34.)  In addition, Mr. Reynertson 

conceded that if the “guard band” assumption that underlies his report is mistaken or 

unsupported, that will moot the portion of the GLC Valuation Report based thereon.  (See Conf. 

Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 221:9-14 (conceding reliance on Hyslop to subtract 5 

MHz for guard band, and, if that number is wrong, it would affect opinion).)   

 Many aspects of Mr. Reynertson’s testimony are noteworthy: (i) he had never previously 

valued satellites or spectrum (see Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 126:14-23); (ii) 

he applied certain faulty and arbitrary assumptions in his valuation methodology (see fn 41, 

supra); and (iii) he was not provided with the valuation analyses that had been prepared by Mr. 

Ergen and by PWP during the summer of 2013, and, when presented with such analyses at the 

Confirmation Hearing, he admitted that seeing these would have helped him and may have 

changed what he did in connection with forming his opinions.42   

 The GLC Valuation Report was rife with inconsistencies and flaws; it was on the whole 

an unimpressive piece of work and will not be afforded significant weight.  In addition, a portion 

                                                            
42  The first time Mr. Reynertson saw the PWP Valuation and the Ergen Valuation was at his deposition on 
March 5, 2014, the day after he completed the GLC Valuation Report.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) 
144:24-146:1.)  Mr. Reynertson acknowledged that reviewing these reports would have been “informative” and 
would “have helped [him] understand how other sophisticated investors have looked at this spectrum.”  (Id. at 
249:24-250:5.)  
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of Mr. Reynertson’s testimony relied on the expert opinion of Mr. Hyslop.  As the Court finds 

that portions of Mr. Hyslop’s expert opinion shall be stricken from the record, as discussed infra, 

the portion of the GLC Valuation Report that relies on the stricken Hyslop testimony shall be 

afforded little weight.   

V. CONFIRMATION TESTIMONY REGARDING THE “TECHNICAL ISSUE”43 

A. Mr. Douglas Hyslop 

 SPSO called Mr. Douglas Hyslop of Wireless Strategy LLC and SmartSky Networks 

LLC, engineering consulting firms which provide engineering services for wireless operators.   

(Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 25, 2014 (Hyslop) [under seal].)  SPSO retained Mr. Hyslop to provide 

expert testimony on the “technical issue.”  Mr. Hyslop was retained on February 28, 2014 and 

formed his opinions by March 3, 2014; his deposition was conducted on March 8, 2014.  The 

Debtors have moved to strike a portion of Mr. Hyslop’s testimony on the basis that it reflects, in 

his own words, a new opinion regarding “guard bands” that first occurred to him after he gave 

his deposition testimony and thus was first revealed to the Debtors at the Confirmation Hearing.  

(See Motion to Strike Hyslop and Reynertson at ¶¶ 2-3, 20-31.)  The parties dispute whether or 

not this opinion should be considered “new” and whether or not gamesmanship is implicated in 

the Debtors’ approach to eliciting the opinion.  For the reasons set forth in the Debtors’ Motion 

to Strike Hyslop and Reynertson, the motion shall be granted as to Mr. Hyslop, and the requested 

portions of Mr. Hyslop’s testimony shall be stricken from the record.  The remainder of Mr. 

Hyslop’s testimony, as to which the Court makes detailed findings under seal, does not lend 

credible support to SPSO’s position with respect to the existence and magnitude of the “technical 

issue.”  (See Appendix A (filed under seal).) 

 

                                                            
43  See fn 19, supra; Appendix A (filed under seal). 
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B. Mr. John Jacob Rasweiler V 

Mr. John Jacob Rasweiler V testified as the Debtors’ rebuttal expert with respect to the 

“technical issue.”  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 28, 2014 (Rasweiler) [under seal].)  Mr. Rasweiler is 

employed by Sublime Wireless, a professional engineering and services firm that provides 

communications services for operators and equipment providers such as Sprint, Samsung, and 

AT&T.  He has substantial experience in radio frequency engineering and network design.  In 

response to SPSO’s contentions with respect to the “technical issue,” Mr. Rasweiler provided 

credible and compelling testimony that the “technical issue” is unlikely to exist at all and that, 

even if it did exist, technology is available today that can eliminate the problem, rendering it a 

non-issue.  In addition, Mr. Rasweiler identified new technology which, while not currently in 

commercial production, reflects further advances in certain devices that could be deployed to 

address the “technical issue.”  Mr. Rasweiler’s testimony substantially undercut the credibility of 

Mr. Hyslop’s conclusions with respect to many critical aspects of the “technical issue” alleged 

by SPSO.  (See Appendix A (filed under seal).) 

 

DISCUSSION 

I. THE PLAN CANNOT BE CONFIRMED 

A. Separate Classification of Prepetition LP Facility SPSO Claim Complies 
With Section 1122  

Under the Plan, the Prepetition LP Facility SPSO Claim is placed in a separate class 

(Class 7B) from the Prepetition LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims (Class 7A).  The proffered 

justification for such separate classification of claims which, on their face, are identical is not 

equitable subordination but rather that the holder of the SPSO Claim is a competitor of the 

Debtors that has various non-creditor interests and that there is thus a valid business reason for 
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separately classifying the SPSO Claim.  SPSO vehemently opposes separate classification of its 

claim.  For the reasons set forth herein, the Court finds that such separate classification is 

permitted by the Bankruptcy Code and applicable case law.   

Section 1122(a) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that “a plan may place a claim or an 

interest in a particular class only if such claim or interest is substantially similar to the other 

claims or interests of such class.”  See 11 U.S.C. § 1122(a).  Although section 1122(a) specifies 

that a claim or an interest may only be included in a particular class if it is “substantially similar” 

to the other claims or interests in such class, it does not require that all similar claims be placed 

in a single class, nor does it address when similar claims may be placed in different 

classes.  Stated differently, the Bankruptcy Code does not prohibit placing similar claims in 

separate classes.  

Courts that have considered the issue, including the Court of Appeals for the Second 

Circuit as well as numerous courts in this District, have concluded that the separate classification 

of otherwise substantially similar claims and interests is appropriate so long as the plan 

proponent can articulate a “reasonable” (or “rational”) justification for separate 

classification.  See, e.g., Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co. v. Clerk, U.S. Bankr. Ct., New York, N.Y. (In 

re Chateaugay Corp.), 89 F.3d 942, 949 (2d Cir. 1996); In re Lafayette Hotel Partnership, 227 

B.R. 445, aff’d, 198 F. 3d 942, 950 (2d Cir. 1999); In re Adelphia Commc’ns Corp., 368 B.R. 

140, 246-247 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2007).  Whether there is any “good business reason” to support a 

plan proponent’s separate classification is a question of fact.  Phoenix Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. 

Greystone III Joint Venture (In re Greystone III Joint Venture), 995 F.2d 1274, 1279 n. 7 (5th 

Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 821 (1992).  However, the “separate classification of 
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substantially similar . . . claims . . . [must not] offend one’s sensibility of due process and fair 

play.” In re One Times Square Assocs. Ltd. P’ship, 159 B.R. 695, 703 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1993). 

One such reasonable justification for separate classification is where a claimant is a 

competitor of the debtor.  See, e.g. In re Premiere Networks Servs., Inc., 333 B.R. 130, 133-34 

(Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2005) (“a non-creditor interest in the reorganized debtor meets the ‘good 

business reason’ standard and justifies separate classification of the creditor’s claim”); In re 

Graphic Commc’ns, Inc., 200 B.R. 143 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1996) (holding that a rational 

business reason existed for classifying competitor separately from general trade creditors); In re 

Texas Star Refreshments, LLC, 494 B.R. 684, 696 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2013) (separately 

classifying trade creditors from competitor creditor).  Importantly, it is not merely the creditor’s 

status as a competitor that is dispositive so much as the “non-creditor” interests that the creditor-

competitor may pursue.  In Premiere Networks, for example, the separately classified creditor’s 

“non-creditor interest” was “a different stake in the future viability of the reorganized company.” 

333 B.R. at 134.44 

The parties also cite to In re 500 Fifth Ave. Assocs., 148 B.R. 1010 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 

1993), but disagree on its applicability here.  In 500 Fifth Ave. Assocs., the debtor isolated the 

unsecured deficiency claim of a secured creditor in a separate plan class from other recourse 

unsecured claims, arguing that such treatment was justified due to the legal distinction between 

non-recourse deficiency claims and other unsecured claims.  Id. at 1019.  The court found that 

separate classification was not justified because the deficiency claim of the secured lender was 

an allowed, unsecured claim that was no different in a bankruptcy case from the obligation owed 

                                                            
44  In addition to a creditor being a competitor, other justifications for separate classification cited to the Court 
by the Debtors include (i) ulterior motives demonstrated by the creditor’s conduct during a debtor’s case and (ii) 
necessity.  LightSquared’s Post-Trial Memorandum of Law in Further Support of (I) Confirmation of Debtors’ 
Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code, (II) Motion To Designate Vote of SP Special 
Opportunities, LLC, and (III) Motion Seeking Approval of New DIP Facility [Docket No. 1486] at 78, 82-86. 

12-12080-scc    Doc 1631-1    Filed 07/11/14    Entered 07/11/14 15:10:57     Main
 Document    Pg 40 of 73

011952
JA005600



36 

to a recourse creditor, and it also found that the separate classification of the deficiency claim 

was based on the debtor’s clear desire to gerrymander an impaired accepting class to ensure 

confirmation of its plan.  Id.  The court, perhaps presaging Judge Gerber’s views in Adelphia, 

368 B.R. 140, observed that the fact that a creditor’s secured claim may drive the manner in 

which it votes its unsecured deficiency claim (which may be contrary to its best interests as an 

unsecured creditor) is not a valid reason for separately classifying a secured creditor’s deficiency 

claim.  Id.   

SPSO, relying on 500 Fifth Ave. Assocs., argues that a secured creditor’s “motives and 

agenda” cannot justify separate classification of a creditor’s claims and that the Court should 

focus, instead, on the legal nature of the underlying claim.  The Debtors and the Ad Hoc Secured 

Group argue that 500 Fifth Ave. Assocs. merely addresses the separate classification of a secured 

creditor’s garden variety unsecured deficiency claim, and it does not address the propriety of 

separately classifying the claim of a competitor creditor “whose sole interest was to acquire the 

company by one means or another.”45  The Court agrees. 

While SPSO urges that the Court should decline to delve into an analysis of ulterior 

motives, and poses myriad hypotheticals to demonstrate instances in which evaluation of a 

classification scheme based on claim holder considerations would be a “complicated and 

arbitrary line-drawing exercise,”46 there is no need to go down that path here.   SPSO’s different 

stake in the future of LightSquared is manifest and does not require a searching inquiry into 

ulterior motives.  Although, as a general matter, 500 Fifth Ave. Assocs. does indeed hold that, 

                                                            
45  LightSquared’s (A) Memorandum of Law in Support of Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint 
Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code and (B) Omnibus Response to Objections to (i) Confirmation of 
Plan, (ii) Motion To Designate Vote of SP Special Opportunities, LLC, and (iii) Motion Seeking Approval of New 
DIP Facility [Docket No. 1413] at 19 n.24. 
46  Objection of SPSO to Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the 
Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1408] at 7 n.5. 
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when considering classification issues, the focus should be on the legal nature of the underlying 

claim rather than on the motives and agenda of the claim holder,47 here it is necessary to 

recognize that a claim reflects more than a dollar amount on a proof of claim; it reflects a bundle 

of rights and remedies that are wielded by the holder of the claim.  Accordingly, both the nature 

of the claim and the identity of the claimant may be relevant in the context of separate 

classification.    

While SPSO (as opposed to DISH or Mr. Ergen) is the holder of the SPSO Claim, the 

Court finds that, under the circumstances here, SPSO, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Ergen, the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors and controlling shareholder of DISH, must be considered to 

have interests which are aligned with those of DISH, which is a competitor of the Debtors.48  

Notwithstanding Mr. Ergen’s reluctance to admit as much, the record makes it clear that (a) both 

DISH and the Debtors own spectrum assets; (b) DISH has been and remains active in the market 

to acquire more spectrum assets and/or to engage in transactions with third parties that own 

spectrum assets;49 (c) Mr. Ergen himself purports to having an interest in owning spectrum 

“personally” (if his testimony in the Adversary Proceeding is to be credited); and (d) both DISH 

                                                            
47  See 500 Fifth Ave. Assocs., 148 B.R. at 1019-20 (citing 5 L. King, COLLIER ON BANKRUPTCY pp. 
1122.03[1]-[b](15th ed.1992)). 
48  This Court has previously found that “one could reasonably expect a competitor to vote differently than a 
non-competitor lender on material matters concerning LightSquared, and, more significantly, a competitor given 
access to material non-public information about LightSquared may use it to LightSquared’s detriment, given that a 
competitor may possess a desire to see LightSquared fail.”  Adversary Proceeding Decision at 128.   
49  Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) at 17:13-18:7 (explaining how DISH and LightSquared were 
competitors prior to the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases:  “It’s clear what DISH’s business plan was having 
experienced it and read about it in other matters where [Ergen] was looking to build a network, LightSquared was 
looking to get its spectrum issues behind it and build a network, or had been building a network until the spectrum 
issues popped up.  They’d be competing for handset designs, customer designs.  In fact, LightSquared had a deal 
with Sprint to be the backbone of their infrastructure before the filing. In the months before, DISH was making – 
Ergen was making a competing hostile offer to buy Sprint.  So they might have been competing for kind of parties 
that could support the infrastructure as well”); Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Reynertson) at 209:10-13) 
(acknowledging that DISH will be a direct competitor of LightSquared following LightSquared’s emergence from 
bankruptcy, “I think DISH intends to – presumably intends to become a competitor.  Certainly the marketplace 
thinks that they intend to become a competitor”); Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 328:15-329:15 (admitting 
that (a) both DISH and LightSquared had previously sought (in LightSquared’s case) to partner with or (in DISH’s 
case) acquire Sprint as part of their respective spectrum-deployment strategies, and (b) DISH and LightSquared, 
each owners of valuable spectrum assets, will compete in the marketplace for lucrative partnership arrangements). 
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and the Debtors have announced their intention to develop and operate telephonic networks that 

would utilize spectrum assets and that would compete with each other for customers and 

business.50  The Debtors and the Ergen Parties (one of which is SPSO) are competitors for 

spectrum assets under any reasonable meaning of the word.51    

Given Mr. Ergen’s interests as the sole beneficial owner of SPSO and as the Chairman of 

the Board of Directors and controlling shareholder of DISH, it is not hard to conjure a set of facts 

and circumstances in which he personally would benefit more from LightSquared’s failure than 

its success; stated differently, his fiduciary duties as the Chairman of the DISH Board may at 

some point require him to take action that is contrary to the best interests of LightSquared and 

contrary to his interests as a creditor (through SPSO) of LightSquared LP.  As Mr. Ergen himself 

made clear in pursuing his so-called personal bid for LightSquared’s spectrum through LBAC, 

preserving optionality for DISH is a hallmark of his ongoing strategy for DISH in these cases, 

and more generally.  See Adversary Proceeding Decision at FOF ¶ 178.  Optionality for DISH 

should not come at the expense of the interests of LightSquared’s creditors who do not share Mr. 

Ergen’s economic interest in and lifelong commitment to DISH.  

Since becoming a holder of LP Debt, SPSO and Mr. Ergen have acted to further the 

interests of DISH and EchoStar with respect to LightSquared and its spectrum assets, which 

interests are different from the interests of LightSquared’s other creditors.  At all relevant times, 

                                                            
50  DISH was seeking, among other things, to acquire spectrum in competition with LightSquared, to develop 
handsets in competition with LightSquared, and to take control of Sprint, with which LightSquared had hoped to 
join in building its network.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) at 15:18-18:7; Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 
(Smith) at 26:21-29:10 (explaining circumstances of LightSquared’s relationship with Sprint and the difficulties that 
SPSO could have caused if it had been a lender at the time LightSquared first negotiated and entered into its 
agreement with Sprint and could cause in the future for negotiation of similar contractual arrangements).  
51  In fact, as early as the spring of 2013, Mr. Zelin suggested placing SPSO in a separate plan class because, 
despite not knowing with certainty the identity of SPSO, the parties suspected it was a competitor.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. 
Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) 17:13-18:7 (explaining basis for Ad Hoc Secured Group separately classifying SPSO’s claims 
in restructuring proposal in May 2013 to LightSquared:  “I think in our judgment and the judgment of our clients, 
Ergen, whether he was SPSO, whether he was LBAC, the initials didn’t make a difference to me, Ergen was Ergen.  
He was a competitor, somebody who would have competing interests”).) 
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SPSO has acted in a manner which is consistent with DISH’s strategic motivations, instead of as 

an ordinary creditor, and also has taken steps that had the potential to destroy LightSquared’s 

value and interrupt its business plans and operations, including the following: 

 SPSO deliberately delayed the closing of trades of LP Debt, which created 
uncertainty as to ownership and impeded LightSquared’s negotiation of a 
consensual plan of reorganization.  (Adversary Proceeding Decision at 
155, 166-67.)  

 Mr. Ergen told the DISH Board that SPSO’s blocking position was 
available to facilitate an acquisition of LightSquared’s spectrum by DISH. 
(Adversary Proceeding Decision FOF ¶¶ 131-32.) 

 When DISH did not act quickly enough, Mr. Ergen himself undertook to 
do so, by submitting a “personal” bid for LightSquared’s most significant 
assets. Mr. Ergen later sold LBAC (and thus the option to purchase 
LightSquared’s assets through such bid) to DISH for $1.  (Adversary 
Proceeding Decision FOF ¶¶ 136-37, 161-62.) 

 SPSO and the Ergen Parties negotiated and bound the Ad Hoc Secured 
Group to a plan that would effectuate the DISH/LBAC Bid and prevent 
the Ad Hoc Secured Group from negotiating any other plan with 
LightSquared and its other stakeholders. (Adversary Proceeding Decision 
FOF ¶¶ 273-74.)  In January 2014, they withdrew the DISH/LBAC Bid.  
(See fns 26-27, supra.)52  

 Although the Ad Hoc Secured Group filed its Motion to Enforce, seeking 
to compel specific performance of the DISH/LBAC Bid and advance its 
creditor interests (which would have paid SPSO almost in full), SPSO 
declined to support that effort and, instead, allowed its lawyers to act for 
DISH and LBAC in opposing and defeating such motion.  (See Objection 
of L-Band Acquisition, LLC to the January 13, 2014 Statement of the Ad 
Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders and Notice of Intent To 
Proceed with Confirmation of the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan 
and Motion for Declaratory Relief, dated January 16, 2014 [Docket No. 
1232]; Reply in Further Support of Objection of L-Band Acquisition, LLC 
to the January 13, 2014 Statement of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of 
LightSquared LP Lenders and Notice of Intent To Proceed with 
Confirmation of the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan and Motion for 

                                                            
52  During the day of the auction scheduled for December 11, 2013, LBAC’s and SPSO’s counsel told Mr. 
Zelin that she hoped that someone else showed up or it would be bad for his clients.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 
(Zelin) at 37:25-39:3.)  Later that same day, after the auction was cancelled by the Special Committee, counsel told 
the Ad Hoc Secured Group that LBAC was not prepared to close on the terms that they had negotiated.  (Id. at 39:4-
21.) 
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Declaratory Relief, dated January 21, 2014 [Docket No. 1246]; Conf. Hr’g 
Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 131:12-138:4.)53 

 SPSO and the Ergen Parties spoke to FCC personnel about DISH’s plans 
for LightSquared’s spectrum should DISH ultimately acquire it.  (Conf. 
Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 (Smith) at 22:5-12.) 

 In the first quarter of 2014, Mr. Ergen met with executives of Inmarsat on 
two separate occasions.  At these meetings, Mr. Ergen discussed 
LightSquared even though LightSquared is currently negotiating a 
modification of its cooperation agreement with Inmarsat and such 
modification is a condition of the Plan.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 
(Ergen) at 188:4-190:19; 207:24-209:5.)   

 SPSO and the Ergen Parties raised a “technical issue” with respect to 
LightSquared and insisted that notification of the purported “technical 
issue” be given to all parties evaluating a potential bid in the auction for 
LightSquared’s spectrum scheduled to occur in December 2013.  (See 
Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) at 37:25-39:21; 40:1-43:20; 57:6-
18.)  DISH’s engineers have been told by different vendors, including 
Huawei and Avago, that the “technical issue” was not an impediment to 
use of LightSquared’s Uplinks.  One email from Huawei acknowledged 
Mr. Ergen’s intent to use the “technical issue” as a device to “lower” the 
acquisition price for LightSquared’s spectrum.  (PX1026.)     

 SPSO has argued that the NOAA Spectrum should and would be 
auctioned, an argument which is not consistent with the interests of an 
ordinary, non-competitor creditor.  (See Objection of SPSO to 
Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 
11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1408] at 37-38; Conf. Hr’g Tr. 
Mar. 20, 2014 (Smith) at 23:8-17.)    

While SPSO maintains that is not a competitor of the Debtors because, although it is 

affiliated with DISH and EchoStar, those companies are in the pay television business while the 

Debtors own spectrum “but have no ability or authority to use it for commercial purposes,”54 this 

position is demonstrably unsupportable and is contrary to Mr. Ergen’s sworn testimony.55  Mr. 

                                                            
53  Mr. Ergen testified that he did not even talk to SPSO’s counsel about the specific performance on behalf of 
SPSO because he alone viewed the claim as frivolous.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 133:24-142:3.) 
54  See Objection of SPSO to Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of 
the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1408]  ¶ 13, n.4. 
55  Mr. Ergen attempted to disclaim that DISH and LightSquared were competitors.  Mr. Ergen testified that 
(a) LightSquared did not have a network today that could compete with a DISH network of the future and (b) 
LightSquared did not have the financial wherewithal to bid on other available spectrum and thus did not compete 
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Ergen clearly has big ambitions for DISH – indeed, DISH is expanding, or at least has the desire 

to expand, into the terrestrial wireless business.  Mr. Ergen has specifically testified that DISH 

would like to compete with telecommunication companies such as AT&T and Verizon.  (Jan. 13, 

2014 Hr’g Tr. (Ergen) at 26:18-20; 96:18-98:22; 100:25-101:4.)56  Doing so requires obtaining 

spectrum, which Mr. Ergen describes as a limited commodity.  (Id. at 47:3-48:10; 96:5-14.)  

DISH’s takeover of DBSD and TerreStar and its failed attempts at transactions with, among 

others, Clearwire Corp., Sprint Corp., and Inmarsat plc.57 demonstrate that DISH is an active 

market participant in the race for spectrum and a player on the every-changing chessboard of 

spectrum usage.  Indeed, DISH’s participation in the recently concluded H-block auction has 

been raised many times in these cases in a variety of contexts.  

 The fact that the Ergen Parties are competitors of LightSquared is bolstered by the fact 

that DISH was listed as a “Disqualified Company” under the Prepetition LP Credit Agreement 

and, as a result, was prohibited from purchasing LP Debt.  (Adversary Proceeding Decision FOF 

¶¶ 22, 25, 26.)  Mr. Ergen’s testimony, as well as the testimony of SPSO’s valuation expert, Mr. 

Reynertson, supports the conclusion that DISH and LightSquared are currently competitors, and 

would continue to be competitors upon LightSquared’s emergence from chapter 11.  (See, e.g., 

Mar. 26, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Ergen) at 279:18-282:2; 328:15-330:2; Mar. 27, 2014 Conf. Hr’g 

Tr. (Reynertson) at 209:11-13.)  Even if the status of DISH and EchoStar as competitors of 

LightSquared were not imputable to Mr. Ergen and SPSO (which it is), SPSO is clearly an 

affiliate of such entities and, by virtue of such affiliation and the common control exercised by 

                                                                                                                                                                                                
with DISH.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 279:2-282:12.)  Mr. Ergen later admitted that both DISH 
and LightSquared today would compete in the marketplace as sellers of spectrum or as potential partners for other 
network owners.  (See id. at 328:15-330:2.)   
56  Mr. Ergen’s January 13, 2014 testimony was given in the Adversary Proceeding trial. 
57  DISH Form 10-K at F-18 (Feb. 21, 2014); Jan. 13, 2014 Hr’g Tr. (Ergen) 95:6-96:4; 101:5-103:5; 105:11-
108:10; Mar. 26, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Ergen) 328:15-329:15. 
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Mr. Ergen with respect to these entities, SPSO is properly viewed as a competitor of the 

Debtors.58  SPSO’s attempts to distance itself from the overwhelming evidence of its competitor 

status and interests must be rejected.  That being said, SPSO is quite correct in its argument that 

separate classification cannot be used to mistreat a creditor, out of personal animosity or 

otherwise.59  The unfair discrimination against SPSO reflected in the Plan will be dealt with 

separately herein.  

For all of these reasons, the separate classification of the Prepetition LP Facility SPSO 

Claim is thus necessary and appropriate.  SPSO must be viewed as a competitor of the Debtors 

with significant “non-creditor” interests, or, in the alternative, SPSO is an affiliate of a 

competitor controlled by SPSO’s ultimate owner, Mr. Ergen.  Under the facts and circumstances 

of this case, the separate classification of SPSO’s claim comports with section 1122 of the Code.  

It is worth noting that, while the separate classification of the SPSO Claim and the Prepetition 

LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims is permissible under section 1122, that does not mean that it is 

required; indeed, it is possible to envision a plan of reorganization which classifies all 

Prepetition LP Facility Claims in the same class, subject to being able to navigate successfully 

                                                            
58  See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 20, 2014 (Smith) at 21:13-25 (“The primary reason [for separately classifying 
SPSO’s claims] is that SPSO is a competitor of LightSquared. . . . [A]s a competitor, and we absolutely view them 
as a competitor here in that their interests are not those typically of a financial investor, meaning that their actions 
and behaviors are driven by different motivations.”); 28:7-29:10 (“Part of the classification certainly has to do with 
the competitor status, as I said.  And I’d like to illustrate a point.  So there are certain rights that our first and second 
lien holders have.  It’s [sic] right to information, it’s [sic] approval rights.  So, for example, under the current LP 
debt documents, back when we were building our network in 2011, we signed an agreement with Sprint.  That was 
an agreement that needed lender approval.  So we had to make them aware of exactly what we were doing before we 
had signed a document.  We had to seek their approval so we got certain waivers so that we could actually enter into 
that agreement.  That’s a situation and an example that I would not want a competitor to know what we were doing 
before we did it.  In that case specifically, I understand through press reports and other statements that DISH was 
also trying to seek a similar agreement with Sprint in and around the same time for a network sharing agreement.  
And that’s something where we can’t be effective as a company if that type of information is given to a competitor 
and they can see the terms of the agreement, they can see exactly what we’re doing, and they still have time to go in 
and try and take it from us.  So part of this is governance as well, which is we need to control the information, and 
part of the position and the treatment that SPSO receives does limit what we have to share with them and it’s really 
focused on the competitive nature of what we’re doing.”). 
59  Post Confirmation Trial Brief of SP Special Opportunities, LLC and Objection to Confirmation of Debtors’ 
Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1517] at 42-43.    
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the requirements of section 1123(a)(4).  Of course, that portion of the SPSO Claim which is 

equitably subordinated could not be included in such a class absent the consent of all affected 

parties. 

B. SPSO’s Vote to Reject the Plan Shall Not Be Designated 
 

Section 1126(e) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a bankruptcy court may designate 

the vote of “any entity whose acceptance or rejection of [a] plan was not in good faith.” 11 

U.S.C. § 1126(e).  The seminal decision in this Circuit addressing vote designation is the Second 

Circuit’s 2011 decision in In re DBSD N. Am., Inc., 634 F.3d 79 (2d Cir. 2011), in which the 

court made the following observations:  

The Code provides no guidance about what constitutes a bad faith vote to accept 
or reject a plan.  Rather, § 1126(e)’s “good faith” test effectively delegates to the 
courts the task of deciding when a party steps over the boundary. . . .  Bankruptcy 
courts should employ § 1126(e) designation sparingly, as “the exception, not the 
rule. . . .  Merely purchasing claims in bankruptcy “for the purpose of securing the 
approval or rejection of a plan does not of itself amount to ‘bad faith.’”  Nor will 
selfishness alone defeat a creditor’s good faith; the Code assumes that parties will 
act in their own self interest and allows them to do so. . . .  Section 1126(e) comes 
into play when voters venture beyond mere self-interested promotion of their 
claims. “[T]he section was intended to apply to those who were not attempting to 
protect their own proper interests, but who were, instead, attempting to obtain 
some benefit to which they were not entitled.”  A bankruptcy court may, 
therefore, designate the vote of a party who votes “in the hope that someone 
would pay them more than the ratable equivalent of their proportionate part of the 
bankrupt assets,” or one who votes with an “ulterior motive,” that is, with “an 
interest other than an interest as a creditor.”  

Id. at 101-102 (all citations omitted).  Moreover, votes cast by parties who purchase claims in a 

competitor’s bankruptcy case are viewed by courts as being particularly worthy of scrutiny.  Id. 

at 105, n. 12 (citations omitted); see also In re Allegheny Int’l, Inc., 118 B.R. 282, 296 (Bankr. 

W.D. Pa. 1990). 

As described in greater detail in the Vote Designation Motion and the Ad Hoc Secured 

Group’s joinder to that motion [Docket No. 1384] (the “Vote Designation Joinder”), the Debtors 
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maintain that (i) Mr. Ergen’s attempt to secure control of the LP Debtors’ assets by purchasing a 

blocking position in the LP Debt is precisely the behavior the Second Circuit attempted to deter 

and punish in DBSD and (ii) the behavior of SPSO in these cases is even worse than the behavior 

of DISH in DBSD.  (See Vote Designation Motion at ¶¶ 69-85; Vote Designation Joinder at ¶¶ 

10, 14, 16-17.)  They allege the following in support of their conclusion:   

 SPSO and the Ergen Parties have followed the DBSD and TerreStar 
“playbooks” to gain control of a company in distress by buying claims and 
manipulating the chapter 11 process for their non-creditor interests, but, in 
this case, they did so with stealth.   

 SPSO’s purchase of the LP Debt at close to par to acquire a blocking 
position was part of Mr. Ergen’s scheme and not simply, as he testified, to 
obtain higher returns or to ensure he had “bankruptcy protections” against 
cramdown. 

 Mr. Ergen’s overall interest in these cases (as an owner of LP Debt 
through SPSO and as the majority equity owner of DISH) gives him 
incentives to help DISH achieve as low a purchase price for the Debtors’ 
assets as possible, in direct contravention of his interests as a creditor.   

 Rather than acting in its interests as a creditor, SPSO opposed a near full 
recovery in cash under the Ad Hoc Secured Group’s plan by authorizing 
its counsel to object to the Ad Hoc Secured Group Motion to Enforce and 
to seek a declaratory judgment that the DISH/LBAC Bid was terminated.60   

And, once again, the Debtors and the Ad Hoc Secured Group urge that the bad acts of all 

Ergen Parties other than SPSO should be imputed to SPSO for purposes of vote designation.  

(See Corrected Post-Trial Confirmation Brief of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP 

Lenders [Docket No. 1494] at 70 (pointing out that “[i]f this were not the case, it would be easy 

to eviscerate the protections intended by section 1126(e) by simply forming multiple entities and 

having one buy claims while the others engaged in disruptive inequitable conduct—exactly as 

the Ergen Parties did here”).)  While there is certainly truth to such an observation, those are not 

                                                            
60  See Vote Designation Motion at ¶¶ 69-85; Vote Designation Joinder at ¶¶ 10, 14, 16-17; Corrected Post-
Trial Confirmation Brief of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders [Docket No. 1494] at 70. 
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the facts before the Court with respect to vote designation.  Moreover, whether or not the alleged 

bad acts of all the Ergen Parties (including LBAC) can be imputed or attributed to SPSO, the 

Court finds that SPSO’s vote to reject the Plan cannot be designated.      

What the Debtors and the Ad Hoc Secured Group ignore is the fact that, as will be 

discussed in detail below, the Third Amended Plan is unconfirmable for a variety of reasons, not 

the least of which is the unpalatable treatment it affords the SPSO Claim.  Where a creditor votes 

to reject a plan for an admixture of reasons, some of which can be characterized as being 

consistent with the interests of a creditor acting to protect its legitimate creditor interests, its vote 

cannot be designated.  SPSO has voted against a plan that not only deprives it of its first lien 

security interest but provides it with plan consideration that is virtually indistinguishable from 

equity interests.  It is not at all surprising that SPSO declined to accept such treatment; the other 

members of the Ad Hoc Secured Group would most certainly have done likewise.  Indeed, Mr. 

Falcone could not even interest Mr. McKnight in taking that treatment on account of the LP 

Preferred Equity Interests held by Fortress.61  

While the Debtors urge that DBSD compels designation of SPSO’s vote to reject the 

Plan, to do so would materially extend the reach of DBSD in ways that section 1126(e) does not 

contemplate.  The centerpiece of the Second Circuit’s decision in DBSD was its observation that 

a competitor of DBSD (DISH) “bought claims with the intent of voting against any plan that did 

not give it a strategic interest in the reorganized company,” and it bought those claims above par 

and after a plan had been proposed by DBSD.  DBSD, 634 F.3d at 104.  So too in Allegheny, in 

which creditor Japonica purchased its claims after balloting on a plan had already begun.  In re 

Allegheny Int’l, Inc., 118 B.R. at 286.  As Judge Gerber noted in DBSD, DISH intended “to use 

                                                            
61  Mr. Falcone offered to move Fortress’ and the other LP preferred holders’ claims ahead of the SPSO 
Claim.  (SPX069 (“Then move it ahead of charlie.”); SPX071 (“What if we move the LP pref ahead of Charlie?”); 
SPX070 (“We are working on elevating the pref ahead of Charlie.  Will that help?”).) 
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[its] status as a creditor to provide advantages over proposing a plan as an outsider or making a 

traditional bid for the company or its assets.”  DBSD, 421 B.R. at 139-40.  However, both Judge 

Gerber and the Second Circuit were particularly focused on the timing of DISH’s debt purchases 

which were made after the plan in DBSD had been filed.  Here, SPSO made no purchases of debt 

above par and acquired a significant portion (approximately $287 million) of its claim before the 

Chapter 11 Cases were commenced, when the LP Debt was trading at or below approximately 60 

cents on the dollar; moreover, SPSO acquired all of its LP Debt below par and prior to the filing 

of any plan.62  SPSO is thus arguably, at least in part, a “pre-existing creditor,”63 albeit one who 

has allegedly voted with strategic intentions – the type of creditor that the Second Circuit did not 

expressly include in the ambit of its prohibition on voting in connection with strategic claims 

acquisitions.  DBSD, 634 F.3d at 106.  The Court declines to extend the holding of DBSD to 

cover votes cast with respect to claims which were acquired before a plan had been proposed by 

any party and where, as discussed below, there are valid, economically self-interested creditor 

reasons for the holder of such claims to reject a proposed plan. 

While courts in this District and elsewhere have held that casting a vote on a plan to gain 

more than one deserves is evidence of bad faith, it takes more than evidence of simply a selfish 

or aggressive attempt to maximize recovery to demonstrate bad faith.  See, e.g., Adelphia, 359 

B.R. 54, 63-64 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2006) (declining to designate votes of creditor who held claims 

against two different Adelphia debtors and who cast votes with respect to one set of claims with 

ulterior purpose of increasing its recovery on the claims it held against another debtor).  Judge 

Gonzalez had occasion to analyze the issue of alleged “mixed-motive” voting post-DBSD in the 

case of In re GSC, Inc., 453 B.R. 132 (S.D.N.Y. 2011).  In GSC, there were allegations that a 

                                                            
62  See Adversary Proceeding Decision FOF ¶¶ 63, 89.  
63  It is unclear exactly what the Second Circuit intended by the words “pre-existing” – i.e., pre-petition or pre-
plan proposal. 
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creditor, Black Diamond, had voted against a plan in order to pursue a sale transaction that 

would have given it more than its ratable share of the debtors’ assets.  In analyzing whether there 

was evidence to this effect, Judge Gonzalez observed that, even if there were such evidence, the 

objectors would have needed to establish Black Diamond’s intent to pursue this alternative at the 

time of voting and that, even if the objectors could have succeeded in making such a showing, 

the objectors would “have had to further prove that Black Diamond’s sole or primary goal in 

rejecting the [p]lan was to benefit at the expense of other creditors.”  Id. at 161 (emphasis in 

original).  Stated differently, vote designation should not be ordered where a creditor can 

articulate a valid business reason for rejecting a plan even if such rejection may also be 

consistent with such creditor’s non-creditor interests.  See also In re Figter Ltd., 118 F.3d 635 

(9th Cir. 1997) (denying vote designation where creditor acted to preserve what he reasonably 

perceived as his fair share of the debtor’s estate); In re Landing Assocs., Ltd., 157 B.R. 791, 807-

08 (Bankr. W.D.Tex. 1993) (noting that creditors act with a variety of motives and evaluating an 

admixture of creditor-related and non-creditor-related motives); In re Dune Deck Owners Corp., 

175 B.R. 839, 845 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (stating that court must decide whether the creditor opposes 

the plan because of how it affects his claim, or instead, because the creditor really seeks to obtain 

some collateral advantage in another capacity and has voted without regard to the treatment of its 

claim).  Here, there is an ample basis to find that, notwithstanding SPSO’s alleged ulterior 

motives, its non-creditor/competitor interests, and its demonstrably inequitable conduct in 

acquiring at least a substantial portion of its claim, it cast its vote to block a plan that provided it 

with abysmal treatment that no similarly-situated creditor would have accepted.  

The Debtors would have the Court conflate the provisions of section 1126(e) and section 

510(c) and hold that a finding of inequitable conduct sufficient to support equitable 
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subordination of a creditor’s claim necessarily translates into the basis for designating the bad 

actor’s vote.  Moreover, the Debtors would seek to transform vote designation into a substantive 

treatment provision.  The Court declines to read section 1126(e) so broadly; in the plain words of 

the statute, designation may be ordered with respect to “any entity whose acceptance or rejection 

of such plan was not in good faith.”  It is vote-specific and plan-specific.  It focuses on the voting 

conduct of the creditor holding the claim.  Simply put, had SPSO voted to reject a plan that 

proposed to pay it in full in cash or a plan proposing that SPSO receive some other treatment that 

was accepted by the non-SPSO holders of LP Debt, SPSO’s good faith in rejecting such a plan 

would be open to serious question.  Indeed, as SPSO itself ironically points out in drawing a 

distinction between this case and DBSD, “[i]t is one thing to designate a creditor that votes 

against a [p]lan that manifestly compensates the designated stakeholder’s economic expectations 

in full” but quite another thing to designate SPSO’s vote on this Plan.64  Here, while it is not 

subject to credible dispute that SPSO has non-creditor interests, its vote to reject this 

demonstrably unconfirmable plan cannot be designated, especially when to do so would arguably 

render the protections of section 1129(b) inapplicable.    

C. Because SPSO’s Vote Cannot be Designated, the Cramdown Requirements 
of Section 1129(b) Are Applicable to Class 7B 
 

Pursuant to section 1129(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Court may confirm a plan 

over a dissenting impaired class of claims so long as the plan is “fair and equitable” and does not 

“discriminate unfairly” with respect to the dissenting class.  11 U.S.C. § 1129(b)(1).  See, e.g., 

Kane v. Johns-Manville Corp. (In re Johns-Manville Corp.), 843 F.2d 636, 650 (2d Cir. 1988); In 

re Chemtura Corp., 439 B.R. 561, 592, n. 131 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2010).   The Plan satisfies 

neither requirement with respect to Class 7B. 

                                                            
64  Post Confirmation Trial Brief of SP Special Opportunities, LLC and Objection to Confirmation of Debtors’ 
Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1517] at ¶ 185. 
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 The Plan Is Not Fair and Equitable With Respect to Class 7B  1.
 

A plan is fair and equitable with respect to a class of secured claims if it satisfies one of 

the three alternatives set forth in section 1129(b)(2)(A).  The plan must provide (i) that the 

holders of such claims (a) retain their liens on the same collateral, to the extent of the allowed 

amount of such claims and (b) receive deferred cash payments of a value equal, as of the 

effective date of the plan, to the value of the secured creditors’ interests in the estates’ interests in 

such collateral; (ii) for the sale of any property that is subject to the liens securing such claims, 

free and clear of such liens, with such liens to attach to the proceeds of such sale, and the 

treatment of such liens to comply with clause (i) or (iii) of section 1129(b)(2)(A) (a provision 

which the parties agree is not applicable here); or (iii) for the realization by such holders of the 

indubitable equivalent of such claims.  11 U.S.C. § 1129(b)(2)(A). 

The Plan is not fair and equitable with respect to Class 7B.  Although the parties here 

disagree as to whether the Plan must comply with section 1129(b)(2)(A)(i) or section 

1129(b)(2)(A)(iii) with respect to SPSO, see RadLAX Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated 

Bank, __ U.S. __, 132 S. Ct. 2065, 2072 (2012), the Plan fails to satisfy either subsection.  On its 

face, the Plan does not comply with subsection (A)(i) inasmuch as it replaces SPSO’s first lien 

with a third lien.  Since the SPSO Claim will not be subordinated in its entirety, the analysis of 

this species of “fair and equitable” treatment ends there.   

Nor does the Plan fare better under section 1129(b)(2)(A)(iii), which requires the 

realization by the creditor of the “indubitable equivalent” of its claims.  11 U.S.C. 

§ 1129(b)(2)(A)(iii).  In DBSD, the bankruptcy court held that, although “indubitable 

equivalent” is not defined in the Bankruptcy Code, “courts generally will find the requirement 

satisfied where a plan both protects the creditor’s principal and provides for the present value of 
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the creditor’s claim.”  DBSD, 419 B.R. at 207 (citing In re Sparks, 171 B.R. 860, 866 (Bankr. 

N.D. Ill. 1994)).  The court continued, stating that “courts focus on the value of the collateral 

relative to the secured claim, and the proposed interest rate of the facility providing the 

indubitable equivalent.”  Id.  Courts have held that the “indubitable equivalent” standard requires 

that there be no doubt that replacement recoveries are equal to existing security interests.  See In 

re Philadelphia Newspapers, LLC, 599 F.3d 298, 310 (3d Cir. 2010) (“Thus the ‘indubitable 

equivalent’ under subsection (iii) is the unquestionable value of a lender’s secured interest in the 

collateral.”); see also In re Salem Suede, Inc., 219 B.R. 922, 935 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1998) 

(requiring that “there [be] no reasonable doubt that [the subject creditor] will receive the full 

value of what it bargained for”) (internal citation omitted). 

Here, the Plan proposes to give SPSO the SPSO Note, which (i) accrues PIK interest at 

the rate of LIBOR plus twelve percent, (ii) has a seven year maturity, and (iii) is secured by a 

third-priority lien on all of the assets of the New LightSquared Entities.  SPSO argues that the 

SPSO Note does not represent the indubitable equivalent of its claim because, among other 

things, (a) the value of such note will be highly speculative as of the Effective Date of the Plan; 

(b) such note does not provide for postpetition interest accrued through the Effective Date;  

(c) such note contains economic terms that are inferior to those SPSO enjoys pursuant to the 

Prepetition LP Facility, as the SPSO Note provides for the payment of interest in kind, rather 

than in cash, and its seven-year maturity is longer than the four-year maturity under the 

Prepetition LP Facility; and (d) such note will be subject to more rigorous transfer restrictions 

and be less liquid than SPSO’s Prepetition LP Facility Claim, while at the same time containing 

reduced covenant protections for SPSO.65   

                                                            
65  Post Confirmation Trial Brief of SP Special Opportunities, LLC and Objection to Confirmation of Debtors’ 
Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1517] at ¶ 158. 
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The Debtors submit that the SPSO Note will provide SPSO with the indubitable 

equivalent of its claim by providing SPSO with payment in full.  To determine whether the 

SPSO Note provides for the indubitable equivalent of the SPSO Claim, the Debtors suggest that 

the Court must (i) compare the value of the collateral securing the SPSO Note to the value of the 

SPSO Claim to ensure SPSO’s principal is protected and (ii) analyze the interest rate and 

maturity of the SPSO Note to ensure SPSO is receiving the present value of its claim; if an 

equity cushion can be shown, the Debtors argue, indubitable equivalence is established.  (See 

Conf. Hr’g Tr. May 6, 2014 at 70:1-81:4.)  Pointing to the Moelis Valuation Report, a collateral 

valuation with a midpoint of $7.7 billion, the Debtors argue that the full principal value of the 

SPSO Claim would be more than sufficiently protected by a third-lien note on the existing 

collateral securing the Prepetition LP Facility.  (See id.) 

Nevertheless, to “erase any shadow of doubt (to the extent any such doubt existed), that 

SPSO was not receiving fair and equitable treatment,”66 the Debtors emphasize that the Plan 

enhances SPSO’s collateral package by providing SPSO with a third lien on existing collateral as 

well as a lien on certain new collateral,67 including substantially all of the assets of NewCo and 

its direct and indirect subsidiaries.68  The SPSO Note, according to the Debtors, is thus secured 

by a new collateral package that is more “expansive” than that provided under the Prepetition LP 

                                                            
66  LightSquared’s (A) Memorandum of Law in Support of Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint 
Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code and (B) Omnibus Response to Objections to (i) Confirmation of 
Plan, (ii) Motion To Designate Vote of SP Special Opportunities, LLC, and (iii) Motion Seeking Approval of New 
DIP Facility [Docket No. 1413] at ¶ 175. 
67  Because the SPSO Claim will not be subordinated in its entirety, it must be considered a secured claim for 
purposes of the cramdown analysis. 
68  See Notice of Filing of Clean and Blackline Versions of (A) Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant 
to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code, (B) Debtors’ Third Amended Specific Disclosure Statement and (C) Revised 
Form of Final DIP Order [Docket No. 1336] at Exhibit B (Projections); Mar. 24, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Hootnick) 
25:4-27:7; 52:19-24; 54:12-20; 62:2-6; 66:7-11; 112:11-113:2; see also Mar. 20, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Smith) 45:10-
47:6; 48:4-50:23; Mar. 6, 2014 Dep. Tr. (Montagner) 10:17-14:5; 38:4-39:18; 67:25-68:5.   
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Facility;69 and the Ad Hoc Secured Group argues that this so-called “additional collateral,” 

which includes the assets of LightSquared Inc., increases SPSO’s collateral package by at least 

hundreds of millions of dollars, given the value of the Inc. Debtors.  (See Corrected Post-Trial 

Confirmation Brief of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders [Docket No. 

1494] at 75-76; see also Mar. 26, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Ergen) 43:2-13 (testifying that, in the new 

proposal sent by SPSO on December 31, 2013, SPSO was willing to pay $348 million dollars for 

the Inc. Debtors’ assets); Mar. 24, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Hootnick) 60:9-16 (“Moelis has never 

been asked nor have we done a separate valuation for the Inc. assets.  We . . . believe it to be 

worth at least a few hundred million dollars.  I know that other parties in this room believe they 

could be worth as much as a billion dollars.  We don’t have a full presentation nor have we gone 

to an internal committee to give you a decided-on view, but I think it’s safe to say that it’s worth 

a few hundred million dollars.”)).70   

SPSO disagrees entirely.  In addition to disputing the Debtors’ valuation and projections, 

SPSO argues that the third lien it will receive under the SPSO Note cannot satisfy indubitable 

equivalence where SPSO currently purports to enjoy a first lien.  (Objection of SPSO to 

Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy 

Code [Docket No. 1408] at ¶¶ 82-87).  

While some courts have held that a subordinated lien can constitute the indubitable 

equivalent of a secured creditor’s claim under section 1129(b)(2)(A)(iii), such cases are few and 

far between.  See, e.g., Woods v. Pine Mountain, Ltd. (In re Pine Mountain, Ltd.), 80 B.R. 171, 

                                                            
69  See Plan at I.A.303 (“the liens securing the SPSO Note shall be silent, third priority liens limited to the 
assets of NewCo and each of its subsidiaries . . .”). 
70  At closing argument, counsel for the Special Committee also highlighted for the Court the increased value 
of the Debtors’ assets under the Plan due to the fact that the Plan integrates the estates of LightSquared LP and 
LightSquared Inc. and thus creates increased value through (i) synergies between the two estates and (ii) the 
preservation of a valuable net operating loss.  (May 5, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. at 28:24-30:7.) 
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174-75 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 1987) (finding indubitable equivalent where secured creditor received 

new promissory notes junior only to a construction loan); Affiliated Nat’l Bank-Englewood v. 

TMA Assocs., Ltd., 160 B.R. 172, 176 (D. Col. 1993) (holding that secured creditor received 

indubitable equivalent despite payment in full to partially junior and partially senior creditor).  

No cases from courts in this District have been cited to the Court in support of this 

contention.  Moreover, in each case cited by the Ad Hoc Secured Group in support of its 

indubitable equivalence argument, the court found that the secured creditor in question was 

demonstrably oversecured and that the creditor’s equity cushion protected it from any diminution 

of its security interest.  In In re Pine Mountain, for example, the 9th Circuit B.A.P. based its 

determination that the secured creditor received the indubitable equivalent of its claim on the fact 

that the creditor’s claim “would still be fully secured” even after obtaining a senior construction 

loan.  80 B.R. at 174-75.  Similarly, in Affiliated Nat’l Bank-Englewood, the court based its 

holding on the bankruptcy court’s determination that property securing the creditor’s $1 million 

claim was worth between $1.8 million and $2.0 million.  160 B.R. at 174-75.   

The Debtors readily concede that, although the Plan is not conditioned on FCC approval, 

the Debtors’ valuation of the SPSO Note and SPSO’s proposed recovery thereunder indeed rely 

on opinions offered at the Confirmation Hearing that the FCC will approve LightSquared’s 

pending License Modification Application and the later use of its lower downlink spectrum.71  

Thus, the value of the collateral securing the SPSO Note depends – almost entirely – on whether 

or not such approvals occur.  Accordingly, it appears that the parties are in agreement that the 

valuation of LightSquared and its assets, including its spectrum assets, is ultimately dispositive 

of the question of indubitable equivalence. 

                                                            
71  LightSquared’s Post-Trial Memorandum of Law in Further Support of (I) Confirmation of Debtors’ Third 
Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code, (II) Motion To Designate Vote of SP Special 
Opportunities, LLC, and (III) Motion Seeking Approval of New DIP Facility [Docket No. 1486] at 23.   
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There is enormous disagreement on valuation, however.  Not surprisingly, the Debtors 

and the Plan Support Parties, on the one hand (with the vocal support of the Ad Hoc Secured 

Group), and SPSO, on the other hand, have drastically different views on valuation.  Mr. Ergen 

himself prepared a valuation of the Debtors’ spectrum assets, as did PWP when it issued a 

fairness opinion for the DISH Special Committee in connection with the now-terminated 

DISH/LBAC Bid.  Of course, the assumptions underlying each of these valuations are radically 

different from one another, with respect to variables such as the appropriate price per MHz/POP 

metric, the impact of FCC approval on the License Modification Application, the proposed use 

of each block of spectrum, and the question of whether or not there is a “technical issue” with 

respect to portions of the spectrum.      

The Court makes the following findings with respect to valuation. 

a. The Moelis Valuation    
 

As the Debtors readily concede, the value of LightSquared’s assets is central to the 

determination of the feasibility of the Plan and the appropriateness of the treatment of the SPSO 

Claim.  Under the direction of Mr. Hootnick, Moelis prepared a valuation analysis of 

LightSquared’s assets that reflects a range of value from $6.2 billion at the low end to $9.1 

billion at the high end.  The methodology employed by Moelis is industry-accepted and indeed 

does not differ in any material respect from the methodology used by SPSO’s valuation expert, 

or from the methodology used in the valuations performed by PWP for the DISH Special 

Committee or by Mr. Ergen himself.  The methodology employs market comparables based on 

the price per MHz/POP, which reflects, among other things, the market price as a function of the 

size of the band of spectrum and the number of people it covers.  Spectrum characteristics are 

also taken into account, including, for example, the propagation characteristics of the spectrum.  
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(See Moelis Valuation Report at 10; Mar. 24, 2014 Conf. Tr. (Hootnick) at 16:13-20:5.)  Moelis 

relied on the opinions of Mr. Smith, Mr. McDowell, and Mr. Jeffrey Carlisle, LightSquared’s 

EVP for Regulatory Affairs, that the FCC will grant LightSquared’s License Modification 

Application by the end of 2015 and will approve the use of the Lower Downlink in seven years.  

Mr. Hootnick’s qualifications as an expert are stellar; Moelis’ experience in valuing complex 

assets in the telecommunications space is broad and deep; and the methodology employed in the 

Moelis Valuation Report is clearly consistent with industry standards.  But because the Moelis 

Valuation rests almost entirely on unsupportable assumptions about the timing of FCC 

approvals, the Court is unable to afford it weight sufficient to support the valuation premise of 

the Plan.72  

b. The GLC Valuation 
 

The GLC Valuation Report offered by SPSO suffered from many infirmities and 

inconsistencies.  On the one hand, Mr. Reynertson purported to have relied on the opinions of 

Mr. Hyslop for his determination of how much of LightSquared’s spectrum should be included 

in his valuation analysis and how much might be sidelined due to the “technical issue.”  He 

appears to have relied in part on a Hyslop opinion that was first revealed at the Confirmation 

Hearing; this undermines the integrity of Mr. Reynertson’s opinion and, more generally, raises 

questions about his credibility.  Moreover, notwithstanding his reliance on others for regulatory 

and technical assumptions, he appears to have used his own judgment to risk-adjust his valuation 

analysis.  Simply put, his methodology is all over the place.  Paid $1.25 million dollars for his 

work, Mr. Reynertson delivered a superficial analysis that was not even informed by a review of 

the valuations prepared by Mr. Ergen and PWP.   The Court affords it little weight. 

                                                            
72  The Moelis Valuation Report was not the first valuation performed by Moelis with respect to LightSquared.   
Moelis has performed valuations of the Debtors’ assets on several previous occasions, including in connection with 
proposed DIP financing; none of these reflects a valuation as high as that reflected in the Moelis Valuation Report. 
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c. The Ergen Valuation 
 

In connection with the consideration of Mr. Ergen’s LBAC bid by the DISH Board and 

the DISH Special Committee, Mr. Ergen prepared the Ergen Valuation, a six-page presentation, 

dated July 3, 2013, entitled “Strategic Investment Opportunity – L-Band Acquisition, LLC.”  

(PX1047.)  The Ergen Valuation reflects Mr. Ergen’s analysis of the aggregate value of 

LightSquared’s assets to DISH, comprised of (a) the value of 20 MHz of the LightSquared 

spectrum and satellites themselves and (b) the incremental value that would be realized by DISH 

due to the substantial additional value that LightSquared’s spectrum would bring to DISH’s 

existing AWS-4 spectrum.  The range of value for the former, per Mr. Ergen, is $3.3 billion to 

$5.2 billion; the range of value for the latter (i.e., inclusive of DISH supplemental asset value) is 

$5.1 billion to $8.9 billion.  The Ergen Valuation includes a higher range of $/MHz /POP than 

the Moelis Valuation ($0.65 to $0.95 versus $0.60 to $0.90).  SPSO has attempted to retreat from 

the numbers reflected in the Ergen Valuation on the grounds that it does not reflect the negative 

effect of the “technical issue.”  As the Court repeatedly observed during the Confirmation 

Hearing, however, no attempt was ever made by DISH to solve (let alone quantify) the 

“technical issue” which allegedly stood in the way of the realization by DISH of billions of 

dollars of supplemental asset value.  It is indeed a curious thing.  The Ergen Valuation, while 

offering strong support for the proposition that LightSquared’s assets have tremendous value in 

the hands of DISH, does not provide sufficient support for the valuation on which the Plan and 

the treatment of the SPSO Claim are premised.    

d. The PWP Valuation 
    

In addition to the Ergen Valuation, a valuation prepared by PWP was considered by the 

DISH Special Committee.  (PX1048.)  PWP was retained by the DISH Special Committee to 
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issue a fairness opinion with respect to the potential $2.2 billion DISH/LBAC Bid in July 2013.  

In connection with its assignment, PWP performed an extensive valuation analysis of 

LightSquared’s assets and concluded that “the cumulative value . . . is estimated to be $4.4 

billion to $13.3 billion.”  (PWP Valuation at 39.)  This valuation range includes the stand-alone 

value of LightSquared’s spectrum and an estimate of the magnitude of the ways in which the 

LightSquared spectrum would enhance the value of DISH’s existing and planned businesses.  

e. Additional Valuation Issues 
 

In order to demonstrate the existence of an equity cushion, the Debtors point not only to 

the Moelis Valuation Report but also to (i) the Ergen Valuation, which yields an approximately 

23 percent “equity cushion” (not including value attributable to the Lower Downlink) and (ii) the 

PWP Valuation, which yields an approximately 15 percent equity cushion, both of which are 

higher than the 10 percent equity cushion which has been found to be sufficient by courts in this 

District.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. May 6, 2014 at 76:13-80:3.)  SPSO, not surprisingly, argues that 

these various equity cushion calculations should be given little credence because of the 

“technical issue” that was allegedly discovered after preparation of the Ergen and PWP 

Valuations and, as such, these valuations are no longer indicative of current value.  The Debtors 

contend that the Ergen and PWP Valuations, which are consistent with the Moelis Valuation, are 

illustrative and persuasive evidence of the value of LightSquared’s assets and that the purported 

“technical issue” is a red herring manufactured by SPSO that likely does not materially alter such 

valuations.  The Court is inclined to agree, but, other than as reflected in Appendix A hereto 

(filed under seal), this issue was not explored or fully developed during the evidentiary hearing.73 

                                                            
73  As a consequence of the Court’s overall ruling on valuation, there is no need to quantify the effect, if any, 
on the value of LightSquared’s spectrum assets due to the “technical issue.”   
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Based on all of the valuation evidence in the record, it is clear that LightSquared is 

indeed the owner of valuable spectrum  assets – unbuilt “beachfront property”74 that has yet to be 

put to its highest and best use.  But as long as the regulatory hurdles that exist remain unresolved, 

it is impossible to conclude, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the Debtors’ valuation and 

projections are sufficiently reliable to support – indubitably – the valuation on which SPSO’s 

treatment under the Plan is premised.  As the Court has found, the Moelis Valuation Report is 

premised on unsupportable assumptions about the timing of FCC approvals, and no party has the 

ability to predict when and if such approvals will be obtained.  Moreover, the fact that certain of 

the Plan Support Parties appear to be investing what the Debtors characterize as “hundreds of 

millions” of dollars junior to the SPSO Note does not persuade the Court otherwise.  As 

graphically demonstrated in SPSO’s Post-Confirmation Trial Brief, the Plan is in large part a 

sophisticated shell game that moves debt and cash up and down the capital structure in ways that 

are less than obvious but nonetheless real.75  A substantial amount of the purportedly junior 

investment by Melody is being offset by substantial fees paid to Melody by Harbinger in 

connection with the defunct Harbinger Plan.  Moreover, certain of the Plan Support Parties who 

are holders of Existing LP Preferred Equity Interests, including Fortress, would receive some 

$223 million in cash and additional Preferred PIK Interests under the Plan.  As the January 2014 

correspondence among the Plan Support Parties makes very clear, the Plan was constructed to 

bootstrap these preferred interests into the second lien position ahead of Mr. Ergen.  When Mr. 

McKnight balked at being third to Mr. Ergen’s second, Mr. Falcone simply moved him up 

“ahead of Charlie.”  (See SPX069.)  Breathtakingly simple – but entirely unsupportable.   

                                                            
74  Jan. 16, 2014 Hr’g Tr. (Falcone) 15:17-16:1.  Mr. Falcone’s January 16, 2014 testimony was given in the 
Adversary Proceeding trial. 
75  Post Confirmation Trial Brief of SP Special Opportunities, LLC and Objection to Confirmation of Debtors’ 
Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1517], Attachment B. 
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Because the Debtors’ asset valuation does not support the valuation on which the Plan 

and the treatment of the SPSO Claim are premised, the Court cannot conclude that, under the 

Plan, SPSO will realize the indubitable equivalent of its existing Prepetition LP Facility Claim 

such that the Plan is fair and equitable with respect to Class 7B.76  Even if the Court were to find 

that the valuation that undergirds the Plan is sufficient to protect SPSO’s principal, however, the 

Court determines that the SPSO Note would still not constitute the indubitable equivalent of the 

SPSO Claim because of other features of the SPSO Note, including the alteration of the type of 

interest received under the SPSO Note as compared to the Prepetition LP Facility (PIK versus 

cash), the longer maturity of the SPSO Note as compared to the Prepetition LP Facility (seven 

years versus four years), and the fact that the note, instead of providing SPSO with a first lien, 

provides for far riskier third lien treatment subordinated behind at least $2.2 billion of senior 

debt. 

 The Plan Unfairly Discriminates Against Class 7B 2.
 

Contrary to the requirement of section 1129(b)(1) of the Code, the Plan discriminates 

unfairly against Class 7B.  While the “currency” with which the Prepetition LP Facility SPSO 

Claim is paid (i.e., the SPSO Note) does not have to be exactly the same as that provided to the 

Prepetition LP Facility Non-SPSO Claims, there must nonetheless be a determination that the 

treatment afforded SPSO does not discriminate unfairly against SPSO.  The purpose of the 

requirement is to ensure that a dissenting class will receive relative value equal to the value given 

to all other similarly situated classes.  In re Johns-Manville Corp., 68 B.R. 618, 636 (Bankr. 

S.D.N.Y. 1987); see also In re Sea Trail Corp., No. 11-07370-8, 2012 WL 5247175, at *9 

                                                            
76  The Court does not reach the second prong of the indubitable equivalent analysis – appropriateness of the 
interest rate of the note – and makes no findings with respect to the appropriateness of the proposed rate of interest 
of the SPSO Note, which is LIBOR (with a floor of 1.00%) plus 12.00%.  (Plan at § I.A.300).  
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(Bankr. E.D.N.C. Oct. 23, 2012) (holding that a chapter 11 plan providing one class of unsecured 

creditors with proceeds of asset sales and avoidance actions and another class of unsecured 

creditors with title to a sewer facility and assignment of a sewer service agreement was not 

unfairly discriminatory); In re Hawaiian Telcom Commc’ns, Inc., 430 B.R. 564, 605 (Bankr. D. 

Haw. 2009) (plan that awards cash to general unsecured creditors and warrants to unsecured 

senior noteholders does not unfairly discriminate; section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code does 

not preclude a plan’s disparate treatment of classes of same-priority claims, it prohibits only 

unfair discrimination); In re Greate Bay Hotel & Casino, Inc., 251 B.R. 213, 222-23, 231-32 

(Bankr. D. N.J. 2000) (chapter 11 plan providing undersecured noteholders with new notes and 

new common stock on account of their deficiency claims but other unsecured creditors with cash 

was not unfairly discriminatory because the debtors’ value was determined to be sufficient to 

ensure payment).    

To determine whether a plan discriminates unfairly, courts consider whether (i) there is a 

reasonable basis for discriminating, (ii) the debtor cannot consummate the plan without the 

discrimination, (iii) the discrimination is proposed in good faith, and (iv) the degree of 

discrimination is in direct proportion to its rationale.  In re WorldCom, Inc., 2003 Bankr. LEXIS 

1401, *174-175 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. Oct. 31, 2003) (citations omitted).  The Debtors argue that 

each of these elements has been satisfied, because (a) SPSO impermissibly acquired LP Debt 

intending to facilitate the acquisition of LightSquared’s assets by DISH, a competitor, thus 

providing a rational basis for the treatment, (b) the treatment of the SPSO Claim is necessary 

because the Plan represents the “best and only path for LightSquared to emerge,” (c) the Plan has 

been proposed in good faith, and (d) there is nothing “unfair” about the fact that the Plan satisfies 
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the SPSO Claim in full.77  SPSO vehemently disputes such assertions, arguing that the disparate 

treatment of SPSO is not supported by any reasonable basis, and, far from providing payment in 

full, the SPSO Note “is at best, a highly distressed debt instrument and, at worst, is entirely 

worthless.”78   

At a minimum, the treatment proposed in the Plan clearly does not pass muster under 

prongs (i) and (iv) of the WorldCom test, and likely falls short on the “good faith” prong as well.  

Simply put, it is difficult to imagine discrimination that could be much more unfair than that 

contemplated by the Plan: close to full cash payment on confirmation (not the Effective Date) for 

Class 7A versus an equity-like deeply subordinated seven year third-lien PIK interest note for 

Class 7B – treatment that, even if possibly yielding payment of the value of the SPSO Claim 

seven years down the road, for all intents and purposes puts SPSO at the mercy of the rest of the 

proposed post-confirmation capital structure, including the equityholders below it.  (See, e.g., 

Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 31, 2014 (Falcone) at 103:9-25 (testifying regarding $150 million call option 

of Harbinger that would be part of the second lien and above SPSO); Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 

2014 (Hootnick) at 68:7-25 (describing LightSquared’s future ability pursuant to the Plan to raise 

another $500 million which would come in ahead of the second lien debt and the SPSO Note).) 

While some discrimination in this case may be necessary to address the non-

creditor/competitor interests of SPSO, see Section I.A., supra, the Plan’s treatment of Class 7B is 

not designed to achieve that goal.  The legitimate business reasons for separately classifying the 

SPSO Claim hardly entitle the Debtors to discriminate against SPSO in ways that far exceed 

                                                            
77  LightSquared’s Reply in Support of Its Post-Trial Memorandum of Law in Further Support of (I) 
Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code, (II) Motion To 
Designate Vote of SP Special Opportunities, LLC, and (III) Motion Seeking Approval of New DIP Facility [Docket 
No. 1525] at Ex. A, p. 21. 
78  Objection of SPSO to Confirmation of Debtors’ Third Amended Joint Plan Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the 
Bankruptcy Code [Docket No. 1408] at ¶ 72. 
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those necessary to address the legitimate concerns attendant to SPSO’s competitor status and 

connections to DISH, e.g., through appropriate covenants and other non-economic protective 

measures.  Moreover, the fact that, as Mr. Smith testified, SPSO is getting a “promissory note” 

because “there’s not enough cash for everybody to receive cash” does not provide a legitimate 

basis for the Plan’s discriminatory treatment of Class 7B. (Conf. Hr’g Tr., Mar 20, 2014 (Smith) 

at 26:18 -27:14.)  Nor is it a justification for such discrimination to point to the fact that, as some 

have observed, the Ad Hoc Secured Group “requires” early payment in full in cash.  (See, e.g., 

Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 24, 2014 (Hootnick) at 45:4-7 (“And [the plan] satisfies the requirement of 

certain constituents, particularly the non-SPSO lenders who have been promised an early pay-out 

by the LBAC approach [and] who have required throughout that they be paid off quickly”); 

Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 27, 2014 (Zelin) at 69:15 (“I think our clients want to be paid in full in 

cash”).)  There are many creative ways to attempt to address the limited availability of cash,79 

but unfair discrimination is not one of them. Thus, separate and apart from its failure to satisfy 

the fair and equitable requirement of section 1129(b)(2)(b), the Plan fails to pass muster on 

unfair discrimination grounds as well and, thus, cannot be confirmed. 

D. The Claim of SPSO Shall Be Subordinated to the Extent of Harm Caused to 
Innocent Creditors 
 

As set forth in detail in the Adversary Proceeding Decision, the Court has concluded that 

SPSO has engaged in inequitable conduct in connection with its acquisition of its now nearly $1 

billion LP Debt claim.  Although the Confirmation Hearing did not encompass a re-trial of those 

issues that were presented and have now been adjudicated in connection with Adversary 

                                                            
79  See, e.g., In re Central European Distribution Corporation, et al., Case No. 13-10738 (CSS) (Bankr. D. Del. 
March 13, 2013), Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (I) Approving (A) The Disclosure Statement, (B) The 
Prepetition Solicitation Procedures, and (C) Forms of Ballots, and (II) Confirming the Second Amended and 
Restated Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Pan of Reorganization of Central European Distribution Corporation, et al., 
dated March 13, 2013 [Docket No. 166] (confirming plan employing a reverse Dutch auction procedure in which 
noteholders could elect to bid for cash treatment). 
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Proceeding, there are additional allegations of inequitable conduct that were raised in connection 

with confirmation.  In essence, the Ad Hoc Secured Group maintains that they were the victims 

of an elaborate “bait and switch” strategy perpetrated by Mr. Ergen through SPSO, LBAC, and 

DISH.  The strategy was allegedly hatched in a presentation prepared by Mr. Ergen’s counsel in 

late April 2013 and presented by Mr. Ergen to the DISH Board in May 2013, which stated, 

among other things, that Mr. Ergen wanted to “see [the] results of [the] marketing process and, if 

[the] process is unsuccessful, revert with [a] different bid later.”  (See Adv. Pro. Ex. PX0867; 

Adversary Proceeding Decision FOF ¶¶ 131-32.)  There, says the Ad Hoc Secured Group, it is 

made crystal clear that the Ergen-led strategy was to make a bid, wait and see if anyone else is 

interested in the LightSquared assets at that price, and if not, pull the bid and come back later 

with a lower bid.  “Had they only known,” say the members of the Ad Hoc Secured Group, they 

would never have gone down that path.  But now, pointing again and again to the DBSD and 

Terrestar “playbooks” as evidence of Mr. Ergen’s modus operandi for acquiring distressed 

assets, the Ad Hoc Secured Group complains that it was deceived into signing up for a deal that 

Mr. Ergen never intended to close.80  The fly now regrets having accepted the invitation of the 

spider to enter its parlour.       

              Not surprisingly, there is no documentary evidence reflecting the alleged “bait and 

switch” strategy.  Mr. Ergen’s May 2, 2013 DISH Board presentation,81 on which the Ad Hoc 

Secured Group principally relies, cannot be fairly read as the Ad Hoc Secured Group suggests it 

should be read.  The DISH Board minutes in the December 2013 timeframe contain carefully 

constructed high level summaries of the status of the DISH/LBAC Bid and, not surprisingly, 

contain no hint of any such strategy.  Consistent with the allegations of the Ad Hoc Secured 

                                                            
80  See Corrected Post-Trial Confirmation Brief of the Ad Hoc Secured Group of LightSquared LP Lenders 
[Docket No. 1494] at 2-3, 32-33, 36-38. 
81  Adv. Pro. Ex. PX0867. 
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Group that the so-called “technical issue” was fabricated as a pretext for LBAC’s termination of 

its bid, there are, however, DISH internal documents that suggest that the so-called “technical 

issue” was not being approached as something to be resolved in order to keep the proposed 

transaction on track, but rather was being viewed as something DISH was hoping would turn out 

to be real.82  In addition to the unsettling content and tenor of some of the documents, Mr. 

Ergen’s testimony on this issue was quite evasive.  

Moreover, the words and behavior of Mr. Ergen in connection with the December 11 

auction are not exactly what one would expect to hear and see from a stalking horse bidder who 

had snagged assets that were worth, in DISH’s hands, billions of dollars of net incremental value.  

Why would Mr. Ergen fly to New York to attend the auction with a sizeable team of DISH 

personnel and the DISH Board on standby83 but on that very day have his counsel tell Mr. Zelin 

that she hoped another bidder would appear or it would be bad for the Ad Hoc Secured Group?84  

Why in December did the DISH Board waive its 48-hour meeting notice requirement85 until 

January 9, 2014 – the very day on which the DISH/LBAC Bid termination became effective?  

There are no good answers to these and many other questions about the conduct of LBAC and 

SPSO. 

                                                            
82  Evidence was presented at the Confirmation Hearing that DISH’s engineers have been told by different 
vendors, including Huawei and Avago, that the “technical issue” is not an impediment to use of LightSquared’s 
Uplinks.  One email from Huawei acknowledged Mr. Ergen’s intent to use the “technical issue” as a device to 
“lower” the acquisition price for LightSquared’s spectrum. (PX1026) (Huawei employee stating that “technically, 
we are optimistic to make L-band . . . work for DISH but understand it might involve more than technical for 
Charlie to make decision now, and wise to leave the door open and drive the price down in the future.”). 
83  Mr. Ergen flew to New York to attend the auction with a team of DISH personnel, including Stanton 
Dodge (DISH General Counsel), Tom Cullen (DISH Executive Vice President, Corporate Development), George 
Brokaw (DISH Independent Director), Carl Vogel (DISH Director), and at least two members of DISH’s technical 
team.  (See Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 81:16-83:7; 230:18-231:13.)  Mr. Ergen also had a quorum of 
DISH’s Board ready to be on standby during the auction.  ((Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 82:18-83:7.)   
84  See fn 52, supra. 
85  Before the auction, Mr. Ergen consulted with the DISH Board with respect to the auction and put the DISH 
board on notice to act immediately.  The Board granted a waiver of the typical forty-eight hour requirement for 
board meetings until January 9, 2014, which was the day that the trial in the Adversary Proceeding was scheduled to 
begin.  (Conf. Hr’g Tr. Mar. 26, 2014 (Ergen) at 256:25-257:6; 286:7-287:5; SPX028.)   
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Nonetheless, the fact remains that the LBAC transaction was tied to the achievement of 

certain milestones set forth in the PSA.86  And LBAC, as this Court has ruled, was free to 

terminate the PSA and then terminate its bid – for any reason – once any of those milestones was 

missed.87  The milestones were aggressive from the outset, and were soon missed.  Moreover, the 

Bid Procedures Order only required LBAC to remain in place as a back-up bidder until mid-

February 2014 only if another party had outbid it at the auction.88  That did not occur.   

Whether LBAC terminated its bid because it “believed” there was a technical issue (even 

though the record does not support a finding that there was or is such an issue), or because it 

wanted to make a lower conditional bid, or because Mr. Ergen decided to direct DISH and its 

capital elsewhere, or because of negative implications for DISH in connection with the Nevada 

shareholder litigation, remains unclear.  What is in undisputable, however, is that the actions of 

Mr. Ergen in this regard defy logical explanation.  Mr. Ergen was particularly evasive when 

asked at the Confirmation Hearing about his reasons for coming to the December 11 auction 

fully prepared to proceed, and then terminating his bid shortly thereafter.89  Notwithstanding, the 

record of the Confirmation Hearing does not provide compelling additional support for the 

equitable subordination of the SPSO Claim, even assuming that the conduct of LBAC and DISH 

in terminating the DISH/LBAC Bid were attributable to SPSO.                 

  ADDITIONAL OBJECTIONS TO THE PLAN  II.

SPSO has raised numerous additional objections to confirmation of the Plan including: 

the failure to satisfy the “best interests of creditors” test under section 1129(a)(7) of the Code; 

                                                            
86  Section 6.1(f)(1) of the Plan Support Agreement permitted LBAC to terminate on three business days’ 
written notice in the event that one or more of the milestones set forth on Exhibit C to the Plan Support Agreement 
were not satisfied.  See Plan Support Agreement [Docket No. 765] at Ex. A, §6.1(f)(1). 
87  See Jan. 22, 2014 Hr’g Tr. [Docket No. 1278]. 
88  Id. at 109:23-110:9; Order (A) Establishing Bid Procedures, (B) Scheduling Date and Time for Auction, 
(C) Approving Assumption and Assignment Procedures, (D) Approving Form of Notice and (E) Granting Related 
Relief, dated October 1, 2013 [Docket No. 892]. 
89  Mar. 26, 2014 Conf. Hr’g Tr. (Ergen) at 93:25-102:6.    
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the failure of the Plan to contain projections that extend beyond the first quarter of 2016; the 

impermissibility of the Plan’s proposed Non-Debtor Releases; the effect of the Plan on SPSO’s 

inter-creditor rights under the Prepetition LP Credit Agreement; certain infirmities with the 

proposed New DIP Facility, including its alleged lack of adequate protection; the alleged 

artificial impairment of certain accepting classes; the Debtors’ failure to demonstrate that the 

Plan is feasible; and the Debtors’ alleged lack of good faith in soliciting acceptances of the Plan 

under section 1125(e).  While there may be merit to several of these additional objections, the 

Court need not address them now in light of the other bases on which the Court has denied 

confirmation of the Plan.   

    One final observation is in order.  This Court has previously ruled, in this case, that the 

Bankruptcy Code does not contemplate or permit equitable disallowance of a creditor’s claim.90  

Against the backdrop of allegations – and findings – that SPSO and Mr. Ergen indeed 

orchestrated an end-run around the restrictions on the Prepetition LP Credit Agreement, it is 

remarkable that the Debtors and those parties who support the Plan have constructed a plan of 

reorganization that is a gerrymandered end-run around their inability to disallow the SPSO 

Claim.  The latest such attempt is the invocation of “unjust enrichment” by the Ad Hoc Secured 

Group.  (See Corrected Post-Trial Confirmation Brief of the Ad Hoc Group of Secured Lenders 

[Docket 1494] at 23.)  And the trial record leaves no doubt that subordinating the SPSO Claim – 

with or without a finding of equitable subordination – was the sine qua non of the Harbinger-

driven plan process.  This was a plan that was orchestrated by Mr. Falcone and those he sought 

to “protect;” it provides the Ad Hoc Secured Group with the quick cash payout it had hoped to 

obtain from LBAC’s purchase of the LP assets; and it assumes a result in the Adversary 

                                                            
90  See Memorandum Decision Granting Motions to Dismiss Complaint [Adv. Docket No. 68], 504 B.R. 321, 
339 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2013). 
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Proceeding that is not to be.  As these cases approach their two-year anniversary in this Court, 

the time is long overdue for the parties to adjust their expectations, tone down their animosity, 

and work constructively to maximize the value of LightSquared’s valuable spectrum assets.    

CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, (i) confirmation of the Third Amended Joint Plan is 

denied; (ii) SPSO’s Motion to Strike McDowell and Hootnick is denied; (iii) the Debtors’ 

Motion to Strike Hyslop and Reynertson is granted as to Mr. Hyslop and denied as to Mr. 

Reynertson; (iv) the Vote Designation Motion is denied; (v) the New DIP Motion and its request 

for related relief, including the request to approve the Plan Support Party Break-up Fee, is 

denied, as moot; (vi) the Exhibit 2 Motion is denied; and (vii) the request for equitable 

subordination of the SPSO Claim is granted for the reasons set forth in the Adversary Proceeding 

Decision, with the extent of such subordination to be determined in further proceedings to be 

held in this Court.  Counsel to the Debtors shall be provided with an unredacted copy of 

Appendix A and shall distribute it to those parties entitled to receive it pursuant to applicable 

confidentiality agreements and sealing orders. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated: July 11, 2014 
New York, New York 
 
      /s/ Shelley C. Chapman 
      UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE 
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6 Liaison Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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8 ADAM D. HOLLANDER, ESQ. (admitted Pro hac vice) 
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9 & GROSSMANN LLP 
1285 Avenue of the Americas 

10 New York, New York 10019 
Telephone: 212/554-1400 

11 Lead Counsel.for Plaint!ffs 

12 DISTRICT COURT 

13 CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

14 

15 IN RE DISH NETWORK CORPORATION 
DERIVATIVE LITIGATION 

Case No: 
Dept. No.: 

Electronically Filed 
10/30/2014 08:37:58 AM 

' 

~j.~ 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

A-13-686775-B 
XI 

16 STATUS REPORT 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Plaintiff Jacksonville Police and Fire Pension Fund ("Plaintiff'), by and through its 

undersigned counsel, respectfully submits this Status Report in advance of the October 30, 2014 

teleconference with the Court, proposed by the Special Litigation Committee ("SLC"), regarding 

pending motions to dis1niss filed by the SLC, Charles W. Ergen and Cantey Ergen, the other 

Director Defendants, and the Officer Defendants scheduled for argument on Nove1nber 10, 2014. 

This afternoon, while meeting and conferring in advance of the October 30 

teleconference, counsel to the SLC indicated its intention to ask the Court to stay the litigation 

pending a forthcoming, second motion to dismiss by the SLC, to be filed by November 17, 2014. 

For the reasons that follow, the SLC's position is without merit: (i) the Court has already set a 

schedule and rejected a request to stay resolution of the motions to dismiss pending the SLC's 

report; (ii) any further briefing from the SLC would be improperly based on purported facts and 
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1 inferences that are not in the operative complaint; and (iii) based on persuasive recent precedent 

2 involving the same counsel then represents the SLC in this action, the SLC's prejudging of the 

3 merits of the claims at issue independently supports a finding that a stay is improper. The SLC 

4 has already moved to dismiss and filed its report. Further delay to accommodate a second 

5 motion to dismiss while all other motions to dismiss have been fully briefed and are scheduled 

6 for argument is unnecessary, inappropriate and prejudicial. Accordingly, Plaintiff respectfully 

7 asks the Court to maintain the current schedule, including the November 10, 2014 argument on 

8 the SLC's and other Defendants' pending motions to dismiss. 

9 First, the Court has already rejected the argument that the SLC's report would support 

1 O delaying argument on the n1otions to dismiss. During an August 6, 2014 teleconference, after 

11 Plaintiff filed the Second Amended Complaint, the Court denied Defendants' request to delay 

12 filing their motions to dismiss until after the SLC filed its report and instead set a briefing 

13 schedule, with briefing to be co'llpleted by October 2, 2014. The Court ordered the SLC \Vith 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

the benefit of the motion to dismiss briefing - to submit its report by October 24, 2014, and 

scheduled argument on Defendants' motions to dismiss for October 28, 2014. 1 The SLC report 

predictably indicates that the SLC has no intention of pursuing any claims and there is therefore 

no reason to prolong the schedule in this matter further. 

Second, the SLC's counsel represented today that its second motion to dis1niss will be on 

standing grounds only, and will not address the merits of the claims. This issue is of course 

already addressed in the SLC's pending motion to dismiss and does not depend on the SLC's 

report. Moreover, during the September 19, 2013 conference with this Court, counsel for the 

Director Defendants stated that the Zapata standard applies in this Court. Pursuant to this 

standard, the SLC's post-investigation motion to dismiss "is perhaps best considered as a hybrid 

summary judgment motion," and is only appropriate after discovery on the SLC's investigation 

and independence. Zapata Corp. v. Maldonado, 430 A.2d 779, 787-88 (Del. 1981 ). 

1 To accommodate the schedules of the Director Defendants' counsel, the Court has moved argument on the motions 
to dismiss to November 10, 2014. As a professional courtesy to the Director Defendants' counsel, Plaintiffs' counsel 
did not object to this short postponement. Any further delay would prejudice Plaintiff and the other shareholders of 
DISH who, if the case moves forward, are entitled to timely discovery. 

- 2 -
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1 Thus, if the Court sustains Plaintiffs claims, Plaintiff is entitled into discovery on the 

2 SLC before a further motion is filed at the conclusion of such discovery. If the Corut were to 

3 dismiss Plaintiffs claims under Rule 12(b)(5), there is no reason for further discovery and the 

4 issue would be moot. But to allow the SLC's prejudged report to serve as the basis for a 

5 dispositive motion without first addressing whether: (i) the Second Amended Complaint states 

6 claims for relief; and (ii) discovery into whether the SLC is independent and deserves any 

7 deference would deprive Plaintiff the opportunity to develop a factual record and litigate 

8 meritorious claims. Any suggestion that the SLC needs more time, or that the Court would 

9 benefit from additional repetitive argument from the SLC, is spurious at best. 

10 Third, in a well-reasoned opinion, the U.S. District Court for the District of Oregon 

11 recently rejected a motion to stay derivative litigation. In In re Galena Biopharma, Inc. 

12 Derivative Litigation, the court refused to stay litigation in order to allow an SLC represented by 

13 the same counsel as the SLC here (Young Conaway, Stargatt & Taylor, LLP) to conduct an 

14 investigation because, as here, the committee had prejudged the merits. Galena, Lead Case No. 

15 3:14-cv-382-SI (D. Or. Oct. 22, 2014) (attached as Ex. 1). The court concluded that because the 

16 comn1ittee and its counsel had prejudged the merits, a stay would be improper and that it would 

17 not defer to the con1mittee because "it is unlikely that any future decision by the SLC to 

18 terminate this litigation will withstand scrutiny under Zapata." Id. at 15. Here, having long ago 

19 concluded that the SLC would never pursue claims against Mr. Ergen or any other Defendant, 

20 the court should similarly not order a stay and not give the SLC any deference. I-laving already 

21 filed its 332-page report, the SLC should not be permitted any further opportunity to consu1ne 

22 the Court's, Plaintiffs, and DIS H's resources by filing a second motion to dismiss. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

- 3 -
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1 Plaintiff respectfully submits that there is no basis for a stay, argument on the 1notions to 

2 dismiss should proceed as scheduled on November 10, 2014, and, based on the detailed 

3 allegations set fo1ih in the Second Amended Complaint and the extensive briefing to date, the 

4 Court should allow Plaintiff to prosecute this action moving forward without giving deference to 

5 the SLC. 

6 Dated this 29th day of October, 2014. 

7 HOLLEY, DRIGGS, WALClI, 
PUZEY &THOMPSON 
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9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

BftiAN W. BOSCHEE, ESQ. (NBN 7612) 
WILLIAM N. MILLER, ESQ. (NBN 11658) 
400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Liaison Counsel for Plaintiff 

MARK LEBOVITCH, ESQ. 
New York Bar No. 3037272 
JEROEN VAN KWA WEGEN, ESQ. 
New York Bar No. 4228698 
ADAM D. HOLLANDER, ESQ. 
New York Bar No. 4498143 
BERNSTEIN LITOWITZ BEJ"{GER 
& GROSSMANN LLP 
1285 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10019 
Lead Counsel for Plaintiff 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF OREGON 

In Re GALENA BIOPHARMA, INC. 
DERIVATIVE LITIGATION, 

This Document Relates To: 
ALL ACTIONS 

Case No. 3:14-cv-382-SI LEAD 
3:14-cv-514-SI 
3: 14-cv-516-SI 

OPINION AND ORDER 

Christopher A. Slater and Michael J. Ross, SLATER ROSS, Sovereign Hotel, 4th Floor, 710 
S. W. Madison Street, Portland, OR 97205; Robert B. Weiser, Brett D. Stecker, Jeffrey J. 
Ciarlanto, THE WEISER LAW FIRM, P.C., 22 Cassatt Avenue, First Floor, Berwyn, PA 19312; 
Kathleen A. Herkenhoff, THE WEISER LAW FIRM, P.C., 12707 High Bluff Drive, Suite 200, 
San Diego, CA 92130; Michael J. Hynes and Ligaya Hernandez, HYNES KELLER & 
HERNADEZ, LLC, 1150 First Avenue, Suite 501, King of Prussia, PA 19406; William B. 
Federman and Sara E. Collier, FEDERMAN & SHERWOOD, 10205 N. Pennsylvania Avenue, 
Oklahoma City, OK 73120. Of Attorneys for Plaintiffs. 

Lois 0. Rosenbaum and Stephen H. Galloway, STOEL RIVES LLP, 900 S.W. Fifth Avenue, 
Suite 2600, Portland, OR 97204; Paul R. Bessette, Michael J. Biles, James P. Sullivan, KING & 
SPALDING LLP, 401 Congress Avenue, Suite 3200, Austin, TX 78701. Of Attorneys for 
Defendants. 

Michael H. Simon, District Judge. 

Before the Court is the motion of nominal defendant Galena Biopharma, Inc. ("Galena") 

to stay the pending consolidated derivative actions for 90 days to allow sufficient time for an 

investigation by a single-member special litigation committee ("SLC") formed by Galena's 

Board of Directors ("Board"). For the following reasons, Galena's motion to stay is denied. 
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STANDARDS 

"[F]ederal courts should apply state law governing the authority of independent directors 

to discontinue derivative suits to the extent such law is consistent with [federal law]." Burks v. 

Lasker, 441U.S.471, 486 (1979). Therefore, the propriety of Galena's requested stay is a 

question to be resolved under the law of Galena's state of incorporation, Delaware. 

Under Delaware law, a properly formed SLC is generally entitled to a stay of derivative 

litigation for a reasonable period of time necessary to complete its investigation. See Jn re Oracle 

Corp. Derivative Litig., 808 A.2d 1206, 1211 (Del. Ch. 2002); Kaplan v. Wyatt, 484 A. 2d 501, 

510 (Del. Ch. 1984); Abbey v. Computer Commc'ns Tech. Corp., 457 A.2d 368, 375-76 (Del. 

Ch. 1983). There is an exception, however, if it is clear from the stay application that any 

decision by the committee to terminate litigation will not withstand scrutiny. See Biondi v. 

Scrushy, 820 A.2d 1148, 1165 (Del. Ch. 2003) (denying an SLC's motion to stay because the 

SLC would not meet the independence requirement of Zapata Corp. v. Maldonado, 430 A.2d 

779 (Del. 1981)). Any such decision by the SLC would need withstand Zapata's requirement 

that the SLC be independent and act in good faith and that the investigation be reasonable and 

conducted objectively. See Zapata, 430 A.2d at 788 (holding that an SLC could move to dismiss 

a derivative action "[a]fter an objective and thorough investigation" and that the company would 

"have the burden of proving independence, good faith and a reasonable investigation, rather than 

[a court] presuming independence, good faith and reasonableness."); see also Booth Family Trust 

v. Jeffries, 640 F.3d 134, 138-39 (6th Cir. 2011) ("Under Zapata .... If a court finds that a 

corporation's special litigation committee was independent, conducted its investigation in good 

faith, had reasonable bases for its conclusion and the decision to dismiss the lawsuit is not 

inconsistent with business judgment, the court will dismiss the derivative action."). 
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BACKGROUND 

A. The Alleged Wrongdoing 

As alleged in the Verified Amended Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint 

("Amended Complaint"), Galena is a biotechnology company based in Portland, Oregon. The 

Company is focused on the development and commercialization of targeted oncology treatments 

that address major unmet medical needs to advance cancer care. Galena is pursuing the 

development of cancer therapeutics, including its main product candidate, Neu Vax™, for the 

treatment of breast cancer and other tumors. 

In July 2013, Galena entered into a contract with The DreamTeam Group or one of its 

subsidiaries, MissionIR (also known as "Mission Investor Relations") (collectively 

"DreamTeam"). Galena paid DreamTeam $50,000 for 240 days of advertising, branding, 

marketing, investor relations, and social media services. Plaintiffs allege that as part of these 

services DreamTeam was to place, or plant, misleading articles and comments on investor 

websites touting Galena. Plaintiffs further allege that Defendants hired Dream Team with the plan 

to wait until the share price of Galena was high enough and then sell their personally-held stock. 

After Galena hired DreamTeam, DreamTeam published a variety of articles. For 

example, on or about August 6, 2013, DreamTeam published, on the online investment advice 

website Seeking Alpha, an article entitled "Galena Biopharma Presents an Attractive Investment 

Opportunity." This article recommended investment in Galena stock, but failed to disclose any 

financial relationship between the author, who was identified only as "Wonderful Wizard," and 

either Galena or Dream Team. Another article placed by DreamTeam touting Galena in Seeking 

Alpha appeared on November 22, 2013, this time by an author identified as "Kingmaker," who 

also failed to disclose any relationship with either Galena or DreamTeam. These two articles 

about Galena in Seeking Alpha were purportedly written by two different people, each 
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recommending investment in Galena, but were allegedly written by the same author. 1 Overall, 

there were 26 articles about Galena published on Seeking Alpha between July 2013 and February 

2014, the time period in which DreamTeam was providing paid promotional services for Galena. 

In September 2013, shortly after the publication of the August 6th Dream Team article on 

Seeking Alpha, Galena conducted a $37.5 million public offering of common stock and warrants. 

On November 6, 2013, Galena issued a press release, entitled "Galena Biopharma Reports Third 

quarter 2013 Results." This press release quoted Galena's then-president and chief operating 

officer, Mark Ahn, as stating that Galena's "commercial success to date with Abstral® has been 

very encouraging and we are excited to report initial revenues ahead of schedule .... [We] 

expect continuing strength with the launch. We are also making steady progress in advancing our 

Neu Vax™ and FBP cancer irnmunotherapy pipeline." The press release also set forth the 

"financial highlights" for the third quarter 2013. That same day Galena filed a Form 10-Q with 

the SEC, signed by Ahn and vice president and chief financial officer Ryan Dunlap, which 

reiterated the financial results announced in the press release. Neither the press release nor the 

10-Q disclosed the stock promotion agreement with DreamTeam. 

On November 26, 2013, four days after the November 22nd Seeking Alpha article, 

Galena's Compensation Committee granted a collective total of 2. 7 5 million shares of stock 

options to Defendants director Rudolph Nisi; current president and chief executive officer and 

former chief operating officer and executive vice president, Mark W. Schwartz; Chairman of the 

Board Sanford Hillsberg; director Richard Chin; director Stephen Galliker; director William 

1 Ultimately, the website Seeking Alpha removed from its website the August 6, 2013 
article by "Wonderful Wizard" and the November 22, 2013 article by "Kingmaker." Seeking 
Alpha's Vice President of Content and Editor-in-Chief, Eli Hoffinan, explained that the removal 
of the articles was done because they violated Seeking Alpha's terms of use when the author 
failed to disclose to Seeking Alpha that "Kingmaker" and "Wonderful Wizard" were, in fact, the 
same person. 
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Ashton; Ahn; and Dunlap. These options issued in November carried an exercise price of $3.88 

per share. These grants were the only ones issued by the Compensation Committee at that time 

of year. The usual practice by the Compensation Committee was to grant stock options to 

Galena's officers and directors in January of a calendar year. The options granted in 

November 2013 vested on February 26, 2014, shortly before the eight-month DreamTeam 

promotional campaign was scheduled to end. 

By early January 2014, Galena's stock price had risen significantly. In October 2013 .it 

traded at between $2 and $3 per share. By January 2014, it more than doubled and traded at 

between $5 and $7 per share. 

As alleged in the Amended Complaint, at the beginning of 2014 Defendants had reason 

to believe that the stock promotion deal with Dream.Team could be discovered at any time, so 

most of them engaged in a significant number of high-volume, single-day sales of their 

personally-held Galena stock. In a period of less than one month, between January 17, 2014 and 

February 12, 2014 (a period of eighteen trading days), many Defendants sold more than a total 

of 2.9 million shares, collectively receiving proceeds of more than $16 million. Specifically, Ahn 

sold approximately 800,000 shares for proceeds of approximately $3.8 million; Schwartz, sold 

100,000 shares for proceeds of approximately $557,000; Hillsberg sold 450,000 shares for 

proceeds of approximately $2. 7 million; director Steven Kriegsman sold 600,000 shares for 

proceeds of approximately $3.8 million; Chin sold 262,500 shares for proceeds of approximately 

$1.2 million; Galliker sold 300,000 shares for proceeds of approximately $1.2 million; and Nisi 

sold 450,000 shares for proceeds of approximately $2. 7 million. 2 The Amended Complaint 

alleges that these were direct sales and were not pursuant to any pre-arranged Rule 1 Ob5-1 

2 The Amended Complaint does not specifically allege any improper sale of shares and 
related proceeds by Defendants Dunlap or Ashton. 
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trading plan and that none of the selling Defendants had engaged in open market sales of Galena 

stock during the four years before January 2014. 

On February 12, 2014, the last day any of the Defendants sold their personally-held 

stock, Adam Feuerstein published an online article on TheStreet.com, titled "Galena Biopharma 

Pays for Stock-Touting Campaign While Insiders Cash Out Millions." In his article, 

Mr. Feuerstein alleged that Galena was engaging in a misleading brand-awareness campaign 

aimed at boosting its stock price. The article also reported that Galena had paid Dream Team to 

publish articles promoting the Company's stock without disclosing who paid for those articles. 

On this news, Galena's stock dropped $0.85 per share to close at $4.34 per share on February 12, 

2014, a one-day decline of 16 percent. 

Two days later, on February 14, 2014, Seeking Alpha published another article, titled "A 

Deeper Look at the Galena Biopharma Controversy," which noted that "the company's 

monstrous rise appeared to occur without a catalyst" and that "[l]ogic thus dictates that this 

meteoric rise was primarily the result of promotional efforts by Dream Team, and had little to do 

with a change in the underlying fundamentals of the company." That same day, Ahn issued a 

letter to Galena's shareholders to "set the record straight," admitting that the Company had paid 

DreamTeam to promote the Company's stock and that company insiders had divested shares in 

mid-January 2014 and denying all other allegations. Galena's stock dropped $0.63 per share to 

close at $3.73 per share on February 14, 2014, a one-day decline of 14 percent. Thus, during the 

one-month period between January 16, 2014 and February 14, 2014, Galena's share price fell by 

approximately 50 percent from its all-time high of $7.48 per share. 

On February 18, 2014, Mr. Feuerstein responded to Ahn's letter in an article, titled 

"Galena's CEO's Response to Stock Promotions Leaves Questions Unanswered." The article 
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highlighted what Mr. Feuerstein considered to be inconsistencies and unanswered questions. For 

example, Mr. Feuerstein questioned why, if there was nothing improper with Dream Team's 

services provided to Galena, did Dream Team, after its relationship with Galena became public, 

try to remove all evidence ofDreamTeam's services from the internet by deleting articles, blogs, 

comments, Twitter feeds, and the compensation disclosure noting the $50,000 payment made by 

Galena. Mr. Feuerstin also questioned Ahn's inconsistent statements about why he sold his 

Galena shares-explained on February 4, 2014 as to "diversify for my family" and explained 

after the Dream Team story broke that company insiders were prohibited from selling shares 

earlier because Galena was in negotiations to acquire Mills Pharmaceuticals. 

On March 13, 2014, financial analyst and author Richard Pearson published the results of 

his investigation into the relationship between Galena, CytRx Corp., and DreamTeam on Seeking 

Alpha in an expose, entitled "Behind the Scenes with Dream Team, CytRx and Galena." The 

article detailed Mr. Pearson's findings after going "undercover" as a writer for Dream Team 

assigned to promote Galena. Mr. Pearson's article stated that Defendants approved all articles 

written about Galena before the articles were published. Mr. Pearson opined that Galena's 

"[m]anagement will have a very difficult time convincing investors that 'we didn't know"' and 

that "it seems no coincidence that there appears to have been great urgency to get these articles 

in almost exact proximity to sales/issuances of stock by insiders and the companies at both 

Galena and CytRx." Mr. Pearson concluded that "[t]he promotional articles and the paid 

retention of the Dream Team Group were coordinated with the release of news and data from the 

companies such that they coincided with the share prices of both stocks rising dramatically." 

On March 17, 2014, two trading-days after the publication of the Pearson expose, Galena 

announced that it was under investigation by the SEC, stating in its 10-K regulatory filing: "In 
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February 2014, we learned that the SEC is investigating certain matters relating to our company 

and an outside investor-relations firm that we retained in 2013. We have been in contact with the 

SEC staff through our counsel and are cooperating with the investigation." Upon disclosure of 

the SEC investigation, Galena's common stock share price dropped to $2.68, representing a 16.5 

percent loss in market capitalization in a single day. 

On August 21, 2014, Galena issued a press release stating that Ahn "resigned as the 

President and CEO and as a director of the company to pursue other long held personal and 

professional goals." The same day TheStreet.com reported, based on the account of"a source 

close to the company," that Ahn had been "fired" by the Board at a "special meeting" held on 

August 18, 2014. 

B. Galena's Appointment of the Special Committee 

On February 17, 2014, three days after Ahn's letter to shareholders discussing the 

allegations of wrongdoing and before any lawsuits had been filed, Galena's Board formed a 

Special Committee of the Board of Directors ("Special Committee"), consisting of Defendants 

Kriegsman, Galliker, Ashton, and Hillsberg to investigate the allegations of wrongdoing being 

reported in the press. On or about February 27, 2014, the first lawsuit was filed against Galena: a 

shareholder derivative action filed in the Circuit Court of the State of Oregon for the County of 

Multnomah. On March 5, 2014, a securities class action was filed in this Court, and on March 7, 

2014, the first lawsuit in this consolidated derivative action was filed. Additional securities class 

action lawsuits were filed in this Court on March 10, 2014 and March 12, 2014. On March 14, 

2014, Irving Einhorn joined the Board of Directors of Galena. At approximately the same time 

that Einhorn joined the Board, the Special Committee was reconstituted to include only two 

members: Einhorn and Ashton (who had not sold any shares during the relevant period). 
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Additional lawsuits in this consolidated derivative action were filed on March 31, 2014, 

and one additional securities class action lawsuit was filed in this Court on April 4, 2014. The 

Special Committee investigated the allegations contained in the press reports and the allegations 

of the derivative and class action complaints filed in this Court and the Multnomah County 

Circuit Court.3 

The Special Committee consisting of Einhorn and Ashton investigated for approximately 

four months. The investigation included interviewing numerous employees, officers, and 

directors of Galena and reviewing more than 140,000 pages of documents. On July 15, 2014, the 

Special Committee of Einhorn and Ashton issued their report to Galena's Board. 4 The report 

contained the following findings of fact by the Special Committee, as relevant to this case: 

(1) they found no evidence that Galena was aware that DreamTeam paid persons to write online 

articles or send emails favorable to Galena or its products; (2) they found no evidence that 

Galena was aware that persons affiliated with DreamTeam used multiple aliases when writing 

about Galena; (3) they found no evidence that Galena hired Dream Team with the specific intent 

to increase the price of Galena's stock; ( 4) they found no evidence that articles allegedly written 

at the direction of Dream Team contained false or misleading statements of material fact; (5) they 

3 In May and June of2014, additional derivative actions were filed in the Delaware Court 
of Chancery. The Special Committee did not specifically investigate the allegations of the 
Delaware complaints, although many of the underlying facts are the same as alleged in the 
Oregon actions. 

4 It appears that the report by the Special Committee was not made public until 
September 25, 2014, when Galena posted a copy of the report on its public website and issued a 
press release regarding the report. See http://galenabiopharma.com/special-committee-report/ 
(last visited on October 19, 2014). A complete copy of the report, including appendices but 
excluding exhibits, is attached as an Appendix to this Opinion and Order. Although Galena had 
filed its second quarter 2014 Form 10-Q on August 11, 2014, disclosing that the Special 
Committee had completed its investigation, that filing failed to disclose the Special Committee's 
conclusions or the existence of the July 15, 2014 report. The Form 10-Q did, however, disclose 
that Einhorn had been appointed as a single-member SLC. 
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found no substantial evidence that the articles allegedly written at the direction of Dream Team 

had a material effect on the price of Galena's stock; ( 6) they found no evidence that, with the 

exception of Ahn, Galena insiders had knowledge ofDreamTeam's activities before trading 

Galena's stock; (7) they found no evidence that Galena's officers and directors had material 

nonpublic information before trading in Galena's stock; and (8) they found no evidence that the 

trades by officers and directors in the first quarter of 2014 violated any company policy. Based 

on these findings of facts, the Special Committee of Einhorn and Ashton concluded that there is 

no credible basis for finding that Galena or its officers and directors violated applicable law or 

that the officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties as alleged in the Oregon derivative 

and class action complaints. The Special Committee also recommended that Galena should not 

pursue claims against any person or entity as a result of the findings of the investigation. 

C. Galena's Appointment of the Special Litigation Committee 

On July 21, 2014, six days after the Special Committee of Einhorn and Ashton issued the 

report concluding that Galena and its officers and directors did not violate any law or breach any 

applicable fiduciary duties and that the company should not pursue any litigation, Galena's 

Board disbanded the Special Committee. The Board then appointed a new, "fully empowered" 

single-member SLC consisting only of Einhorn. This single-member SLC was authorized by the 

Board to: (1) investigate and evaluate the allegations and issues raised in the lawsuits filed in 

both Oregon and Delaware; (2) prepare reports, arrive at decisions, and take other actions in 

connection with these lawsuits as the SLC deems appropriate and in the best interests of Galena 

and its stockholders, in accordance with Delaware law; and (3) engage accountants and advisors, 

including independent legal counsel, that the SLC deems necessary or desirable in order to assist 

it in the discharge of its responsibilities. 
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In August 2014, the SLC retained the law firm of Young, Conaway, Stargatt & Taylor, 

LLP to act as its counsel. The SLC, with the assistance of its counsel, has begun to investigate 

the allegations contained in the various lawsuits. 

D. Additional Procedural History 

On August 6, 2013, Galena's Board amended Galena's bylaws through unanimous 

written consent of the Board, adding a forum selection clause. On April 18, 2014, Galena filed a 

motion to dismiss this consolidated derivative action, asserting that the forum selection clause 

adopted by the Board was valid and enforceable and required dismissal of the action before this 

Court. After this motion was fully briefed, but six days before oral argument, the Court asked the 

parties to "address the process and timing by which Galena shareholders can amend or repeal a 

bylaw amendment and the date of the Galena annual meeting." Galena then withdrew its motion 

to dismiss. Under Delaware law a board is prohibited from unilaterally amending a corporation's 

bylaws unless the company's Certificate of Incorporation specifically allows such an 

amendment. As Plaintiffs have now explained, in Galena's Certificate of Incorporation there is 

no such authority for the Board unilaterally to amend Galena's bylaws; instead, the Certificate 

requires a shareholder vote with not less than 75 percent voting to approve any proposed 

amendment to the bylaws. 

DISCUSSION 

Galena moves to stay this action so that the single-member SLC consisting of 

Mr. Einhorn can conduct and conclude its investigation. Delaware law has a strong presumption 

that derivative litigation should be stayed pending an SLC investigation. See, e.g., Biondi, 820 

A.2d at 1163 (noting that "the general rule under Delaware law is that a stay must be granted 

when a special litigation committee is formed to consider whether derivative actions should be 

prosecuted"); In re Oracle, 808 A.2d at 1211 ("[T]his court has acknowledged its duty to stay 
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derivative actions at the instance of a special litigation committee, 'pending the investigation and 

report of the Committee .... "') (citations omitted); Kaplan, 484 A.2d at 510 ("It is a foregone 

conclusion that such a stay must be granted. Otherwise, the entire rationale of Zapata, i.e., the 

inherent right of the board of directors to control and look to the well-being of the corporation in 

the first instance, collapses."). As explained by the Delaware Chancery Court: 

If Zapata is to be meaningful, then it would seem that such an 
independent committee, once appointed, should be afforded a 
reasonable time to carry out its function. It would likewise seem 
reasonable to hold normal discovery and other matters in abeyance 
during this interval. If a derivative plaintiff were to be permitted to 
depose corporate officers and directors and to demand the 
production of corporate documents, etc. at the same time that a 
duly authorized litigation committee was investigating whether or 
not it would be in the best interests of the corporation to permit the 
suit to go forward, the very justification for the creating of the 
litigation committee in the first place might well be subverted. 
Likewise, in effect, it would likely amount to simultaneous 
discovery of the same persons and materials by two separate 
sources, both allegedly acting on behalf of the corporation. 

Abbey, 457 A.2d at 375. 

Although granting a motion to stay a derivative action pending an SLC investigation is 

the general rule, there are limited exceptions to that rule. The Delaware Chancery Court has 

discussed at length the essentially discretionary nature of a trial court's decision to stay an action, 

and noted that Delaware courts have strayed from that principle in articulating a seemingly firm 

rule favoring stays. Carlton, Invs. v. TLC Beatrice Int'/ Holdings, Inc., 1996 WL 33167168, 

at *8 (Del. Ch. June 6, 1996); see also Biondi, 820 A.2d at 1165 n.42 (noting that Carlton 

demonstrated that there are exceptions to the general rule favoring stays). The court in Carlton 

noted that the decision whether to grant a stay involves balancing the equities and denied the 

motion to stay because the equities favored continuing the litigation in light of the length of time 
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the litigation had been pending, the discovery and motions practice that had occurred, and the 

resources expended litigating the case. Carlton, 1996 WL 33167168, at *9-10. 

The Delaware Chancery Court also denied a motion to stay pending an SLC investigation 

where it appeared at the time of the application for stay that any later conclusion by the SLC that 

a lawsuit would not be in the company's best interest would not withstand judicial review. 

Biondi, 820 A.2d at 1165. In Biondi, the court found that because the chairman of the SLC 

previously had publicly commented that the findings of an investigation by a law firm that had 

been retained by the company (and was not affiliated with the SLC) "puts to rest any question" 

of wrongdoing by one of the company insiders that the SLC was charged with investigating, any 

future decision by the SLC would not withstand scrutiny because "there will always be a 

reasonable doubt that its investigation was designed to paper a decision that had already been 

made." Id. at 1166 ("How can the court and the company's stockholders reasonably repose 

confidence in an SLC whose Chairman has publicly and prematurely issued statements 

exculpating one of the key company insiders whose conduct is supposed to be impartially 

investigated by the SLC? The answer is that they cannot."); see also London v. Tyrrell, 2010 WL 

877528, at *16 (Del. Ch. Mar. 11, 2010) ("In sum, the independence inquiry under Zapata is 

critically important if the SLC process is to remain a legitimate mechanism in our corporate law. 

SLC members should be selected with the utmost care to ensure that they can, in both fact and 

appearance, carry out the extraordinary responsibility placed on them to determine the merits of 

the suit and the best interests of the corporation, acting as proxy for a disabled board." (footnote 

and citation omitted)). The court in Biondi denied the motion to stay, finding that it would be 

"wasteful to stay litigation" for an investigation that could announce support for litigating the 

derivative suits but could not issue "a contrary decision to terminate the litigation" because such 
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a decision "must necessarily be rejected because the SLC cannot demonstrate its independence." 

Biondi, 820 A.2d at 1166. 

Galena argues in its reply brief that the "unique circumstances" of Biondi are not present 

in this case. Galena fails to mention, however, the fact that the earlier two-member Special 

Committee, of which Einhorn was one of only two members, issued a report exonerating the 

company insiders from any wrongdoing. 5 The Court disagrees with Galena's argument that the 

"unique circumstances" of Biondi are not present in this case. 

In Biondi the SLC consisted of more than one person, while here there is only a single 

member, Einhorn. In Biondi, the court was concerned about one of the SLC members who, 

before the SLC completed its investigation, made a public statement that an investigation by a 

separate law firm "puts to rest" the allegations of wrongdoing by the company insider. Here, the 

sole member of the SLC, Einhorn, did not merely comment on an outside investigation, but 

conducted an investigation as part of the two-person Special Committee and issued a report 

finding that the company insiders did not engage in the wrongdoing as alleged in this case. This 

report recommended that the company not pursue any litigation. Six days after issuing this 

5 Additionally, in support of its motion to stay, Galena filed the affidavit of Irving 
M. Einhorn. In his affidavit, Einhorn explains that in February 2014 Galena's Board created a 
Special Committee off our directors to investigate the allegations of wrongdoing and report back 
to the Board its findings and recommendations. After Einhorn joined the Board on March 14, 
2014, the Special Committee was "reconstituted" by the board to include only Einhorn and 
Board member William Ashton. Einhorn further explains in his affidavit that on July 21, 2014, 
"the Board determined to disband the special committee and to appoint in its place a fully 
empowered Special Litigation Committee (the 'SLC') of the Board, with me as its sole member." 
Mr. Einhorn in his affidavit, and Galena in its motion to stay, however, did not disclose to the 
Court that just six days before the Board disbanded the Special Committee consisting of Einhorn 
and Ashton, that same two-person Special Committee delivered to Galena's Board the Special 
Committee's report dated July 15, 2014, containing the findings and recommendations of 
Einhorn and Ashton described above. See Appendix. For the reasons explained in this Opinion 
and Order, the Court considers the existence of the July 15, 2014 report from Einhorn and 
Ashton, including its findings and recommendations, to be material to the Court's decision on the 
pending motion to stay. 
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report, Einhorn was appointed as the sole member of the SLC. Galena now asks the Court to 

delay three months so that Einhorn can conduct another investigation into the conduct alleged in 

this case. Einhorn has, however, already investigated the conduct alleged in this case and reached 

a conclusion regarding the very issue that he, as the sole member of the SLC, is now tasked to 

investigate. 

The Court finds that it is unlikely that any future decision by the SLC to terminate this 

litigation will withstand scrutiny under Zapata. As in Biondi, here the Court and Galena's 

stockholders cannot "reasonably repose confidence in an SLC" whose sole member has "publicly 

and prematurely issued statements exculpating" the alleged wrongdoers "whose conduct is 

supposed to be impartially investigated by the SLC[.]" Biondi, 820 A.2d at 1266. It would be 

difficult for Galena to meet its burden to prove that Einhorn, as the SLC, conducted an objective, 

reasonable, and independent investigation done in good faith, after having already formed 

judgment as part of the two-member Special Committee. See id.; see also Booth, 640 F.3d at 145 

(noting that "the mere appearance of the special litigation committee's lack of independence is 

enough to deny [the defendant's] motion based on the special litigation committee's 

recommendation and allow the derivative suit to proceed"); London, 2010 WL 877528, at *15 

("When SLC members are simply exposed to or become familiar with a derivative suit before the 

SLC is formed this may not be enough to create a material question of fact as to the SLC's 

independence. But if evidence suggests that the SLC members prejudged the merits of the suit 

based on that prior exposure or familiarity, and then conducted the investigation with the object 
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of putting together a report that demonstrates the suit has no merit, this will create a material 

question of fact as to the SLC's independence.").6 

Further, under Delaware law, "the sole member of a one-person special committee [must] 

meet unyielding standards of diligence and independence." Sutherland v. Sutherland, 2007 

WL 1954444, at *3 n.10 (Del. Ch. July 2, 2007). As the Delaware Chancery Court has warned, 

"[i]f a single member committee is to be used, the members should, like Caesar's wife, be above 

reproach." Lewis v. Fuqua, 502 A.2d 962, 967 (Del. Ch. 1985). Here, because Einhorn has 

already conducted an investigation, issued a report to the Board as part of the two-person Special 

Committee, and publicly announced his conclusion that the Galena insiders did not engage in 

any wrongdoing, Einhorn fails an "unyielding" evaluation of his independence and objectivity to 

proceed with the SLC investigation. Sutherland, 2007 WL 1954444, at *3 n.10. 

I I I 

6 Galena also cites to an opinion in the consolidated derivative actions against it pending 
in the Delaware Court of Chancery. That case involves many of the same facts alleged in the 
case before this Court. Galena notes that the Delaware Court of Chancery stayed that 
consolidated derivative action in support of Galena's argument before this Court that a stay is 
appropriate. Galena did not provide the Court with a copy of the Delaware Court of Chancery's 
order. The Court takes judicial notice of the Order and the related briefing filed before the 
Delaware Court of Chancery, Consolidated Case No. 9715-VCN. In the Delaware case, unlike in 
this Case, the stay was agreed upon and jointly submitted by the parties. The Delaware order 
states that "Plaintiffs, Galena, and the SLC ... agreed to resolve the motion to stay .... " 
Although the Court does not rely on the Delaware Chancery Court order or the stipulation of the 
parties in that case in resolving this pending motion, the Court notes that nothing filed with the 
Delaware Court of Chancery in connection with the motion to stay discloses the July 15, 2014 
report of the two-member Special Committee. If any party believes that the Court has not 
properly taken judicial notice of the documents filed before the Delaware Court of Chancery, 
that party has leave to seek reconsideration of this portion of the Court's Opinion and Order. See 
Fed. R. Evid. 201(e). 

PAGE 16- OPINION AND ORDER 
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CONCLUSION 

Galena's motion to stay (Dkt. 38) is DENIED. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this 22nd day of October, 2014. 

Isl Michael H. Simon 
Michael H. Simon 
United States District Judge 

PAGE 17 - OPINION AND ORDER 
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I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On February 12, 2014, Adam Feuerstein, staff writer for the website TbeStreet, published 

an. article reporting that the website Seeking Alpha bad removed two articles· touting Galena 

Biopharma, Inc. (the "Company" or ''Galena") from its website because the articles were written 

by the same person using different aliases. 1 Mr. Feuerstein IQ.ade a sintilar report a year earlier, 

wrjting th;:i.t Seeking Alpha removed five articles touting the Company from its website because. 

the articles were written by a single individual using three pseudonyms.2 Mr. Feuer$teiri, 

however, claimed that this time there was evidence linking the articles to an investor relations­

iirm the Company had .. retained known as the Dream Team Group ("DTG"'):' 

Mr. F~uerstein reported that DTG had disclosed that the Company had paid it $50,000 in 

July of 2013 for 240 days of "advertising, branding, marketing, investors, relations, and social 

media services" on its website.4 Based 6n a document. obtained by TheStreet titled .. Galena 

Biopharma Case Study: Invest.or Awareness Campaign," he concluded that DTG wrote several 

favorable articles about the Galena under the guise of individual investors.5 Mr. Feuerstein 

eniphasized that none of the articles disclosed a fin&nciai relationship between DTG and the 

Compaily.6 Iv1r. Feuerstein conceded,, however. that Seeking Alpha never determined if DTG 

paid the bloggers allegedly using multiple aliases. 7 He ultimately concluded that the articles. 

allegedly written at the direction of DTG mtist have been the cause for the dramatic fuctease in 

value of the. Galena's- stock over the previous eight months. 8 

Shortly thereafter, Richard Pearson. a frequent blogger, published an artU:le on Seeking 

Alpha claiming that he had been approached by DIG to write paid promotio.nal articles about 

i Ex. 2. Article titled "Galena Biopharma Pays For Stoek-Touting Campaign Wbiie Insiders Cash Out Miiiions" by 
Adam.Feuerstein dated FelirUary 12, 2014. 
2 Ex_ L Article titled "Seeking Alpha Author UJ>ed Multiple Aliases. T-O Tout Biotech. Stach" by Adam.Feuersrein 
.dated January 1.8, 2013 
3 Ex.;,.,4. Atticle tit.1ed 'XJaletra Biophw:ma Pays, For St.ock/l'outing C!UP:pa1gp While Insiders ¢ash.Oqt Miilions'~ by 
Adam Feuetstelrt dated February 12; ·4014. · · 
4 Id. 
5 Id 
'1d. 
7 Id. 
·s Id 
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two of its clients, including the Company.9 According to Mr. Pearson's account, Tom Meyer, his 

contact at bTG, offered to pay hlm $300 pera1ticle written about the Company.10 Mr. Pearson 

wrote that he soon discovered that Mr. Meyer, who claimed to write paid promotional articles 

about the Con1pany hin:LSelf, used a slew of aliases when writin~ about the Company. 11 These 

aliases included Christine Andrews, John Rivets, James Ratz, James Johnson, Ted M·eyer, 

Wonderful Wizard, Equity Options Guru, Kingmaker, and Expected Growth. 12 Mr: Pearson 

further wrote that, through Mr. Meyf:!r, he met John Myl~, another of DTG's alleged paid 

promotional bloggers. 13 

As his article read, in order tg investigate the extent of management's involvement in the 

"paid promotion scheine," Mr .. Pearson began submitting "dummy rutieles" regfifding Galena 

and another company to DTG.14 His pay1nents, he claimed, were cpnditioned on two 

prerequisites: the Company "signing off' and "editing" the· articles and his ability to keep the 

payments a secret 15 According to Mr. Pearson, he played al.Ong in his self-descdbed undercover 

role. and submitted at least two separate articles to DTG~ 16 One company, Mr. Pearson wrote, 

heavily edited his article while, in contrast, the article he submitted about Galena to DTG was 

allegedly cancelled by Galena before priblication.17 Mr. Pearson attributed the cancellation to 

the publication of the Feuerstein article and the subsequent publiG scrutiny that followed. 18 In . 

the end, Mr. Pearson concluded that the articles allegedly \\'ntten at the direetion of DTG, sue& 

as those written by Mr. Meyer and Mr. Mylant, bad an "enonnous effect'' on the companies' 

stock ptices. 19 :Since the publication of Mr. Pearson's article, he has come under criticisn1 for 

shorting the other company's stock before publishing his scathing article and fot .denying that he 

9 Ex. 3. Article titled "Behind The Scenes With Dream. Team, Cyt:Rx .And Ga.Jena!' by Richard Pearson dated March 
lJ,,2014. 
10 Id. · 
JI ld. 
12 /cl 
13 ld, 

'"r ti.. 
15 [J: 
16 ld. 
rr Ir/: 
ii ld 
19"[d, 
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previously published articles touting Galena 20 It has since been discovered that he touted the 

Con1pany in a January 27, 2014 article.21 
i 

The publication of the Feuerstein an<;l. Pearson articles, along with the public disclosure 

· that officers and directors of the Company had sold a large number of shares of the Company's 

stock just before the publications, led to a cascade of derivative and class actions tying the events 

to an alleged "pump and dump" scheme by insiders.22 In response to the. articles and complaints, 

the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") formed a Special Committee charged With 

detennining. the merits of the articles and complaints. The_ Special Committee thereafter retained 

Locke Lord LLP as counsel and began an inyestigation. 

This report men1orializes the findings of the Special Committee's investigation, which 

included the. interviews of numerous employees, officers, and directors and the review of OVt!t 

J40,000 pages of docun1ents. Although the Special Conunittee lacked subpoena power, we 

believe that we. obtained sufficient information to. make the following findings of fact; 

(I) We found no evidence that the Company was aware that DTG paid bloggers23 to ~ 

favorable articles. about the Company or its products~ 

(2) We found no evidence that the Copipany was aware that certain bloggers. used 

1nultiple aliases when writing about the Company; 

(3) We found na evidence that the Company hired DTG with the specific intent to 

increase the price of the Company's stock,. although DTG apparently used the Company's stock 

price as a measure of its effectiveness; 

(4) We found no evidence that articles allegedly written at the direction of PTO 

contained false or misleading statements of material fact; 

(5) We found no substantial evidence that the articles .allegedly written, at the direction of 

DTG had a material effect on the price of the Company;s stock; 

20 Ex.. 166, Article titled "'At financial. News Sites, 8t-0ck:Promoters .Make Inroads'" dated March 29, 2014; Bx;. 4. 
Artie le titled ''3 Oncology Bfotechs To· Watch~' by Richard Pearson ·dated January 27 ,. 20l4, · 
21 Iri. · 
iiZ E'JCS. 4J.·50. Class. action and deri;va.tive complaints .filed on various <lates .. 
23 The term '"bloggers" as mred in this report means. authors that wrote artides or email bl~ 011: non-D'fG affillate 
we;bsites without indicating tl:rat the communication was on.behalf ofDTG or thatthey were anemployee.ofDTG. 

3 
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(6) We found no evidence that, vvith the exception of Mark Ahn, insiders24 had 

knowledge of DTG's activities before trading it1 the Con1pany's stock; 

(7) We found no evidence fuat officers and directors had material nonpublic infonnation 

before trading in the Company's stock; and 

(8) We found no evidence that the trades by officers and directors fu the first quarter of 

2014 violated Company policy. 

Based on these :fi.ildings of fact, we conclude that there is no credible basis for finding 

that the Company or illsiders violated applicable law as alleged in the class and derivative . 

actions or that insiders breached their fiduciary duties to the Company under any jilrisdictional 

standard. Moreover, we do not reconunend that the Con1pany pursue claims against any person 

or entity as a i·esult of the fu1dings of this investigation. · 

During our investigation, we discovered that another of the Company's investor relations· 

firms, Lidingo Holdings LLC ("Lidingo"), might have engaged in improper conduct relative to 

the payment of bloggers for pro1notional articles written about the Company. As a result, the 

scope of our investigation expanded to include an analysis of whether the C01npahy's retention 

and management of Lidingo violated any law or Company policy. In connection with that 

analysis, We have niade the foJlowing findin.gs of fact 

(9) We found evidence that Lidingo paid bloggers to write promotional articles about the.· 

Company and that the Company was aware oftlus fact; 

(10) We found evidence that Lidingo intended and daimed to have raised the Company's 

stock price through its e:ffortS; 

( 11) We found that M1l!k Ahn granted ~ock options to Li dingo as part of its 

compensation fot its services without Board approval, which is contrary to Company policy~ 

(l2} We f01md_no evidence that articles allegedly written at the direction oftldingo had a , 

matetial effect oil the stock priee~ and 

24 The term. "insiders" means the. officers and directors who sold shares of Company stock in the first. quarter of 
2014. Namely. Sanfurd. Hillsberg, Steven Kriegsman, Stephen Gatliker, Mark: Ahn, Rudoplh N:isi. RiChard. Chin~ 
and Mark Schwartz. 

4 
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(13) We found no evidence that, with the exception of Mark Ahn, the selling directors 

had knowledge of Lidingo's activities before trading in the Company's stock. 

Based on these findings of fact, we conclude that it is possible that Lidingo violated 

Section 17(b) of the Securities Act of 1933. Section l 7(b) provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, by the use of any inea.ils or instruments of 

transportation or commuillcation in interstate commerce or by the use of the 

n1ails, to publish, give publicity to, or circulate ahy notice, circular, 

advertisement, newspaper, article, letter, investment service, or coinmunication 

w:hich, though not purporting to offer a security for sale, describes such security 

for a consideration received or to be received, directly or indirectly, from an 

issuer, un,derwriter, or dealer, without fully disclosing the receipt, whether past or 

prospective, of such consideration and the amount thereof. 

In 1998, the Director of the Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") Division of 

Enforcement explained that Section 17(b) inakes it unlawful for a person to publicize a security 

for payment unless the nature, amount, and source of the compensation is disclosed.25 The 

Director, however, stated that "[tJhere is nothing illegal about companies paying fees to touters. 

The law requires the touters to disclose ... The laws do not cover the companies themselves who 

n1ake payments."26 Accordingly, we believe that the Company bas limited, if any; exposure to 

liability under Section 17(b). 

Although. it was not our charge to determine whether insiders breached their fiduciary 

duties to the· Co1npany in: connection with their involvement; if any, in the teterition or 

nianagcineirt ofLidingo, we conclude that our findings of fact negate a finding that any officer or 

director breached their fiduciary duty to the Company in this regard with the possible exception 

of Mark Ahn. The grant of stock options by Mr. Ahn_ to Lidingo was unauthorize~ but even it 

this unauthorized act were to rise to the level of a br¢ach of :fiduciary duty, we concltide that the: 

25
· Ex. 161. Am~!¢ titled "SEC CnJ.~ks _bown On Internet $tock.Fra11cf' dated October 29, 1998; se.e a.is~ generally 

Ex .. 57. SEC Press Release·98-1 l7. 
2G /cf. 
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Company suffered no appreciable harm from the grant. Indeed, the Company received monies 

when Lidingo exercised certain of its options and Mr. Ahn made the grant of options in return for 

services he believed 1-vould benefit the Company, facts that milftate against a finding that he 

br~ached his fiduciary duty to the Company. Thus, while the Company should take remedial· 

measures 'to prevent a reoccurrence of a similar event, we do not tecomtnend pursing a claim 

against Mr. Abn. 

II. SCOPE AND METIJODOLOGY OF INVESTIGATION 

By its investigation, the Special Committee, with the assist,ance of Lo.eke Lord LLP, 

sought to detennine: (i) whether the Company violated any law or internal policy in connection 

vvith its rete.ntior1 or management of DTG or Li dingo; (ii) whether DTG or Lidingo paid bloggers 

to write· favorable articles about the Company, and, if so, whether the Company had knowledge 

of that fact; (iii) whether bloggers who wrote favorable articles about the Company used multiple 

aliases to pose as separate individuals, and, if so, •vhether the Company had knowledge of that 

fact; (iv) whether the Company retained DTG dr Lidingo in order to manipulate the J?rice of the 

Company's stock; and (v) whether the sales by officers and directors in the first quarter of 2014 

violated any law or Company policy. Throughout the investigation, the Company provided 

unfettered access and cooperation. 

A. Mandate From The Board 

In response to the allegations made in the Feuerstein and Pearson articles, the Board. 

voted ·unanimously to fmm a Special Committee charged with determining whether the 

Company violated any law or internal policy in copnection with its retentio.n and management 0f 

DTG or whether any Company insider traded on material non-public infoIID!ltion in the first 

quarter of2014.27 The: scope of the investigation expanded during its course to include a review 

of the Company's retention and management of Lidingo between 2012 and 2<Jl4. The Board 

.originally appointed William.Ashton, Steven Galliker, Sanford Hillsberg,. and Steven Kriegsman 

as memb~ts of the Special Commiftee.2~ The Board later.reconstituted the Special Corrum'l:tee to 

21 EX. 24. Minutes of the Boerddated February 17, 2014' . 
. l3 Jd:. 
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consist of Williru_n Ashton and Irving Einhoiu".29 The Special Cmumittee retained Michael F. 

Perlis and the lavv firm of Locke Lord LLP as counsel. 

B. Document lleview 

Locke Lord LLP reviewed approxlinately 140,000 pages of documents covering sixteen 

categories of documents. This review· included docmnents related to trades of the Company's 

stock by any director or officer in the, first quru.ier of 2014, Board and committee minutes, Board 

and committee agendas~ Board presentatioi1 materials, documents related to product progression, 

documents reflecting a change in the Board's composition, financial statements, analyst reports, 

insider trading policies, press releases, 1 Ob5- l plans, communications between the Cbmpany and 

the press, communications between the Co1npany and analysts, communications between the 

Company and the Food and Drug Administration C'FDA")y communications between the 

Company and DTG, and communications between the Company-and Lidingo. 

C. Witness Interviews 

The Company provided Locke Lord LLP with unillnited access to interview, any 

Company en1ployee, officer, or director. After a review of the doctiments, we determined th.at an 

interview of twelve Company employees, officers, and directors was appropriate.30 Those 

interviewed were: Mark Ahn, Chief Executive Officer and Director; Mark &:hwartz, Executive 

Vice President and Chief Operating Officer; Ryan Dunlap, Chief Financial ·Officer; Remy 

Be1narda, Vice President of Marketing and Comn1unications; John Burns, Senibt Manager of 

Finance; Angela DiPilato, Senior Accountant;· Madeline Hatton, Manager of Operations and 

Administration; Sanford Hillsberg, Chairman of the Boatd; Richard Chin, Director;, Steven 

Kriegsman, Director; Rudolph Nisi, Director; and Stephen Gailiker, Director. All of the _,, 

interviews were conducted by- two Locke Lord LLP attorneys· and a :member of the. Special 

Committee. 

As part of the investigation, we sought to interview the plaintiffs or coun.sel for plaintiffs: 

in the' derivative and class actions asserti~ allegations that the Company and its directors and 

29 Mr. Ashton and Mr. Ein.hom's biographies can befoupd on pp. 9"-10 ofthfs report. 
30 Mark Ahn ~nd •Ryan Dunlap were intervieweQ. twice by the Special Ccimm}ttei:. 
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officers acted improperly in cotmection with the Company's retention and management of DTG 
. ' 

and in their sales of Con1pany stock·in the .first quarter of 2014.31 Plaintiffs' counsel either did · 

not respo.nd., declined to be interviewed, -or proposed a quid pro qtio in exchange for an 

interview. With respect to the latter,. counsel for plaintiffs Partik Rathore, Eleanor Werbowsky 

and Jeffrey Klein stated that they would only agree to be interviewed by the Special Committee 

if the Special Co1nmittee agreed to be interviewed -by plaintiffs' counsel.32 The Special 
, 

Conunittee did not believe plaintiffs' couusel's request was appropriate and, therefore, did not 

agree to the proposed arrangement. 

We also atten1pted to interview analysts that. covered the Company during the relevant 

ti1ne period. Numerous analysts from varioUcs financial institutions,_ such as Roth Capital 

Partn('!rs, Maxim Group, Cantor Fitzgerald, and ML V & Co, l'epotted on tile Company's 

prospects and progression from 2012 to 2014. We attempted to determine what, if any. influence 

the articles written by bloggers on websites such as TheStreet, Seeking Alpha, or Wall St Cheat 

Sheet had on their reports. Ail or the analysts either declined to be interviewed or did not 

respond to. our request Their unwillingness to be interviewed was understandable; however, 

common sense dictates that they did not reiy on articles written by bloggers· to formulate their 

opinions, and we found no evidence to the contrary. 

We also attempted to interview two executives of DTG, Michael McCarthy, Managing 

Di.tector, and Jan1ie Spangler, Business De'Velopment. Counsel for DTG, Paul Huey-Bums of 

the law firm of Shulman Rogers, stated that Mr. McCarthy and Mt:. Spangler would not agree. _to 

be in.~iviewed, but that they would consider answering written q~stiol'.IS. On May 30, 2014; we 

submitted eight written questions to Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Spangler through counsel~ ineluclin,g 

whether it was true that DTG paid certain bloggets to write articles about the Cornpan..y; whether 

bloggers who wrote articles about the Con1pany used multiple aliases in order tQ pose as. multiple 

individuals; and whether the Corn:pany hired DTG to affect the Company• s srock: price; among 

11 Ex. 51. Letters from Locke Lord LLPto counsel for piaintiftS dated Aprit 24, 2014. 
:t.? Ex. 52. Letters :!Tom various counsel for plaintiffs on various. dates, 
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others.33 On June 12, 2014, Mr. Huey-Burns informed us that Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Spangier 

denied any wrongdoing, but that they could not answer the questions in less than six weeks.a4 

111Tee weeks later, we received a letter from Jacob Frenkel of Shulman Rodgers stating that since 

Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Spangler required additional time to provide responses, they dc;:cided to 

decline to respond rather than delay the completion of this report35 Given the nature of the 

questions we propounded, we found the series of commu:o.ications and requests for additiQnal 

time to be disingenuous. 

I~ is in1portant to note that, after thoughtful consic.ieration, we did not attempt to interview 

Mr. Feuerstein, Mr. Pearson, or representatives of Lidingo. We concluded that Mr. Feuerstein 

and Mr. Pearson almost certainly published the full extent of their knowledge as to these matters . 

in their articles. Moreover, we concluded that,. given the sensitive nature of the investigation, 

attempts to interview them could have led to an inappropriate disclosure of ou~ investigation;s 

progress. With respect to Lidingo, we determined that we had reviewed documents suffi.Gient to 

detemune if the Company acted improperly in its retention or managen1ent of Lidlngo. 

D. King & Spalding LLP;·s Role 

King & Spalding LLP is the Company's outside counsel in the class and derivative 

actions and the pending SEC investigation into related matters. In that role, attorneys at King·& 

Spalding LLP accompanied Company employees and certain directors durjng the interview 

process. King & Spalding LLP also assisted Locke Lord LLP in gathering docutnen1s and 

information. 

E. Key Members Of The Investigative Team 

William .L. Ashton is Chair of the Speciiil Committee and a. senior executive with: more 

than twenty-eight years of experience in· biotechnology and ·phatmaceutlcal leadership and 

management Most recently, at Amgen, fnc.,. he served a:s Vice President of Cbrporate and 

Gove~ertt Affairs and Vice President of Sales, and was directly responsibI~ fot pi::oduct 

33 Ex. 53. L.etter from Chr.illtopher Lee, to :Paul Huey:.Burns. dated May30, .2014 . 
·
34 'Ex. 54. Email from; Paul Huey-Bums to. Michael F. Perlfs dated J.t:me 12, 2014. 
~s. Eit. 68. Letter from.Jacob Frenkel fo! Michael F: Perlis dated July 8, 2014. 
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launches, as well as interaction with key government agencies including the Cente!S for 

Medicare and ·Medicaid Services. After retiring fi:om Amgen, Inc., Mr. Ashton joined th~ 

Univel'sity of the Sciences in Philadelphia where he currently ser'1es as Asoociate Provost and 

Senior Vice President of Strategic Business Development, Foundirig Dean, Mayes College of 

Ffealthcare Business and Policy, and Assistant Professor of pharmaceutical business. Mr. Ashton 

joined the Board in 2013; 

Irving M. Einhorn is a member. of the Special Committee and a fontLer Regional 

Administrator of the SEC~s Los Angeles office where he oversaw the enforcement of regulatory 

responsibilities in Arizona, Nevada,, Hawaii,, and California. Before becoming, Regional 

Adininistrator, Mr. Einhorn was an Assistant Chief Trial Attorney with the Division of 

Enfotcement's Trial Unit. Ivfr. Einhorn joined the Board as a Director in 2014. 

Michael F. Perlis is counsel to the Special Committee and a Partner at Locke Lord LLP.36 

Mr. Perlis is a fonner assistant director of the SEC's Division of Enforcement, where he 

investigat~d and prosecuted a wide range of cases including insider-trading matters, foreign 

payment cases, financial fraud cases, and cases relating to organized crime in legitimate 

business. During his tenure, Mr. Perlis reviewed over fifty internal investigations as part of the 

SEC' s VolUrttary Disclosure Ptogram. Since 1980, he has defended numerous class a~tion1>, 

derivative actions and SEC enforcement proceedings. In these-matters, he has represented 

directors, officers, cotporati.ons, accountants, and directors and officers liability and 

comprehensive general liability insurance carriers. He has also .repre~ented several special 

co1nrnittees of boards of directors of companies in cotlilection with inte:rnaJ investigations. 

36 Locke Lord LLP bas. never .represented the Company; the Board; er any committee of die Board, prior to this. 
matter. 
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III. lt~INGS OF FACT: TI-IE COMP ANY'S USE OF INVESTOR RELATIONS 

FIRMS 

The Cor'npany retained several investor/public relations firms between 2012 !illd 2014 to 

increase retail investor interest and public awareness of the Con1pany as a whole.37 This 

investigation focused on two of those firms: DIG and Lidingo. 

A. DTG 

~n the sun:up.er of 2013, Mark Ahn asked Remy Bernarda, who had recently joirted the 

Company on May l, 2013, to jnterview several investor relations firms that could potentially 

increase the Company's public exposure.38 Ms. Ben1arda intervie\ved three firms, including 

DTG, which specialized in social media.39 After interviewing the firms, Ms. Bernarda 

reco1nmended to Mr. Ahn that the Con1pany retai,n Tiberend Strategic Advisors ('°Tibetend"), an 

investor relations firrn specializing in life science companies.40 Ms .. Bernarda was familiar with 

Tiberend and appreciated that Tiberend treated bloggers on websites like Seeking Alpha and 

Motley Fool like traditional jouri:J.alists.41 Mr; Ahn accepted Ms. Bernarda's. recommendation; 

and the Con1pany retained the firm.42 

Conversely, Ms. Bernarda advised Mr. Ahn against retaining DIG for various reasons, 

including because DTG proposedtalcing over the Company's social media websites, including its 

Facebook, Linked.In, and Twitter accounts, which she believed might draw scrutiny from 

regulatory authorities.43 Notwithstandmg. this advice, Mr. Ahn decided to retain DTG on the 

Co1npany•s beha1£44 The Company executed two contracts with DTG'. ~e first on. July 23, 

37 The Company's investor base consists of two constitue.ncies: retail and institutional inv~ors, The market 
visibility uampaign targeted retail investors: in a highly competitive biotech market 
38 Int-etView of Ren1y Ben;iarda dated May 20, 2014. 
3tu . 

40 Jti; www. tiberei:ld.coni. 
41 Interview ofReiny Bernarda dated May 20i 2014; Ex. 72. Email from Remy .Bernarda t-0 Mar.k! Ahn dated July 
15, 20i3. 
4
i· JnterV:iew of Remy B'emarda.dated May 20, 2014. Ex, 72. Erhail rrom Ma.tit Ahn to Rt',lily Bem1U'da, ciilted.July 
J5,.2Qtl. . 
43

·· futervie:w of Retny Ben1ards, dated May. iQ, 2014~ ~- '72. Email :!tom Remy Bej:n:ardii, t9 Mark Ahn dated Juty 
I 5. :201). . 
<t;j Interview ofRemy Bemarcla dated May 20, 2014; Ex. IL .Dream ieam/MisstQri IR c:onttact signed by.M,$".k Ahn 
Ori, July., 23 i0l3. 
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2013 at a rate of $25;000 per quarter for a contract period of ninety days.45 The second on 

December 3~ 2013 at a rate of $25~000 per quarter for a contract-period-of one hundred and fifty 

days.46 These contractual payments· were disclosed by DTG on its website, although the 

disclosure has since been ren1oved.47 DTG informed Mr. Ahn that it bad been advi~ed by 

counsel that the disclosure of the payments was required Under Section l7(b) of the Securities 

Act of 1933.48 

Pursuant to the· contracts, DTG agreed to profile the Company on jts affiliate websites, 

which included MissionIR, Tiny Gerus, and Small Cap Relations, among others.49 At the time, 

DTG boasted a network of over two dozen affiliate websites. 50 DIG further agreed to leverage 

its online social network and to distribute articles to its. blog and message platforms. 51 There was. 

no specific written. agree1nent to connect the Company with l:Jloggr;rrs ·who wrote m:tiCles for 

publication on non-Dream Team affiliated websites.52 

The articles attributed to DTG we found generaily fell into two categories:. The first 

category was· articles written by DTG and published on its affiliate websites. These articles did 

not disclose that DTG had been compensated by the Company.53 There was, however~ a 

disclaimer link on the webpage that would connect to a compensation disclosure where a person 

could find the Company tisted.54 

The second category wa5 articles Written by bloggers for publication on lion-affiliate 

websites such as Seeking Alpha.. DTG, through Michael McCarthy and J~ie Spangler, would 

email Mark Ahn and/or. Remy Bernarda a draft of an article f-0r editing and approval fot 

45 E.'t:. 11. Dream '.feam!Mission IR con):ract sigtied by Mark.Ahn on J\lly, 232()13. 
46 Ex. 12~ Dream Team/MiSsfoa IR contract signed by Matk: Ahn on December, 3, 2Ul.J, · 
47 Ex. 2. Article titled "Galena Biopbmma Pays rorStocll-Toiltin~ Campaign Whil~ lnsiders Cash Out Milliol1$,..Jly 
Adam Feuerstein dated February 12, 2014·. 
48 Ex. 71. Email from Micliael :McCarthy ta Mark Attn dated February 11, 2014. 
·
49 Exs. 11 and 11. Dream Team/Mission IR c.orttracts signed by Mark Ahn on Jury, 13 201~ and Deceml5er 3, 2ot!~ 
respectively. 
50 Ex:. 14. Printout of Dr~ Team Fim:illy of Bu~jnesa. Bnir!ds webpag_e" . 
51 Eis. li and 12. Drean1 'l'eam{Mission IR. cont;acts sigtied by Mark Atin on.July.; :ii3 ~Qt~ an1lDecember 3, 201~. 
re~pectively; · 
15 Jtl. 
s.i Ex. ts. Articles pholished on, www. bt;tp:/;'plog.drei:\mteliJJlgr9up,;0om/ on Septembet I$, 11!1£3~ E?f..; l~, ~cl.es 
f11blished on_hdP,~/flnissionir.comlbJogf an. Septeinber 29>. W]3 ... ·· • • . ··· 

·See generalTy Ex. 13, l?ritimut of Dream Team.S~teinents illl.d Policies. 
. 12 
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pub1ication.55 The draft articles would not contain a by-line arid DTG would not specify which 

websites would be publishing the artides.56 At first, Ms.·Bernarda vvas surprised that DTG had 

requested that the Company review the drafts before. publication. 57 But in the endi Ms. Bemarda 

arid Mr. Ahn reviewed and edited some of the articles before publication. Based on our review, 

however, t-As. Bernarda and Mr. Ahn reviewed the articles only for factual and typographical 

errots.58 We found no edits to content, substance, or style. What was described in the Pearson 

auicle as .editing app~ars to have been nothing mote than proofreading. 

Because most, if not all, of the articles written by the bloggers identified in the Feuerstein 

and Pearson aiticles were taken down from the internet before our investiga.tion began, we we:re 

unable to determine whether the Company reviewed and approved the publication of all the 

articles at issue. We were, however, able to eonfirm that the Company did review and approve 

fur publication ah article written by Tom Meyer on Wall St. Cheat Sheet titled "4 Reasons Why 

Galena Biopharma Is Headed Higher" and by John Mylant titled "Galena Biophartna Stock 

Grows On More Than Speculation."59 We were unable to compare the draft and final versions of 

Mr. Mylant's article, but with respect to Mr. Meyer's article, the Company made virtually no 

changes before its publication.60 Neither the draft nor the final version of Mr. Meyer's article 

included a disclosure that Mr: Meyer was paid by .DTG to write the article. 61 

55 See, e.g., Ex- 81. Email from Michael.McCarthy to Remy Bernarda and Mark Ahn dated.November 14,2013; Ex., 
92. Email from Jonathan Keim to Mark Ahn dated November 25, 2013; Ex. 114. Email fi:om Michael McCarthy to 
Remy Bernarda and Mark Ahn dated February 4, 2014. 
56 Id 
57 Ex. &3. Email fromRemyBemarda to tvfarkAho:dated November 19, 201,3. 
ss See, e.g., Ex. 94, Email .from Remy Bernarda to Jonathan Keim, Michael McCarthy and Mad Ahn dated 
December 3 • 201'3; Ex. 95. Email from Mark Ahn to Remy Bernarda,. J<>na1han J{eiQ:i ®d Mjcha;el McCat:thy Cia!:ed 
December 3, 2-013; Bx. 108~, Email from Remy Bernarda tu Michael McCarthy dated Januill'Y 22, 2014; Ex. lLO~ 
Email from, Marlc Ahn to. Michael McCarthy dated January 31, 2014. 
sv Compare EX. 7. Artide written by Tom Meyer titled "4 Reasons Why Galena BfophanniL Is Headed Higher" 
dated December 4~ 2013: with Bxs:, 94-95. Emails ft.om Remy Bernarda. and Mark t\lli1 to Jonathan Keim and 
Miyh~l McCartliy dated December 9; 2013; see ills.a Bx. HO. Email from Mllrk Ahn to Micliael MI:¢artb.Y and 
!lerny Det:Ilarda. dated_ JJlliuaty 31; 20 J 4_ 
60 Exs. 94-95. Einai1s from ilemy Bemarda and Mark: Ahn ta Jonatl'lan Keim and Michael M-0Carthy Qiited 
Decern~t: ~. J(H 3 ~ Ex. I lo, .Email from Made Ahn t.U ivUch&ei Ivie~rthy il!!a Re)Ily ~em~ da~ fantijity' j 1, 
~~ . 

6
1' Ex. 1. Artic1~ Written by t9tn Meyet titled "4 Reasons Why Gilleil.ll BiOphllf:JDa ts 1::I¢!irlf)(f Filgh.e~ dated 

Decetnbm .. 4, 2013; Exs. 94-95. i3i:nalls from Remy.- Bernarda .®d Mark Ahn to Ionatban Keim ,and }l,.f'rehaeJ 
McCarthy dated'. December 3; 2013. · 
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Importantly, of the six articles we were able to review, we found no false or misleading 

state1nent of material fact. Without a doubt, the artides generally favored the Company (and 

co11tained some "puffery"), but they highlighted facts that were publicly available· at the time. 

The articles provided general information about the inarket and competitive landscape that was 

contemporaneously available in analyst reports. 62 

For example, the article titled "Galena Biopharma Presents An Attractive Investment 

Opportunity" by the WonderfuJ Wizard concern~d the Company's 52 .. week stock petf-0tmance, 

ru1 analysis of the Co:tnpany' s product pipeline, and the market and competitive landscape. 61 The 

article's representation of the Company's publicly available stock performance was irue. 

Further, the article's assertions concerning the Company's growing product pipeline wete 

supported by the launch of Abstral, the status of NeuVaX:~ and the Company's agreement with 

Teva Pharmaceuticals ("Teva''.) to commercialize NeuVax, all events that had been publicly 

disclosed in press releases and SEC filirtgs. 64 The article described market conditions by citing 

. to data. conce1ning breast cancer from soutces such as the. N.ational Caneer Institute and 

American Cancer Society. Those figures were cited elsewhere and appear to have been 

accurate. 65 Tue remainder of the article was staterrtents of opinion and hot fact. 

Similarly, the article titled "Will Galena Biopharma Tripie Soon?" by James Katz 

concerned Abstral sales, partnerships~ Neu Vax etrollment, and the progress of the Company's · 

Fol ate Binding Protein. 66
· The information contained in the article such as the_ results of Phase i: 

and 2 trials fot NeuV ax, enrollment of patients in the Phase 3 trial of Neu Vax, the com.party's 

62 EX& 119·J25,. 127-129, 13t·l35, IJ?-142, i«, 148;150, 153, a:nd 156, Ami.Iystrepotts·aa.ted varrou.siy. 

63 Ex, 5. Article titled "GaJena Bi0pfJarma.Preseiits An Atinmtive fuvestmentOpportunity"' datetlAugust 3; 201.3', 
64 Ex. 13. Press release dated March 18~ 201'.l titled "Ga1enaBfopharmaAcquU:e5 .!bstral@:) (ferrbulyl) Subllil~al 
Tablets in u.s.., a Noval, Best-in-Class 'rteati:nerit Apprnved for Breakthrough: Caneer Pam"; EX. 77. Press rel00$e 
dated Decetnbet 7~ 2-0l:i titled "Galena,Biopbatnia Pr:estiros Fina:i Laudtnark 60--Mo.ntli Resulls From ~eu'Vax(TM) 
PhW!e 1/2 Trials at the 35th AllI!ual CTRC-MCR San Antonio B'.reast ~cer Sy:ttlposiu~;. ~ 73, ~ l'eil~e 
dat~d pecemliel' 4, 2QJ2 titled ''Galep\l .Bfoplianna Annq1irn;;e£ Signatj.rre ofCo.tiuilerGT~l~Qji e~~.bip With 
TeV!i for tsra.er•. 
65 ·EX .. 79, "Chil@'(}od Ganter $railsties, :Res~~h fi,1ndliig ,Statistics" as pmviaed lily Amencl(Q ~d Cancer 
organi:zatlbili. ~x.: 96. "Cl:lncet Fat:tii and F~guJ'ei1201$'\ Ameti~liJl. Cancer S!lci~, 20J3)· Ex. 71; l:'r'<lSli release 
dat~d · Pece;nber· 7~ 2012 title4 "Galena Bfoph~ Piesentc; 'Final. i,antlmark 6Q.-Mi;)pth R~uJrs '.Fi:Ql;ll "NeuVru«TMj 
Phase 'll2 Trials at th.e,35th. A'I'mual C'IRC-AAClt San Anto'nio Breast Caneer Syniposiutn":.. · 
66- Ex. ~. Artii;le. tit!~ "WilI Galena Bfoj?hatma i;rlpie Soon?'' ~d Navembe.r 121 2,o i3. 
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partnership vvith Teva, and the results of the Phase I trial for Folate Binding Protein all appear to. 

be sourced from publicly available documents such as Company press releases and filings. 67 The 

article fu.tther provided so1ne revenue projections. based on certain assuinptions,. but the 

projections were in-line with analyst reports. 68 We found no misstatement of material fact in the 

article. 

An article written by Kingmaker and titled "Galena BioPhanna Continues to Develop a 

Deep Pipeline of Products" tracked the previous articles in highlighting f~cts that were &!so 

available in Company press re]eases.69 The article summarized the Phase 1 trial results for 

· Folate Binding Protein and included data matching the data available in the Company's 

November 11, 2013 press release. 70 The aiticle also described the Company's stock price 

n1ovement, third quarter financial results, and upco1ning NeuV ax enrolli.nent, all of which are· 

accurate and publicly available.71 

In bis aiticle, "4 Reasons Why Galen<). Biophatma is Headed High.et,"' Tom Meyer 

generally discussed the appreciation of the Company's stock price and the launch of Abstral.72 

The articles outlined several factors that positioned the Company for growth, including analyst 

coverage, institutional holdings, and Abstral. With respect to analyst coverage, Mr. Meyer noted 

that Oppenheimer & Ccnnpany issued an outperform rating for the Company on November 26, 

2013. This was a true statement 73 With respect to institutional holdings, Mr. Meyer further 

vvrote that institutions held approximately l 7<llo of the Company's outstanding shares. This was 

67 Ex. 73 .. Press release dated March 18, 2013 titled "Galena Biopharma Acquires Absb:al(R} (fentanyl) Sublingual 
Tablets in U.S., a Novel, Best-in-Class Treatment Approved for Breakthrough Cancer Pain!'; Ex. 17. Press release 
dated December 7. 2012 ~itled "Galena Biophanna Presents Final Landmark 60-Month Results From Neu Vax(TM.) 
Phase 112 Trials at fhe 35th Annual CTRC-AACR San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium"~ Ex. 78. Press release 
dated December 4, · 2012 titlecl "Galena. Biopharma Announces Signature of Commerciaiization Partnership With 
Teva for Israel"; Ex. 87. Aiticfe titled "The Cam~er Pain Drug Market" dated November 17, 2009·_ 
68 Ex. 136. Needham Analyst Report titled "Neuvax Remains Key Driver" dated NQvember 7, 2013. Ex. 13'L Noble 
Financial Analyst Report titled "For Galena, the value dr.iver is the lead .NeuV ax program" dated November 8;. 2013. 
69 Ex~ 88. Articie titled "GaTenaBiopharma Continues to Develop a Deep Pipeline of Products" dated."November 22. 
20) 3, . . . 
70 Ex. 8.9. Press release titled "Galena Biophanna Announces Initial Results From tbe Folate Bindiug .Pro~in 
Vaccine Phase l l'rial at the Society for lmmunotherapy of Cane.er Conference1' dated November. 11, 20 l3. 
71 Ex. 90. l'ress Reiease. titled ·~oa~na "Biophanna Reports Third. Quarter 20.tJ Resul~" ·da~d Nov.ember 6i ioi3. 
Ex. 91. Press release titled "Galen;:t Biophanna Tn.itiates Patient Enrollment in NeuVax(TM) Phase· l PRESENT 
T:rial to Prevent Breast Cimcer Recurren-ce~ elated January 20;..2012. 
n E~ 7. Article titled "4 Reasons Why Galena Biopharma Is Heaqed Higher" dated..Decemb.et 4.; 2013 
73 Ex. 143 .. Analyst report by Opperiheimer & Compa)ly dated.Noveriibet-26; 2011. ·· 
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also a true statement 74 With respect to Abstral, · Mr. Meyer accurately repeated statistics 

concerning the cancer drug market fi=om a. consulting company; Decision Resotlrces. 75 We found 

no misstatement of material fact. 

In "Galena Biopharrna Has Pron1ising Pipeline fot Revenue Growth," John Mylant 

discussed the Cotnpany's financials as reported in its lOQ filing, the· Company's acquisition of 

Mills Pharmaceuticals, and the Company's positive analyst coverage, all which were public and 

tnie.76 Also discussed in the article was the Co1npariy's product pipeline with a description of 

1\bstral and Neu Vax, and their tnarket size and potential, We foWld no material misstatements m 
the discussion on the Company's products.77 Citing Decision Resources, Mr. MyJant stated that 

Abstral sales could potentially generate $40 million pet year, which appeared to be an accurate 

reference. 78 The article concluded by stating that the Company's potential growth was based on 
. . 

FDA ·approval of _Neu Vax and Gale-401, but there was no guarantee that the products would 

reach the market. We found no false or misleading staten1ents of material fact in the article. 

Last, an article titled, "The Mon1entum Continues for Gaiena Biopharma'; by Christine 

Andrews touted the Con1pany's stock as one of the hottest in the _past year citing its 190% 

growth in 2013. That was an understatement because the Company's stock price in fact 

increased approximately 324% in 2013.7~ The article contained facts and figures gathered from 

Decision Resources regarding market size, which appeared accurately referenced. 80 The article 

describes the Company's positive analyst coverage~ including Oppenheimer & Con1pahy's 

outperform rating and Piper Jaffray, Maxim Group, and Roth CapitaJPartners; vaiuations, which 

were accurate and public. The article further highlights the Company's ac-q:Uisitioii of Mills 

Pharmaceuticals,. the Company's partnership with Dr. Reddy's Laboratori-es, and the potential 

74 Ex:. 97. Analyst Report titled "Galena: On track to advance clinical programs,. acquisition ofAbstral transforms 
GALE to a commercial sfage biotech company-Outp,erforrn" dated May 10, 2013. 
75 Ex. 87. Article titled "The Cancer Pain Drug Market'' dated November 17,2-009. 
76 Ex. 8. Article titled '•Galena Biophanna Has A Promising Pipeline For Revenue Growth" dated February 5,. 
2014. . 
73 Ex. 91. Presg telease titled "Galena Biopharma Initiates Patient Enrollment in, NeuVax{TMJ Phase l PRESENT 
Trial to Prevent Breast Cancer Re.currence''" dated January 20; 2012_ Ex.. 90. Press release titled "Galcina B1opharma. 
Reports 1J1frd Quarter 2013 Results" dated November 6, 2013, 
7'° Ex. 87 .. Articletitled ''The·Cancer Pain Drug Market" dated November 17~ 2.009. . 
19 Ex. ~- Article titled "The momentum Continues for Galena Bfophem1a?' dated January 15, 2014, 
10 Ex. &7. Articie titled "The. Cancer P~iD. Drug Market'' dated N'ovembe.r l7, 20,09'. 
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market for GALE 401 at $200 million, which was infom1ation available in the Cotnparty's 

January: 13th. and 14th 2014 press releases. 81 Ms. Andrews concluded by stating that the 

Company was valued at $700 million, which was approximately $12 milliun less than its then 

n1arket capitalization. 82 As with the other ruticles we reviewed attributed tf? the Dream Teain in . 

the Feuerstein and Pearson article, we found Iio false or misleading statements of ina!erial fact in 

1vls. Andrews' article. 

The articles appear to be tegurgitatiops of publically available info1n1ation found in press 

releases and analyst reports. Because most, if not all, of the articles allegedly written at the 

direction of the Drean1 Temn have been removed from the internet, we were unable to at1alyze 

every article at issue for potential misstate1nents of material fact; but, if our sampling is any 

indicatiol,1, then we would not expect that any of the articles contained false or misleading 

staten1ents of 1naterial fact. 

Moreover, given that DTG declined to respond to the questions we propounded, we were 

unable to dete~mine if DTG actually paid bioggers to write articles about the Company. 

Neve1iheless, we found no evidence at the Company indicating that to be the case or that the 

Company was aware of that purported fact. There was never any reference to payments being 

made to bloggers in any of the communications between the Company and DTG. Ms, Ber:Mtda 

assumed that the b(oggers were employees of DTG and not independent third parties, and 

therefore were being paid as employees. BJ 

Likewise, we were. unable to determine if bloggers were using multiple alia:Ses to pose as 

separate individuals. There was no mention of aliases in the communications between the 

Company and DTG. lri.dee~ as previously stated, tlle draft articles. did not include .by"-lines and it 

appears that the Company dl.d not consciously track the names of the bloggers wd.ting about the' 

Company. Fot example, Ms. Bernarda reviewed an article written by Tom Meyer: p'ubli.Shed on 

8" E1'. 116. Press, tele!!Se titled "Gaiena Sic;ip.h&r111a Apquires l\4i:lls Phannaceuticais, LLC" dated Ja.i:l.1$'.y l3~ .2014. 
Ex. U 7 .. Press release tjtled "Galena Biopharma anct Dr. Recidys Announee Strategie _Pannership h MeuYruc(tM) 
ii::t India" dai:eci. J~uary J4, '2014. .. · -
~2 See Galena Biopharma Historical .Market Cap Data.. 
83 lhterview ot Rei:ny Bemarda date& May 20; 2014. 
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Wall St Cheat Sheet on December 3, 2013. Yet, when she learned that Mr. Meyerhad written a 

favorable ruticle about the Con1pany in Forbes a mere two weeks later, she did not recognize Mr. 

Meyer.84 Thus, to the extent that bloggers were using multiple alias.es, we found no evidence at 

the Company indicating that to be the case or that the Company was aware of that purported fact • 

i. Movement Of The Price Of The Company's Stock 

One of the central allegations. of the Feuerstein and Pearson articles is that the Company 

hired DTG t-0 boost the Company's stock price. B:> Mt. Ahn denied that was. the purpose fbr the · 

hiring, 86. but the communications betvveen the Company and DTG indicate that· OTG used the 

Company's stock price as metric of its effectiveness. For example, on July 31, 2013, Mr .. 

McCarthy emailed Mr. Ahn a summary of the Company's stock price steadily rising from $1.81 

to $L95 with a notation "$2.00 here we come!"87 Similarly, on Nov¢tnber 13, 2013, Jamie 

Spangler emailed Mr. Ahn and Ms. Bernarda a graph of the Company's stock trading above 

$3.0~ a share with a subsequent remark, '~I am just happy that everything is paying off."88 The 

best example, ho\.vever, is. a document prepared by DTG and titled ·~case Study: Investo~ 

.f\wareness: Campaign." The case stlidy was a year-end summary of DTG's purported activities 

and included a graph of the Company's stock price fr.om July of 2013 to December of 2013 

relative to its activities.89 The timeline suggested that DTG's activities correlated with a 97% 

increase in the CQmpany's stock price.90 Notably, the frrst time the Company became. aware of 

the case study was when Tiberend informed Ms. Bemard8. on February 10, 2014 that DTGhad 

posted the case study on its. website for promotional purposes.91 Tue Company tenninated. its 

contractual relatioi1$bip with DTG two days later, the sa.rne day that the Fell:erst\\lin article also 

happened to be published. 92 

B4 Ex. 99. Email from Remy Bernarda, to Clttlre Sojda dated. December 16, 2013. . 
85

· Ex. 2. Article titled "Ga.iena B iopharma Pays. For Stock-Touting Campaign While .ln$iders Cash OUt Million!!'" by 
Adam Feuerstein dated February 12, 2014;Ex. 3. Artidetitled "Behind The Scenes With Dream Team, CytR:xAnd 
Galena" dated Marc.b l 1, 2014. 
g
6 Int:!::rYiew of Mark Ahn dated May 8, 2014. 
8~ Ex; 75 .•. Email from Michael McCarthy to Mark Ahn datedJuJyJL,2013. 
113 Ex. 81). .Email from Jarni¢ SpaJJgler to. Mark Ahn and Remy Be.m~ 4ited November 13 ~ 20 [J:, 
89 Ex. l 7. Gruiei Study: Irrvestot Awareness Campaign 
~u . . 
91 Ex. l 04. Email from Gregory Tilierend to Remy Bernarda dated February l 0, 2014 •. 
92 Ex- (06. EinaiJ from Remy Bernarda to Michaei MeCiuihy dated .February 12, 2014. 
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Our investigation, moreover, has revealed that DTG's activities had no demonstrable 

inaterial effect on the Company's stock price.93 As an initial point, it bears noting that DTG 

appeared to take credit for activities unrelated to its work. For example, DTG appeared to- take 
• 

credit for the publication of a host of articles on Seeking Alpha, but we have confirmed that at 

least tw-6 of those articles written by Grai1t Zeng and Regarded Solutions Were published 

independently of D!G.94 Mr. Zeng was a Senior Biotech Analyst for Zachs Investment 

Research, who wrote at !east two articles about the Company in 2013. Each of those times, he 

inf onned Mr. Ahn and M_s. Bernarda directly that he had written an article that would be 

published on Seeking Alpha95 One of those articles titled "Galena: The Launch OfAbStral And 

Other Impo1iant Catalysts" was listed in a sumn1ary of articles DTG purportedly had published 

on Seeking Alpha at its directiorr.96 The article written by Regarded Solutions, also known as 

Alan Saltzman, was the result of a question and anSYver session arranged by Tiberend.97 

Nevertheless, we credited DTG with their alleged activities and compared it to the movement of 

the Company Stock, and found no direct correlation. 

The chart below (a full size version is attached as Appendix I) illustrates the price of the 

Con1pany's stock from July 1, 2013 to February 24, 2014 in relation to the Company's press 

releases, the publication of analyst reports, and articles allegedly written at the direction of 

DTG.98 

93 We recognize that an effort to. increase. a company's market visibility In a. positive· a11d truthful way can have an 
effect on a company's· stock price. 
94 Ex-10. EmaiLtrom.Michael McCarthy to Remy Bernarda dated.November 26, 21)13. 
'lS. Exs. 111-l 13. Email from Mark Ahn to Gr;ant Zeng and Remy Bernarda dated Jilly 29, 2013.; Email from Miirk 
Alin to Grant Zeng and Remy Bem<U"da dated. July 30;. 2013; Email from Grant Zeng to Marie Ahn. and Remy 
Bemanla dared Octuber 8;.2013. . 
96 Ex.. 10. Email from Michael McCarthy .to Remy Bernarda dated November<2.{)0 2013; Ex. l 13, Email frQn;i Qiqnt 
Zeng to Mark. Ahn and-Remy Bemarda dllied O®ber &, 2Q13\ · 
'?Ex. 76. £"mau from Remy Bemardato Mark Ahn· dated August.I., 2013. 
98 E'X.. 157, Full size version of this iilustratio.n• 
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TI1e chart reflects that the. Company's stock moved marginally between July 1, 2013' and 

November 2, 2013 during which time DTG purported to publish or have published twelve 

articles about the Company. The Company's stock only huly began to rise after the Company 

released the results of the Phase 1 trial of its Folate Binding Protein vaccine on November 11,. 

2'013.99 Between November 11, 2013 and December 4, 2013, the Company's stock more than 

doubled in price. Dw:ing that same period, the Company tnade two presentations oi1 the 

Company's progress at the Piper Jaffray and Oppenheimer & Company conferences. DTG 

published or caused to be published five articles about the Company during this period. While 

this would suggest that DTG articles. could have had a material effect on the stock price~ that 

notion is disabused when considering that the stock nearly doubled again in price between 

December 4, 2013 and January 20, 2014, a time when no articles attributed to DTG were 

published. The Company's rising stock price during that period seems to have been driven 

pnncipally by the announc©ment.s that the Company had acquired Mills Pharmaceuticals LLC 

and. partnered with: Dr. Reddy's Laboratories in India, and sub~quent buy tecdmmendatiorts by· 

analysts.. fudeed~ the stock's market price tracked consistently with the analystS' proJections in 
' ' . ' 

99 .Ex. 89. Press release titled "Galena B-iophanna Announces Initial Result& Fmm the Ftilate Bili.ding Ptote(n 
Vaccine Phase 1 Trial at tbe Society for Irnmunotherapy of Cancer Conference" dated Ncrveinber i 1; 20.1.3 '· 
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their reports. Moreover, the Company's stock price likely profited from the general upswing in 

the biotech n1arket during that period. 100 Accordingly, DTG's assumption that its activities were 

the driving force behi11d the Con1pany's rising stock price appears to have been hubris. There is 

no conclusive evidence that was the case. 

With respect to the collapse of the Company's stock price, we found that there were 

several reasons for the sharp decline. First, allegations that the stock price may have been 

inflated by DTG's activities depressed the price. To illustrate, Cantor Fitzgerald almost 

inunediately downgraded the Company's stock from a buy to a sell "based on concerns of an 

overhang created by recent news of the rise of ptomotional practices by a. contracted IR fimi and 

stock sales by insiders."101 Second, there was a substantial short interest in the Company. Near 

the time the Feuetsteirt article was published, the Company altead.y had a high short interest of 

23% of the float. 1o.2 The short interest naturally increased following the Feuerstein and Pearson 

articles to approximately. 31 %. 103 Third, there vvas a general bear trend in the biotech mark.et 

beginning in late Febniary and early tvlarch of 2014. 104 Finally, the large volume of sales by 

insiders in January and February of 2014 was not well-received by the IIiarkeL All of these 

factors had a cun1ulative and depressive effect on the Company's stock price. 

ii. The Insiders' Knowledge Of DTG's Activities 

With the exception of Mark Ahn, all of the directors we interviewed uniformly stated that 

they first became aware that the Company had retained DTG after the Feuerstein article was 

published. 105 This comports with Mr; Ahn's representation that he retained DIG without first 

. consulting the Boatd. 106 Moreover, while the October 11, 2013 and January 16; 2014 J3oiµ:d 

n1eeting minutes, indicate that Ms. Bernarda discussed investor relations; and public relations 

roo Ex. )·58. Comparison of Company Stock Price relative to NASDAQ Biotech Index from Jtily l, 2013: to May 6, 
2014. 
101 Ex. 155. Analyst report by Cantor Fitzgerald dated February 18, 2014. 
ioz Ex.. 154. Analyst report by MLV & Co. dated February 14, 2014. 
103 Ex. 159. Graph ofsborhnterestbetwe~nJuly 2013 tQ April 2014. 
11

"
1 Ex. 158. CompariSon of Company Stock Price relativeo to NASDAQ Biotech Index from July i, 2013 to May 61, 

2014. 
105 Interview of Steven Kriegsroan dated June 3, 2014; Interview of Richard Chin; dated June lu, 2014; Interview of 
Rudolph Nisi date_d June 41, 2014; Interview of Sandy Hillsberg dated May 28, 2rJ14~ Interview of Steven Ga1liker 
.dated May 21, 2014. 
1
"
6 Interview ofMark Ahn dated May 8,_ 2014. 
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matters with the Board, all of the directors and otncers present stated that these discussions were, 

related only to a11alyst activity and not DTG,107 The Board presentation materials corroborate 

this account and indicate that the presentation regarding inYestor relations and public relations 

centered on analyst activity .108 

With the exception of Mark Ahn, Mr. Schwartz was the only Company officer that sold· 

Galena shares in the first quarter of 2014. Mr• Schwm1Z. stated ill his interview that he did not 

play a managen1ent role in the Co1npany's investor or public relations affairs.. 109 He stated that 

while on occasion he would review an article drafted by an analyst for factual acc~acy; he does 

not recall ever reviewing an article drafted by DTG.110 In fact, although he was aware generally 

that the Company had retained investor/public relations firms, he was i+ot aware of their specific 

names or activities.1 n Mr. Schwartz's statements were credible and were notconttadicted.by the 

other interviewees or documents .. 

Accordingly, we have determined that, with the exception of Mark Ahn, insiders had no 

knowledge of DTG's activities for the Company before trading. 

B. Lidingo Holdings LLC 

Lidingo was another investor relations firm that operated concurrently wi~ DTG, but had 

roots much earlier than the summer of 2013. In-1ate 2011, Sanfotd Hillsbetg had heard from a 

friend and chief executive of another company that Lidingo bad provided him with effective 

investor relations services. u2 Mr. Hillsberg conveyed this information to Mt. Ahn and suggested 

that he take a look at Lidingo. 113 On ia:nuary 4, 2012,. the Company retaine.d tidingo as a 

tnnsultant tasked with reviewing the Company's research and development plan, providing 

stJ:ategic input Gn the Company's investor relations efforts, generating. independent coverage of 

107 InterYiew of Steven K.riegsman dated June 3, 2014; Interview ofRk:hard Chin dated June 16~ 2014; Interview of 
Rudolph Nisi dat.ed June 4, 2014; luterview of Sandy Hillsberg dated May 28, 2014; Interview of Steven Gallik:er 
dated May 21, 2014; Interview of Ryan Dunlap dated May 15~ 2014; Interview of Remy Bernarda dated May 20, 
.2014; ln.terview of Mark.Ahn dated May 8, 2014; Interview ofMark Schwartz dated May 14,.2014. . 
108

· Ex. 27. Board presentation man:rials dated October 11,,2013; Ex. 28 Board presentation. material~ dated January 
~~l~. . .. 
1
® Interview of Mark Schwartz dated May 14, 2014. 

JlO. fj;[ 

.IU,/d. 
117 Interview of Sanford Hills berg-dated May 28, 2014. 
ltl Interview of Sanford HiUsberg dated May 28, 2014; Inter¥iew of Mark Ahn daterl iune 9, 2014. 
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the Co1npany through third parties, and distributing key press releases and news items through_ its 

net\:vork. 114 In practice, this translated into. transforming press releases and analyst reports into 

·so called "e1nail blasts," posting messages on mess.age boards, and publishing oti_ginal articles on 

various websites. 115 
. The contract price was $20,000 ~er month for a period of twelve monihs. 116 

In accordance with Company practice, the officers identified Lidingo as a company. with a. 

contract value exceeding $100,000 in materials sent to the Audit Committee for its November 8, 

20 Ii meeting. 117 The Audit Committee ratified and affirmed the, contract at the November 8, 

2012 meeting. 118 

Unfortunately, we were unable to obtain any copies of the "email blasts;" messages, or 

articles written by Lidingo or its "writers." During his second interview, Mr. Ahn claimed to 

have never reviewed Lidingo's work product, e_ven though there are numerous e:rnails between 

.Mr. Ahn and Lidingo either requesting copies or representing that copies had been sent. n9 We 

found Mr. Ahn's clain1 highly suspect. The documents and interviews of senior management 

portray .Mr. Ahn as an engaged and hands-on chief executive. It is hard to believe that Mr. Ahn 

did not review the work product of an investor relations firm he paid $20,000 per month. 

Moreover, members of senior management stated in their interviews that Mr. Ahn managed the 

Coropany' s relationship with Lidi11go hltnself. 120 Indeed, Ms. Bernarda stated that, based on 

statements from Mr. Ahn, she believed that the Company had terminated its relationship with 

Lidingo in the spring of 2013, and only recently found out that Mr. Ahn tenewed i1$ contract 

without her kn.owledge. 121 Ms. Bernarda;s representations were supported by another witness; 

114 Ex. 36. Lidingo Consµlting Agreement dated January 4, 2012. Ex. 5 5 Emails befwetlnJ'l'Iilla Bjom an.d Madeline 
Hatton regarding execution of Lidingo Consuiting Agreement dated January 4, 201~. 
us lntervi1:w of Mark Alm dated June 9, 2014; Ex. 56. Email from Milla Bjorn to M.ark Ahn ~ated J-anuary 18,_ 
2012. 
u 6 EX. 36. Li dingo consulting agreement dated January 4, 2012. 
117 Ex. J 68. Presentation Materiais for Audit Commiliee Meeting dated November 8, 2012. 
111 fuc_ 169, Minutes of Audit Committee Meeting dated November &, 2012 
119 Interview of Mark Ahn dated June 9, 2014; Ex. 67.,. Email ficimM.a.r:k. Ahn tq l\llill!!. Bjorn dated April 11,; 2Qi3-; 
Ex.. 69, Email from Milla: Bjorn to Remy Bernarda dated April 1.2, 2013; Ex:.. 84. EmaiLfrom Mark Ahn tQ Andrew 
Hardy1 Milla Bjorn and Ryan Dunlap dated November 2-0, 2013_; Ex .. 85. Email from M,ilia ijjem to Mark Ahn, 
Andrew Haroy and Ryan Duriiap dated November2o; 20 D. 
120 Interview 0fRerny Bernarda dated May 2.0; 2014; Interview of Ryan Dunlap dated June 5; 20J4;:.&. 82. Email 
from Ryan Dunfap to Roswil:ha Swe:nsen dated November 13,.2013, · 
ui Interview of Remy- Bernarda dated May 20,. 20i4; Ex. 65. Etriail from Remy Betnarda to Angela Dii>Jato dat¢d 
April 8, 201J. 
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account. 122 Thus, while we found no direct evidence that Mr. Ahn reviewed Lidingo's work 

product, the record reflects aiJ. inference that he reviewed it. 

More troubling is that Lidingo clearly represented its task to be to increase the ptiee of 

the Con1pany's stock. In a November 12, 2012 e1nail, Lidingo represented that the Company's 

stock price had increased the day following its October email blasts on the Jrd, 17th, 25th, and 

3 lst. t23 Lidingo promised that ifthe Company paid Lidingo an additional $15,000 to $20,000, 

Lidingo would guarantee it would increase· the price of the Company's stock by 25% by the e:nd 

of 2012 or refund the. Company its payment. 124 Mr. Ahn responded by agreeing to pay Lidingo 

an additional $20,000.125 In his secon.d interview, Mr. Ahn claimed that he never took Lidingo's 

representations seriously and,, to be sure, I1e did not request a refund when Lidingo failed to 

follow through on its promise. iz6 We nevertheless found the iinpHcations in the emails troubling. 

Notably, Lidingo's repre·sentation that the Con;ipany;s stock price had increased the day 

following its email blasts was inaccurate. The Co1npany' s stock price increased the day 

following only two- of four email blasts. 127 

Also problematic is that Lidingo represented that it paid "writers" .to write articles about 

. . 1"8 129 
the Company, ·~ and the Company was aware of this fact.· There was constant pressure on the 

Company from Lidingo to make its contractual payments because the. email blasts were 

purportedly e~ensive130 or because Liclingo was purportedly adding new "writers" to write 

about the Company. i31 Both the Company's paymehts to Lidingo and Lidingo's payments. to 

"writers" implicate Secti-on 17(b) of the Securities Act of 1933~ but s:irite We have been unable to 

122 lnterview of Madeline Hatton dated Jtily I, 2014. 
113 Ex. 62. Elnailfrom Milla Bjorn t-0 Mark Ahn dated November 12, 2-012. 
124.ld 

iis Ex. 62. Emall from. Maik Ahn to Milla Bjorn dated November 12, 2012. 
126 Interview of Mark Ahn dated J UDe 9, 2014; Ex. 161. Illustration crf Company i;tock price .:fro QI No.vember 9;. 2012 
to January 2, 2013, 
121 Ex. 162. Illustration ofC0mpany stock price from October 1, 20.12 to November 2; 2012; Our metbodOJogywas 
to Compare tfie sto,ok prices at the ciose of the market days. . 
t
28 Given Ute ret;ord of 1',fdfugo-'$ actions, we did: not beii:eve it Wl!S neces$ary to seek out Lidillgo, partii:t,i,iar1y Jr!_ 

view of out railed efforts to interview DTG. . 
ti

9 Ex. 59 _ J~·majl from Miila Bjorn to Ml!deifne: Batton dated April 7, '20'i2. 
130 l3x. 63. Email from !vfiila Bjorn to- Mark Ahn, Angela DiPnata, and Mactdii:ie tiattott dated,):aruiaiy 22, 201'.3;. 
Ex. 66. Email fr.om Milla Bjorn to Mark.Ahn and Remy Bernarda dated April 9;2013~ · 
131 Ex .. 64. Etnail from Milla Bjorn to Mark Ahn dated April 6;. 2013;: Ex. 66. Email from Milla Bjorn tO Ma.Fk Ahn. 
and Remy Bernardit dated April 9, 20 i3, 
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review the email blasts or articles and Lidingo does not maintain ariy noticeable website, we 

· have been unable to determine if adequate compensation disclosures were made. 

1. The Co1npany's Grant Of Stock Options To Lidingo 

Lidingo first made a request for stock options as part of its compensation on April 5. 

2012. 132 Lidingo requested 400~00Q stock options, 200,000 to vest immediately and 200,000 to 

vest over the second and third quarter of 2012. 133 We found no response from the Company to 

this reqi.iest. The request for options was. renewed ori April 19, 2013, when Lidingo asked Mr. 

Ahn for an equity stake as compensation for its services, 134 Mr. Ahn replied that he would 

review the request with Ms. Bernarda (which he apparently never did) and respond at a later 

date. 1
·
35 Lic:lingo emailed Mr. Ahn again on July l 0, 2013 noting that the Company's stock price 

was not performing well, and offering its services. 136 

On August 1, 2013, Iv,lr. Alu1, on behalf of the Company, ~xecuted a second consulting 

' agreement with Lidingo with the following scope of work: (i) review the Company's financial 

requiren1ents; (ii) analyze and assess alternatives for the Company's financial requirements; (iii) 

create awareness of the Company through email and other distribution mechanisms; (iv) provide 

analysis of the Company's industry and competitors in the form of general industry reports 

directly to the Company; and (v) assist the Company in developing corporate partnering, 

relationships.n7 The contract price ~as $20,000 per month and an option to purchase 250,000 

shares of the Company's stock, 100,000 shares to vest inmiediately and 150,000 shares tp vest 

over eight Inonths. 138 Ctitically, Mr~ Ahn executed the second consulting agreement without first 

consultilig Company counsel or the Board notwithstanding that he had no authortty to grmt stock 

options. unilaterally to a vendor. 139 Indeed. even after the fact, Mr.. Ahn never :informed the 

13
·
2 Ex. 58. Email from Milla Bjom to Mark.Ahn dated April 5, 2012. 

mu . 
n 4 Bx. 7fJ. Email from Muta Bjorn to Mark.Ahn dated April 19t. l013. 
135 Ex. 70. Email from Mark Ahn to Milla Bjorn dated Aptil21., 2013. 
rJi Ex. 170. Email from Milla Bjem to Mark Ahn dated July IQ~ 2013. 
137 Ex. 37: Lidlngn consulting agreement dated August 1, 2013. 
138 Id.. Ex. 86. Email from. Ryan Dunlap t.o Andrew Hardy and M.illa Bjorn. dated Nov~ber 20." l0l3 attaqhing 
Nc:mstatutnr.y Stock Option Granted Under. Galcma Bfopharma,.lnc. 20ITT fncentiY.e Plan; 
139 lnterview of Mark Ahn dated June 9, 2014; Interview of Steven Krlegsman dared June 3, 2014; lilte;rrie'w Of 
Ricfiard Cllin dated JWJe 16, 2014; Interview or: Rudolph Nisi dated June 4, iOt 4; hiternew of Sa:ndy lttifs~~~ 
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Board that he had granted options to Lidingo so that th' Board could ratify the grant 140 This 

could Iiave been done when the Board considered and granted options to several employees in 

Nove1nber of 2013. 141 The only referenGe to Lidingo made to the Board was in the January 16, 

2014 Board presentation materials, which listed Lidingo as a vendor with a contract greater than 

$100,000, but there was no mention of an option.$ grant. 142 

We have learned through public disclosures that two other companies granted Lldingo 

options as part Qf its con1pensatioo. for its services. 143 Indeed, Lldingo represented to Mr. Ahn 

that equity stakes are how Lidingo generates its income..1 44 Irrespective of the wisdom of 

granting options to a vendor that reptesented that it could influence the price of the Company~s 

stock, in this case, Mr. Ahn exceeded his authority in granting Lidingo stock options.14:s To date, 

Lidingo has exercised 149,998 options and currently has 100,002 options outstanding.146 To the 

extent that Lidingo atte1npts to exercise its remaining options, the Company should give due 

consideration to whether honoring them is appropriate. 

Because we were unable to review the email blasts and articles, we were unable to 

conduct an analysis as to the potential material effect Lidingo's activities had ott the price of the 

Company's stock. That being said, of the four occasions Lidingo represented that it raised the 

price of the stock, the stock price in fact dropped on two of those dates.147 Accordingly, we 

found no r~ason to believe that Lidingo's activities had any more influence on the price -0f the 

Company's stock than DTG's activities, which in our view was none. Under pq:blic scrutiny for 

dated May 28. 2014; Interview of Steven. Galliker dated May 21, 2014( Ex. 163. Amended and Restated 2:007 
Incentive Plan. . 
140 T nterview of Steven Kriegsman dated June 3, 20 l4; Interview of Richard Chin dated June 16, 2014; Interview: .of. 
Rudolph Nisi dated lune 4, 2014; fnferv.iew of Sandy F{illsberg dated.May 28; 2014; fntetview of Sieve.n Galliker 
Qa.ted May 21, 2014; Ex. 163 .. Amended .and. R,est;ted 2007 In~ntive Plan; Ex" 1.'l. Unanimous written consent of 
the. Board dated November 22,. 2-013. 
141 Ex. 22. Unanimous written consent by the Board dated November 22, 2013. 
H

12 EX.. 28. Board presentation materiais dated January 16, 2014; Ex. 61. Email from Angela. DiPlato to Ryan 
Dunlap dated November 5;. 2012~ 
1~• See, e.g., Ex. 164. Consulting agreement by and between: Advanced..Medieal Isotope O)rporation and Lidingti 
Ho.lmrigs LLC d.ared June4, 21H2;:Ex.. L(i5, LlonBiotechnolQgi~ lnc,'s S-i Sfat!li;Qent. · 
l# tx. a4. Email from At1drew Hardy ro Mark .Alm dated Nov.ember i 91 2013, 
145 Mi:. Ahn Stat!ld in. ins sepond ib.terv.iew that be· believed: the grant of stock options fib. Lidmgo aUaWei:f tTie , 
<::;ompahy to increase itsfuunediate cash 011 hand, which benefited the, Company. · · 
Jilli ~x. 3.1L Oalef!a $~ock opij()n exe(ci.se tequest fbrins dated Nov.ember 2i:; 2013; Decembet.31; 20ij, Febriili:ry6;. 
2014, and March 4; 2014. 
r4~ Ex. 62. Ewail from Mllla;. Bjorn to:.Mar!C Ahn dated November 12, 2012. 
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its contractual relationship with DTG, the Con1pany tenninated the Lidingo contract on April 3; 

2014. 148 

We note that, sfgnificantly, with the exception of Mr. Ahn, none of the selling directors 

or lvlr. Schwartz were aware that the Company had executed a second eontract with Lidingo until 

the January 16, 2014 Board meeting and none were aware of Lidingo's specific activities even 

after the n1eeting. 149 

While Mr. Ahn's unilateral and unauthorized decision to grant stock optionS- to Lidingo 

for questionable and apparently ineffective services reflected poor judgment, we do not 

necessarily conclude that Mr. Ahn breached his fiduciary duty to the Company in doing so_ Mr. 

Ahn did not grant stock options to Lidingo out of self-interest or for personal. profit, but rather 

because he believed that Lidingo's services would benefit the Company by exposing more of the 

public to its accomplishments, Even if one could fmd that Mr. Ahn breached his fiduciary duty 

to the Company by granting Lidingo stock options, we conclude that there wa.S Ii.o appreciable 

harrn for the purported breach. The Company received monies when Lidingo exercised its 

options and_ services for the grants. Accordingly, we do not recommend filing an action against 

Mr. Ahn for a breach of fiduciary duty. 

C. S~ctiou 17(b) of the Securities Act of 1933 

Section 17(b) of the Securities Act of 1933 prohibits disseminating information about a 

security without disclosing any consideration received or to be received, ditectly or inditeetly,, in 

connection with sales of the security. 150 Section 17(b} is aimed at preventing the misleading 

impression of impartiality in certain recon1filendations. 151 The prohibition focU,Ses on the person 

making the recommendatfon and does not expressly extend to the company or 0¢.er person 

148 Ex. 115. Email from Mark Ahn to Mil.la Bjorn dated April 3, 20I4. 
H.

9 interview of Steven Kriegsn1an dated June 3, 2014; Interview of Richard Chin dated June 16, 2014; Inte:rview of . · 
Rudolph Nisi dated June 4, 2014;, lnteniiew ofSandy Hillsberg dated May 28, 2014; intervieW of Steven GaJtiker 
dateciM.ay 21, 2014. 
150 515U.S.C. §77q(b)c · 
151 See; e.g., SEC v. Liberty Capital Gro!lp. Ina., 7.5 F. Supp. 2d 1160 (W.D: Wa. 1.999~ (uphoJd.iog SEC complaint 
challenging investor relations firm's newsletter and Web site characterizations of companies. as, "pfoks!> and .. hot 
stocks"), · 
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paying for the recoinmendation. 152 A company soliciting or paying tor the recommendation, 

however, rrught be held accountable for aiding and abetting, although not_ in a private action. 153 

In this instance, whether DTG or Lidingo paid bloggers or "wi·jters" to tout the Company 

is a factual question that we canilot answer, but one that the SEC may ultimately determine under 

its subpoena power. Our investigation revealed that the articles written by DTG on its affiliate 

websites did not contain a co1npensation disclosure, but did contain a link to a compensation 

disclosure. Whereas, the articles written by bloggers purportedly on behalf of DTG such as Tom 

Meyer and John Mylant did not contain compensation disclosures. 

With respect to Lidingo, we were unable to review copies ofits email blasis and articles, 

but we have serious doubts that tlmse contained compensation disclosures. Accordingly, DTG~ 

Lidingo, Mr. Meyer, Mr . .Nlylant, and others similarly situated inay have violated S_ectioi1l7(b) 

of tbe Securities Act of 193 3, but that is for others to decide. What is cleat is that the bloggers 

are the ones principally exposed to liability under this statute, not the Company, which may have 

unwittingly compensated the bloggers indirectly for their work. Accordingly. we conclude the 

likelihood of liability for the Company under Section l 7(b) to be low. 

IV. FINDINGS OF FACT: SALES OF COMPANY'S STOCK BY INSIDERS IN 2014 

In January and February of 2014, with the exception of Mr. Ashton, all of the directors 

sold a significant percentage of their shares of Company stock. The volume of shares sold by all 

but one of the directors combined with publication of the Adam Feuerstein article· led td public 

speculation that the Company hired DTG to inflate artificially the Company's stock in order to 

allow the directors to- sell their shares before a market correction. Based on .our investigation, 

there- is no evidence that the Conipany or the directors perpetuated such a scheme. 

A. The Company's Insider Trading Policy 

The Co1npany'S- original insider trading policy was a permanent blackout on trades ofthe 

Company's stock by employees and directors. 154 The only exception to the policy was that an 

152 See Garvey v. Arkoo:s.h, 354 F~ Supp. 2d 73, 83 (D.Mass. 2005)(footnote omitted). 
1$.Jd: 
154 Ex... 60. Email frcrm Ryan Dunlap to Lynn Sutton dated November 2, 2012;· Interview· of Mark Ahn dated May ;s, 
2014; Interview of Ryan Dmilap dated May 15, 2014; Ex. 171.. Insider Trading Policy. 
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employee or director could trade his/her shares with the preapproval of Mr. Ahn. 155 As the 

Company grew in size, the officers decided that a more sophisticated .insider trading policy 

around window periodS would be more appropriate. 156 

In the su1nmer of 2013, Mr. Dllillap began drafting an insider trading policy with open 

trading windows triggered by the Co1npany' s earnings releases and stibj,ect to the lack of material 

nonpublic information. 157 Under the draft policy, employees and directors could only trade the 

Coinpaiiy's stock between the close of trading on the second day following the Company's 

release of quarterly or annual earnings and the close of trading on the 15th day of the last month 

of the fi~cal quarter in which the ea111ings were released. 158 Mr. Dunlap submitted the ch-aft 

po.licy to the Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board for its consideration at its 

October 7, 2013 meeting. 159 At the 1neeting, the committee resolved that it would recommend tp 

the Board that the Board adopt the draft policy at its Januacy 16, 2014 meeting. 160 Until the 

Board adopted the draft policy, the permanent blackout on trades subject to the preapproYitl of 

Mr. Ahn should bave remained the Company's effective insider trading policy. The officers and 

directors of the Company, however, had competing understandings of the operative insider 

trading policy between the sumn1er of 2013 and January 16, 2014. 

The officers believed that the draft policy with trading windows had become .effective in 

the summer or fall of 2013. 161 'This was illustrated by an August 17, 2013- email to Company 

en1ployees and a December 2, 2013 ·email from Mr. Dunlap to the Company's Section 16 

officers and predetermined insiders reminding them that a blackout on trading was in effect as of 

l
55 Id The Insider Trading_ Policy required preclearance of sales by the Chief Financial Officer, but that. office was 

vacant until 2014 .. Therefore, Mark Alm as Chief Executive Officer, served as the preclearance officer for purposes 
of the original insider trading. policy. In practice, however, Mr. Dunlap also bad a de facto role in that regard. 
156 Interview ofMarkA1m dated May 8, 2(H4; Interview of Ryan Dunlap dated May 15, 2014 .. 
157 lnterview of Ryan Dunlap dated May 15, 2014, 
158 Ex. 18_ Document titled "Gilen·a Biophanna, Inc. Policy Against Disclosun: of Confidential InfoJmation and 
Insider Trading'' elated July 31, 2013.; Ex. 19. Document titled "Galena Biophann.&,. Inc .. Policy AgainstD.isckisure 
of Confidential hlfo1mati.on and. Insider Trading" dated August 15, 2013. · 
159 Ex. 20. Minutes of the Nomfrrating. and Governance O;>mmlttee.Meeting dated Ockiber1, 2.011. 
160 Id, 

i6'J Interview of Remy Bernarda dated May 20, 2014; Jnterv·iew ofM·ark Schwartz dated.M~y 14, 2QI4; lnterv.iewof 
ioJm Burns dated May 2j, 2014, . . 
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that date until March 13; 2014 under the revised insider trading policy.162 Similarly, when Mr. 

Kriegsn1an first expressed his desire to exercise and sell some of his shares of Company stock in 

December of 2013, Ml:. Ahn stated that the Company had a blackout on trading under the 

Cornpat1y's revised insider trading policy ;163 

The selling. directors, on the other hand, fell into two camps. The first believed that there 

was a pe.rmauent blackout ou trades subject to the preapproval of trades ·by Mark· Ahn. 164 The 

second believed that there was no blackout on trades and no insider trading policy. atall 165 None 

of the selling directors, however, believed that the draft insider trading policy hrui taken effect 

because it had not been considered or approved by the full Board. 166 We found that the selling 

directors' position was consistent wi.th the minutes of the Nominat,ing and Governance 

Committee and the Board. 167 The Board had not approved the draft policy (with revisions) until 

its April 18, 2014 Board meeting, and was therefore not enforceable as Company policy before 

that date.168 

The confusion as to the applicable insider trading policy led to a sequence of events that 

further confused the situation. On or about December 19,. 2013, Mr~ Kriegsman expressed to 

senior inanagement and certain directors bis desire to sell 200,000 shares of Company stock for 

estate plariI'J.ing p.lirposes.1159 Tue Company initially blocked Mr. Kriegsman's request. Mr. 

Dunlap expressed concern that the Company had not yet announced its acquisition of Mills 

Pharmaceuticals LLC or itS strategic partrtetship with Dr. Reddy's Laboratories, ttmctions of 

162 Ex, 93. Email from Ryan Dunlap to Mark Ahn. Mark Schwartz, &:ian Hamilton, Remy 'Bernarda, Lynn Sutton, 
Hana l\iforan, Chris Lento, Joim Burrui; and Travis Cook dated December 2,, 2013~ see also Ex. 96. Email from Ryan 
Dunlap to Mai:k Ahll dated December 11, 2013;. Ex. 74. Email from Ryan Du:nfap to Galena Company. <ilated AU&J)llt 
l 7, 2013; Bx. I 03, Email from Ryan, Dunlap to Galena Company dated January 3~ 2014. 
16

' Ex. 101. Emiiil from M11tk.Ahn to Stev.en Krii:lgsman, Ryan Dunlap, and Dale Shott dated December 21, 201'3. 
&ercrses. o'f options, however. were pennftted Wlder the Company's Insider trading policy~ · 
1
64- lnterview of Sandy HiUsberg elated May 28, 2014; Iiatentiew of Steven Galliker dated May 21, 2014. 

165 Interview of Steven Kriegsmar:1. dated June 3,2014; Interview of Richard Chin dated .h.ine 16,2014~ Interview of 
Rudolph Nisi. dated June 4, 2014 . 
1 ~6 Iitterview of Steven Kriegsman dated June 3', '2Ul4:~ Interview afRfohard Chin. dated June 16,. 2014; Interview of 
Rudolph Ni'si dated June 4, 2014; Interview of Sandy Hillsberg. dated May :ig, 2014; Interview ofSte,v.err Gallibr 
dafed May 21, 2014. 
re7 Exs. 20-21~ 23-2.6. Minutes of the Nominating and Governance·Committee and 'Board datt!d varionsly;, 
161 .EJc 26. Minutes oftbe. Board ofDir.ectors meeting dated April JS,.2014_ 
\
69 Ex.. COO:.. .Email :frem Dale Short to. Ryan Dunlap dated December '19, 2013.; Interview ofRudoJph Nisi dated 

June 41 2014; Interview of Sanford Hills berg dated May 28, 2014: 
JO 
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which Mr. Kriegsn1an had knowledge. 170 He further expressed concern that permitting Mr. 

r<..r;egsman to sell his shares would send art "odd message" to officers who had been prohibited 

frotn selling their shares by M°L Ahn. 17
i $pecifically, Mr .. Ahn had denied Mr~ Schwruit"s 

request to sell shares because Mr. Schwartz had knowledge of the same undisclosed 

transactions. 172
. Mr. Ahn shared Mr. Dunlap's' conce1n and, on December-21, 2013, informed 

Mr. Kriegsman that, in addition to the Company's insider trading policy, the pending Mills 

Phannaceuticals LLC acquisition and Dr. Reddy's Laboratories partnership were material 

nonpublic transactions that prohibited Mr ... Kriegsman frotn trading ill the Company's stock.173 

Mr. Kriegsman responded tJ1at he disagreed with Mr. Ahn's assessment stating that the Board 

had not approved the draft ill.sider trading policy and that the pending· transactions were 

immaterial. 174 Mr. Ahn and Mr. Kriegsman tabled the issue until the January 16, 2014 Board 

meeting,_ although there was a st,rong signal by Mt. Ahn that Mr. Kriegsman would be perin.itted 

to sell his shares by January 18, 2014. 175 

On January 13th and 14th of 2014, the Company announced its acquisition of Mills 

Pha1111aceuticals LLC and its partnership with Dr. Reddy's Laboratories to the public. 176 On 

January 16, 2014. tbe Board. held a meeting whete Mr. Ahn stated that since the transactions had 

been announced, employees and directors no longer possessed material non.pubiic information, 

and therefore could trade in the Company' stock. 177 The minutes of the January 16, 2014 Boatd 

meeting reflect that there was a subsequent discussion among the Board and that the Board lifted 

the blackout on trading. 178 The ,selling directors; however, did not recall an interactive. 

i:ia Ex. 100. Email from Ryan Dunlap to bale: Short 4aJ;ed December 19, 2013. 
m Ex. 100. Email ftom Ryan Duri.lap tb Dale. Short, Mark Ahn and Remy Bernarda dated DeGember 19; 20 tt 
in Interview of Mark Schwartz dated May 14, 2014; Interview of Ryan Dunlap dated May 15, 20 !4. 
173 Ex. 101. Email from Mark Ahn to Steven Kriegsman1 Ryan .Plinlap, and Dale Short. dated December. 21, 20:f3, 
17

'1 Ex. 102. Email from Steven Kriegsman to Mark Ahn, Ryan Dtmlap, and Dale Short dated DecembeF22, 2013. 
175 Ex. 102. Email from Mark Ahn to Steven Kriegsman datedDeeember28,.2013. 
w6 E..'I:. 116. Press, release dated January 13, 2014 titled "Galena Biophe.rtila Acquires Mill1l l?hannaceuticals LLC";. 
EX. 117. Press; reJeas.e dated January 14, 2014 titled "Galena Biophanna and D.t. R.eddy's Announce "Strategic 
Partnership furNeuVax (IM) in India." 
•:rr Ex... 23 .. MinU:tes of the. Board dated January 16, 2014; fnterview of Ry.an Dunlap dated May 15.;2014{Ex:.. 105. 
Email from Ryan. Dunlap to unknown' recipients dated January 17; 2014. · -
1111 Id. 
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discussion on the subject or a vote to lift a blackout in their interviews. 179 The directors' varying 

positions as to whether there was a blackout at all, a pem1anent blackout subject to preapproval 

of trades by Mr. Ahi':1, or a blackout subject to open trading windows, are all li1consisteflt with the 

Board minutes. If there was no blackout n'l place, then there was no need to lift a blackout; if 

there was a pennanent blackout su~ect to preapproval of trades by Mr. Ahli, then Board action 

' 

was not required; and if there was a blackout subject to an open trading window, then the 

window was never closed. What is cleat, however, is that the Company opened a tradin:g 

window seemingly for the sole purpose of allowing i:nsider.s to sell substantial s.hares of their 

Company stock. This was an openilig of convenience. There was lio other discernable 

motivation for opening a trading window at that time, 

B. The Sales By [nsiders 

In January of 2014, the Board consisted of seven members: Sanford Hillsberg, Mark Ahn, 

William Ashton, Richard Chin, Stephen Galliker, Steven Kriegsman, ab.d Rudolph Nisi. With 

the exception of Mr. Ashton, all of the directors sold a significant amount of their vested 

beneficial interest (shares and vested options owned) in the first quarter of2014. 

Mr. Kriegsman sold shares on January 17th, 22nd, and February 3rd of 2014 in the 

an10unts of 200,000, 250,000,. and 150,000, which represented approxiinately 22%, 36o/p, and 

3.4% of his vested beneficial interest at the time of sales, Mr. Nisi sold shares on January 17th 

and 29th of 2014 in the amounts of200,000 and 250,000, which teptesented approximately 27% 

and 71 % of his vested beneficial interest at the time of sales. Mr. Hillsberg sold 200,000 shaces 

fron1 his family trust on January 17, 2014, whithreprese.nted approximately 64% of the trust's 

vested beneficial interest at the time of sale. 180 He individually sold 250.000 shares on January 

30, 2014, which represented approximately 32o/(l of his vested beneficial interest at the time of 

sale. Mr. Ahn sold 796,765 shares on January 27, 2014, which represented approximately 67% 

L
79 Interview of Steven Kriegsm!!ll dated June 3, 2014; Interview·ofRicharci Chin dated June 16, 2014; Interview of 

Rudolph Nisi dated June 4, 2014~ Interview of Sandy filllsberg dated May 28; 2014; Interview of Steven GalJiker 
dated May 2 L, 2014.. . 
I.BO Mi:. Hillsberg exercised 200,0Q()' options through }lm family trust Oll January 14, 2014, Out non-broker !l.SSlStecl 
exerciSes were n.ot violative of the insider t:ra.ding policy. Mr. Hills berg apparently. paid the optians exercise prlae 
by defi vedng to Galena 24,426. shares of Campany stock. · 
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of his vested beneficial interest at the time of sale. Mr. Chin sold shares on January 3:0th and 

February 12th of 2014, in the amounts of 75,000 and 187,500, which represented approximately 

20% and 63% of his vested beneficial interest at the tin1e of sales. .Mr. Gallik.er sold 300;000 

shares on February 3, 2014, \Vhich represented approximately 59% nf his vested beneficial 

interested at the time of sale. 181 Mr. Schwartz, the only officer who sold shares of Company 

stock in the first quarter of 2014, sold 94,344 shares on January 30, i014, which represented 

approximately 10% of his vested beneficial interest at the time of the sale . 

. While tl1e volume of shares sold was de rninimis compared to the total vol1J.IDe of shares 

outstanding, the sales were highly significant when considering that the selling directors· were 

visible captains of the Company. This fact was not lost on the officers who openly discussed the 

timing and method of filing the Form 4s to reflect both employee purchases of stock .and the 

directors' sales in order to lessen the negative impact of the sales. 182 

Once the directors became. aware that other directors were selling shares, it became wbat 

Mr. Hillsberg likened to a domino effect where each tranche of sales spurred the next tranche. 1
·
8
l 

Some directors felt that once Mr. Ahn's sales became public, the damage was done and that any 

subsequent sales by directors WGuld add little to the certain public blowback. 184 

Each selling director claimed to have a reasonable and sound basis for selling his shares,· 

including .estate planning, diversification, and co1npensation for steering the Company for many 

years. 185 The primary motivation, however, appears to have been to sell shares beqause other 

insiders were selling. Individually the sales may have been justifiable, but collectively, the sales 

reflected a lack of good judgment, whicli was demonstrated by the subsequent: negative p'\l:blicity 

111 Exs.29-35. Foan 4s for the directors listed and dated variously. E.'C.. 160. Summary afI:nsider Saies. 
112 Ex. ·101. Email from Ryan Dunlap to Mark Ahn and Remy Bernarda da,tedJanuary.12', 2014t & . .109, Emails 
between Ryan Dwifap~ John .Burns; Mark Ahn arrd Remy Bernarda dated January 22,; _20J4; lntendew Qf ityi;ui 
Dunlapdated May 15, 2014. 
ru Jnterview of Sanford Hillsberg dated May 28., 2-014-
184 Inter-view of Sanford Hillsberg dated May 28~ 2014; Interview ofRudo1ph. Nisi.da:ted Ju.n,e 4. 2014 
185· Interview of Ste'Vl:n Kriegs1nan dated June 3, 2014; Interview of Richard.Chin dated ,Tune 16~ 2Q-.i4.;, lhternew. or 
Rudo.lph Nisi dated June 4, 2-014;: Interview 1:1f.SancIY Hillsherg dated May 28, 2-014: furerview ot SteV.en Ga,l.lilret' 
dated May 2 l, 2014; Interview of Mark. Ahn dated May 81 2014. 
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precipitated by the Feuerstein and Pearson 811icles. The sales also had the unintended but not 

S1nprising consequence of demoralizing the sta:ff. 186 

C. Possession Of Material Nonpublic Information 

Before trading; the selling directors possessed knowledge of two facts that could be 

construed as niaterial nonpublic infonnation. 

First, the selling directors were aware of the preliminary annual revenue for 2013, which 

was provided to them at the January 16, 2014 Board meeting and estimated to be $3.1 million.is7 

Earnings have historical1y been considered material nonpublic ihformation.188 1--Iowever, we 

have determined that the preliminary annual revenue for 2013 was not material nonpublic 

information in this case because the Company was not revenue driven when the d~rectors made 

their sales. The analyst reports we reviewed from 2012 to 2014 reflect this fact For example, 

on November 13, 2012, Roth Capital Partners reported that the Company had released its third 

quarter revenue, but that the revenue had no impact on their buy rating ot their target share price 

of $5.00. 189 Similarly, on August 9, 2013, J1'1P Securities reported a target share price of $5.()0, 

even though the Company reported no revenue in the second. quarter- 190 Later, Maxim Group 

gave the, Company a buy rating vvith a target share plice of $6.00 while stating in bold "we 

believe Neu Vax is still the main supporter of GALE's valuation long term." 191 Even after· the 

commercial launch of Abstral, the Company's first approved product for sale, in. October of 

2013, Needham & Company and Oppenheinier & Company both reported that Ne11V ax, which is 

still in Phase III trials, remained the key driver of their valuations. 192 Indeed, on January 13, 

2014, Oppenhei.J.11et &. Company acknowledged thaf some investors see Ure company ptimarjly 

.as a NeuVa.~ development-stage company, but that it anticipated that, with time, the sentiment 

186 futerview of Remy Bernarda dated May 20, 2014; Interview of Mark Schwartz dated May 14, 2.014; Interview of 
R1an Dunlap dated May 15, 2014 .. 
11 Ex. 2lL Board presentation materials dated.January 16, 2014, 
lB& SEC: Final Rule; Selective Disclosure and. Insider Trading; 17 CFR Parts 240, 2437 anc:l 249; Release Nos. 33~ 
7881, 34-43 L54,. fC-24599, File No. 87-3 l-99. 
ieg. Ex. 118. Analyst report by Roth Capital Partners dated November· 13, 20 l;L 
190 Ex. 126. Analyst.report by JMP Securities dated,Augµst 9, 20 l3. 
In Ex.. 130. Analyst.report by Maxim. Group dated. September 11, 2013.. 
r92 Ex"' 136. Analyst report by Needham and Company dated November 7, 2013: Ex. 1.43. Analyst report by 
Oppenheimer & Company dated November 26, 2013'. · 
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vvould include the specialty oncology sales elernent of the Con1pany. 193 Oppenheimer & 

Co1npany raised its target share price to $8.00 in that repo1t 194 

Another factor in our determination was that the preliminary annual revenue was in line 

•vith the guidance the Company had provided to the public, which was reflected in ·analyst 

projections of between $2.6 million to $3.2 million in annual revenue. 195 Thus; the preliminary 

revenue did not change the total mix of information available to the public. There is recognition 

by the Company, however, that revenue driven by Abstral sales will become nia.teria1 in the near 

term. '96 

Second, on Dece1nber 24, 2013, the FDA informed the Con1pany that it had denied the 

Company's request for Break.through Therapy designation for Neu V ax.197 "Breakthrough 

Therapy designation is a process designed to expedite the development and review of drugs that 

are intended to treat a serious condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug 

n1ay demonstrate substantial improven1ent over available therapy oh a clinically significant 

endpoint(s)."r98 The Con1pany requested the designation forNeuVa.'C on December3; 2013, but 

did not disclose that it had rimde the request in any ptess releases or SEC .filings. The FDA, on 

the other hand, did not disclose the request as a matter of practice.199 Breakthrough Therapy 

designations have been available since July 9, 2012, but since that time, one designation out of 

eleven requests was granted in 2013, and three designations out of twenty requests were granted 

in 2014.2°0 Since the Company did not disclose its request for Breakthrough Therapy 

designation for Neu Va..'\· and.the likelihood. of obtaining the designation was exceedingly low, we 

did not find the denial of the request to be material nonpublic i.nfonnatioii. 

Accordingly, while the concurrent sale of stock by directorn in the first quarter of 201.4 

was not in the best interest of the Company, we folliid rio violation of Company policy or law. 

193 Ex. 149. Analyst report by Oppenheimer & Company dated.January 13, 2014. 
t9.t- Id. 
195 Exs. 1.45-147; 149; 151-152 .. Analyst-reports dated variously.· 
196 Ex.. 26~. Minutes of April lS:, 2014 Board Meeting; Annex l;. Interview of Sanford Fiillsberg· dated May 2&. 2014. 
19TEx. 39. Letter from.Celia Witten .fa Hana Moran dated December23, 20[3_ 
.19s·www..fda.gov. 
•jl!J• Ex. 40.. Frequently Asked Questi.ons: Breakthrough.Therapies as of May 31,2014. 
200 id. 
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V. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based on our investigation, we provide the following recommendations to the Company: 

First, we recommend n1ore Board oversight of the utilization of all investor/publ.ic 

relations firms. The Board and the Con1pany should closely monitor how these firms operate 

and their activities. The Company should insist on seeing copies of any investor/pubic telations 

work product(i.e., email blasts, articles, blog posts, etc.), and remain informed on th.e manner in 

which the work product is produced, including the name of the author and the extent to which 

third party authors \Vere. paid. The Company should also limit the. number of investor/public 

firms- operating concurrently for it. Moreover, the Company should centralize investor, public, 

and analyst activities to a single executive. office. 

Second, we recommend more Board oversight of Company expenditt.ires and Company 

execution of high value contracts. The Chief Executive Officer is currently permitted to 

unilaterally ex·ecute contracts valued up to $1 million so· long as they are accounted for in the 

Board approved annual budget. That limit should be reduced ~to $200,000Y exclusive of options 

value. 

Third, we reconunend that the Company should enact practices and procedure that would 

prevent a reoccutrence of large scale sales by insiders within a compressed time frame. 

Examples of such policies are mandatory 1 Ob5-1 plans or limited and counseled coordination of 

insider sales subject to state and federal securities laws during open trading periods. 

The Special Committee may have additional recommendations that are bey:ond the scope 

of this teport, which if will make to the Board directly when appropriate. 

36 



JA005741

-· ..... -.. ·.··~···· ,.-~ .... ···~···--· .. ·-·~·-. '''"''""-""· 

Appendix 

Appendix l 

GALE Stock Price v. Key Press Releases and Analyst Reports (July 2013 -February 2014) 

• - Pras.s Rele!IS& lilfilil . OTG Article 
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Appendix III 

Short Interest History (1 Year) 

Short lnterest History C'/o} 

This ls the histor.i-cai short interest of Galena Biopbarma Hrc. 85 measured by the short ln~rest 
of float 
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Appendix.IV 

GALE Stock Price (November 9, 2012- January 2~ 2013) 
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26. Nov 3. Dec 

Date Open 

1/2/2013 1.6 

12/31/2012 1.57 

12/28/2012 1.56 

12/27/2012 158 

12/26/2012 1.58 

12/24/2012 1.57 

12/21/2012 1.56 

12/20/2012 1.64 

12/19/2012 1.58 

12/18/2012 1.5 

12/17/2012 1.85 

12/14/2012 1.89 

12/13/2012 1.92 

12/12/2012 1.9 

12/11/2012 1.95 

12/10/2012 2.03 
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Close 

1.59 

1.53 

1.5 
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12/4/2012 

12/3/2012 

11/30/2012 

11/29/2012 

11/28/2012 

11/27/2012 

11/26/2012 

11/23/2012 

11/21/2012 

11/20/201,2 

11/19/:2012 

11/16/2012 

11/_15/2012 

11/14/2012. 

11/13/2012 

11/12/2012 

11/9/2012 

2.25 2.43 

2.09 2.11 

2.03 2.12 

1.88 2.1 

1.72 1.84 

J.67 i.69 

1.69 1.69 

1.68 1.68 

1.66 1.69 

1.62 1.68 

1.66 . i.74 

1.6 1.68 

1.7 . l.74 

1.68 1.86' 

1.55 1.78 

1.98 1.99 

2.02 2.09 

41 

2.22 2.24 7812500 

. 1.97 2.04 1196800 

1.92 2_.08 2217100 

1.87 2.04 4522900 

1.65 .. 1.79 3449500 

i.4S. 1.58 1219000 

1.63 i.69 540000 

1,6z 1.68 25Q800 

1.64 l.6·7 404600 

1.62 1.64 546SCJO 

1.6 1.62 675600 

1.58 1.66 675900 

1.43 1.6 309180Q 

1.68 1.8 3015300 

1.53 1.7 5293200 

1.23 1A 11918900 

2.Q2 2.03 682,QOO 
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Appendix.V 

GALE Stock Price (October 1, 2012-November 2, 2012) 

,,., ''" .. :. ".ti 

f. 
i' 

i' 

Embed save lfnage ~Excel El port 

.1 

-t. 
~-l ... 

. ~ 

\ 
i 

. I 
; · I , ! 

· · - ' ' I 7 
2. Oct4. Oct 6. Oct 8. Octl o. Octl 2. Odl 4. Ocll G. Odl 8. Od20. OcQ2. OcQ4. Od26. Octi!S. Oct'lO. Octl. Nov . 

Date Open High Low Close Volume 
11/2/2012 2.21 2.32 2.2 2.23 2473300 
11/1/2012 2.15. 2.19 2.12 2.18 104E200 

10/31/2012 2.15 2.19 2.1 2.11 1407600 
10/26/2012 2.12 2.15 i 2.15 3381000 
10/25/2012 1.,95 2.07 1.95 2.01 2355600 
10/24/20i2 1.93 1.95 1.86 1.88 502100 
10/23/2012 1.85 1.92 1.81 .1.92 612600 
10/22/201"2 1.88 1.91 1.83 1.85 1012900 
10/19/2012 2 2.01 1.89 1.92 1289000 
10/18/2012 2.08 2.19 1.99 2.01 2412000 
10/17/2012 1.94 .2 .. 15 1.92 2.09 3916400 
1.0/16/2012 1.94 l.~4 1.87 1.94 894300 

10/15/2012 1.68 1.9 1.84 1.9 645200 
i0/12/2012 1.86 1.88 1.83 1.85 454200 
10/11/2012 1.81 1.89 1.81 1.83 871600 
10/10/2012 1.82 1.86 1.76 1.78 67·6500 

10/9./2012 1.88 1.88 1.82 1.82 446400 
10/8/2012' 1.88 1.88 1.82 1.86 513700 
10/5/2012' 1.87 1.91 1.81 1.85 867500 
10/4/2JJ1Z i.91 l.98. 1.83 i.84 2054500 
lfJ/3/2012 1.77 1.91 1,77 l.i:i9 1754200 
1-0{1i201z t81 1.83 1.77" 1-78 600100 

10/1/20i2. l.8 .1.82' 1.75 1.78 478200 
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Appendix VI 

Insider Sales History (1 Y ~ar) 
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• - I ,,, 
·-· r .. _,,_, .....:.. ""' l &.V. ! 
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i I 1 

l-··-·-.,--·----------------- __ J ____ ·-· -··--·--j I 
JL11'13 ·Oct"\3 jan'14 · Apr'i~ 

1.V: 

' ! ·---,.~- ----·--....-.---------'---"--·-------' 1 '· IOll< 
Jan.•14· Apf 114 

i 
t·•OOk 

i..~ ...... -.--· ____ _. ___ .,. __ , __ ___.....,...,.. ______ __.. __ _ i-' z.D: 

'o 
Jur'I s 

2 3 4 

Shares·Own9d Following Trade Price Co.t Pr1co Ch•noo 
insf::fer Po~ltion- Date BUyfSell. SburEs Triis !SJ 1s10001 · S"mcec Trud•h Ooton,. 

l"ol 
Chil1' Rh:har.:J ~...;,;.;v Z:l-l·.:i::S·l:' Sel 107.~00 D. >•·.n g11.Y -l!H Unk 
f'Jisl Rudp~ph ......., r;.u ... t:".:.::;- Buy 20.000 2J,50D· SU4 98.8 -~i !5 llllk 

GAl.llKER S"TEPµ.EN S C!":'~t ~JLlZ.-~~ S•! 300,000 10,00D $A.16 1254 -2;.5'S Uni< 
G.11\o R{c.hard tll=K:;'.l{ ~t.;..;:!.-?: Sd 75.&.lb Q· Gs.sa i1a.s 41.!l!I Un~ 

:3CH\·\1AR1 !. MAP.K ·tr. ~fPt..(('[] ::-lt~l-?:! S•i 100.000 :t09.!:!65 E5:57 SST -411.U Unk 

i H!P.~'J'!f)S S;;nrcrd ::'-.!''!~- :::::I.~!L-·i~ Sd 250.000 113,4Z1 ~5.41 13525 -43.15 Lirdi 
f 

I Ui;i RL-U:.t!pt; ~r,ir.~ ::,:.-l4-iL-.!~ Sel 2511.WO 
' 

MOO 65.28 IJ2D -41.6; link 

Ahn ~~~ark J F1'Ci:!Wr. I! ~;.. 
=:1~.:a,l'· Sd 79§~7.65 1:3.764 i;.(.83 3t-!18.4 -:fll.« Llnl< ·=•!r:-o :01 .. -:0.-=:-=-='•-:": :-; 

~:R>EG.3MN~ ~N !>, o~ .t0!~~!-0 S•P ISilDOD 5.000 SS.~ &38 -4!.i4- Uni< 

KRIEGStiWi '3TEVEJJ A ~~ 1014-t.! -'!~ SeJ JC:..<0,000 5.00U Sll.52 2P3-I -52.\it Unk 

Hillsbe!g !::'tir.t~rd "'""' .T;i!4-~1-1: S•N 100.00Q 128.421 so.ru 1386 -55.1 link 

Hls:I FH:dttph Pii=i'" :?~1.(.e-L.J1 StU 2DG.Otl0 J,500 Sii9 uao -;;s.s1 Uni< 

Mnr~rt.:J ~l!firJar.~"'(fi'I ~IHJ-.1::,..;,7 Buy 10.00D W,000' !;0_66 6.~ 365,15 link 

L!:9 t~w:anc n,r:.rr..£ A-:.:l!'Jfll'..RG ,,.,;~~ ?~~-·:.;:.;.; Buy 5.000 5,000. -S.0..5 3 411.67 Link 
A!'ln f;.r::;,rlt ,J P.~;.'\llC"'~ Ynt-11..E BU'/ 1G.OOO 10.000 SD.1!5 9.~ 223j16 lint( 

-
(;'(Tt';( CORP 101'>')~~· ~~-~·.l~ S•I l,593,861 0 !!LJ 5705,5 39-55 Unk 

C'fTRX. CORP lO'.;: •:>l'l"'I.' '.Si..!'-·G..;:::: Sel 500.000 2.SPl,8'11 Sl.65 1!!25 15B5 Uni< 

',r;:1~nasl P-Jurr.ti:1i vrni,~r.:~..,...~ ~s.;-01-r!i S•J 5.000 t 1, 150 &~ 05 10.3, . .:Ul.76 Uni< 
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9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89134 
Phone: (702) 669-4600 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
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Rodney Square 
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Fax: (302) 571-1253 

Attorneys for the Special Litigation Committee 
of Dish Network Corporation 

Electronically Filed 
11/18/2014 09:38:48 AM 
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~j.~~ 
CLERK OF THE COURT 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEV ADA 

IN RE DISH NETWORK CORPORA TIO 
DERIVATIVE LITIGATION 

Case No. A-13-686775-B 
Dept. No. XI 

MOTION TO DEFER TO THE SLC's 
DETERMINATION THAT THE CLAIMS 

SHOULD BE DISMISSED 

Date of Hearing: Dec. 15, 2014 
Time of Hearing: 8:00 a.m. 

The Special Litigation Committee (the "SLC"), on behalf of DISH Network 

Corporation ("DISH"), moves for judgment dismissing the Verified Second Amended 

Shareholder Derivative Complaint (the "Complaint") with prejudice on the ground that the 
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1 SLC has determined that pursuing the claims asserted in the Complaint would not be in 

2 DISH's best interest. 

3 This Motion is supported by the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the 

4 supporting declarations, the DISH Network Corporation Report of the Special Litigation 

5 Committee, October 24, 2014, the papers and pleadings on file herein, and any oral argument 

6 the Court may allow. 
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DATED this 17th day of November, 2014 

J. Stephen Peek 
Nevada Bar No. 1758 
Robert J. Cassity 
Nevada Bar No. 9779 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89134 

Holly Stein Sollod (Pro Hae Vice) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 

David C. McBride (Pro Hae Vice) 
Robert S. Brady (Pro Hae Vice) 
C. Barr Flinn (Pro Hae Vice) 
YOUNG, CONAWAY, STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP 
Rodney Square 
1000 North King Street 
Wilmington, DE 19801 

Attorneys for the Special Litigation Committee 
of Dish Network Corporation 
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